# Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal

Devoted to the exchange of knowledge in relation to Asian and Pacific Islander health and nursing care Volume 8 (2024) ISSN 2373-6658 Editors-in-Chief: Hyochol (Brian) Ahn, PhD, MSN, MS-ECE, MS-CTS, APRN, ANP-BC, FAAN

# Contents

### **Original Papers**

**RenderX** 

Demand Forecasting of Nurse Talents in China Based on the Gray GM (1,1) Model: Model Development Study (e59484)	
XiuLi Wu, Aimei Kang	3
The Use of Immersive Virtual Reality Training for Developing Nontechnical Skills Among Nursing Students: Multimethods Study (e58818)	
Kitty Chan, Patrick Kor, Justina Liu, Kin Cheung, Timothy Lai, Rick Kwan.	40
Examining the Evidence on the Statistics Prerequisite for Admission to Doctor of Nursing Practice Programs: Retrospective Cohort Study (e57187)	
Ha Byon, Sunbok Park, Beth Quatrara, Jessica Taggart, Lindsay Wheeler.	54
Factors That Affect the Quality of Life of Mothers Caring for Children With Medical Needs at Home: Cross-Sectional Questionnaire Study (e63946)	
Kanako Nakamura, Yuko Hamada, Ayaka Fujita, Seiichi Morokuma	61
A Random Forest Algorithm for Assessing Risk Factors Associated With Chronic Kidney Disease: Observational Study (e48378)	
Pei Liu, Yijun Liu, Hao Liu, Linping Xiong, Changlin Mei, Lei Yuan.	73
Toward Sustaining Web-Based Senior Center Programming Accessibility With and for Older Adult Immigrants: Community-Based Participatory Research Cross-Sectional Study (e49493)	
Connie Nguyen-Truong, Katherine Wuestney, Holden Leung, Chenya Chiu, Maria Park, Christina Chac, Roschelle Fritz.	87
Association Between Gestational Weeks, Initial Maternal Perception of Fetal Movement, and Individual Interoceptive Differences in Pregnant Women: Cross-Sectional Study (e57128)	
Miku Furusho, Minami Noda, Yoko Sato, Yoshiko Suetsugu, Seiichi Morokuma.	107
Ethical Dilemmas Among Oncology Nurses in China: Cross-Sectional Study (e63006) Eunjeong Ko, Neda Shamsalizadeh, Jaehoon Lee, Ping Ni.	112
Exploring Nursing Research Culture in Clinical Practice: Qualitative Ethnographic Study (e50703) Hyeyoung Hwang, Jennie De Gagne, Leeho Yoo, Miji Lee, Hye Jo, Ju-eun Kim.	124
Emotional Touch Nursing Competencies Model of the Fourth Industrial Revolution: Instrument Validation Study (e67928)	
Sun-Young Jung, Ji-Hyeon Lee.	136

Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal 2024 | vol. 8 | p.1

# Viewpoints

Perspectives on Artificial Intelligence in Nursing in Asia (e55321) Nada Lukkahatai, Gyumin Han.	13
Centralized Pump Monitoring System: Perception on Utility and Workflows by Nurses in a Tertiary Hospital (e60116)	
Naruemol Chindamorragot, Orawan Suitthimeathegorn, Amit Garg	22

### Review

Current Evidence of the Application of Music in Tai Chi Exercise: Scoping Review (e60104)	
Yan Du, Gao-Xia Wei, Yichao He, Hongting Ning, Penny Roberts, Edward Golob, Zenong Yin.	28

**Original Paper** 

# Demand Forecasting of Nurse Talents in China Based on the Gray GM (1,1) Model: Model Development Study

#### XiuLi Wu<sup>1\*</sup>, BS; Aimei Kang<sup>2\*</sup>, MEng

<sup>1</sup>Hubei Province Key Laboratory of Occupational Hazard Identification and Control, Institute of Nursing Research, School of Medicine, Wuhan University of Science and Technology, Wuhan Hubei, China

<sup>2</sup>Department of Nursing, Wuhan Asia General Hospital Affiliated to Wuhan University of Science and Technology, WuHan, China \*all authors contributed equally

all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author: Aimei Kang, MEng Department of Nursing Wuhan Asia General Hospital Affiliated to Wuhan University of Science and Technology No. 300, Taizi Lake North Road Economic and Technological Development Zone, Hanyang District WuHan, 430010 China Phone: 86 02784788999 Email: 1633582630@qq.com

### Abstract

**Background:** In a global context, the shortage of nursing personnel has emerged as a significant challenge, particularly in countries such as China experiencing population aging. The inadequacy of nursing human resources has become one of the primary threats affecting the quality of health services available to Chinese residents. Therefore, forecasting the demand for nursing personnel has become an important issue.

**Objective:** This study presents a Gray GM(1,1) forecasting model for predicting the future 10-year demand for nursing workforce and the number of specialized geriatric nurses, aiming to provide a scientific basis for the development of policies in health care institutions in China.

**Methods:** Based on data from the China Statistical Yearbook 2022, the Gray GM (1,1) model was used to predict the demand for nursing jobs and geriatric nurses over the next 10 years (2024-2033).

**Results:** The results indicate that from 2024 to 2033, amidst a continuous growth in the overall population and an increasingly pronounced trend of population aging, the demand for nursing workforce in China, especially for specialized geriatric nurses, is projected to steadily increase.

**Conclusions:** The paper provides a reference basis for the establishment of China's health care workforce system and the involvement of government departments in health care workforce planning.

(Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e59484) doi:10.2196/59484

#### KEYWORDS

nursing human resource; nursing manpower; Gray GM (1,1) model; forecasting; nursing

### Introduction

Health human resources are an essential foundation for achieving universal health coverage and the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals [1]. In 2016, the World Health Organization (WHO) released the "Global Strategy on Human Resources for Health: Workforce 2030" [2] with a vision to strengthen health systems to ensure equitable access to health workforce services and accelerate progress toward universal

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e59484

RenderX

health coverage and the UN Sustainable Development Goals. Following this, in 2022, the "National Nursing Career Development Plan (2021-2025)" [3] issued by China's National Health Commission explicitly expressed the crucial role of nursing human resource planning in achieving universal health coverage and sustainable development goals. Therefore, the comprehensive promotion of high-quality nursing development and the improvement of the population's health level are among the primary development goals of China's future medical system. In China, registered nurses [4] are individuals who have

completed relevant nursing professional education, obtained a nursing qualification certificate, and are registered and legally licensed to practice in medical institutions, including hospitals, health centers, community health service centers, clinics, and nursing homes. As direct providers of medical nursing services in China, registered nurses have always been an indispensable part of Chinese medical institutions, playing a key role in ensuring patient health and medical safety, and contributing significantly to advancing the construction of health development goals worldwide [5]. Despite increasing attention and implementation of measures such as improving remuneration and optimizing career advancement pathways to prevent the loss of nursing human resources in recent years, the issue of nursing staff shortage and uneven distribution in China has remained prominent [5].

Registered nurse density per 1000 population [5] refers to the number of registered nurses per 1000 permanent residents, indicating the availability and capacity of health care services within a particular country or region [6]. A higher value implies better assurance of public health needs in that area. The "2020 World Nursing Report" [7] highlights significant disparities in nurse supply among countries. According to WHO statistics, Sweden has the highest number of nurses per capita globally, with 21.67 nurses per thousand people [8]. Norway follows closely with 18.35 nurses per thousand people or more, while the United States and Japan have 15.69 and 12.7 nurses per thousand people, respectively [8]. Conversely, China's registered nurse density stands at only 3.56 nurses per 1000 population, revealing a notable gap compared with the developed nations [9]. In addition, the increasing trend of aging population in China has indeed brought about a growing pressure on the demand for health care services [10]. In 2021, the population aged 65 years and older in China accounted for 14.2% of the total population, indicating a doubling of the proportion of older individuals from 7% to 14% over 21 years. It is projected that by 2050, the population aged 60 years and older in China will increase to 478.9 million. With the increasing proportion of the older adult population in China, the demand for caregiving services is correspondingly rising [11].

In previous studies, it has been widely reported that an increased presence of registered nurses significantly improves patient outcomes and plays a crucial role in ensuring patient safety [12]. However, in recent years, some scholars have raised concerns regarding this viewpoint. They argue that an excessive number of nurses could lead to additional expenses for health care institutions and wastage of manpower [13]. Some studies even indicate a correlation between an excessive allocation of nursing staff and poorer quality of care [14]. Such as Park's Optimized Nurse Staffing (Sweet Spot) Estimation Theory emphasizes the crucial balance between nursing quality, cost, and staffing levels, making a significant contribution to enhancing the effectiveness of health care workforce planning [15]. As widely known, effective health care workforce planning drives the establishment of resilient and sustainable health care systems [16], with workforce demand forecasting playing a crucial role in health care workforce planning [17]. Therefore, to clarify the current status of nursing human resource allocation in China, further seeking the balance point between nursing quality, cost, and

XSL•FO

the level of nurse staffing, it is essential to conduct accurate forecasting and analysis of the future demand for nurses in China. It is worth noting that Park et al [18] suggested integrating mathematical programming into nursing research to assist nursing leaders and managers in determining optimal nurse staffing and composition. Consequently, adopting mathematical models to predict the demand for nursing personnel is highly feasible.

Currently, many scholars in health care research use mathematical models and algorithms for predictive purposes. The methods are mainly divided into 3 categories: first, machine learning models for demand prediction, such as the study by Vollmer research team in 2021, which developed a machine learning-based model to predict emergency department demand [19]; in 2022, Soltani et al [20] used deep machine learning models to predict the demand of patients with end-stage cancer at home. Second, time series models, such as using time series analysis to investigate depression rates during the COVID-19 crisis in Peru [21]; Zhang et al [5] used time series analysis to assess the impact of the "National Nursing Development Plan" on the nursing human resources in China, concluding that the implementation of the plan significantly expanded the scale of nursing human resources and optimized allocation efficiency. Third, the use of hybrid models, such as Chung development of a dynamic model to forecast the demand for cancer nurses over the next decade [17]. Human resources for nurses are influenced by various external and internal factors, such as economic conditions, industry development trends, and environmental changes, as well as organizational strategic goals, business requirements, and talent adjustment policies [22]. Therefore, nurse workforce forecasting requires flexibility and adaptability, aiming for rapid and accurate predictions through simple means whenever possible. The aforementioned machine learning models, time-series models, and hybrid models have demonstrated good predictive performance. However, they generally require large amounts of historical data and involve complex processes. Although data accumulation on nursing human resources in China has been relatively extensive to date, nurse workforce dynamics are influenced by various factors such as national policies and socioeconomic conditions. Consequently, historical data accumulated over the long term may not be applicable to the current situation. Therefore, there is a need to identify a model that does not rely on extensive data. Fortunately, the Gray GM (1,1) model [23] provides a structurally simple and widely applicable mathematical forecasting model, using a small amount of data to forecast within an unknown required data range. Due to its high predictive accuracy, good performance, and convenience, the Gray GM (1,1) model has been widely applied in fields such as construction, ecological environment, and the medical industry [23], especially during the COVID-19 crisis, with many scholars applying it to COVID-19 prediction and achieving outstanding results [24]. In terms of human resource forecasting, relevant studies can be traced back to 2007 when Lin et al [25] used the gray model to forecast the long-term demand and supply of nursing staff in Taiwan, showing good results. However, as the data included in this study are limited to the Taiwan region, it is not applicable to predict the nursing workforce in mainland China. Therefore, building upon previous

research, this study uses the latest data to construct a Gray GM (1,1) model for forecasting the demand for nursing positions in mainland China over the next 10 years. Furthermore, incorporating current social development trends, an analysis of the forecast results is provided.

#### Methods

#### **Data Source**

The research object was registered nursing talent resources per thousand people in China. Data were extracted from the China Statistical Yearbook 2022 [26] from which the total population and registered nurse numbers were collected from 2008 to 2021, and the registered nurses per thousand population were calculated.

#### Procedures

First, we used Excel 2019 to enter and process the raw data and used descriptive statistical methods to study the dynamic trends of registered nursing talent resources per thousand people in China. Subsequently, the Gray GM (1,1) model was applied to model the registered nursing talent resources per thousand population, and the model was used to forecast the demand of these resources over the next 10 years. In addition, we have also forecasted the demand for geriatric nurses in China. Finally, we used the MATLAB 2023 software (MathWorks Inc) to design a model program for fitting and prediction, and the accuracy of the predictions was evaluated.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

All procedures in this study are conducted in accordance with the guidelines of our institutional ethics committee and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Since all data are extracted from public databases, informed consent is not required for the use of these data. All research results will be reported accurately and truthfully, and the confidentiality and security of the data will be ensured. This study has been approved by the Ethics Review Committee of the School of Medicine, Wuhan University of Science and Technology (ID 2024097), for both the study and the entire research protocol.

#### Results

#### The Development of Nurse Practitioners in China From 2008 to 2021

According to the data from the "China Statistical Yearbook 2022 [26]," as shown in Table 1, the total number of registered nurses in China has been increasing annually from 1,678,091 in 2008 to 5,019,422 in 2021, with an average annual growth rate of 8.14%. The number of registered nurses per thousand people in the country increased by 2.29, with an average annual growth rate of 7.64%.

Table 1. Development of the number of practicing nurses per 1000 national population from 2008 to 2021.

Year	Total population (unit: 10,000 persons)	Number of registered nurses (unit: person)	Number of nurses per thousand population (unit: person)
2008	1,32,802	16,78,091	1.27
2009	1,33,450	18,54,818	1.39
2010	1,34,091	20,48,071	1.53
2011	1,34,916	22,44,020	1.66
2012	1,35,922	24,96,599	1.85
2013	1,36,726	27,83,121	2.04
2014	1,37,646	30,04,144	2.20
2015	1,38,326	32,41,469	2.37
2016	1,39,232	35,07,166	2.54
2017	1,40,011	38,04,021	2.74
2018	1,40,541	40,98,630	2.94
2019	1,41,008	44,45,047	3.18
2020	1,41,212	47,08,717	3.34
2021	1,41,260	50,19,422	3.56

#### **Population Forecast in China**

Construction of Chinese population Gray GM (1,1), the prediction model. Take the population number from 2008 to 2021 as the original sequence:

**Step 1:** First accumulation of raw data  $X^{(0)}$ :

(2)

**Step 2:** Neighborhood mean generation was performed on the sequences after cumulative generation. Neighborhood mean generation is an equivalence time series, and new data are

×

(1)

XSL•	FO
Rende	erX

generated with the average construction of adjacent data. Set the newly generated neighbor mean sequence Z, yielding:

×

(3)

Step 3: Construct data matrix B and data vector Y:

(4)

**Step 4:** Calculate the development coefficient  $\hat{a}$  and the Gray System residual  $\square$ :

×

×

(5)

Calculation results indicate that:  $\hat{a}=-0.0051 = 132807.551$ 

**Step 5:** Establish a model to solve the time-response function and predict it.

The whitening equation under the Gray GM (1,1) model " $X^{(0)}(k)$ + $aZ^{(1)}k=b$ " is:



#### Table 2. Evaluation table of posterior difference ratio and probability of small error.

Predicting rank accuracy	<i>P</i> value	C value			
Good	≥.95	≤.35			
Qualified	.8, .95	.35, .5			
Manage with an effort	.7, .8	.5, .65			
Unqualified	≤.7	>.65			

(6)

(7)

 $(1)(k+1)-X^{(1)}k:$ 

(8)

Calculate the simulated values.

accuracy and a good fitting effect.

Step 8: Evaluation of the model-fitting effect.

Step 6: Generate the model:

×

**Step 7:** Find the generated sequence prediction value (1)(k+1) and model reduction values (0)(k+1): Bring k=0,1, 2..., 14

into the model to calculate  $X^{(1)}$ , among them take  $\mathbf{X}^{(0)}(1) =$ 

(1)(1)=132802, got by the formula : (0)(k+1)=

×

Using MATLAB 2023 software, the fitting results were tested using the posterior difference test method. In the gray prediction

model of the national total population, the posterior difference

ratio C value was 0.0226, and the small probability error P value was equal to 1.000. Table 2 shows that the model has high

#### Step 9: Model prediction

(9)

The established model can predict the total population value for the next decade (2024-2033).

#### **Population-to-Nurse Ratio Prediction**

To predict the number of registered nurses per thousand population, Gray GM (1,1), model, input model code, and annual data were input into the MATLAB software, and the model was established as follows:



The posterior difference ratio C value was 0.005, and the small error probability P value was 1.000, with a better model accuracy level.

# Forecast Results of Nurse Demand Under the Total Population

The above prediction results for the future population size population-nurse ratio were added into the formula: demand for registered nurses in a certain year = population forecast (10,000) 10 predicted number of nurses per 1000 population to obtain the number of demands for registered nurse resources in the next 10 years (Table 3). As can be seen from Table 3, the Gray GM (1,1) model predicts that by 2032, the total population will exceed 1.5 billion, the population of nurses per 1000 people will reach 8.357, and the demand for registered nurses will rise to 12.58 million.

XSL•FO

Table 3. Forecast results of total population and demand number of nurses between 2024 and 2033.

Year	Population measurement (unit: 10,000 person)	Number of nurses per thousand population (unit: person)	Nurse requirements (unit: person)
2024	144503.493	4.574	66,09,590
2025	145244.674	4.932	71,63,467
2026	145989.656	5.318	77,63,730
2027	146738.460	5.734	84,13,983
2028	147491.104	6.183	91,19,375
2029	148247.609	6.666	98,82,185
2030	149007.993	7.188	107,10,695
2031	149772.279	7.751	116,08,849
2032	150540.484	8.357	125,80,668
2033	151312.629	9.011	136,34,781

#### Demand Forecast Results of Nurses Under the Trend of Population Aging

Our study investigates the aging population trend in China in recent years, which has shown a significant shift toward an older demographic structure. Population aging is recognized as a crucial factor that influences the demand for nursing professionals in our country [10]. In light of this, we used the Gray GM (1,1) model and analyzed data from the China Statistical Yearbook 2022 to predict the future numbers of the

older adult population and the corresponding demand for nurses in the age group from 2024 to 2033 in China. The detailed forecast results are shown in Table 4. In 2033, the older adult population in China can reach 350.39 million, the number of nurses per 1000 older adult population is nearly 9, and the requirement of geriatric nurses reached 31,33,882. Owing to the slow growth of the older adult population from 2008 to 2018, the predicted total older adult population is likely to be underestimated.

Table 4. Forecast results of total older adult population and demand of nurses from 2024 to 2033.

Year	Total older adult population (unit: 10,000 person)	Number of nurses per thousand older adult population (unit: person)	Requirements of geriatric nurses (unit: person)
2024	22704.306	4.544	10,31,684
2025	23825.734	4.899	11,67,223
2026	25002.553	5.282	13,20,635
2027	26237.498	5.695	14,94,226
2028	27533.441	6.14	16,90,553
2029	28893.394	6.619	19,12,454
2030	30320.519	7.137	21,63,975
2031	31818.133	7.695	24,48,405
2032	33389.719	8.296	27,70,011
2033	35038.929	8.944	31,33,882

#### Visual Analysis of the Demand Proportion of Geriatric Nurses

By using the prediction data generated through the gray model constructed in the paper, we can conduct a comparative analysis between the demand for geriatric nurses and the total demand for nurses in the next decade, as shown in Figure 1. From Figure 1, it can be observed that the demand for geriatric nurses in China is projected to steadily rise over the next 10 years. By the year 2024, the demand is estimated to be more than 1.03 million, and by 2033, it is anticipated to reach more than 3.13 million. This growth trend is primarily attributed to the aging population in China and the increasing demand for older adult

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e59484
```

RenderX

that the proportion of geriatric nurses within the overall demand for nurses is increasing annually from 2024 to 2033. In 2024, geriatric nurses constitute around 10% of the total, while this proportion is expected to rise to 20% by 2033. This indicates that in the coming decade, the role of specialized geriatric nurses in China's nursing workforce will become increasingly significant. In conclusion, the demand for geriatric nurses in China is projected to steadily increase over the next decade, with their proportion within the nursing workforce rising annually. To address this trend, it is imperative for China to enhance the training and education of geriatric nurses to meet the growing demand for older adult care services.

care services. Furthermore, a more in-depth analysis reveals

Simultaneously, attention must also be given to the overall expansion of the nursing workforce to ensure the quality and

coverage of health care services.





## Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

The research findings indicate that from 2008 to 2021, the total number of registered nurses in China experienced a rapid overall growth rate, with an average annual growth rate of 8.14%. The number of registered nurses per thousand population increased from 1.27 to 3.56. Based on the forecast results from Tables 3 and 4, under the gradual increase in the nurse-to-population ratio, by 2033, the number of registered nurses per thousand population in China is projected to reach 9.01, and the number per thousand older adult population could reach 8.94, approaching the current number in the United States. However, it should be noted that the growth in nurse numbers is also influenced by certain external factors not accounted for in this model, potentially introducing bias into the forecast results.

#### The Total Workforce of Nurses in China Is Steadily Increasing, Yet There Remains a Shortage Compared With the Demand for Medical Services

In recent years, with the support of the government and collaboration among health departments, the nursing industry in China has experienced rapid development and achieved significant outcomes. By the end of 2021, the proportion of registered nurses in China with a graduate degree had increased to 0.3% (14,900/5,019,422) [5]. The proportion holding bachelor's degrees has risen to 34.2% (17,16,645/50,19,422), and the proportion of those with university education has reached 47.2% (23,69,168/50,19,422) [5]. However, despite the improvement in the quality of nursing talents, the scarcity of nursing professionals in China persists. Currently, the total number of registered nurses per thousand people is only about

RenderX

3.7, below the WHO's recommended standard of 5 nurses per thousand people. According to the "Healthy China 2030" planning outline [27], it is projected that by 2030, China will need 4.7 registered nurses per thousand people, indicating a need for nearly 2 million more nurses to fill this gap. Furthermore, factors such as the aging population in developing countries and the rapid increase in the number of patients with chronic disease will not only increase the demand for nursing care but also worsen the severe shortage of nursing professionals [28]. There is a significant gap in the number of nurses in China; therefore, it is necessary to formulate relevant guiding policies and coordinate the planning of the development of the nursing profession in China to meet the growing demand for clinical nursing services among the population.

#### The Population Aging Trend Increases the Demand for the Geriatric Medical Care Service Model

As China's economy and society continue to develop, population aging has become an inevitable trend [10]. According to this study's predictions, by 2033, China's older adult population will reach 360 million, with a demand for 3 million nurses in the older adult care sector. Compared with younger individuals, the nursing needs of older adults are diverse and multilayered, requiring higher comprehensive qualities from geriatric nurses [29]. Therefore, nurturing geriatric nursing personnel has become a focal point in the development of the nursing profession. However, despite the severity of the aging society, there still exists a lack of relevant training in geriatric nursing within the nursing profession. For instance, a study by Nawagi et al [30] revealed that almost no courses on geriatric nursing knowledge or improving care capabilities for older patients were incorporated into nurses' training at all levels. This rings alarm bells for China to advance the development of geriatric nursing. Strictly speaking, we should focus on addressing the deficiencies

in the nursing field and promote the comprehensive development of geriatric nursing to meet the needs of an aging society. In addition, it is suggested to optimize the existing medical nursing service model and vigorously develop long-term care and home care service models that can meet the nursing needs of older adults, promoting collaboration among disciplines such as nursing, rehabilitation, medicine, and social work, and continuously enhance the skill levels of clinical caregivers to meet the diverse care needs of the older adult population [31].

# Exploring New Approaches Actively to Promote the Development of Nursing Education in China

Undoubtedly, there is a strong link between education and human resources [32]. High-quality education provides a solid foundation for the development of nursing human resources. In recent years, numerous studies have highlighted the role of nursing education in addressing nursing shortages, and governments worldwide have actively implemented various measures to develop nursing education in response to the shortage of nurses in their countries [22]. The development of computer and software technology offers infinite possibilities for nursing practice, and we must adapt to and embrace teaching methods that are relevant to the new generation [33]. The roles of virtual reality technology and artificial intelligence in fostering nursing students' cognition and skill mastery have been further confirmed, and their development in the education sector is receiving increasing attention [34,35]. However, for many researchers and educators, they still remain quite novel and unfamiliar [35]. Therefore, we recommend that health institutions and education departments increase investment and support for new technologies such as artificial intelligence in nursing education, comprehensively elevate the level of nursing education and practice in China, and better meet society's demand for nursing talent [36]. Second, moreover, according to a study in China [37], only a small percentage of high school students are willing to pursue nursing education. This low professional recognition undoubtedly exacerbates the shortage of nursing professionals. The research also indicates that in China, nurses' roles often depend heavily on doctors, inevitably leaving the public with stereotypical impressions such as "mechanical" and "hectic," which significantly diminishes the professional identity of nursing [37]. Therefore, it is imperative to promote the reshaping of the nursing profession's image, enhance public awareness regarding the societal stature of nurses, and attract more talents to the field of nursing.

#### Statistical Prediction Provides Strong Evidence for Optimizing the Resource Allocation in the Health Industry

Statistical forecasting [38] applies statistical principles and methods to predict and analyze future trends and developments

within specific domains. By collecting data and using appropriate statistical models, forecasters can predict future trends and provide scientific evidence for decision-making. Its characteristics include objectivity, scientific rigor, and forward-looking perspective [23]. This study uses the gray model to forecast the demand for nursing personnel in China, estimating the overall trend and quantity of future nursing personnel based on limited historical data. Compared with other forecasting methods, the gray model requires less data, thus offering broad application prospects in manpower forecasting. However, gray models are relatively adept at handling linear or approximately linear relationships. Considering this, we suggest that in practical applications, adjustments and corrections should be made to the predictive results based on real-world circumstances. In the future, this model can be further optimized in terms of data processing and parameter optimization to enhance overall accuracy [23].

#### Conclusions

The study proposes a gray forecast model to predict the nursing manpower demand in China over the next 10 years, with a specific focus on the projected quantity of geriatric nurses amidst the trend of population aging. Our findings underscore the immediate need for health care and educational organizations to implement improvement measures to bridge the gap between the supply and demand for nurses. In addition, we have identified the future required number of nurses, providing a reference basis for governmental involvement in health care workforce planning.

#### Limitations

Similar to many studies, this research also has its limitations. The study exclusively uses a gray model to forecast the overall nursing demand in China, without considering the impact of geographical disparities on nursing resource allocation. Given China's vast geographical expanse, there are significant differences in nursing resource distribution among regions. Developed areas may have higher levels of nurse manpower resources than impoverished regions, which could lead to inaccuracies in the forecasting results due to regional imbalances. In addition, factors, such as low birth rates, nurse migration, and the increase in patients with chronic disease, also significantly influence nursing demand. Therefore, future research will explore the impact of these factors on nursing manpower and continue to refine relevant models for precise forecasting.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to express our sincere appreciation to the National Bureau of Statistics for their invaluable contributions to this research. Furthermore, we extend our heartfelt thanks to Chechen and Jingjing Ding for their encouragement and feedback throughout the course of this study. Their constructive criticism and insights were truly invaluable. Finally, we sincerely thank the editor, the statistician, and the anonymous reviewers for their insightful comments, which have greatly improved the paper.



#### **Data Availability**

The main data source of this study is China Statistical Yearbook, which has been cited in the text. As an authoritative compilation of statistical data, the report can also serve as an important reference source of information for other studies.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

All authors contributed to writing the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- Micah AE, Solorio J, Stutzman H, Zhao Y, Tsakalos G, Dieleman JL. Development assistance for human resources for health, 1990-2020. Hum Resour Health 2022 Jun 10;20(1):51 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12960-022-00744-x] [Medline: 35689228]
- 2. Global strategy on human resources for health: workforce 2030. World Health Organization. 2016. URL: <u>http://apps.who.int/</u> iris/bitstream/handle/10665/250368/9789241511131-eng.pdf?sequence=1 [accessed 2020-07-07]
- National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. Notice of the National Health Commission on the Issuance of the National Nursing Development Plan (2021-2025). Bulletin of the State Council of the People's Republic of China. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.gov.cn/gongbao/content/2022/content\_5705846.htm</u> [accessed 2024-07-15]
- Alshammari F, Sim J, Lapkin S, Stephens M. Registered nurses' knowledge, attitudes and beliefs about end-of-life care in non-specialist palliative care settings: A mixed studies review. Nurse Educ Pract 2022 Feb;59:103294. [doi: 10.1016/j.nepr.2022.103294] [Medline: 35078071]
- Zhang WQ, Tang W, Hu FH, Jia YJ, Ge MW, Zhao DY, et al. Impact of the National Nursing Development Plan on nursing human resources in China: An interrupted time series analysis for 1978-2021. Int J Nurs Stud 2023 Dec;148:104612. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2023.104612] [Medline: <u>37839307</u>]
- Boniol M, McCarthy C, Lawani D, Guillot G, McIsaac M, Diallo K. Inequal distribution of nursing personnel: a subnational analysis of the distribution of nurses across 58 countries. Hum Resour Health 2022 Mar 05;20(1):22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12960-022-00720-5] [Medline: 35248061]
- 7. State of the world's nursing 2020: investing in education, jobs and leadership. World Health Organization. 2020. URL: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240003279 [accessed 2024-07-09]
- 8. Dovdon B, Park CSY, McCarley N. Nursing policy and practice in Mongolia: issues and the way forward. Int Nurs Rev 2022 Sep;69(3):265-271. [doi: 10.1111/inr.12773] [Medline: 35654008]
- Ni W, Xia M, Jing M, Zhu S, Li L. The relationship between professional quality of life and work environment among ICU nurses in Chinese: a cross-sectional study. Front Public Health 2023;11:1104853 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1104853] [Medline: 37213646]
- 10. Luo Y, Su B, Zheng X. Trends and challenges for population and health during population aging China, 2015-2050. China CDC Wkly 2021 Jul 09;3(28):593-598 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.46234/ccdcw2021.158] [Medline: 34594944]
- Chen X, Giles J, Yao Y, Yip W, Meng Q, Berkman L, et al. The path to healthy ageing in China: a Peking University-Lancet Commission. Lancet 2022 Dec 03;400(10367):1967-2006 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01546-X] [Medline: 36423650]
- 12. Park CSY. Thinking "outside the box". J Adv Nurs 2018;74(2):237-238 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jan.13312] [Medline: 28380677]
- 13. Park CSY. "More is not always better": Park's sweet spot theory-driven implementation strategy for viable optimal safe nurse staffing policy in practice. Int Nurs Rev 2023 Jun;70(2):149-159. [doi: 10.1111/inr.12785] [Medline: 35817044]
- 14. Peng XD, Ye Y, Fan RL, Ding XD, Chandrasekaran A. Cost-quality tradeoff in nurse staffing: an exploration of USA hospitals facing market competition. IJOPM 2022 Mar 23;42(5):577-602 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1108/ijopm-07-2021-0453]
- Park CSY. Optimizing staffing, quality, and cost in home healthcare nursing: theory synthesis. J Adv Nurs 2017 Aug;73(8):1838-1847. [doi: 10.1111/jan.13284] [Medline: 28464325]
- Lee JT, Crettenden I, Tran M, Miller D, Cormack M, Cahill M, et al. Methods for health workforce projection model: systematic review and recommended good practice reporting guideline. Hum Resour Health 2024 Apr 17;22(1):25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12960-024-00895-z] [Medline: 38632567]
- 17. Chung MH, Hung KC, Chiou JF, Fang HF, Chiu CH. Nursing manpower forecast for cancer patients. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2021 Apr;201:105967. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cmpb.2021.105967</u>] [Medline: <u>33588340</u>]
- Park CSY, Kabak M, Kim H, Lee S, Cummings GG. No more unimplementable nurse workforce planning. Contemp Nurse 2022;58(2-3):237-247. [doi: <u>10.1080/10376178.2022.2056067</u>] [Medline: <u>35306957</u>]
- Vollmer MAC, Glampson B, Mellan T, Mishra S, Mercuri L, Costello C, et al. A unified machine learning approach to time series forecasting applied to demand at emergency departments. BMC Emerg Med 2021 Jan 18;21(1):9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12873-020-00395-y] [Medline: 33461485]

- Soltani M, Farahmand M, Pourghaderi AR. Machine learning-based demand forecasting in cancer palliative care home hospitalization. J Biomed Inform 2022 Jun;130:104075 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jbi.2022.104075</u>] [Medline: <u>35490963</u>]
- Villarreal-Zegarra D, Reátegui-Rivera CM, Otazú-Alfaro S, Yantas-Alcantara G, Soto-Becerra P, Melendez-Torres GJ. Estimated impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the prevalence and treatment of depressive symptoms in Peru: an interrupted time series analysis in 2014-2021. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2023 Sep;58(9):1375-1385 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00127-023-02446-8] [Medline: <u>36884090</u>]
- 22. Tamata AT, Mohammadnezhad M. A systematic review study on the factors affecting shortage of nursing workforce in the hospitals. Nurs Open 2023 Mar;10(3):1247-1257 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/nop2.1434] [Medline: 36303066]
- 23. Duan H, Nie W. A novel grey model based on Susceptible Infected Recovered Model: A case study of COVD-19. Physica A 2022 Sep 15;602:127622 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.physa.2022.127622] [Medline: 35692385]
- 24. Ngo HA, Hoang TN, Dik M. Introduction to the grey systems theory and its application in mathematical modeling and pandemic prediction of Covid-19. In: Agarwal P, Nieto JJ, Ruzhansky M, Torres DFM, editors. Analysis of Infectious Disease Problems (Covid-19) and Their Global Impact. Singapore: Springer; 2021:191-218.
- 25. Lin CT, Wu CR, Li RJ. Determining the resources distribution of long-term care in Taiwan: applying grey prediction model. J Interdiscip Math 2007;10(3):383-402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/09720502.2007.10700500]
- 26. National Bureau of Statistics of the People's Republic of China. China statistical yearbook [Z]. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.stats.gov.cn/sj/ndsj/2022/indexch.htm</u> [accessed 2024-07-09]
- 27. Xinhua News Agency. The outline of the healthy China 2030: plan was issued. People's Daily. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.gov.cn/zhengce/2016-10/25/content\_5124174.htm?eqid=9d4da6bb000833c000000046496f297</u> [accessed 2016-08-26]
- Chen W, Ma Y, Yu C. Unmet chronic care needs and insufficient nurse staffing to achieve universal health coverage in China: Analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Int J Nurs Stud 2023 Aug;144:104520. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2023.104520] [Medline: <u>37295284</u>]
- 29. Fulmer T. A retrospective/prospective on the future of geriatric nursing. Geriatr Nurs 2020;41(1):29-31. [doi: 10.1016/j.gerinurse.2020.01.012] [Medline: 32024594]
- 30. Nawagi F, Mukisa J, Najjuma JN, Nabirye RC. "We are never taught anything about the elderly." Establishing the gap in elderly health care competencies in nursing education in Uganda. BMC Nurs 2022 Jun 21;21(1):160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12912-022-00936-9] [Medline: 35729575]
- 31. Guo X, Pan T, Guo S. Socialized care services for the aged population: System construction and support measures. Front. Eng. Manag 2022 Nov 04;10(2):339-353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s42524-022-0208-2]
- 32. Peters M. Time to solve persistent, pernicious and widespread nursing workforce shortages. Int Nurs Rev 2023 Jun;70(2):247-253. [doi: 10.1111/inr.12837] [Medline: 37000668]
- Kavanagh JM, Sharpnack PA. Crisis in competency: a defining moment in nursing education. Online J Issues Nurs 2021;26(1) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3912/OJIN.Vol26No01Man02]
- 34. Chen FQ, Leng YF, Ge JF, Wang DW, Li C, Chen B, et al. Effectiveness of virtual reality in nursing education: meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2020 Sep 15;22(9):e18290 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18290] [Medline: 32930664]
- Luan H, Geczy P, Lai H, Gobert J, Yang SJH, Ogata H, et al. Challenges and future directions of big data and artificial intelligence in education. Front Psychol 2020;11:580820 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.580820] [Medline: 33192896]
- Srinivasan M, Venugopal A, Venkatesan L, Kumar R. Navigating the pedagogical landscape: exploring the implications of AI and chatbots in nursing education. JMIR Nurs 2024 Jun 13;7:e52105 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/52105] [Medline: 38870516]
- Zhang Z, Yang C, Wang Y, Deng G, Chang J. Investigating the intentions and reasons of senior high school students in registering for nursing education in China. BMC Nurs 2023 Sep 12;22(1):311 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12912-023-01480-w] [Medline: 37700328]
- 38. Makridakis S, Spiliotis E, Assimakopoulos V. Statistical and Machine Learning forecasting methods: Concerns and ways forward. PLoS One 2018;13(3):e0194889 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0194889] [Medline: 29584784]

#### Abbreviations

WHO: World Health Organization



Edited by H Ahn; submitted 12.04.24; peer-reviewed by N Blay, CSY Park; comments to author 15.05.24; revised version received 30.05.24; accepted 18.06.24; published 14.08.24.

Please cite as:
Wu X, Kang A
Demand Forecasting of Nurse Talents in China Based on the Gray GM (1,1) Model: Model Development Study
Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e59484
URL: https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e59484
doi:10.2196/59484
PMID:

©XiuLi Wu, Aimei Kang. Originally published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal (https://apinj.jmir.org), 14.08.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://apinj.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



#### **Viewpoint**

# Perspectives on Artificial Intelligence in Nursing in Asia

Nada Lukkahatai<sup>1</sup>, RN, MSN, PhD, FAAN; Gyumin Han<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>School of Nursing, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States
 <sup>2</sup>College of Nursing, Research Institute of Nursing Science, Pusan National University, Busan, Republic of Korea

**Corresponding Author:** Nada Lukkahatai, RN, MSN, PhD, FAAN School of Nursing Johns Hopkins University 525 N Wolfe Street Baltimore, MD, 21205 United States Phone: 1 4106145297 Email: nada.lukkahatai@jhu.edu

### Abstract

Artificial intelligence (AI) is reshaping health care, including nursing, across Asia, presenting opportunities to improve patient care and outcomes. This viewpoint presents our perspective and interpretation of the current AI landscape, acknowledging its evolution driven by enhanced processing capabilities, extensive data sets, and refined algorithms. Notable applications in countries such as Singapore, South Korea, Japan, and China showcase the integration of AI-powered technologies such as chatbots, virtual assistants, data mining, and automated risk assessment systems. This paper further explores the transformative impact of AI on nursing education, emphasizing personalized learning, adaptive approaches, and AI-enriched simulation tools, and discusses the opportunities and challenges of these developments. We argue for the harmonious coexistence of traditional nursing values with AI innovations, marking a significant stride toward a promising health care future in Asia.

(Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e55321) doi:10.2196/55321

#### **KEYWORDS**

machine learning; ML; artificial intelligence; AI; algorithm; predictive model; predictive analytics; predictive system; practical model; deep learning; ChatGPT; chatbot; nursing; nurse; nursing education; personalized education; Asia

# Introduction

Artificial intelligence (AI) is generally defined as a machine-based system that can make predictions, recommendations, or decisions to influence real or virtual environments based on human-defined objectives [1]. These systems-including branches such as robotics, machine learning, deep learning, and natural language processing-can imitate human cognitive functions such as reasoning, learning, and decision-making [2,3]. Over the years, AI has made significant advancements based on improved computer processing capabilities, access to large data sets for training, and algorithm designs [4]. AI-based technologies such as AI-powered decision support systems and AI-powered monitoring systems have been widely adopted by health care systems to improve patient care, enhance efficiency, and reduce costs [5,6]. Nurses are at the forefront of this revolution. AI can augment nurses' abilities, thus improving patient outcomes and increasing clinicians' and patients' satisfaction [7-10].

The adoption of AI in nursing in Asia is varied but is a growing trend in the region. This viewpoint discusses our multifaceted perspectives on the use of AI in nursing practice and education, with a specific focus on Asian countries. It is important to note that this paper is not intended to be a systematic review of the topic but rather aims to highlight developing trends and prospects in the field.

# Applications of AI in Nursing

#### Applications of AI in Nursing Practice and Research

The introduction of AI in nursing in Asia, as in other parts of the world, began to gain prominence in the late 20th century and continued to evolve over the years; however, the specific timeline for the first use of AI in nursing in Asia can vary depending on the region and health care institution (Table 1). Some Asian countries, particularly those with advanced health care systems and a strong focus on technology, may have adopted AI in nursing earlier than others. Regions such as Singapore, South Korea, Japan, India, and China have embraced



AI-powered chatbots and virtual assistants, revolutionizing nursing practice and education, and addressing basic health queries [11-14].

As shown in Table 1, in practice and clinical research, Taiwan, South Korea, Japan, Singapore, and China have demonstrated significant advancements in the integration of AI. In Taiwan, data-mining techniques have significantly enhanced the prediction of nursing issues, while an electroencephalogram classification algorithm has greatly improved seizure monitoring. Hu et al [15] developed an inpatient pressure injury prediction model with an impressive 87.2% recall rate, benefiting high-risk patients. In South Korea, the automated sepsis risk assessment system (Auto-SepRAS) has excelled in categorizing sepsis risk, emphasizing its continuous monitoring value. AI-driven tools have effectively reduced hospital-acquired pressure ulcer rates and intensive care unit stays [16]. Additionally, recent studies in South Korea used machine learning-based analytical methods and natural language processing to accurately predict adverse drug reactions [17], pressure injury staging [18], and improve hospital data management capabilities [19]. Japan's focus on advanced health care analytics is evident through the works of Nakatani et al [20] and Kawashima et al [21], which leveraged natural language processing and machine learning to predict hospital inpatient falls (area under the receiver operating characteristic curve of 0.834) and needs of cancer patients in palliative care, respectively. A study in China used machine learning-based analytical methods for the early detection of delirium in children with critical illnesses [22]. These examples illustrate the remarkable progress in AI integration in nursing

across these Asian countries, contributing to improved patient care and safety.

The application of AI-based triage systems in health care facilities and AI-powered telemedicine can further improve access to health care for those who live in remote and conflict-affected areas [23-25]. A research group in Turkey used machine learning to assess pediatric pain to help address patient needs and experiences in clinical practice [26]. Despite the potential benefit of integrating AI into nursing practice to improve patient care and health care delivery, research in this area in developing countries is currently limited, and more studies are needed to explore the feasibility, acceptability, and effectiveness of AI-based solutions in real-world nursing settings.

A bibliometric analysis and science mapping study on AI research in nursing revealed that China has published 89 papers and that Japan and Korea each published 19 papers in this field among Asian countries [27]. In addition, a multinational collaboration network focusing on AI research in nursing has been formed, encompassing nations in Asia such as Japan, Thailand, India, China, Korea, and Singapore. However, the study lacked instances or a comprehensive examination of how Asian nations are implementing AI technology in the nursing domain, and it also failed to address the consequences of such technology on nursing practice and education. These limitations underscore the necessity for increased region-specific research and deliberate global cooperation to optimize the use of AI technology in the nursing domain within Asian nations.

Table 1. Examples of artificial intelligence (AI) in nursing practice and research across Asia.

Authors, year, and country	Study type	AI features	AI feature description	Application in nursing	Key findings
Aydın and Özyazıcıoğlu [26], 2023, Turkey	Primary research; observation study	ML <sup>a</sup> (CNNs <sup>b</sup> )	Deep-learning models for visual data analysis, using layers to automat- ically learn and extract features from images	Postoperative pain assessment in chil- dren	ML closely matched children's self-reported pain scores, demonstrating potential for clinical application
Back et al [16], 2016, South Korea	Primary research	AI-powered sepsis risk as- sessment sys- tem (Auto- SepRAS)	AI is used to analyze patient data and predict the likelihood of sepsis	Sepsis risk assessment	Auto-SepRAS demonstrated moderate predictive power for early sepsis identification in hospitalized patients
Hu et al [15], 2020, Taiwan	Primary research	ML (decision tree, logistic regression, random forest)	ML algorithms to make predictions and classifi- cations based on data	Inpatient pressure injury prediction	The random forest model was the most accurate with key identified risk factors, including skin integrity and systolic blood pressure
Jeon et al [17], 2020, South Korea	Primary research	Temporal-dif- ference method in rein- forcement learning	Combining aspects of Monte Carlo methods and dynamic program- ming	ADRs <sup>c</sup>	Employing temporal-difference learning for analyzing ADRs from nursing notes offers promise for drug safety surveillance
Kawashima et al [21], 2024, Japan	Primary research	ML (XG- Boost <sup>d</sup> )	ML algorithm based on gradient boosting used for classification and regression tasks	Specialist pallia- tive care needs prediction	The predictive model showed potential to replace traditional screening tools, with high accu- racy in identifying palliative care needs
Kim et al [18], 2023, South Korea	Primary research	CNN	Deep-learning models for visual data analysis	Pressure injury staging	The CNN model improved the accuracy of pressure injury staging decisions among health professionals
Khan et al [24], 2019, Bangladesh	Perspective	DHIS2 <sup>e</sup> , EHR <sup>f</sup> , big da- ta, AI, ML	The use of AI and ML in medical health record software	Health data ware- house, EHRs, workforce strategy	Bangladesh integrated fragment- ed health systems into a unified digital health platform, advanc- ing national health care deliv- ery and planning
Lei et al [22], 2023, China	Primary research	ML (XG- Boost, logistic regression, random forest)	ML algorithms based on gradient boosting	Delirium predic- tion in pediatric in- tensive care	The XGBoost model was the best performer for early predic- tion of delirium in critically ill children
Nakatani et al [20], 2020, Japan	Primary research	NLP <sup>g</sup> and ML	NLP focuses on the in- teraction between com- puters and human lan- guage; ML involves prediction algorithms	Predicting inpa- tient falls	High accuracy in predicting in- patient falls using nursing records with NLP and ML techniques
Shi et al [27], 2023, global (including Asia)	Bibliometric analy- sis	Various AI technologies	Not applicable	General nursing practice	Rapid growth in publications and citations in the field of AI in nursing, highlighting key ar- eas such as nurse rostering, nursing diagnosis, decision support, and big data manage- ment; developed countries lead in publications and collabora- tion

<sup>a</sup>ML: machine learning.

<sup>b</sup>CNN: convolutional neural network.

<sup>c</sup>ADR: adverse drug reaction.

<sup>d</sup>XGBoost: extreme gradient boosting.

<sup>e</sup>DHIS2: District Health Information Software 2.

<sup>f</sup>EHR: electronic health record.

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e55321



<sup>g</sup>NLP: natural language processing.

# Applications of AI in Nursing Education and Patient Support

As shown in Table 2, in nursing education, the integration of AI promises improved learning outcomes and an overall elevation in the quality of training by allowing personalized learning experiences [28-30]. Through intricate algorithms, educational content can be tailored to resonate with individual student needs, accounting for their unique strengths, weaknesses, and learning styles. This ensures content delivery in a manner most conducive to comprehension and retention. Adaptive learning allows students to assimilate knowledge at their own pace, optimizing their educational journey. Engaging and interactive modules instill genuine enthusiasm in learners, fostering an environment conducive to in-depth exploration and understanding [31,32]. Moreover, simulation tools enhanced by AI capabilities revolutionize hands-on nursing training,

providing safe and controlled environments for students to practice and refine their skills. Real-time feedback within these simulations allows for immediate correction and learning that are instrumental in building clinical confidence [33-37]. The specific integration of AI in nursing education in Asia is varied by country and institution. Nevertheless, it is increasingly recognized as a valuable tool for improving the quality of education and for preparing nursing students for the complex health care environment.

While some countries such as India, Pakistan, Bangladesh, Turkey, and Afghanistan may face limited resources and infrastructure, several attempts have been made to develop low-cost, culturally tailored AI technologies to improve patient care, optimize workflow efficiency, and enhance clinical decision-making (Table 2). Examples of such AI applications in these countries include the implementation of AI-powered chatbots for patient education and support [23,38].



Table 2. Examples of artificial intelligence (AI) in nursing education and patient support across Asia.

Authors, year, and country	Study type	AI features	AI feature description	Application in nursing	Key findings
Nurse education and provider	raining				
Chen et al [31], 2022, China	Primary re- search	Chatbot	AI program designed to simulate conversation with human users	History-taking instruc- tion program	Identified a need for chat- bot-based history-taking instruction to provide more practice and feedback op- portunities
Liao et al [8], 2015, Taiwan	Primary re- search; case study	BPN <sup>a</sup> , AN- FIS <sup>b</sup>	BPN is a machine-learn- ing model that learns by adjusting its connections based on errors. ANFIS combines neural net- works and fuzzy logic to learn and make decisions from data.	Support decision-mak- ing in nursing; generate nursing diagnoses	AI can assist in accurately generating nursing diag- noses with an agreement rate of up to 87% between system suggestions and nurse-made diagnoses.
Liaw et al [37], 2023, Singapore	Primary re- search; RCT <sup>c</sup>	AI in virtual reality simula- tion	Using AI to create realis- tic and interactive virtual environments, enhancing the user's experience	Sepsis care and interpro- fessional communica- tion training	Virtual reality simulations with AI-powered doctors were effective for sepsis team training without infe- rior outcomes
Castonguay and Lovis [30], 2023, Canada	Reflection article	ChatGPT	A language model devel- oped by OpenAI de- signed to understand and generate human-like text based on the input it re- ceives	Nursing education, re- search, and practice	ChatGPT could revolution- ize nursing education by supporting students' learn- ing, improving digital liter- acy, and facilitating critical thinking. Despite potential biases and limitations, it can serve as a tool for re- search, teaching, and sum- marizing complex docu- ments. Its integration re- quires collaboration to es- tablish competencies and ethical guidelines for AI use in nursing
Patient education and support					
Cheng et al [32], 2023, Tai- wan	Primary re- search; interven- tional study	AI chatbot	AI program designed to simulate conversation with human users	Peritoneal dialysis care	The AI chatbot significant- ly improved patient satis- faction and reduced infec- tion rates
Castonguay et al [29], 2023, global (including Asia)	Comparative study	AI	A technology that en- ables machines to mimic human intelligence, al- lowing them to learn, reason, and make deci- sions	AI maturity in health care systems	Most OECD <sup>d</sup> countries are at the emerging level of AI maturity in health care. Only the United States and the United Kingdom have achieved the integrated ecosystem level, indicating mature, collaborative AI use in health care. The study underscores the need for adaptable, context-spe- cific AI strategies for health care across different countries.



Authors, year, and country Study type AI features AI feature description Application in nursing Key findings Castonguay et al [28], 2024, Editorial AI language Systems that use AI to Health care digitaliza-AI language models have global (including Asia) understand and generate models tion significant potential to imhuman-like text based on prove decision-making and the data they have been patient engagement in trained on health care. Challenges include ensuring reliability, transparency, and ethical w journal secexplore, nd address nges. ommunication d data manageilities on increased sfaction but ective than nulation for ills engaged users, young men, private space ng sensitive

#### ASIAN/PACIFIC ISLAND NURSING JOURNAL

# Asia

While AI promises to revolutionize health care in Asia, it also presents several challenges. A primary concern is the lack of consistent standards and regulations for AI tools. This lack of standardization can lead to patient safety issues, particularly if devices from different manufacturers do not integrate smoothly or yield inconsistent results [39]. Biases embedded within AI algorithms are another significant concern. If the training data for these algorithms do not represent diverse populations, the AI systems might produce discriminatory or unequal outcomes. Such biases could exacerbate existing health care disparities or introduce new ones, thus challenging the equity and fairness of care delivery [40].

Ethical challenges-particularly related to data privacy and informed consent-are also paramount. As the health care industry increasingly relies on vast data sets, ensuring data security and transparent usage is crucial. Addressing patient autonomy and consent for data usage is of utmost importance. Moreover, disparities in resources and infrastructure across Asia's vast landscape can hinder uniform AI adoption. While urban health care centers readily adopt AI, rural areas may face challenges such as outdated equipment or inconsistent internet connectivity. Finally, the integration of AI necessitates an educational shift for nurses, emphasizing a balance between clinical knowledge and technological skills [41-44].

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e55321
```

RenderX

ation presents some challenges. One of the foremost challenges is the need for adequate infrastructure and resources to implement AI technologies effectively. Many educational institutions may face financial constraints or lack the technical infrastructure required for seamless AI integration. Additionally, there are concerns related to the appropriate and ethical use of AI in education, including issues of data privacy, bias in AI algorithms, and transparency in decision-making processes. Educators and institutions must also address the potential resistance to change among faculty members and students who may be unfamiliar with AI-based tools and systems. Balancing the human touch and critical thinking skills that are so intrinsic to nursing with the technological advancements in AI poses another challenge, as this requires a thoughtful approach to curriculum design and the development of AI-enhanced educational content that aligns with nursing practice.

Furthermore, while some AI-powered dialogue systems (eg, ChatGPT, Microsoft Bing AI, Google Gemini) have the potential to enhance nursing education by providing instant access to information, facilitating virtual simulations, and offering personalized learning experiences, there are concerns regarding their potential misuse. Growing concerns are related to students becoming overly dependent on AI-generated responses along with the risk of misinformation or inaccurate guidance because these systems lack access to up-to-date evidence-based knowledge or clinical expertise [29,34,44]. In nursing education,

n	NURSING	IOURNAL	

						tion aims to showcase, an these challer
Park et al Korea	[19], 2024, South	Primary re- search	NLP <sup>e</sup>	Focuses on the interac- tion between computers and human language	Patient interaction, health records manage- ment	Enhanced co and improved ment capabi
Simsek-C aveli Caki Turkey	etinkaya and Kar- ir [38], 2023,	Primary re- search; interven- tional design	Interactive screen-based simulation	A digital tool that lets users engage with simu- lated scenarios on a screen, allowing them to practice skills or experi- ence situations	Breast self-examination training	AI simulatic student satis was less effe standard sin teaching ski
Wang et a	l [23], 2022, India	Primary re- search; interven- tional study	AI chatbot	AI program designed to simulate conversation with human users	Sexual and reproductive health education	The chatbot of particularly providing a for discussin health topic:

Lukkahatai & Han

where critical thinking, empathy, and clinical judgment are vital, overreliance on AI could inadvertently undermine these essential skills.

Introducing AI integration in nursing in Asia presents several challenges that are rooted in resource constraints, technological infrastructure disparities, data privacy concerns, cultural acceptance, resistance to change, education and training gaps, the need for ethical and legal frameworks, language diversity, and integration with existing health care systems. Resource limitations often hinder investments in AI technology and staff training, while disparities in technological infrastructure and connectivity across regions can hinder access to advanced AI tools. Developing robust data-protection regulations and cybersecurity measures is essential to address privacy concerns. Overcoming cultural and traditional health care practices, as well as ensuring that AI is embraced by both health care providers and patients, requires a thoughtful approach. Education and training are crucial, as health care professionals need specialized training to effectively use AI tools. Developing ethical guidelines and legal frameworks, as well as addressing the issues related to language diversity and the seamless integration of AI with existing systems, are complex but necessary steps to ensure successful AI adoption in nursing

across Asia. Despite these challenges, many Asian countries are actively working to overcome these barriers, recognizing the potential benefits of AI in nursing for improving patient care, increasing efficiency, and enhancing health care outcomes.

## Summary and Prospects

In summary, the advent of AI is indicating a significant transformation in the field of nursing across Asia. Embracing these innovations necessitates the recognition of the enduring importance of the human touch and empathy within the profession. When effectively integrated, AI can complement and coexist with the core values of traditional nursing, paving the way for a harmonious and promising future in health care. Despite our interpretation of current evidence and perspective of the role of AI in nursing practice and education in Asia, this is not a systematic review. The limitation of this viewpoint is that the potential lack of comprehensive data specific to AI use in nursing across all Asian countries, the depth of analysis and generalizability of findings, and cultural and contextual differences across countries may not be fully captured to shape our perspectives. These limitations highlight the need for a follow-up systematic review paper and further research.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Finley J, Dix A. An Introduction to Artificial Intelligence. 1st edition. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1996.
- Russell S, Bohannon J. Artificial intelligence. Fears of an AI pioneer. Science 2015 Jul 17;349(6245):252. [doi: 10.1126/science.349.6245.252] [Medline: 26185241]
- Russell R, Lovett Novak L, Patel M, Garvey KV, Craig KJT, Jackson GP, et al. Competencies for the use of artificial intelligence-based tools by health care professionals. Acad Med 2023 Mar 01;98(3):348-356. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000004963] [Medline: <u>36731054</u>]
- 4. Goodfellow I, Bengio Y, Courville A. Deep Learning. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2016.
- 5. Topol EJ. High-performance medicine: the convergence of human and artificial intelligence. Nat Med 2019 Jan 7;25(1):44-56. [doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0300-7] [Medline: 30617339]
- Wosik J, Fudim M, Cameron B, Gellad ZF, Cho A, Phinney D, et al. Telehealth transformation: COVID-19 and the rise of virtual care. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020 Jun 01;27(6):957-962 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa067] [Medline: 32311034]
- Choi J, Woo S, Ferrell A. Artificial intelligence assisted telehealth for nursing: a scoping review. J Telemed Telecare 2023 Apr 18:1357633X231167613. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X231167613] [Medline: 37071572]
- Liao P, Hsu P, Chu W, Chu W. Applying artificial intelligence technology to support decision-making in nursing: a case study in Taiwan. Health Informatics J 2015 Jun 28;21(2):137-148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1460458213509806] [Medline: 26021669]
- Singh S, Kapoor S. Engaging nurses in developing generative artificial intelligence-based technologies can enhance their work motivation, engagement and satisfaction. Evid Based Nurs 2024 Feb 06:ebnurs-2023-103783. [doi: 10.1136/ebnurs-2023-103783] [Medline: 38123974]
- Sodeau A, Fox A. Influence of nurses in the implementation of artificial intelligence in health care: a scoping review. Aust Health Rev 2022 Dec;46(6):736-741. [doi: 10.1071/AH22164] [Medline: 36346978]
- Xu L, Sanders L, Li K, Chow JCL. Chatbot for health care and oncology applications using artificial intelligence and machine learning: systematic review. JMIR Cancer 2021 Nov 29;7(4):e27850 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/27850] [Medline: <u>34847056</u>]
- 12. McGrow K. Artificial intelligence: essentials for nursing. Nursing 2019 Sep;49(9):46-49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/01.NURSE.0000577716.57052.8d] [Medline: 31365455]
- 13. Noble JM, Zamani A, Gharaat M, Merrick D, Maeda N, Lambe Foster A, et al. Developing, implementing, and evaluating an artificial intelligence-guided mental health resource navigation chatbot for health care workers and their families during

and following the COVID-19 pandemic: protocol for a cross-sectional study. JMIR Res Protoc 2022 Jul 25;11(7):e33717 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/33717] [Medline: 35877158]

- 14. Sturgill R, Martinasek M, Schmidt T, Goyal R. A novel artificial intelligence-powered emotional intelligence and mindfulness app (Ajivar) for the college student population during the COVID-19 pandemic: quantitative questionnaire study. JMIR Form Res 2021 Jan 05;5(1):e25372 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25372] [Medline: 33320822]
- 15. Hu Y, Lee YL, Kang MF, Lee PJ. Constructing inpatient pressure injury prediction models using machine learning techniques. Comput Inform Nurs 2020 Aug;38(8):415-423. [doi: 10.1097/CIN.0000000000604] [Medline: 32205474]
- 16. Back J, Jin Y, Jin T, Lee S. Development and validation of an automated sepsis risk assessment system. Res Nurs Health 2016 Oct 21;39(5):317-327. [doi: 10.1002/nur.21734] [Medline: 27327444]
- Jeon E, Kim Y, Park H, Park RW, Shin H, Park H. Analysis of adverse drug reactions identified in nursing notes using reinforcement learning. Healthc Inform Res 2020 Apr;26(2):104-111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4258/hir.2020.26.2.104] [Medline: 32547807]
- Kim J, Lee C, Choi S, Sung D, Seo J, Na Lee Y, et al. Augmented decision-making in wound care: evaluating the clinical utility of a deep-learning model for pressure injury staging. Int J Med Inform 2023 Dec;180:105266. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2023.105266] [Medline: <u>37866277</u>]
- Park D, Kim D, Park A. Agendas on nursing in South Korea media: natural language processing and network analysis of news from 2005 to 2022. J Med Internet Res 2024 Mar 19;26:e50518 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/50518</u>] [Medline: <u>38393293</u>]
- 20. Nakatani H, Nakao M, Uchiyama H, Toyoshiba H, Ochiai C. Predicting inpatient falls using natural language processing of nursing records obtained from Japanese electronic medical records: case-control study. JMIR Med Inform 2020 Apr 22;8(4):e16970 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16970] [Medline: 32319959]
- 21. Kawashima A, Furukawa T, Imaizumi T, Morohashi A, Hara M, Yamada S, et al. Predictive models for palliative care needs of advanced cancer patients receiving chemotherapy. J Pain Symptom Manage 2024 Apr;67(4):306-316 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2024.01.009] [Medline: 38218414]
- Lei L, Zhang S, Yang L, Yang C, Liu Z, Xu H, et al. Machine learning-based prediction of delirium 24 h after pediatric intensive care unit admission in critically ill children: a prospective cohort study. Int J Nurs Stud 2023 Oct;146:104565 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2023.104565] [Medline: <u>37542959</u>]
- 23. Wang H, Gupta S, Singhal A, Muttreja P, Singh S, Sharma P, et al. An artificial intelligence chatbot for young people's sexual and reproductive health in India (SnehAI): instrumental case study. J Med Internet Res 2022 Jan 03;24(1):e29969 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/29969] [Medline: 34982034]
- 24. Khan MH, Cruz VO, Azad A. Bangladesh's digital health journey: reflections on a decade of quiet revolution. WHO South East Asia J Public Health 2019 Sep;8(2):71-76. [doi: 10.4103/2224-3151.264849] [Medline: 31441440]
- 25. Agarwal M, Saba L, Gupta SK, Carriero A, Falaschi Z, Paschè A, et al. A novel block imaging technique using nine artificial intelligence models for COVID-19 disease classification, characterization and severity measurement in lung computed tomography scans on an Italian cohort. J Med Syst 2021 Jan 26;45(3):28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10916-021-01707-w] [Medline: 33496876]
- 26. Aydın A, Özyazıcıoğlu N. Assessment of postoperative pain in children with computer assisted facial expression analysis. J Pediatr Nurs 2023 Jul;71:60-65. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pedn.2023.03.008</u>] [Medline: <u>37004311</u>]
- 27. Shi J, Wei S, Gao Y, Mei F, Tian J, Zhao Y, et al. Global output on artificial intelligence in the field of nursing: a bibliometric analysis and science mapping. J Nurs Scholarsh 2023 Jul 18;55(4):853-863. [doi: 10.1111/jnu.12852] [Medline: 36529995]
- 28. Castonguay A, Wagner G, Motulsky A, Paré G. AI maturity in health care: an overview of 10 OECD countries. Health Policy 2024 Feb;140:104938. [doi: 10.1016/j.healthpol.2023.104938] [Medline: 38157771]
- 29. Castonguay A, Farthing P, Davies S, Vogelsang L, Kleib M, Risling T, et al. Revolutionizing nursing education through AI integration: a reflection on the disruptive impact of ChatGPT. Nurse Educ Today 2023 Oct;129:105916. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2023.105916] [Medline: 37515957]
- Castonguay A, Lovis C. Introducing the "AI Language Models in Health Care" section: actionable strategies for targeted and wide-scale deployment. JMIR Med Inform 2023 Dec 21;11:e53785 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/53785] [Medline: 38127431]
- 31. Chen Y, Moreira P, Liu W, Monachino M, Nguyen TLH, Wang A. Is there a gap between artificial intelligence applications and priorities in health care and nursing management? J Nurs Manag 2022 Nov 24;30(8):3736-3742 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jonm.13851] [Medline: 36216773]
- Cheng C, Lin W, Liu H, Chen Y, Chiang C, Hung K. Implementation of artificial intelligence chatbot in peritoneal dialysis nursing care: experience from a Taiwan medical center. Nephrology 2023 Dec 12;28(12):655-662. [doi: <u>10.1111/nep.14239</u>] [Medline: <u>37698229</u>]
- Harmon J, Pitt V, Summons P, Inder KJ. Use of artificial intelligence and virtual reality within clinical simulation for nursing pain education: a scoping review. Nurse Educ Today 2021 Feb;97:104700. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104700</u>] [Medline: <u>33341064</u>]
- 34. Liu J, Liu F, Fang J, Liu S. The application of Chat Generative Pre-trained Transformer in nursing education. Nurs Outlook 2023 Nov;71(6):102064. [doi: 10.1016/j.outlook.2023.102064] [Medline: <u>37879261</u>]

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e55321
```

- 35. Sharma M, Sharma S. A holistic approach to remote patient monitoring, fueled by ChatGPT and Metaverse technology: the future of nursing education. Nurse Educ Today 2023 Dec;131:105972. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2023.105972</u>] [Medline: <u>37757713</u>]
- Liaw SY, Tan JZ, Lim S, Zhou W, Yap J, Ratan R, et al. Artificial intelligence in virtual reality simulation for interprofessional communication training: mixed method study. Nurse Educ Today 2023 Mar;122:105718 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2023.105718] [Medline: 36669304]
- Liaw SY, Tan JZ, Bin Rusli KD, Ratan R, Zhou W, Lim S, et al. Artificial intelligence versus human-controlled doctor in virtual reality simulation for sepsis team training: randomized controlled study. J Med Internet Res 2023 Jul 26;25:e47748 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/47748] [Medline: 37494112]
- Simsek-Cetinkaya S, Cakir SK. Evaluation of the effectiveness of artificial intelligence assisted interactive screen-based simulation in breast self-examination: An innovative approach in nursing students. Nurse Educ Today 2023 Aug;127:105857. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2023.105857</u>] [Medline: <u>37253303</u>]
- 39. Malik YS, Sircar S, Bhat S, Ansari MI, Pande T, Kumar P, et al. How artificial intelligence may help the Covid-19 pandemic: pitfalls and lessons for the future. Rev Med Virol 2021 Sep;31(5):1-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/rmv.2205] [Medline: 33476063]
- Balsano C, Burra P, Duvoux C, Alisi A, Piscaglia F, Gerussi A, Special Interest Group (SIG) Artificial Intelligence and Liver Disease; Italian Association for the Study of Liver (AISF). Artificial Intelligence and liver: opportunities and barriers. Dig Liver Dis 2023 Nov;55(11):1455-1461 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2023.08.048] [Medline: 37718227]
- 41. Erikson H, Salzmann-Erikson M. Future challenges of robotics and artificial intelligence in nursing: what can we learn from monsters in popular culture? Perm J 2016;20(3):15-243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7812/TPP/15-243] [Medline: 27455058]
- 42. Evans S. Challenges facing the distribution of an artificial-intelligence-based system for nursing. J Med Syst 1985 Apr;9(1-2):79-89. [doi: <u>10.1007/BF00992524</u>] [Medline: <u>3839837</u>]
- 43. Farabi Maleki S, Yousefi M, Afshar S, Pedrammehr S, Lim CP, Jafarizadeh A, et al. Artificial intelligence for multiple sclerosis management using retinal images: pearl, peaks, and pitfalls. Semin Ophthalmol 2024 May 13;39(4):271-288. [doi: 10.1080/08820538.2023.2293030] [Medline: 38088176]
- 44. O'Connor S. Open artificial intelligence platforms in nursing education: tools for academic progress or abuse? Nurse Educ Pract 2023 Jan;66:103537. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nepr.2022.103537</u>] [Medline: <u>36549229</u>]

#### Abbreviations

AI: artificial intelligence

Edited by SF Wung; submitted 11.12.23; peer-reviewed by G Farid, D Chrimes, M Coccia; comments to author 22.01.24; revised version received 22.02.24; accepted 22.05.24; published 19.06.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Lukkahatai N, Han G Perspectives on Artificial Intelligence in Nursing in Asia Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e55321 URL: <u>https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e55321</u> doi:<u>10.2196/55321</u> PMID:<u>38896473</u>

©Nada Lukkahatai, Gyumin Han. Originally published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal (https://apinj.jmir.org), 19.06.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://apinj.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



#### **Viewpoint**

# Centralized Pump Monitoring System: Perception on Utility and Workflows by Nurses in a Tertiary Hospital

Naruemol Chindamorragot<sup>1\*</sup>, BSN; Orawan Suitthimeathegorn<sup>2\*</sup>, BPharm, PhD; Amit Garg<sup>2\*</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Nursing Department, Bangkok Hospital Sanamchan, Nakhon Pathom, Thailand

<sup>2</sup>Medical Affairs, Terumo Asia Holdings Pte. Ltd., Singapore, Singapore

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Orawan Suitthimeathegorn, BPharm, PhD Medical Affairs Terumo Asia Holdings Pte. Ltd. 300 Beach Road #37-01 The Concourse Singapore, 199555 Singapore Phone: 65 92991056 Fax: 65 62942329 Email: orawan\_suitthimeathegorn@terumo.co.jp

# Abstract

Nurses play a key role in providing in-hospital care to patients. Worldwide, there has been a shortage of nursing staff, putting enormous strain on the existing nursing workforce physically and mentally. A vicious cycle of demanding workplaces exacerbated by perennial shortages leads to attrition and high staff turnover. A centralized, automated infusion pump monitoring system optimizes and augments nurses' performance in the hospital by cutting down on nurse visits to the patient's bedside for every matter, whether significant or insignificant. This viewpoint intends to highlight that by filtering out the noise effectively, nurses can focus on improving patient outcome–led interventions and enhancing the quality of care.

#### (Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e60116) doi:10.2196/60116

#### **KEYWORDS**

infusion management; nurse efficiency; pump monitoring system; nurse attrition

### Introduction

A centralized, automated infusion pump monitoring system (PMS) is a dynamic mechanism that integrates multiple infusion pumps into a central location, such as a nurse station. By generating alerts, infusion pumps with drug libraries from dose error-reduction systems can warn nursing staff about potential prescribing, calculation, and programming errors. The pumps are equipped with hard limits (ie, disallow bypass and prevent the start of the infusion) or soft limits (ie, warn of outside range parameters but permit users to start the infusion). Drug libraries can be customized according to institutional needs and can be classified based on care areas, specific patient groups, or body weight configurations. The system can help improve patient safety, comfort, and outcomes by ensuring accurate and timely administration of treatments and preventing treatment-related adverse events [1].

This viewpoint focuses on nursing challenges in general wards, the PMS, and the key outcomes from a survey conducted at a multispecialty hospital in Thailand.

# Nursing Challenges in General Wards and PMS Utility

In a general ward, patients are generally conscious, and the alarm originating from infusion pumps may disturb patients, create unwanted anxiety, and incur additional nurse visits to the patient's bedside [2,3]. Responding to each alert and distress call warrants nurse visits for visual checks, which is time-consuming and physically demanding and enhances cognitive stress [2,3]. This was also found in the survey, which is discussed later. Nursing as a profession is beset with a stressful environment [4-7]. The exhaustion is both physical and mental. Work exhaustion compounded by the stressful job of handling emergencies and responding to distress calls and

alarms for multiple patients in a general ward could take a heavy toll on the state of the personal health of nurses. We have demonstrated the state of affairs in a hospital's general ward, whereby a nurse has to manage multiple patients. If the process is manual, it leads to physical exertion, stress, and exhaustion. As illustrated in the left-hand side of Figure 1, a nurse makes an investigative visit to the patient's bed upon registering distress calls (orange arrow) and then returns to the central station (black arrow). After finding a solution, the nurse makes another visit to the patient's bed and administers remedial measures (gray arrow). However, if a ward is equipped with a PMS, as illustrated on the right-hand side of Figure 1, the nurse can identify the problem on the centralized monitor (eg, blockade) and solve the issue in a single visit. Therefore, the additional steps for each patient call are eliminated, resulting in less physical effort and exhaustion. Staff burnout impacts organizational performance, patient safety, and health outcomes if appropriate interventions are not undertaken.

Figure 1. In general wards, the use of a PMS with an infusion system reduces nurse's movement and improves workflow efficiency in comparison to without a PMS. PMS: pump monitoring system.



Figure 2. PMS benefits to the stakeholders in care delivery. Workflow efficiency improvement, better decision-making, and closer patient monitoring result in greater patient safety standards. AE: adverse event; IV: intravenous; PMS: pump monitoring system.



# Impact of a PMS on Nurses' Workflow in Hospitals

A PMS is critical in reducing physical movements with the centralized display of the infusion status on the monitor. Regardless of the clinical settings, a PMS prevents undetected infusion errors, such as incorrect doses or infusion data, and facilitates care coordination and collaboration with other health care professionals by sharing intravenous infusion data and

alerts through the network and health information systems [8]. Several benefits have been attributed to the PMS, benefitting all the stakeholders—patients, nurses, and care providers—in the health care ecosystem, as shown in Figure 2.

# Key Outcomes of the Nurse Survey in a General Ward

#### Overview

We present the survey conducted in Bangkok Hospital Sanamchan (210 beds), situated in Mueang District, Nakhon Pathom Province, Thailand. A cross-sectional survey of the 91 nurses working in the general ward was conducted in October 2023, and they were asked to report their feedback on a 7-point Likert scale. We manually explained the presented questions to the nurses, and they submitted their responses in complete privacy on a paper-based system. The key objectives of the survey were as follows:

- To evaluate the work efficiency of nursing staff after the implementation of a PMS. The efficiency parameters included reducing the frequency of entering patients' rooms to check pump status, decreasing the number of nurse calls, and other related factors.
- To examine the potential impact of the PMS on nursing workflow, work planning, and patient recovery.

The response scheme was as follows: 1="Strongly disagree," 2="Disagree," 3="Somewhat disagree," 4="Neither agree OR disagree," 5="Somewhat agree," 6="Agree," and 7="Strongly agree." The responses were compiled in Microsoft Excel, and an inferential analysis was applied to the data. The results were interpreted using the central tendency analysis of mean and

plotted in an intuitive graphical form. The full survey is shown in Multimedia Appendix 1.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

No institutional review board approval was sought. This is because this study focuses solely on gathering feedback to gain perception on the use of the PMS software, similar to a product use survey. Participants were not selected according to any pattern or priority; instead, all nurses working in the general ward were chosen to respond. The purpose of the survey is to evaluate the satisfaction and effectiveness of the PMS software after its installation in the general ward. The survey is entirely anonymous, with no personal details and identities disclosed in any documentation, and it involves no patient data. All participants were fully informed about the survey's purpose and provided their consent. As the survey seeks to gather feedback on the software product before and after its implementation, without involving patient data or interventions, it falls outside the scope of requiring institutional review board approval.

#### Impact of the PMS on the Work Planning of Nurses

The respondents stated that the PMS reduces the number of visits to the patient's room to check on the pump's operating status (85/91, 93%), and they felt that their anxiety was reduced due to fewer calls from the patient's room (83/91, 91%). A similar level of response (82/91, 90%) was received on the decrease in the number of calls from patients' rooms due to PMS adoption (Figure 3).

Figure 3. PMS impact on work planning and efficiency. PMS: pump monitoring system.



#### Impact of the PMS on Work Efficiency

The respondents reported that the PMS helps improve work efficiency (88/91, 97%), helps in work schedule planning to

ensure patient safety (91/91, 100%), and saves time (91/91, 100%; Figure 4).

Figure 4. Work efficiency with PMS integration in the workflow. PMS: pump monitoring system.

#### PMS helps increase work efficiency



using a 7-point Likert scale (1-7).

#### **Impact of PMS Integration on Patient Recovery**

Approximately 95% (86/91) of respondents stated that use of a PMS in a patient's room increases patient and family member satisfaction. Meanwhile, 84% (76/91) of respondents indicated that the PMS may help improve patient recovery. Approximately 96% (87/91) of respondents mentioned that patients sleep better due to the lack of disruption and fewer nursing staff visits to the room, making the patient care area quieter (Figure 5).

The findings outline 2 broad attributes: PMS's benefits and its impact on improving patient outcomes. Figures 3 and 4 show

Effect on Patient Recovery

Figure 5. Effect of the PMS on patient recovery. PMS: pump monitoring system.







# Critical Implications for Patient Care

The survey findings point to the issue of nurse distraction and continuous disengagement from the involved tasks when any patient distress signals are heard in a general ward setting. The resultant anxiety and immediate dash to check on the patient's status has 2 significant adverse impacts: the mental and physical health of the nurses. The general ward is relatively spread out, and the diverse patient mix makes nursing care more strenuous. While there are many established benefits of PMS models, we would like to draw our implications from the outcomes of this survey as a more pragmatic approach.

The most apparent benefits of the PMS for the nursing staff are the ability and flexibility to plan work schedules in a more organized and efficient way, reduce multiple movements, and discharge patient care duties with less exhaustion and greater focus [8]. Also, the PMS ensures no unnecessary patient distress, sleep disturbances, and bedside environment instability. The resultant effect on patient recovery and outcomes is compounded due to more efficient nursing care in the hospital [9,10].

PMS application requires an integrated, multimodal approach to render efficiencies and deliver benefits at scale. This includes infrastructure, training, network, interoperability of the health information systems, and monitoring with a collective approach to align with the goals of enhancing the quality of patient care.

# Future Trends

Technology and data-driven innovation have resulted in the development of PMS models to advance patient care faster.

Also, with PMS integration into electronic health records, more and more real-world data are being generated, resulting in more advanced PMS models [11,12].

To achieve an interconnected, interoperational ecosystem, the wireless connectivity of PMS; image recognition—barcode medication administration and radio-frequency identification; computerized prescriber order entry; and integration into electronic health records seem to be the next steps forward. Each of these technologies exists and is being used in hospitals, but these may be operated in "silos" and not as integrated, interconnected ecosystems. It is envisaged that these technologies, when working in unison as a cohesive force, can provide auto-programming and auto-documentation; clinical decision support; clinical surveillance; and an alert mechanism that highlights critical situations demanding immediate intervention and communicates to the health care professional who is best positioned to solve the problem.

# Conclusion

A PMS enhances the nursing staff's functional and physical capabilities during their workflows, enabling better performance within the hospital environment. A more systematic approach and reduced exhaustion contribute to fewer nursing care errors. As a result, the quality of patient care improves, leading to better care outcomes. Eventually, all the stakeholders in the health care ecosystem—patients, clinicians, and nursing staff; the health care system itself; and society would benefit at different levels.

#### Acknowledgments

Medical writing support for the manuscript was provided by Dr Suchitra Kataria from Mélange Communications Pte Ltd, Singapore.

#### Data Availability

The survey data can be made available upon a reasonable request to the corresponding author.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

All the authors contributed equally to conceptualizing, formal analysis, project administration, writing review, and editing. NC led the hospital survey and analysis at Bangkok Hospital Sanamchan.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

OS and AG are employees of Terumo Asia Holdings Pte Ltd, Singapore. NC has no conflicts of interest to declare.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1 Pump monitoring system (PMS) use survey. [DOCX File , 37 KB - apinj v8i1e60116 app1.docx ]

#### References

RenderX

 Sangeetha K, Vishnuraja P, Dinesh S, Gokul Anandh VS, Hariprakash K. Intravenous fluid monitoring system using IoT. 2022 Jul 23 Presented at: International Conference on Mobile Computing and Sustainable Informatics (ICMCSI 2021); January 29-30, 2021; Kirtipur, Nepal p. 867-871. [doi: <u>10.1007/978-981-16-1866-6\_66</u>]

- Waterson J, Bedner A. Types and frequency of infusion pump alarms and infusion-interruption to infusion-recovery times for critical short half-life infusions: retrospective data analysis. JMIR Hum Factors 2019 Aug 12;6(3):e14123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14123] [Medline: 31407667]
- Sendelbach S, Funk M. Alarm fatigue: a patient safety concern. AACN Adv Crit Care 2013;24(4):378-86; quiz 387. [doi: 10.1097/NCI.0b013e3182a903f9] [Medline: 24153215]
- 4. Suptitz Carneiro A, Andolhe R, de Lima Dalmolin G, de Magalhães AMM, de Souza Magnago TSB, Soares Arrial T. Occupational stress, burnout and patient safety culture among workers from critical care and non critical care units in a hospital in Brazil. Intensive Crit Care Nurs 2021 Apr;63:102978. [doi: 10.1016/j.jccn.2020.102978] [Medline: 33257217]
- 5. Asefzadeh S, Kalhor R, Tir M. Patient safety culture and job stress among nurses in Mazandaran, Iran. Electron Physician 2017 Dec;9(12):6010-6016 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.19082/6010] [Medline: 29560154]
- Li X, Jiang T, Sun J, Shi L, Liu J. The relationship between occupational stress, job burnout and quality of life among surgical nurses in Xinjiang, China. BMC Nurs 2021 Sep 27;20(1):181 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12912-021-00703-2] [Medline: 34579710]
- Chatzigianni D, Tsounis A, Markopoulos N, Sarafis P. Occupational stress experienced by nurses working in a Greek regional hospital: a cross-sectional study. Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res 2018;23(6):450-457 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/ijnmr.IJNMR 120 17] [Medline: 30386395]
- 8. Giuliano KK, Mahuren RS, Balyeat J. Data-based program management of system-wide IV smart pump integration. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2024 Jan 01;81(1):e30-e36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ajhp/zxad245] [Medline: 37804239]
- Doesburg F, Cnossen F, Dieperink W, Bult W, de Smet AM, Touw D, et al. Improved usability of a multi-infusion setup using a centralized control interface: a task-based usability test. PLoS One 2017 Aug 11;12(8):e0183104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0183104] [Medline: 28800617]
- Sutherland A, Jones MD, Howlett M, Arenas-Lopez S, Patel A, Franklin BD. Developing strategic recommendations for implementing smart pumps in advanced healthcare systems to improve intravenous medication safety. Drug Saf 2022 Aug;45(8):881-889 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40264-022-01203-1] [Medline: 35838875]
- 11. Mao Z, Liu C, Li Q, Cui Y, Zhou F. Intelligent intensive care unit: current and future trends. Intensive Care Res 2023 May 16:1-7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s44231-023-00036-5] [Medline: 37360311]
- 12. ISMP guidelines for optimizing safe implementation and use of smart infusion pumps. Institute for Safe Medication Practices (ISMP). 2020. URL: <u>https://www.ismp.org/guidelines/safe-implementation-and-use-smart-pumps</u> [accessed 2024-07-05]

#### Abbreviations

**PMS:** pump monitoring system

Edited by H Ahn; submitted 03.05.24; peer-reviewed by Y Zhang, M Toma; comments to author 26.05.24; revised version received 10.06.24; accepted 18.06.24; published 24.07.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Chindamorragot N, Suitthimeathegorn O, Garg A Centralized Pump Monitoring System: Perception on Utility and Workflows by Nurses in a Tertiary Hospital Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e60116 URL: <u>https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e60116</u> doi:<u>10.2196/60116</u> PMID:

©Naruemol Chindamorragot, Orawan Suitthimeathegorn, Amit Garg. Originally published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal (https://apinj.jmir.org), 24.07.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://apinj.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



#### **Review**

# Current Evidence of the Application of Music in Tai Chi Exercise: Scoping Review

Yan Du<sup>1</sup>, RN, MPH, PhD; Gao-Xia Wei<sup>2</sup>, MS, PhD; Yichao He<sup>2</sup>, BS; Hongting Ning<sup>3</sup>, MSN, PhD; Penny Roberts<sup>4</sup>, MMT, PhD; Edward Golob<sup>5</sup>, PhD; Zenong Yin<sup>6</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>School of Nursing, University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Psychology, University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China

<sup>3</sup>Xiangya School of Nursing, Central South University, Changsha, China

<sup>4</sup>School of Music, Loyola University New Orleans, New Orleans, LA, United States

<sup>5</sup>Department of Psychology, University of Texas at San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States

<sup>6</sup>Department of Public Health, University of Texas at San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Yan Du, RN, MPH, PhD School of Nursing, University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio 7703 Floyd Curl Drive San Antonio, TX, 78229 United States Phone: 1 2105672170 Email: duy@uthscsa.edu

#### Abstract

**Background:** Music has frequently been used in movement exercises to enhance health benefits. However, scientific evidence regarding the application of music to Tai Chi practice is limited.

**Objective:** This scoping review aims to understand how music has been used in Tai Chi practice and whether music could be applied to Tai Chi practice to help optimize its benefits.

**Methods:** PubMed, CINAHL, CNKI, and Weipu databases were searched. We included studies that compare Tai Chi practice experience or health outcomes between individuals practicing Tai Chi with music and those practicing Tai Chi without music. Studies published through September 2022 were identified. Two researchers (YD and YH) independently performed study selection and data extraction. Thematic analysis was used to summarize and categorize the findings of the included studies.

**Results:** Seven studies were included in this review. All 7 included studies are experimental studies. Practicing Tai Chi with music might lead to positive perceptions of Tai Chi practice (eg, motivation, concentration, enjoyment, compliance, and performance) and higher evaluations of Tai Chi instructional quality, especially for Tai Chi beginners. The effects of incorporating music into Tai Chi practice on health outcomes are inconclusive due to the heterogeneities of the sample size, and the intervention components, lengths, and frequencies of the included studies.

**Conclusions:** Applying music to Tai Chi practice may result in positive Tai Chi practice experience and adherence, particularly for beginners, which could help improve the dissemination and implementation of Tai Chi interventions for public health. However, whether applying music to Tai Chi practice leads to synergetic effects on health outcomes needs further investigation.

(Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e60104) doi:10.2196/60104

#### **KEYWORDS**

Tai Chi; exercise; music; synergetic effects; review; scoping review; thematic analysis; health outcome; motivation; performance; dissemination; implementation; public health; data extraction

#### Introduction

Tai Chi, originating in China, is an ancient Chinese martial art that evolved into a sport and mind-body exercise. It is characterized by slow and gentle movements, deep breathing,

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e60104

RenderX

and meditation. There are various types of Tai Chi such as Chen, Yang, Hao, Wu, and Sun styles [1]. Among these, Chen style is the oldest, characterized by slow and smooth movements with fast and explosive ones; Yang Style is the most widely practiced globally, characterized by slow, gentle, and flowing movements

[1]. Each style may include simplified forms, traditional forms, short forms, and long forms. A Tai Chi form is a sequence of movements that are performed in a slow, continuous, and flowing manner, integrating principles of balance, relaxation, and alignment [1,2].

Widely recognized as a valuable therapeutic intervention, Tai Chi is often recommended by health professionals and embraced by the public to complement conventional medical treatments [3]. Its slow and deliberate movements, encompassing aerobic, stretching, balance, and strengthening exercises, have garnered increasing attention among populations with various health statuses and within the scientific community for their potential health benefits [4-6]. Evidence-based research underscores Tai Chi's health benefits, including but not limited to improvements in balance [7,8], muscle strength [9], cardiovascular and metabolic health [10-13], physical and cognitive function [14-18], mental health [19,20], and quality of life [21-24].

Incorporating music into movement exercises is a common practice to enhance ergogenic effects [25]. In China, Tai Chi practitioners often use soft, relaxing Chinese folk music to promote relaxation and concentration during Tai Chi practice [26,27]. Using music during Tai Chi practice has also been reported in populations outside of China [28,29]. While studies examining Tai Chi's effects on health outcomes are on the rise, few have explored the use of music during Tai Chi practice in Western populations [30-32]. Previous research has inadequately addressed the application of music in Tai Chi practice [33], and studies assessing Tai Chi with music seldom investigate potential synergistic effects on health outcomes [34,35]. Furthermore, the ongoing debate surrounding the use of music during Tai Chi practice reflects different perspectives on music's impact [36]. Some argue that Tai Chi is a form of moving meditation, suggesting that engaging in Tai Chi with music may hinder the attainment of "rujing" (the absence of idle thoughts or the cultivation of stillness). Conversely, others indicate that music can aid in reducing distractions and facilitating "rujing" by calming the mind [36]. Scientific evidence is thus imperative to guide best practices in incorporating music into Tai Chi for optimal health benefits.

Therefore, this study aims to explore current evidence regarding the application of music in Tai Chi practice through a scoping review of studies comparing Tai Chi practiced with music to that practiced without. Our objectives include understanding how music has been applied to Tai Chi practice, evaluating what specific outcomes were assessed in the current scientific literature, and exploring whether practicing Tai Chi with music offers advantages over practicing Tai Chi without music.

#### Methods

#### **Study Design**

We used the updated Arksey and O'Malley five-stage framework [37] to guide the conduct of the scoping review. Specifically, we followed these steps: (1) identifying the research question based on the research team's experience in conducting Tai Chi–related research and reviewing current literature; (2) identifying relevant studies; (3) selecting the

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e60104
```

studies; (4) charting the data; and (5) collating, summarizing, and reporting results. Steps 2-5 are described in detail below. Additionally, we used the PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis extension for Scoping Reviews) guidelines [38] to draft and report this scoping review. The PRISMA-ScR checklist can be found in Multimedia Appendix 1. We registered this review at the Open Science Framework [39].

#### **Data Search**

We searched the electronic databases PubMed and CINAHL in September 2022. Medical Subject Headings terms "Tai Chi" and "music" were used to build the search strategy on PubMed. The search strategies for PubMed are illustrated in Multimedia Appendix 2. Subsequently, the search terms used on CINAHL were constructed based on the PubMed search strategy. Given that Tai Chi originated in China, where the use of music during Tai Chi is common, we also searched Chinese databases CNKI and Weipu. "太极" (Tai Chi) and "音乐" (music) were used to search through Chinese databases. We did not set language or publishing year restrictions in the database searches as we aimed to comprehensively cover this topic in this scoping review.

#### **Eligibility Criteria**

Inclusion criteria were (1) studies with comparisons between Tai Chi with music and Tai Chi without music, (2) published journal studies, and (3) at least 1 study group examining Tai Chi with music and 1 group examining Tai Chi without music. Given the broad scope of this scoping review, no age limit was set. Outcomes could encompass any measurements evaluated in the studies such as Tai Chi practice adherence and health outcomes. Exclusion criteria were (1) studies with nonempirical design, such as view paper, review paper, and protocols, and (2) experimental studies without comparisons between Tai Chi with and without music.

#### **Study Selection**

First, all search records were merged, and duplicates were removed. The eligibility criteria were then discussed and refined by the study team based on the search processes. YD screened the title and abstract based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria. YD and YH independently screened the full papers according to the eligibility criteria. Any discrepancies were resolved through discussions and consultations with a third researcher (GXW).

#### **Data Extraction**

YD drafted the data extraction form. YD and YH tested the extraction by charting 2 studies independently and refined the data extraction form accordingly. The form included study location, study design, sample characteristics, Tai Chi selection, music selection, assessed outcomes, and study findings. YD and YH independently extracted data from each study according to the extraction form. Any discrepancies were resolved through discussions and consultations with a third researcher (GXW). Data were extracted in the original published language, and a bilingual researcher translated the Chinese data into English after synthesis, which was then checked by a native English speaker.

#### **Synthesis**

We used a narrative approach to summarize, analyze, and assess the evidence in this review. Specifically, one table charted the characteristics of included studies, and another table summarized the use of Tai Chi and music in each study. A thematic analysis approach [40] was adopted to summarize and categorize the findings of included studies. First, YD created a codebook based on the coding of the extracted data and summarized the findings for each code. Second, YH and GXW reviewed the codes and summary findings against the extracted data. Summary quotes are quotes summarized by the authors but not direct quotes from the studies included. Subsequently, YD, YH, and GXW categorized the codes into subthemes. The study team reviewed the themes, subthemes, codes, and summary quotes. Given the scoping nature of this review, no assessment of study quality was conducted.

### Results

A total of 491 papers in English or Chinese were identified, including 260 papers in CNKI, 155 papers in Weipu, 45 papers in PubMed, and 31 papers in CINAHL (Figure 1). We removed

21 duplicated papers, leaving 471 papers for the title and abstract screening. Of those, we considered 20 studies for full-text screening. We further excluded 13 papers after a full-text screening due to reasons of being opinion papers (n=7), lacking a comparison between Tai Chi with and without music (n=5), and involving other components in the Tai Chi with music group (n=1). Figure 1 indicates the reasons and numbers of excluded studies in each screening stage.

All 7 included studies are clinical trials (Table 1); 6 studies were conducted in China and 1 in the United States. Five of the 6 studies in China included only college students, and the rest focused on nurses with impaired mental health. The study conducted in the United States primarily included older adults. Five studies reported gender distributions; 2 reported 100% female, 1 reported 9% female, and the other 2 consisted of 53% and 47% female, respectively. All 7 studies included at least 2 study groups; 1 group for Tai Chi with music and another for Tai Chi without music. For studies with available intervention frequencies, it ranged from 14 to 16 sessions within 7 weeks (about 1 and a half months) to 3 months. The retention rate ranged from 72% to 100%. The sample size included in the final analysis ranged from 13 to 162 participants.

Figure 1. PRISMA diagram of selected studies. PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis.





#### Table 1. Study characteristics.

Study	Location	Design	Population or setting	Age and sample size	Intervention	Frequency and length	Measurements	Retention
Du et al (2017) [31]	United States	Cluster random- ized con- trolled tri- al	Adults in a senior day activity cen- ter	<ul> <li>Age: 50-82 years old</li> <li>Intervention (n=12): 72.3, SD 5.7</li> <li>Control (n=6): 62.0, SD 10.3</li> <li>Gender: 95.5% fe- male; 100% female re- tained</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Intervention: Tai Chi with music</li> <li>Control: Tai Chi without music</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Once a week for 15 weeks.</li> <li>Recorded video was sent home to promote home practice</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Dynamic gait index</li> <li>Fear of falling</li> <li>Tai Chi practice compliance</li> </ul>	72%
Li (2013) [41]	China	Random- ized con- trolled tri- al	Students at a local univer- sity	<ul> <li>Age: not available.</li> <li>Intervention (n=30).</li> <li>Control (n=29).</li> <li>Gender: 100% female</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Intervention: Tai Chi with music</li> <li>Control: Tai Chi without music</li> </ul>	• Not men- tioned	<ul> <li>Tai Chi learning motivation</li> <li>Concentration</li> <li>Satisfaction with instruction</li> <li>Overall performance (correctness, consistency, pace, style, overall)</li> </ul>	100%
Liu et al (2020) [19]	China	Random- ized con- trolled tri- al	Registered nurses with impaired mental health work- ing in the op- eration room in 4 local public ter- tiary hospi- tals	<ul> <li>Age: not available</li> <li>Intervention: Tai Chi with music (n=30); Tai Chi only (n=30); music only (n=30).</li> <li>Control: non- active (n=30).</li> <li>Gender: not available</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Intervention (three groups): (1) Tai Chi with music; (2) Tai Chi only; (3) music only.</li> <li>Control: nonac- tive</li> </ul>	• August 2018 to October 2018	<ul> <li>Physical symptom, depression, and anxi- ety indicators (SCL- 90<sup>a</sup>)</li> <li>Coping style (SC- SQ<sup>b</sup>)</li> </ul>	100%
Lv et al (2019) [42]	China	Cluster con- trolled tri- al	Students at a local univer- sity	<ul> <li>Age: not available.</li> <li>Tai Chi begin- ner (n=16).</li> <li>Tai Chi profi- cient (n=16).</li> <li>Gender: not available</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Tai Chi beginner (four scenarios): (1) no music; (2) relaxing and soft music; (3) joyful and fast music; (4) sad music</li> <li>Tai Chi proficient (four scenarios): (1) no music; (2) relaxing and soft music; (3) joyful and fast music; (4) sad music; (4) sad music</li> </ul>	• Not men- tioned	<ul> <li>Interest in Tai Chi (PESIS<sup>c</sup>)</li> <li>Galvanic skin re- sponse</li> </ul>	100%
Zhang (1999) [43]	China	Random- ized con- trolled tri- al	Students at a local univer- sity	<ul> <li>Age: not available</li> <li>Intervention (n=76)</li> <li>Control (n=86)</li> <li>Gender: 47% female</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Intervention: Tai Chi with music</li> <li>Control: Tai Chi without music</li> </ul>	• From Septem- ber 1997 to July 1998	Tai Chi performance evaluated by Tai Chi instructors	100%

XSL•FO RenderX

#### Du et al

Study	Location	Design	Population or setting	Age and sample size	Intervention	Frequency and length	Measurements	Retention
Zhang (2009) [44]	China	Random- ized con- trolled tri- al	Students at a local medi- cal school	<ul> <li>Age: not available</li> <li>Intervention (n=70)</li> <li>Control (n=74)</li> <li>Gender: 53% female</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Intervention: Tai Chi and Tai Chi sword with music</li> <li>Control: Tai Chi and Tai Chi sword without music</li> </ul>	• Twice a week for 7 weeks.	<ul> <li>Tai Chi performance evaluated by two Tai Chi instructors</li> <li>Practice outside of class</li> </ul>	100%
Zhao and Wang (2017) [45]	China	Random- ized con- trolled tri- al	Students at a vocational and technical college	<ul> <li>Age: not available</li> <li>Intervention (n=49)</li> <li>Control (n=44)</li> <li>Gender: 9% female</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Intervention: Tai Chi with music</li> <li>Control: Tai Chi without music</li> </ul>	• 16 ses- sions from Septem- ber 2016 to De- cember 2016	<ul> <li>Interests in Tai Chi</li> <li>Perceived difficulties of learning Tai Chi</li> <li>Positive emotion in- spiration</li> <li>Instruction quality</li> <li>Tai Chi performance evaluated by two Tai Chi instructors</li> </ul>	100%

<sup>a</sup>SCL-90: Symptom Checklist-90.

<sup>b</sup>SCSQ: Simplified Coping Style Questionnaire.

<sup>c</sup>PESIS: Sports Situational Interest Scale Chinese version.

Table 2 shows the Tai Chi styles or forms, the music type being used, and how the study applied music to Tai Chi practice. Three of the 7 studies specified Tai Chi styles and forms (the 24-form simplified Yang style). There were variations in music selections used for Tai Chi practice. In the study conducted in the United States, a board-certified music therapist selected the music; others did not specify how the music was selected or by whom. Various music types were selected, but the studies in China used Chinese music or Chinese medicine principle-oriented music; while the US study used Western music with instruments familiar to the ethnic groups. Five of the 7 studies described how they used music during Tai Chi practice. Among the 5 studies, 3 studies did not use music during Tai Chi instructions and used music only when practicing Tai Chi routines; 1 study used music throughout the Tai Chi sessions. The remaining study did not provide Tai Chi instructions; however, it assessed body responses to diverse types of music while practicing Tai Chi routines.

Thematic analysis revealed two major themes with corresponding subthemes: health outcomes including (1) physical health and (2) mental and emotional health; and experience of Tai Chi practice including (1) Tai Chi practice

and (2) perceived instruction quality (Table 3). Included studies assessed various outcomes to compare the efficacy of Tai Chi with and without music. First, the assessed health outcomes included but were not limited to physical and mental health. Overall, practicing Tai Chi with music led to significantly better balance (dynamic gait index); and a trend of better physical health indicators and better mental health (depression and coping), which were not significant. Tai Chi beginners had significantly higher skin response to Tai Chi with slow, gentle music or relaxing, joyful music than advanced practitioners; higher skin response was found in advanced practitioners compared to those beginners when practicing Tai Chi without music. Second, for the experience of Tai Chi practice, at least 1 study showed that practicing Tai Chi with music led to multiple outcomes such as higher adherence in and outside of class [31,44], more confidence in learning and mastering Tai Chi [44,45], better concentration and enjoyment [41], less perceived difficulties [45], and better performance [41,43-45]. Third, instruction quality was assessed in 3 studies, 2 of which reported a higher satisfaction rate in the Tai Chi with music groups [41,44], and more participants rated the instruction high quality in the Tai Chi with music group compared to the control group [43].



#### Table 2. Tai Chi and music selection.

Study	Tai Chi selection	Music selection	The use of music for Tai Chi practice
Du et al (2017) [31]	The first 12 forms of the 24-form simplified Yang- style Tai Chi	Music was selected by a board-certified music therapist who had worked with older adults for over 10 years. For this study, Western music was selected to provide a grounded atmosphere—familiar, comfortable, and easily integrated into the background—rather than Eastern music, whose different tonal structure, harmony, or rhythmic structure may have been a distraction. The music selected aimed to provide a rhythmic structure intended to guide but not fully direct or entrain movement. Harmony was similarly considered, with the musical selection using Western 12-tone major and minor scales. The instrumenta- tion of the selected music was Western (nature sounds, flute, using instruments familiar to the ethnic group largely represented by our sample).	The same recorded asynchronous instrumental music with nature sounds was used at each session for TC + $M^a$ class, when participants performed learned Tai Chi forms. The music therapist was present in each class for assistance and consultation. All new Tai Chi forms were instructed in silence; asynchronous music, which means there is no conscious attempt from the individual to match their movements with the rhythm of the music, was only used while practicing previously learned movements.
Li (2013) [41]	The 1-12 forms of the 24-form simpli- fied Yang-style Tai Chi	Not mentioned.	First, the instructor demonstrated performing two forms with music, which were instructed later. Second, instruct- ing the two forms without music. Third, participants practiced Tai Chi with music following the instructor. Fourth, participants practiced Tai Chi with music. Fifth, the instructor corrected postures and movements without music, and finally, participants practiced Tai Chi with music.
Liu et al (2020) [19]	The 24-form simpli- fied Yang-style Tai Chi	The principle of five-element music therapy was adopted. It is believed that ancient Chinese music consists of 5 notes (gong, shang, jiao, zhi, and yu), which were collected with the 5 elements of nature (metal, wood, water, fire, and earth). In addition, the 5 elements correspond to the 5 main body organs (heart, liver, spleen, lungs, and kidneys). Music was selected based on participants' health status per Chinese medicine principles.	Not mentioned.
Lv et al (2019) [42]	Tai Chi (style not mentioned)	Relaxing and soft music, joyful and fast music, and sad music, respectively.	Each of the three types of music was randomly selected and applied to Tai Chi practice. The skin response test was done after participants felt calm and continued feeling calm even after the test was initiated in 30 sec- onds. Then participants started practicing Tai Chi with each type of music. PESIS <sup>b</sup> was completed right after practicing with each type of music and practicing with each type of music was done for at least 5 minutes.
Zhang (1999) [43]	Tai Chi and Tai Chi sword	Different and appropriate music was selected for Tai Chi and Tai Chi sword accordingly.	Not mentioned.
Zhang (2009) [44]	Tai Chi (style not mentioned)	Fishermen's Song at Eventide, which is characterized by meaningfulness and soothe, aligning with the feature of Tai Chi, was used.	Music was played while the instructor was demonstrat- ing the whole Tai Chi routine or when participants were practicing learned forms.
Zhao and Wang (2017) [45]	Tai Chi (style not mentioned)	Music was selected to align the Tai Chi style with the rhythm and pace of music, as well as the demographics and cultural background of Tai Chi practitioners. The music being used was popular Chinese music.	First, one music was used during warm-up exercise, followed by another music, which is enthusiastic, to in- crease the willingness to learn of students; Second, the combination of joyful, relaxing, and victory music was played while the instructor provided the opening of the class. Third, the instructor demoed Tai Chi three times with music and then instructed each form with music in the background.

 $^{a}TC + M$ : Tai Chi and music.

<sup>b</sup>PESIS: Sports Situational Interest Scale Chinese version.



Du et al

Table 3. Themes of outcomes, and study findings between those who practiced Tai Chi with music and those without music.

Themes and findings		Author				
Health outcomes						
Physical health						
DGI <sup>a</sup>	The post-DGI score in Tai Chi with music group was significantly higher than Tai Chi without music group after adjusting age.	Du et al (2017) [31]				
Physical symptoms	There was a trend of better physical health indicators in Tai Chi with music group than Tai Chi only group or music only group. However, this was not significant.	Liu et al (2020) [19]				
Galvanic skin re- sponse	Tai Chi beginners had significantly higher skin response values compared to advanced practi- tioners when practicing Tai Chi with all 3 types of music (more obvious effects to less: soft and relaxing, fast and joyful, and sad music) compared to more advanced users. However, in the Tai Chi group without music, there were no differences in skin response between beginners and the more advanced. Listening to sad music had the lowest response in both beginner and advanced groups.	Lv et al (2019) [42]				
Mental and emotional hea	lth					
Depression, anxiety	After the intervention, there was a trend of better physical health indicators in the Tai Chi with music group than Tai Chi only group or music only group. However, this was not significant.	Liu et al (2020) [19]				
Coping style	There was a trend of better positive coping and negative coping in the Tai Chi with music group compared to Tai Chi only group or music only group. However, this was not significant.	Liu et al (2020) [19]				
Inspiration and arouse	More participants in the Tai Chi with music group rated the class as effective or very effective for inspiration and arousal.	Zhao and Wang (2017) [45]				
Fear of falling	Post fear of falling in the Tai Chi with music group was better than in the Tai Chi only group, though not statistically different.	Du et al (2017) [31]				
Experience of Tai Chi practice	2					
Tai Chi practice						
Tai Chi learning moti- vation	After the intervention, significantly higher motivation and concentration were found in the Tai Chi with music group compared to the Tai Chi only group.	Li (2013) [41]				
Interest in Tai Chi	Participants self-reported interests in Tai Chi increased significantly from baseline to end of study only in the Tai Chi with music group.	Zhao and Wang (2017) [45]				
Concentration	Better concentration was found in the intervention group; concentration was higher postinter- vention in the intervention group.	Li (2013) [41]				
Enjoyment of Tai Chi practice	Beginner experienced higher enjoyment from practicing Tai Chi with all 3 types of music (more obvious effects to less: soft and relaxing, fast and joyful, and sad music) compared to more advanced, but no differences in enjoyment between beginners and more advanced were found in the Tai Chi without music group. Listening to sad music has the lowest response in both beginner and advanced groups.	Lv et al (2019) [42]				
Perceived difficulties of learning Tai Chi	More participants rated learning Tai Chi as very difficult in the control group, while significantly more participants in the intervention group rated learning Tai Chi as easy after the intervention.	Zhao and Wang (2017) [45]				
Self-efficacy (confi- dence and perceived mastering in Tai Chi practice)	More participants were confident in learning Tai Chi in the Tai Chi with music group, and more participants reported mastering Tai Chi after the intervention.	Zhang (2009) [44]: Zhao and Wang (2017) [45]				
Tai Chi performance score <sup>b</sup>	Significantly better performance was found in the Tai Chi with music group.	Zhang (1999) [43] Li (2013) [41]; Zhang (2009) [44] Zhao and Wang (2017) [45]				
Tai Chi class compli- ance	The compliance rate in the Tai Chi with music group (84%) is higher compared to the Tai Chi without music group class (71%), but the difference was not statistically significant.	Du et al (2017) [31]				
Practice outside of class	Significantly more participants in the Tai Chi with music group practiced outside of class than in the Tai Chi only group.	Zhang (2009) [44]				
Perceived instruction quality						
Satisfaction with in- struction	More participants experienced significantly better satisfaction with the instruction given in the intervention group.	Li (2013) [41]; Zhang (2009) [44]				

XSL•FO RenderX

#### Themes and findings

Instruction quality

More participants rated very high quality of the instructions in terms of content sequency and structure, the arrangement of exercise intensity and frequency, instruction style, and overall (2017) [45] instruction quality.

<sup>a</sup>DGI: dynamic gait index.

<sup>b</sup>Tai Chi performance score was rated based on the Tai Chi movements in correctness, consistency, pace, and style; obvious errors, moderate errors, and minor errors were also assessed.

#### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This scoping review aimed to map out the application of music in Tai Chi practice. We identified 7 studies published in either Chinese or English using controlled trials to compare the differences between practicing Tai Chi with and without music on various outcome measures. Most studies were conducted in China, and the selection and use of music for Tai Chi practice were heterogeneous. There is clear positive evidence supporting the beneficial effects of applying music to Tai Chi practice to improve the perceived quality of Tai Chi instructions and promote Tai Chi learning experience, enjoyment, concentration, adherence, and movement performance. However, further investigations are needed regarding how music should be selected in Western culture, its benefits in beginners versus advanced practitioners, and whether listening to music alone would lead to similar health benefits compared to practicing Tai Chi with music.

The studies included in this review used various types of music for Tai Chi practice, and music was used either throughout the instruction and routine practice or only for routine practice but not during instruction. In general, the music selected was soothing, soft, and relaxing [31,44,45]; aligned well with the soft, gentle, slow, and graceful movements of Tai Chi; and suitable to participant culture [31,45]. The finding is consistent with another study reviewing the psychophysical effects of music in sports and exercise [46]. The review indicated that the keys to selecting music should include considering not only the sociocultural background of the practitioners but also the nature of the physical activity and coordination with the physical activity task [46]. Therefore, music was often used in sports for pre-event preparations, warm-ups, and training sessions. In this review, music was played either throughout the Tai Chi class session or only during practicing the Tai Chi routines, both of which formats showed favorable effects [31,45]. However, since most of the included studies were conducted in China, further investigation is needed to determine the generalizability of these findings to other regions. In addition, Tai Chi has been strongly recommended to improve balance and promote health in the aging populations; while most included studies focused on Chinese college students, studies assessing to what extent the findings may apply to older populations are warranted.

Evidence from many studies suggests that music could promote positive effects during exercise, such as increasing motivation, happiness, confidence, relaxation, and performance levels [47,48]. Similarly, we found that practicing Tai Chi with music could yield higher learning motivation [41], concentration [41], enjoyment [42], confidence [43,45], performance and

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e60104

compliance [31,41,43-45], and lower perceived difficulties in learning Tai Chi [45]. Previous studies reported that many people who do not habitually engage in exercises often find it difficult to initiate an exercise routine, and some well-documented barriers to regular exercise engagement include a lack of motivation and enjoyment and feeling bored and physically uncomfortable [49]. The findings from the included studies may suggest that adding music to Tai Chi practice could help alleviate the barriers to engaging in Tai Chi exercise, especially for beginners. For example, among the included studies, one study found that Tai Chi beginners had a stronger positive influence from music than advanced practitioners assessed by galvanic skin responses (a signal for capturing the autonomic nerve responses) and subjective enjoyment [50]; this may indicate that Tai Chi beginners may benefit more from using music when practicing Tai Chi in comparison to more advanced users [42]. Music could likely help beginners feel relaxed and focused, and promote Tai Chi exercise in those who are new to learning Tai Chi. For more advanced Tai Chi practitioners, this may vary depending on various factors such as the practitioner's mood and environment [36]. As an exercise that originated in Asian culture, adding music affiliated with Western populations may help promote its instruction, implementation, and dissemination. However, further investigations are needed to confirm this assumption.

The findings differ when assessing improvements in health outcomes through adding music. Balance, as measured by the dynamic gait index, was found to be significantly improved in the study participants incorporating music, but not in their counterparts practicing Tai Chi without music after a 15-week Tai Chi intervention. Balance is a frequently studied measurement of Tai Chi's effects on health [51], and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention also highly recommends that older adults practice Tai Chi to improve balance [52]. For other assessed health measurements, although not significant, trends showed better outcomes in the Tai Chi with music group such as physical symptoms and depression. For other health measurements, no significant improvements were detected, which could be due to the relatively short intervention lengths. Further research with longer interventions and a larger sample size is warranted to explore the possible symbiotic effect of Tai Chi and music on health outcomes.

Integrating music into Tai Chi practice may offer a promising avenue for enhancing its benefits on health outcomes in a holistic approach. First, based on the findings of this review, the health benefits could be through the pathway of a positive influence of added music on perceived enjoyment and concentration, improved adherence or compliance, and overall positive experience. In addition, as evidenced in the literature, listening to music alone could improve a variety of health



Author

outcomes including but not limited to mental health, cognitive function, and cardiovascular health [53-58]. Therefore, we hypothesized a theoretical framework of adding music to Tai Chi practice to increase its benefits on health outcomes (Figure 2). Future research could focus on whether the application of music to Tai Chi practice leads to synergistic effects on health outcomes. This includes both physical (eg, mobility, balance, and metabolic health), cognitive (eg, orientation and memory), and mental health (eg, stress and depression symptoms). Studies could also aim to quantify these outcomes and understand the underlying mechanisms driving these potential benefits. It is also warranted to investigate which music (such as type of music, its tempo, and rhythm) is appropriate to maximize health benefits, and how these factors might influence different populations such as various age groups and health conditions. These investigations may provide insights into how to improve health through a holistic approach. Last, but not least, qualitative studies to gather in-depth insights from participants on their experiences, preferences, and perceptions of Tai Chi practice with music may provide valuable information to guide the development of tailored and effective Tai Chi exercise programs. Tools and recommendations could be developed to guide interventions using music to Tai Chi practice for health benefits.

Figure 2. Conceptual framework of applying music to Tai Chi practice to increase Tai Chi's health benefits.



#### Limitations

The findings of this scoping review should be interpreted with caution due to the majority of included studies being conducted in China among college students. Even though music has been used during Tai Chi practice in other populations as reported in prior studies [26], the mechanisms of using music in Tai Chi practice in various populations have been understudied. Further research is needed to explore the mechanisms and the potential harms or benefits and establish the practicality of using music for Tai Chi practice in other regions and populations. In addition, the heterogeneous interventions, lengths, and frequencies of the included studies may further limit the application of the findings.

#### Conclusions

Based on the findings of the included studies, Tai Chi style or form selection, the music used during Tai Chi practice, and the studied populations were heterogeneous. Various outcomes, such as differences in Tai Chi practice experience, instruction quality, and health outcomes, were assessed. There is positive evidence supporting the beneficial effects of applying music to Tai Chi practice to improve the perceived quality of Tai Chi instructions and promote Tai Chi learning experience, enjoyment, concentration, adherence, and movement performance. Particularly, including music in Tai Chi practice may promote Tai Chi among individuals new to Tai Chi practice through perceived better instruction and learning experience. Therefore, applying music to Tai Chi learning and practice might help promote the implementation of Tai Chi in the general population. However, further study with a rigorous study design is needed to clarify if there are synergistic effects of Tai Chi and music on health outcomes.

#### Acknowledgments

No funding was received for this study. YD was partially supported by the RL5 Mentored Research Career Development Award through the San Antonio Claude D. Pepper Older Americans Independence Center (P30AG044271).

#### **Authors' Contributions**

YD and HN searched the literature. YD, GXW, and YH screened the studies and extracted the data. YD wrote a draft of this article as a lead author. GXW, HN, PR, EG, and ZY reviewed the drafts of this article and made comments. All authors read and approved the final article.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.



#### Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024 | vol. 8 | e60104 | p.36 (page number not for citation purposes)
# Multimedia Appendix 1

PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews) checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 525 KB - apinj\_v8i1e60104\_app1.pdf]

# Multimedia Appendix 2

Search strategies used on PubMed for finding research articles about the application of music in Tai Chi exercise. [DOCX File , 18 KB - apinj\_v8i1e60104\_app2.docx ]

# References

- 1. Chia M, Li J. The Inner Structure of Tai Chi: Mastering the Classic Forms of Tai Chi Kung. New York, New York, United States: Simon and Schuster; 2005.
- 2. Wayne P, Fuerst ML. The Harvard Medical School Guide to Tai Chi: 12 Weeks to a Healthy Body, Strong Heart, and Sharp Mind. Boston and London: Shambhala; 2013.
- Solloway MR, Taylor SL, Shekelle PG, Miake-Lye IM, Beroes JM, Shanman RM, et al. An evidence map of the effect of Tai Chi on health outcomes. Syst Rev 2016;5(1):126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-016-0300-y] [Medline: 27460789]
- 4. The health benefits of tai chi. Harvard Medical School. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.health.harvard.edu/staying-healthy/</u> <u>the-health-benefits-of-tai-chi</u> [accessed 2022-12-22]
- Penn IW, Sung WH, Lin CH, Chuang E, Chuang TY, Lin PH. Effects of individualized Tai-Chi on balance and lower-limb strength in older adults. BMC Geriatr 2019;19(1):235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-019-1250-8] [Medline: 31455225]
- 6. Song QH, Zhang QH, Xu RM, Ma M, Zhao XP, Shen GQ, et al. Effect of Tai-Chi exercise on lower limb muscle strength, bone mineral density and balance function of elderly women. Int J Clin Exp Med 2014;7(6):1569-1576 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25035781]
- Huang ZG, Feng YH, Li YH, Lv CS. Systematic review and meta-analysis: Tai Chi for preventing falls in older adults. BMJ Open 2017;7(2):e013661-e011576 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013661] [Medline: 28167744]
- 8. Lomas-Vega R, Obrero-Gaitán E, Molina-Ortega FJ, Del-Pino-Casado R. Tai Chi for risk of falls. A meta-analysis. J Am Geriatr Soc 2017;65(9):2037-2043 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.15008] [Medline: 28736853]
- 9. Liang T, Zhang X, Wang Y, Cherkashina E, Cherkashin I, Kruszewsk A, et al. Intervention effect of taijiquan exercises on the ankle joint of the elderly—meta analysis. Arch Budo 2023:19 [FREE Full text]
- Chau JPC, Leung LYL, Liu X, Lo SHS, Choi KC, Zhao J, et al. Effects of Tai Chi on health outcomes among community-dwelling adults with or at risk of metabolic syndrome: a systematic review. Complement Ther Clin Pract 2021;44:101445 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ctcp.2021.101445] [Medline: 34260997]
- 11. Hartley L, Flowers N, Lee MS, Ernst E, Rees K. Tai Chi for primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014;2014(4):CD010366 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010366.pub2] [Medline: 24715694]
- 12. Lan C, Chen SY, Wong MK, Lai JS. Tai Chi chuan exercise for patients with cardiovascular disease. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2013;2013(4):983208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2013/983208] [Medline: 24348732]
- 13. Lee MS, Pittler MH, Kim M, Ernst E. Tai Chi for type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. Diabet Med 2008;25(2):240-241 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2007.02325.x] [Medline: 18215176]
- 14. Mustafaoglu R, Ahmed I, Pang MYC. Which type of mind-body exercise is most effective in improving functional performance and quality of life in patients with Parkinson's disease? A systematic review with network meta-analysis. Acta Neurol Belg 2022;122(6):1433-1446. [doi: 10.1007/s13760-022-02070-4] [Medline: 36056269]
- Park M, Song R, Ju K, Seo J, Fan X, Ryu A, et al. Effects of Tai Chi and Qigong on the mobility of stroke survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. PLoS One 2022;17(11):e0277541-e0271446 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0277541] [Medline: 36395145]
- Wei L, Chai Q, Chen J, Wang Q, Bao Y, Xu W, et al. The impact of Tai Chi on cognitive rehabilitation of elder adults with mild cognitive impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Disabil Rehabil 2022;44(11):2197-2206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/09638288.2020.1830311] [Medline: 33043709]
- Zhang T, Liu W, Gao S. Effects of mind-body exercises on cognitive impairment in people with Parkinson's disease: a mini-review. Front Neurol 2022;13(11):931460-932206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.931460] [Medline: 36119693]
- Zhou K, Liu W, Bao D, Zhou J. Effects of traditional chinese exercises on cognitive function in older adults with mild cognitive impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Front Hum Neurosci 2022;16:849530 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2022.849530] [Medline: 35399354]
- Liu F, Cui J, Liu X, Chen KW, Chen X, Li R. The effect of Tai Chi and Qigong exercise on depression and anxiety of individuals with substance use disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Complement Med Ther 2020;20(1):161 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12906-020-02967-8] [Medline: 32471415]

- 20. Cai Q, Cai SB, Chen JK, Bai XH, Jing CX, Zhang X, et al. Tai Chi for anxiety and depression symptoms in cancer, stroke, heart failure, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Complement Ther Clin Pract 2022;46(1):101510 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ctcp.2021.101510] [Medline: 34749040]
- Ni X, Chan RJ, Yates P, Hu W, Huang X, Lou Y. The effects of Tai Chi on quality of life of cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Support Care Cancer 2019;27(10):3701-3716 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-019-04911-0] [Medline: 31236699]
- 22. Choo YT, Jiang Y, Hong J, Wang W. Effectiveness of Tai Chi on quality of life, depressive symptoms and physical function among community-dwelling older adults with chronic disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Nurs Stud 2020;111(10):103737-103716. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103737] [Medline: 32891966]
- 23. Qin J, Chen Y, Guo S, You Y, Xu Y, Wu J, et al. Effect of Tai Chi on quality of life, body mass index, and waist-hip ratio in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2020;11:543627 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.543627] [Medline: 33542702]
- 24. Yu X, Wu X, Hou G, Han P, Jiang L, Guo Q. The impact of Tai Chi on motor function, balance, and quality of life in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2021;2021:6637612 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2021/6637612] [Medline: 33505498]
- 25. Loo FC, Loo FY. The visual perception of phrasing in a tai chi routine enhanced by music as perceived by inexperienced viewers. Turk Online J Educ Technol 2017:667-671 [FREE Full text]
- Liao SJ, Chong MC, Tan MP, Chua YP. Tai Chi with music improves quality of life among community-dwelling older persons with mild to moderate depressive symptoms: a cluster randomized controlled trial. Geriatr Nurs 2019;40(2):154-159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.gerinurse.2018.08.001] [Medline: 30173939]
- 27. Luo W, Zhao XJ. The application of combining Tai Chi and Chinese folk music. Sports Sci Educ 2012;27:141-143. [doi: 10.16207/j.cnki.2095-235x.2012.s1.006]
- 28. Wang YE. Doing tai chi with "American music". Am Music 2022;40(4):576-582. [doi: 10.5406/19452349.40.4.26]
- 29. Chiat LF, Ying LF. Visual perception of phrasing in a tai chi routine using different music accompaniments. Procedia Soc Behav Sci 2015 Feb;174:3044-3048. [doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.1096]
- 30. Bradshaw A, Phoenix C, Burke S. Living in the mo(ve)ment: an ethnographic exploration of hospice patients' experiences of participating in Tai Chi. Psychol Sport Exerc 2020;49:101687-103048. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2020.101687]
- Du Y, Roberts P, Xu Q. The effects of Tai Chi practice With asynchronous music on compliance and fall-related risk factors in middle-aged and older women: a pilot study. J Holist Nurs 2017;35(2):142-150. [doi: <u>10.1177/0898010116636972</u>] [Medline: <u>26951578</u>]
- 32. Roberts P, Du Y, Xu Q. The effects of T'ai Chi with asynchronous music on the health of older women: a pilot study. Altern Complementary Ther 2017;23(1):14-19. [doi: 10.1089/act.2016.29093.per] [Medline: 26951578]
- Koren Y, Leveille S, You T. Tai Chi interventions promoting social support and interaction among older adults: a systematic review. Res Gerontol Nurs 2021;14(3):126-137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3928/19404921-20210325-02] [Medline: 34039148]
- Liao SJ, Tan MP, Chong MC, Chua YP. The impact of combined music and Tai Chi on depressive symptoms among community-dwelling older persons: a cluster randomized controlled trial. Issues Ment Health Nurs 2018;39(5):398-402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/01612840.2017.1417519] [Medline: 29436896]
- 35. Lu T, Song QH, Xu RM, Zhang LY. Effect of Tai Chi exercise in combination with auricular plaster on patients with lumbar muscle strain. Int J Clin Exp Med 2015;8(2):2949-2953 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25932261]
- 36. A vote of whether using music when practicing tai chi. SouHu. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.sohu.com/a/210632658\_173827</u> [accessed 2022-11-18]
- 37. Levac D, Colquhoun H, O'Brien KK. Scoping studies: advancing the methodology. Implement Sci 2010 Oct 20;5:69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-5-69] [Medline: 20854677]
- Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR): checklist and explanation. Ann Intern Med 2018;169(7):467-473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M18-0850] [Medline: 30178033]
- 39. Current evidence of practicing Tai Chi with music: a scoping review. OSF Registries. URL: <u>https://osf.io/e25zu</u> [accessed 2024-08-30]
- 40. Hamel C, Michaud A, Thuku M, Skidmore B, Stevens A, Nussbaumer-Streit B, et al. Defining rapid reviews: a systematic scoping review and thematic analysis of definitions and defining characteristics of rapid reviews. J Clin Epidemiol 2021;129(7):74-85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2020.09.041] [Medline: <u>33038541</u>]
- 41. Li M. Assess the application of music in Tai Chi instructions in college students. Phys Act Technol 2013;21(11):69-71 [FREE Full text]
- 42. Lv M, Su D, Fan L. The fitness effect of music on the sense of pleasure for Taiji practitioners. Chin Wushu Res 2019;8(11):55-59 [FREE Full text]
- 43. Zhang W. To assess the effects of applying music to tai chi and tai chi sword instructions. J Phys Educ Guangzhuang 1999 [FREE Full text]
- 44. Zhang H. Tai Chi with music to improve Tai Chi instruction in medical school students. Med Soc 2009;22(7):70-71. [doi: 10.3870/YXYSH.2009.07.029]

- 45. Zhao Y, Wang M. The application of music to Tai Chi instructions in college students. Shangdong College of Physical Sports 2017:28-32 [FREE Full text]
- 46. Karageorghis CI, Terry PC. The psychophysical effects of music in sport and exercise: a review. J Sport Behav 1997;20(1):54. [doi: 10.1037/e548052012-144]
- 47. Crust L. Perceived importance of components of asynchronous music during circuit training. J Sports Sci 2008;26(14):1547-1555. [doi: 10.1080/02640410802315427] [Medline: 18949662]
- 48. Laukka P, Quick L. Emotional and motivational uses of music in sports and exercise: a questionnaire study among athletes. Psychol Music 2011;41(2):198-215. [doi: 10.1177/0305735611422507] [Medline: 18949662]
- 49. Karageorghis CI. Applying Music in Exercise and Sport. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics; 2016.
- 50. Sharma M, Kacker S, Sharma M. A brief introduction and review on galvanic skin response. IJMRP 2016;2(6):13-17. [doi: 10.21276/ijmrp.2016.2.6.003]
- 51. Zhong D, Xiao Q, Xiao X, Li Y, Ye J, Xia L, et al. Tai Chi for improving balance and reducing falls: an overview of 14 systematic reviews. Ann Phys Rehabil Med 2020;63(6):505-517 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rehab.2019.12.008] [Medline: 31981834]
- 52. Stevens JA, Voukelatos A, Ehrenreich H. Preventing falls with Tai Ji Quan: a public health perspective. J Sport Health Sci 2014;3(1):21-26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2013.10.002] [Medline: 26744633]
- Bleibel M, El Cheikh A, Sadier NS, Abou-Abbas L. The effect of music therapy on cognitive functions in patients with Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Alzheimers Res Ther 2023;15(1):65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13195-023-01214-9] [Medline: 36973733]
- Gustavson DE, Coleman PL, Iversen JR, Maes HH, Gordon RL, Lense MD. Mental health and music engagement: review, framework, and guidelines for future studies. Transl Psychiatry 2021;11(1):370 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41398-021-01483-8] [Medline: 34226495]
- 55. Kulinski J, Ofori EK, Visotcky A, Smith A, Sparapani R, Fleg JL. Effects of music on the cardiovascular system. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2022;32(6):390-398 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2021.06.004] [Medline: 34237410]
- Sotomayor MJM, Arufe-Giráldez V, Ruíz-Rico G, Navarro-Patón R. Music therapy and Parkinson's disease: a systematic review from 2015-2020. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021;18(21):11618 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph182111618] [Medline: 34770129]
- Rouse HJ, Doyle C, Hueluer G, Torres MD, Peterson LJ, Pan X, et al. Music engagement and episodic memory among middle-aged and older adults: a national longitudinal analysis. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2023;78(9):1484-1492. [doi: <u>10.1093/geronb/gbad058</u>] [Medline: <u>37082891</u>]
- van der Steen JT, Smaling HJ, van der Wouden JC, Bruinsma MS, Scholten RJ, Vink AC. Music-based therapeutic interventions for people with dementia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018;7(7):CD003477 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003477.pub4] [Medline: 30033623]

# Abbreviations

**PRISMA-ScR:** Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis extension for Scoping Reviews

Edited by H Ahn; submitted 01.05.24; peer-reviewed by A Kruszewski, C Hudak; comments to author 10.06.24; revised version received 05.07.24; accepted 22.07.24; published 19.09.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Du Y, Wei GX, He Y, Ning H, Roberts P, Golob E, Yin Z Current Evidence of the Application of Music in Tai Chi Exercise: Scoping Review Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e60104 URL: <u>https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e60104</u> doi:<u>10.2196/60104</u> PMID:

©Yan Du, Gao-Xia Wei, Yichao He, Hongting Ning, Penny Roberts, Edward Golob, Zenong Yin. Originally published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal (https://apinj.jmir.org), 19.09.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://apinj.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# The Use of Immersive Virtual Reality Training for Developing Nontechnical Skills Among Nursing Students: Multimethods Study

Kitty Chan<sup>1</sup>, RN, PhD; Patrick Pui Kin Kor<sup>1</sup>, RN, PhD; Justina Yat Wa Liu<sup>1,2</sup>, RN, FAAN, PhD; Kin Cheung<sup>1</sup>, RN, PhD; Timothy Lai<sup>1</sup>, RN, MSc; Rick Yiu Cho Kwan<sup>3</sup>, RN, PhD

<sup>1</sup>School of Nursing, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, China (Hong Kong)

<sup>2</sup>Research Institute for Smart Ageing, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, China (Hong Kong)
 <sup>3</sup>School of Nursing, Tung Wah College, Kowloon, China (Hong Kong)

# **Corresponding Author:**

Kitty Chan, RN, PhD School of Nursing The Hong Kong Polytechnic University 11 Yuk Choi Road Hung Hom Kowloon China (Hong Kong) Phone: 852 2766 6883 Email: <u>kitty.yy.chan@polyu.edu.hk</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Immersive virtual reality (IVR) is a niche technology rising in popularity in nursing education. Although there is an abundance of evidence to demonstrate the effect of virtual reality (VR) on desired learning outcomes, this evidence is limited to technical or procedural skills or managing a single patient with clinical problems. Nontechnical skills (NTS), such as communication, decision-making, teamwork, situation awareness, and managerial skills, have not been explored using IVR technology.

**Objective:** This study aimed to (1) investigate the potential efficacy of the IVR system virtual reality hospital (VR-Hospital, or VR-Hosp), a single-user game we developed, on nursing students' NTS, sense of presence in the virtual clinical environment, and satisfaction and self-confidence in learning; (2) identify variables that predict NTS; and (3) explore students' experience in using VR-Hosp.

**Methods:** A multimethods design with a quantitative and qualitative approach was adopted. Participants were provided with VR-Hosp with 3 scenarios in training. VR-Hosp adopted a multibed, multipatient, multitask approach and was embedded with various clinical situations. Learning outcomes were measured after the training, followed by group interviews.

**Results:** In total, 202 students joined the study. Results revealed high levels of satisfaction and self-confidence in learning. Significant achievement in NTS was perceived by the students. The levels of satisfaction and self-confidence in learning and the involvement and sensory fidelity domains in the sense of presence were positive predictors of NTS.

**Conclusions:** The promising results offer a basis for designing IVR activities for nursing education. Further investigations are imperative to determine the impact of IVR technology on learning outcomes in clinical practice.

(Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e58818) doi:10.2196/58818

# **KEYWORDS**

education; educational; hospital; hospitals; nontechnical skills; nurse; nurse; nursing education; nursing; satisfaction; self-confidence; simulation; simulations; virtual reality; VR; immersive

# Introduction

# Background

Immersive virtual reality (IVR) is a niche technology that has been rising in popularity in nursing education. In the past decade, clinical practice opportunities have declined for nursing students due to personnel shortages and an increasing demand for clinical services [1,2]. Notably, virtual reality (VR) simulations have been recognized for their tremendous potential in nursing education and have shown benefits in performance and knowledge in emergency skills training and single-patient management [3]. In some countries, simulations and other new technology-based training approaches have been accepted as alternatives to replace some of the required clinical hours [4]. Their potential to replace clinical hours became more evident from the closure of clinical venues during the COVID-19 crisis [2,5]. To enable nursing students to develop the competence to solve problems in the clinical context, they not only need to apply the knowledge and skills that they have learned but also need to make decisions when facing situations that they were never taught or had never previously encountered. The question, therefore, is whether VR-based education is a plausible solution to strengthen clinical competence.

# Virtual Reality in Nursing Education

VR is a rapidly expending field, and its definition is complex, ranging from the use of computer-based applications to generate simulated environments depicted on a computer screen to 3D environments with interactive functions and stimuli [6]. VR can be delivered in immersive or nonimmersive modes to establish a varied perception of reality [7]. Examples of nonimmersive modes include online or computer learning and video games. In contrast, IVR education tools or systems are usually delivered using a head-mounted device (HMD) to provide full immersion and interaction in a virtual environment. IVR 3D visualization features make it possible to interact with the virtual environment and offer a deeper sense of presence that distinguishes IVR from web-based or 2D technologies [8]. Bystrom et al [9] and Dang et al [10] have defined a sense of presence as the subjective experience of participants being present within a virtual environment, which is a critical determinant of the level of engagement in immersive learning. Indeed, Dubovi et al [11] found that students' sense of presence within VR training is positively associated with their conceptual and procedural learning of medication administration. In clinical simulation, a higher sense of presence also allows nursing students to assume a greater degree of responsibility for patient outcomes and reflect on their clinical reasoning and problem-solving skills [12]. We understand the benefits of repeatable training using a simulated environment for building self-confidence and self-efficacy in one's performance without compromising safety for patients [13]. However, few studies have evaluated the relevance of a sense of presence in the acquisition of nontechnical skills (NTS) in nursing students.

#### **Nontechnical Skills**

NTS are defined as cognitive and interpersonal skills that promote worker safety and complement workers' technical skills, which include the domains of communication, situation

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e58818
```

RenderX

awareness, teamwork, leadership, and decision-making [14]. Traditional health education has primarily focused on the development of clinical knowledge and technical skills, often overlooking NTS [15]. However, increasing evidence links failures in NTS to poor patient outcomes [16]. In multidisciplinary settings, health professionals' leadership, teamwork, and communication skills are crucial for clinical competence and patient safety [17]. Additionally, in complex and dynamic environments, situation awareness (defined as an individual's perception, comprehension, and projection of events) and critical thinking (which involves reasoning, deducing, and inducing based on this understanding) are considered essential skills for health care professionals in making effective clinical decisions [18-21]. For instance, an examination of fatal medical accident reports submitted to a third-party safety agency in Japan over a 3-year period found that approximately 50% of these incidents stemmed from failures in NTS, particularly those involving situational awareness, teamwork, and decision-making capabilities [22]. Thus far, most IVR systems have focused on improving knowledge, mastering technical or procedural skills, developing emergency responses, or cultivating soft skills, such as empathy and communication [23-25]. Only a limited number of VR software programs have been designed for learning NTS. Examples of these 2 aspects are task prioritization according to professional guidelines [26] and single-patient management and deterioration detection [27,28]. It is noteworthy that inconsistent results have been found in high-IVR systems for risk perception and safety training in high school students [29]. Systematic reviews have revealed that VR is most effective in improving theoretical knowledge but not affective outcomes and NTS [30-33]. More evidence is needed to substantiate the use of VR technology to prepare nursing students to meet the clinical demands for NTS.

# Methods

# **Study Design and Objectives**

This study adopted a multimethods design to investigate the efficacy of using IVR via the virtual reality hospital (*VR-Hospital*, or VR-Hosp system (developed by the authors and their team) on developing NTS among undergraduate nursing students. VR-Hosp (short-term patent: HK30083446) is a single-user game that was developed using Unity Pro and HTC Vive Cosmos. Its unique feature of adopting a multibed, multipatient, multitask approach aimed to create a realistic clinical environment with various situations that do not necessarily have a direct relationship to patients' illnesses. From this, the following research objectives were derived:

- To investigate the efficacy of VR-Hosp on students' (1) NTS, (2) sense of presence in the virtual clinical environment, and (3) satisfaction and self-confidence in learning
- To identify variables that predict NTS

Qualitative data were collected through focus groups to investigate students' learning experiences.

# **Study Participants and Setting**

Participants were undergraduate nursing students in a university in Hong Kong. They were recruited between 2021 and 2022 through convenient sampling from among students taking the "Fundamentals of Nursing" course, a mandatory subject for nursing students.

# Virtual Reality Hospital

# **Conceptual Framework**

A simulation model [34] was used to guide the development of VR-Hosp. This model offered a framework to structure the objectives, fidelity, and complexity of the simulation design in relation to (1) teacher and student factors and educational practices, (2) design characteristics and simulation, and (3) outcomes.

# Teacher Factors, Student Factors, and Educational Practices

The educational practices listed in the simulation model were active learning, feedback, interactions, expectations, diversity in learning, and time spent on tasks. In VR-Hosp, unlike traditional teaching, where learning experiences rely heavily on teachers, VR-Hosp is an immersive VR game with predetermined instructions and game flow. As such, the practice factors are relatively standardized. The activities, time, and criteria for completion were preset based on the learning objectives. Therefore, the expectations were consistent even when the tasks differed. Students were required to make distinctions between and select their actions in response to various tasks to attain the designated goals. Active participation took place since students had to play the game individually and proceed independently. They obtained prompt feedback on whether their actions were correct through answering multiple-choice questions (MCQs).

# Design Characteristics and Simulation

According to the simulation model, design characteristics relate to objectives, fidelity, complexity, cues, and debriefing. The objective of using IVR in learning is to create a sense of presence that affects learning outcomes. This sense of presence is mapped on to the concept of learning space, as delineated from experiential learning theory [35]. The concept of learning space is that students learn through transactions between the person and the environment. This points to the need for fidelity and complexity in the virtual environment. Learners should be able to subjectively experience their needs, goals, unconscious influences, memories, beliefs, and events, when positioned in the dynamics, interdependence, tension, and forces of the environment.

The fidelity of VR-Hosp was attained through validation of the content and coherence of the stimulus and response elements between the VR and the actual tasks, according to 4 of the 6 principles stated by Harris et al [36]: (1) face validity (whether the VR game looks and feels realistic), (2) physical fidelity (details and realism of the physical elements), (3) psychological fidelity (perceptual and cognitive features of the real task), and (4) affective fidelity (elicits emotional responses, such as stress or fear, in a similar way to the real task) [36]. Construct validity

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e58818

that measures the distinction in performance between novices and experts was not examined at this stage. Ergonomic fidelity was deemed irrelevant since VR-Hosp was not designed to train students in psychomotor skills.

Cues that popped up during the IVR game were essential to motivate and lead the students forward to complete the leaning tasks. In VR-Hosp, such cues were available to guide them. MCQs were also incorporated into the game. If a teacher-guided debriefing session was not available, when students played VR-Hosp individually or with peers, the MCQs would allow them to reflect on their justification for the actions that they performed.

# **Intervention Content**

In VR-Hosp, an HMD and a controller held in the right hand were used by players to navigate the 3D virtual ward environment, where there were 3 cubicles, with 6 beds in each cubicle. VR-Hosp was evaluated by a panel of 6 experts, including 3 nursing academics with experience in developing VR games and 3 clinical mentors with rich experience in supervising clinical placements. The game was pretested by another 3 clinical mentors and 2 nursing students for acceptability in terms of content, game instructions, and game flow before it was launched.

VR-Hosp offered 3 scenarios. Each scenario lasted for approximately 10 minutes and comprised 2-3 levels of complexity tailored to students with different levels of clinical experience. The scenarios were named as follows: (1) clinical practicum orientation, (2) managing multiple tasks, and (3) prevention of errors. These 3 scenarios were developed to align with the learning objectives of VR-Hosp: (1) being aware of safety issues, (2) being alerted to contextual incidents/issues in the clinical environment, and (3) prioritizing nursing activities. The 3 scenarios featured the unpredictability of the clinical context with unexpected issues arising randomly. Each scenario within the game provided a context that allowed the students to apply and reinforce the learning objectives. By starting with simpler scenarios and progressively moving to more complex ones, the game aligned with the students' learning journey, ensuring an appropriate level of challenge and growth.

Each time a player logged in to VR-Hosp, patient deployment, incidents, MCQs, and answer options were generated at random. The VR game used speech recognition and voice recording features (in Cantonese) for students to record dialogues in response to patients' needs or nurse instructions before implementing care.

The voice-recording feature allowed players to respond to the requests of avatar patients or ward staff. This feature is unidirectional (ie, players must carry out the required actions before progressing to the next step in the game, with the goal of challenging players to critically reflect on the course of actions without any external assistance). Once the players completed the required actions, the MCQs appeared to provide an opportunity for them to reflect on their responses and select appropriate answers. The MCQs were developed based on the principle of reflective learning, facilitating a moment of re-evaluation and critical thinking, reinforcing the learning

objectives, and promoting a deeper understanding of the scenarios [37]. In addition, the voice recordings and answers could be reviewed after the VR-Hosp session. By revisiting their interactions, students could, therefore, identify areas for improvement, reinforce their learning, and engage in meaningful discussions during the debriefing.

Based on expert feedback, the response prompts were revised and optimized to provide clearer instructions and ensure a logical progression of clinical scenarios. Revisions to the MCQs were also guided by expert opinions to enhance clarity and alignment with the learning objectives. For instance, to foster critical thinking and promote a comprehensive approach to patient care, the MCQs were refined to simulate realistic dialogues, moving away from standard textbook answers. Moreover, we added answer choices that encouraged players to consider fall risk assessments instead of immediately helping the patient back to bed. The accuracy of the answers was verified, allowing for further refinements. To increase the realism of avatar patients and the clinical environment in VR-Hosp, adjustments were made to the visual and behavioral aspects of the avatars to make them more lifelike and relatable, thereby facilitating realistic patient interactions. For example, in the VR-Hosp simulation, an older male patient exhibiting an unsteady gait was depicted in the ward. His features were adjusted to more accurately reflect the movements typical of an older person. Additionally, to address the issue of VR sickness, we fine-tuned the visual and auditory elements, optimized frame rates, and implemented techniques such as smooth transitions and minimizing sudden camera movements.

Figure 1 displays a cubicle, depicts the VR-Hosp environment with a ringing call bell during orientation, and shows a clinical pitfall with inconsistent signage on diet and the meal delivery trolley. These scenarios require students to be attentive to virtual environments found in clinical settings.

Figure 1. Screen capture of VR-Hosp: (a) cubicle, (b) VR-Hosp environment with a ringing call bell during orientation, and (c) clinical pitfall with inconsistent signage on diet and the meal delivery trolley. VR-Hosp: virtual reality hospital.



# Procedure

Three sets of VR-Hosp equipment, including HMDs and controllers, and 43-inch televisions mounted on movable stations, were prepared for students to practice on. There were 19 groups of students, with 12-14 students per group. In the first 30 minutes of a 2-hour session, students were given a briefing and practiced operating the controller and the HMD in the VR environment. They were presented with 1 of 3 different clinical scenarios using VR-Hosp to deliver patient care in a

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e58818

hospital ward setting with 3 cubicles. Afterward, they were divided into 3 teams of 4-5 students each and played VR-Hosp on their own. The members of each team took turns at being either a VR player or an observer, while the virtual game was played on the television screen at the same time to enable vicarious learning. The nurse tutor ensured each student in each group had the same amount of exposure to VR-Hosp (ie, 15 minutes), offered technical support on-site, and held a debriefing after each session.

# Measures

The following outcomes were assessed immediately after the VR-Hosp session: virtual nontechnical skills, sense of presence in a virtual clinical environment, and student satisfaction and self-confidence in learning.

# Virtual Nontechnical Skills

The primary outcomes were 5 personal skills measured using the virtual nontechnical skills (v-NOTECHS) system. Statements in the v-NOTECHS system were modified from the original NOTECHS rating system [14] to facilitate self-reporting on these behavioral parameters during engagement with the VR-Hosp game. The v-NOTECHS system consists of 5 domains: (1) communication and interaction (communication), 3 items; (2) situation awareness and vigilance (situation awareness), 3 items; (3) cooperation and team skills (teamwork), 5 items; (4) leadership and managerial skills (leadership), 5 items; and (5) decision-making, 5 items. One item in the communication domain of the original scale, "waited for acknowledgement from scrub nurse," was deemed irrelevant in the VR-Hosp learning activities. Players rated the items on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 for strongly disagree to 5 for strongly agree. Cronbach  $\alpha$  coefficients in the original scale are between .77 and .87.

# The Presence Questionnaire Version 3.0

The Presence Questionnaire (PQ) was adopted to measure the players' sense of presence in this virtual clinical environment [38]. The scale explores how players' psychological state or attention shifts from the physical to the virtual environment. It consists of 4 domains: (1) involvement (involve-how natural or compelling is it to interact with the environment and control objects?), 12 items; (2) adaptation/immersion the (immersion-how much were you engaged in and focused on the assigned tasks?), 22 items; (3) sensory fidelity (sensory-the degree of coherence for stimulating multiple senses), 17 items; and (4) interface quality (interface-how much did the control or display devices interfere with concentration on the tasks?), 17 items. The highest scores for these 4 domains were 84, 50, 42, and 21, respectively. Note that the items under interface quality were negatively worded. The item scores were reversed so that the higher scores indicated less distraction and delay in the game experience. The respondents gave their ratings using a 7-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 for strongly disagree to 5 for strongly agree.

# Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence in Learning

The Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence in Learning (SSSCL) scale was selected to investigate the design of VR-Hosp [39]. The scale consists of 5 items for the satisfaction subscale (satisfaction), measuring satisfaction with the content and instructions of the game. The second subscale, self-confidence in learning (self-confidence), has 8 items, measured on a 5-point Likert scale. This subscale measures players' self-confidence in learning associated with the development of NTS. The internal consistency of the SSSCL scale is good. Cronbach  $\alpha$  coefficients are .92 and .82 for the satisfaction and self-confidence subscales, respectively.

#### https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e58818

# Qualitative Data

An independent senior research assistant who had been trained in conducting semistructured interviews led 4 online focus group sessions. Purposive sampling was used based on the participants' sociodemographic background (ie, gender, year of study) and whether they had exposure to clinical experience (yes, no) to ensure the representativeness of the focus group sample. Each group consisted of 4-5 participants. Another assistant was present to take notes. The main question posed to the participants was, Can you share your experience with the VR-Hosp game and how it affected your learning? Further inquiries were made about the impact of the experience on their studies; the aspects they liked or disliked; and the skills, knowledge, and other benefits they acquired. Each group's digital audio recording lasted around 45 minutes and was transcribed word for word for further analysis.

# **Data Analysis**

Descriptive statistics were computed to show the demographic profile of the students and to capture their self-reported performance in developing their NTS using VR-Hosp. Cronbach  $\alpha$  was used to inspect the internal consistency of the questionnaires ( $\alpha \ge .70$ : good reliability;  $\alpha = .60$ : acceptable reliability) [40].

Hierarchical multiple linear regression was used to identify the incremental predictive values of different variables on NTS. In block 1, we aimed to establish baseline relationships by considering the influence of age and gender on NTS, as these sociodemographic characteristics can affect the development of NTS [41,42]. In block 2, we accounted for experience-based factors, specifically prior clinical experience and VR game experience, which not only are associated with the development of NTS but also allowed us to establish their incremental predictive value on NTS beyond the influence of sociodemographic variables [31,43]. Considering a sense of presence has been associated with more positive outcomes in technical skills among nursing students, in block 3, the VR-Hosp game experience measured using the PQ was included to determine its predictive value for NTS, considering the influences from previous blocks [11]. Finally, key predictors in the design of VR-Hosp and confidence in mastering the teaching content using VR, as measured using the SSSCL scale, were entered after considering the contributions in previous blocks. The Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) consists of components-computer self-efficacy, perceived 3 kev usefulness, and perceived ease of use-which have been found to positively affect the behavioral intention to learn a health procedure [44]. We used the SSSCL subscale scores because the constructs measured by these subscales closely parallel the components of TAM. For example, the self-confidence subscale of the SSSCL is highly associated with the TAM components computer self-efficacy and perceived ease of use, while the satisfaction subscale is closely linked to the perceived usefulness component [45,46].

NVivo version 11 was used to manage the focus group data. Inductive content analysis was used to examine and analyze the interview data, with the aim of identifying the main categories (themes) in the data and patterns among the subcategories [47].

XSL•FO

The unit of analysis was a statement from the transcripts of the focus groups. The exploration and interpretation of the meanings of data led to the emergence of meaningful units of subcategories, and a name was given to each subcategory corresponding to the meanings of its coding. Lastly, the subcategories were condensed to achieve the status of a theme. To ensure trustworthiness, each transcript was analyzed independently by 2 researchers (authors KC and TL), who then met to discuss the data and reach a consensus on the themes [47]. The researchers analyzed the data until they reached the point of data saturation, when no new findings emerged.

# **Ethical Considerations**

This study was approved by the Human Subject Ethics Subcommittee of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University (approval number: HSEARS20211229002). Informed consent was obtained from all individuals included in this study. Students' participation was entirely voluntary and would not affect their subject or curriculum in any sense.

# Results

# **Participant Characteristics**

Of the 237 undergraduate nursing students taking the preclinical VR-Hosp workshop, 202 (85.2%) students consented and participated in the study. Among the participants, who had a mean age of 20.2 (SD 1.45) years (females: n=150, 74.3%), 163 (80.7%) had no clinical experience, while the remaining students had less than 30 days of clinical experience. It is noteworthy that more than 80% (n=167) of the participants had no VR experience prior to VR-Hosp. Sociodemographic characteristics are summarized in Table 1.

 Table 1. Demographic measures of the participants (N=202) who played the VR-Hosp<sup>a</sup> game.

Measures	Value
Age (years), mean (SD)	20.2 (1.45)
Gender, n (%)	
Male	52 (25.7)
Female	150 (74.3)
Clinical practicum experience, n (%)	
No clinical experience yet	163 (80.7)
Clinical placement for 15 days	27 (13.4)
Clinical placement for 30 days	12 (5.9)
Experience in playing IVR <sup>b</sup> games, n (%)	
Never	166 (82.2)
1-3 years	36 (17.8)

<sup>a</sup>VR-Hosp: virtual reality hospital.

<sup>b</sup>IVR: immersive virtual reality.

# **Outcome Assessment**

The overall Cronbach  $\alpha$  coefficients of the 3 instruments were excellent (Table 2) at .93 (v-NOTECHS system), .95 (SSSCL scale), and .92 (PQ), confirming that the construct was internally consistent (criterion  $\alpha \ge 70$ ). The reliability of the v-NOTECHS subscales administered to the target population were satisfactory,

with Cronbach  $\alpha$  ranging from .70 to .90 (communication=.70, situation awareness=.70, teamwork=.84, leadership=.79, and decision-making=.90). Cronbach  $\alpha$  coefficients of the 4 PQ subscales were .90, .85, .80, and .74, respectively. The SSSCL instrument used in the study also achieved a Cronbach  $\alpha$  of .93 for the satisfaction subscale and .91 for the self-confidence subscale.



Table 2. Outcome measures after participants played the VR-Hosp<sup>a</sup> game and reliabilities of the scales used.

Outcome assessments	Mean (SD)	Cronbach α
v-NOTECHS <sup>b</sup>		.93
Communication and interaction <sup>c</sup>	4.3 (0.54)	.70
Situation awareness and vigilance <sup>c</sup>	4.1 (0.55)	.70
Cooperation and team skills <sup>c</sup>	4.1 (0.55)	.84
Leadership and managerial skills <sup>c</sup>	4.1 (0.50)	.79
Decision-making <sup>c</sup>	4.1 (0.52)	.90
SSSCL <sup>d</sup> scale		.95
Satisfaction with the content and instructions <sup>c</sup>	4.3 (0.56)	.93
Self-confidence in learning <sup>c</sup>	4.2 (0.53)	.91
PQ <sup>e</sup>		.92
Involvement (maximum score=84)	57.6 (8.71)	.90
Adaptation and immersion (maximum score=50)	28.3 (4.95)	.85
Sensory fidelity (maximum score=42)	39.6 (5.95)	.80
Interface quality (maximum score=21)	11.0 (3.39)	.74

<sup>a</sup>VR-Hosp: virtual reality hospital.

<sup>b</sup>v-NOTECHS: virtual nontechnical skills.

<sup>c</sup>Maximum score=5.

<sup>d</sup>SSSCL: Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence in Learning.

<sup>e</sup>PQ: Presence Questionnaire.

# Efficacy on Nontechnical Skills

The survey showed that the learning outcomes for NTS were largely satisfactory, with mean scores ranging from 4.1 (SD 0.50) to 4.3 (SD 0.54) out of 5 in the v-NOTECHS scales. In the subscales satisfaction with instructions and self-confidence in learning from the SSSCL scale, mean scores of 4.3 (SD 0.56) and 4.2 (SD 0.53) were also reported, respectively, in the 5-point Likert scale. The sum of the scores for the 4 PQ domains were involvement=57.6, adaptation and immersion=28.3, sensory fidelity=39.6, and interface quality=11.0 (Table 2).

# **Predictions of Learning Outcomes**

Self-confidence emerged as a significant predictor of 3 v-NOTECHS skills (Table 3): situation awareness ( $\beta$ =.21, P=.03, adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=0.351,  $F_{2,187}$ =2.084, P≤.001), team skills (standardized coefficient  $\beta$ =.49, P<.001, adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=0.392,  $F_{2,187}$ =39.36, P≤.001), and leadership skills ( $\beta$ =.31, P=.002, adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=0.377,  $F_{2,187}$ =22.32, P≤0.001). Satisfaction was documented as a significant predictor of 3 v-NOTECHS skills: communication and interaction ( $\beta$ =.34, P=.001, adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=0.336,  $F_{2,187}$ =20.01, P≤.001) and decision-making ( $\beta$ =.39, P<.001, adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=0.392,  $F_{2,187}$ =33.44, P≤.001).



#### Situation awareness and Block of variables Communication and in-Cooperation and team Leadership and manage-Decision-making teraction rial skills vigilance skills $\triangle R^2$ $\triangle R^2$ $\triangle R^2$ $\triangle R^2$ $\triangle R^2$ β P value Block 1 .03 .65 0.006 .04 .54 0.004 .09 .20 0.010 .06 0.019 .09 .21 0.008 Gender .14 Age .07 .31 \_a -.05 .52 -.04 .62 .01 .93 .01 .88 Block 2 0.017 Gender .04 .61 0.002 .06 .42 .10 .15 0.016 .14 .06 0.001 .09 .20 .07 .39 .76 .88 Age -.03 -.04 .16 -.01-.01 .93 .52 .12 .13 .08 .01 .87 .42 .05 .11 .06 VR<sup>b</sup> experience Clinical experi-0 .91 -.08 .31 -.03 .72 .04 .65 .02 .81 ence Gender .88 .01 .89 .34 .20 .51 -.010.226 .07 .08 0.208 .04 0.186<sup>c</sup> $0.110^{c}$ .92 .02 .77 Age .11 .15 .01 -.02 .81 .01 .89

Table 3. Hierarchical regression analysis.

0.004 Block 3 0.163<sup>c</sup> VR experience .03 .67 .10 .13 .12 .09 -.01 .86 .04 .56 Clinical experi--.0229 .03 .69 .02 .78 -.08-.03.66 .76 ence .05 .36 0 .98 Involvement .30 .02 .25 .12 .18 .15 .01 Sensory fidelity .16 .13 .27 .21 .06 .11 .26 .22 .04 Immersion 0 .99 -.01 .90 .03 .81 .19 .07 .23 .03 Interface quali--.12 .08 -.03 .62 .20 .04 .19 -.09 -.13 -.09 tv Block 4 Gender .03 .59  $0.142^{c}$ .03 .57 0.104<sup>c</sup> .09 .14  $0.256^{c}$ .11 .07 0.149<sup>c</sup> .09 .11  $0.217^{c}$ .09 .19 0 .98 -.02 .74 .01 .83 -.01 .87 Age VR experience .56 .08 .03 0 .97 .41 .04 .10 .13 .05 Clinical experi--.04 .54 -.09 .16 .35 .01 .91 0 .96 -.06 ence .07 .54 .23 Involvement .24 .04 .21 .07 .14 -.07 .56 Sensory fidelity .14 .13 .27 .01 .21 .02 .11 .22 .21 .02 Immersion -.14 .17 -.13 .19 -.15 .12 .06 .56 .06 .51 .78 .94 Interface quali--.05.44 .02 -.03 .65 -.08.20 0 ty Self-confidence .33 .21 .03 .49 <.001 .31 .002 .103 .10 .16 Satisfaction .34 .001 .16 .12 .08 .41 .14 .17 .39 <.001\_

<sup>a</sup>Not applicable.

<sup>b</sup> VR: virtual reality.

<sup>c</sup>*P*<.001.

XSL•F( RenderX

# **Qualitative Data**

Basic patterns and coding were clustered and organized into categories (Multimedia Appendix 1). Content analysis yielded 3 categories corresponding to user experience and intended learning outcomes (ILOs). The first category pointed to the fidelity of VR-Hosp. The subcategories were physical fidelity,

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e58818
```

psychological fidelity, and affective fidelity. The other 2 categories deduced were found to match with the items in the SSSCL subscales and the v-NOTECHS system and, thus, were named satisfaction in learning and development of NTS. The items in the satisfaction subscale indicated the effectiveness of the VR activities in promoting enjoyment and the motivation to learn. Items in the subscale self-confidence in learning pointed

to the development of expected knowledge and skills, as specified in the v-NOTECHS system measuring self-reported learning outcomes.

# Category I: Fidelity

Realism was noted in VR-Hosp.

# **Physical Fidelity**

It was observed that not only "the graphics and images were constructed in detail" (student 0207) but also the narrow working space between beds was simulated (student 0304), and "a patient suddenly climbed out of bed and ran really quickly" (student 0310). The chaotic situation in clinical settings was further revealed when discrepancies were noted when the food in the meal cart differed from that indicated in the signage above the patient's bed (student 1405).

The positive reports from students that VR-Hosp provides a realistic simulation consistent with a hospital environment were corroborated by the quantitative findings of high sensory fidelity scores in the PQ, which measures the degree of coherence in stimulating multiple senses.

# **Psychological Fidelity**

Students continually tried to make sense of the chaotic and ad hoc incidents occurring in the virtual environment. Student 0307 mentioned:

I actually experienced the chaos of clinical practice. It feels like what I have learnt was not actually "learnt."

Another student was stunned by having to create a voice recording in response to the assignment on patients' needs and nurses' tasks. The importance of communication became clear, moving the focus solely on psychomotor skills to understand patients' needs (student 0608).

The unexpectedly immersive learning experience was closely aligned with the level of involvement—specifically, how natural or compelling it is to interact with the environment and control objects. This was particularly evident when students had to create a voice recording in response to an assignment on patients' needs and nurses' tasks, prompting them to reflect on the importance of communication in addressing patients' needs.

# Affective Fidelity

Tension was reported in the realistic situations embodied in the immersive interactions in VR-Hosp:

In the virtual game, I heard an alarm go off. This would not have occurred in laboratory practice. This made me feel very nervous. [Student 0204]

# I felt overwhelmed. [Student 0811]

These qualitative findings were also corroborated by the adaptation and immersion scores, which assessed how engaged and focused participants were on the assigned tasks. Tensions observed from the realistic and immersive interactions in VR-Hosp offered them a novel learning experience beyond traditional laboratory practice.

# Category II: Satisfaction in Learning

In this category, students said that this training method was helpful and effective.

Traditional teaching was somehow fragmented, and only focused on a specific area...This VR-Hosp offered us a chance to understand the workflow. In this way, we have learned better. [Student 0706]

Not only did they come across various situations that they "did not see in textbooks" (student 1303), but they also had to "analyze information before reporting the patient's condition" (student 1109). Students enjoyed the learning activities and asserted that the games motivated them to learn. Student 1503 said:

The game that I played was distributing meals to the patients. I did not realize that the meal signage could differ from the actual order.

# Category III: Self-Confidence in Learning

# **Development of Communication and Interaction**

Communication and interaction skills are core components of NTS. Multiple students highlighted how the VR experience helped them realize the importance of these NTS, which they had previously overlooked (students 0608, 0908, and 1306). Another participant also added:

I know communication is important, because I have to respond and find out the priorities of various situation. [Student 0913]

# **Development of Situation Awareness**

Situation awareness was perceived as a vital skill by many students. They had learned to be observant and alert not only to the environment but also to the patients' actions to ensure patient safety. As a student mentioned:

Being a nurse, we have to be highly alert since so many different things could happen...What if I did not pay attention and the patient suddenly collapsed? [Student 0410]

Another student echoed:

Many a time during laboratory practice, we perform the skills in a step-by-step manner. But in reality, it would not happen as planned. There would be sudden incidents. [Student 1312]

# **Development of Decision-Making**

Decision-making was 1 of the central learning outcomes. Knowledge and clinical reasoning all came into play. Moreover, prioritization was deemed "essential since tasks came up one after another" (student 0710). "[We] have to judge by ourselves" (students 0105, 0211, 0510, and 0907) was a comment that was made many times. In addition, students said, "We needed to determine the priority" (student 1301), learned to "analyze the information" (students 1008 and 1506), "think critically" (student 1401), and "know the rationale for our actions" (student 0311).

Student 1004 pointed out that "it felt so real that you would be asked to do another thing while you are busy." Students also found that they needed to "multitask" (student 1403) and that "there is an internal timer" (student 0713). One student best summarized the experience of playing VR-Hosp:

*We had to be efficient, accurate, and careful.* [Student 0406]

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

This study was the first of its kind to explore nursing students' experience in using the immersive game VR-Hosp to learn NTS. Overall, findings suggested that VR-Hosp has the potential to facilitate NTS learning in order to complement current educational strategies.

Both quantitative and qualitative findings indicated the positive effects of VR-Hosp training in enhancing nursing students' NTS through a high-stress, time-critical IVR environment that customized real-life clinical situations with multitasking and episodes of interruption, demanding heightened awareness and prompt decision-making. Sensory fidelity signified the realism and coherence of the senses, for example, sound and movement, and the examination of virtual objects from multiple viewpoints. Huang et al [48] found that a high sense of presence might generate a cognitive overload when individuals are trying to complete virtual tasks, and thereby negatively affect satisfaction. In contrast, visual, auditory, and tactile stimulations were found to be vital for novice nurses to detect cues related to patients' conditions [49,50]. In a similar vein, sensory fidelity in VR-Hosp allowed the students to play individually with high concentration and meticulous cognitive and perceptual responses, to critically think, and make appropriate decisions. Consistent with another study, sensory modalities to imitate real-world movements were crucial in learning [51].

In our quantitative findings, critical sensory input was found to be associated with perception and comprehension of the situation [52]. More importantly, the meaningfulness and coherence of the content and activities were established as factors that promote learning and the goals of higher education [53]. The high satisfaction and self-confidence scores, coupled with their predictions of these 2 NTS, unpacked the meaningfulness of using VR-Hosp. These findings were further complimented by students' feedback, which indicated that the virtual environment realistically offered space for them to make decisions and react to the visual or auditory alarms, instead of providing a step-by-step guide. Students were required to multitask within a set period and to tend to episodes of sudden demands. Prioritization and communication with the patient or other members of the health care team were significant. Students had to contemplate the rationale for their actions and reconsider their justifications when answering the MCQs in response to the virtual situations. Hence, the IVR activities facilitated the building of situation awareness and vigilance, as well as decision-making.

The qualitative findings provided further insights into the distinct contributions of the game's design to the development

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e58818
```

of NTS among nursing students. Detecting and handling alarms, hazards, and clinical pitfalls were the learning activities in VR-Hosp. Students commented how VR-Hosp heightened their excitement, eliciting stress and nervousness when encountering unexpected incidents and equipment alarms during the game play. It was uncovered that the voice-recording feature in VR-Hosp made the students feel compelled to communicate with the nurse and patient during the game. They could not proceed to the next action if they did not talk to the patients and other health care workers. Such forced interactions urged them on to communicate with the avatar and engaged them in performing the designated activities. Altogether, these qualitative findings echoed the learning space concept in the experiential learning framework [35], contributing evidence of VR-Hosp's sensory fidelity value to physical, psychological, and affective fidelity.

Previous studies have reported that gender and experience in playing VR games are factors that affect satisfaction and usability scores [23]. In contrast, our quantitative findings revealed that gender and literacy in VR technology do not have an impact on situation awareness and decision-making. It was interesting to discover that the other 3 domains in the sense of presence did not predict either situation awareness or decision-making. These domains were involvement (controlling and moving in the virtual environment), immersion (proficiency and consistency with the real world), and interface quality. This means that interference in using control devices, delay in experiencing actions, and distraction in visual display did not hinder students' confidence in their ability to develop the desired skills. It was inconclusive whether naturalistic interactions are the element that influence how the form and content of the learning modalities operate in virtual learning environments [54]. That said, it was likely that exposure to IVR clinical practice was significant in helping novice nurses develop and master the skills of situation awareness and decision-making regardless of the control of VR devices.

Overall, this study offers evidence of the sensation fidelity of the VR environment as an essential feature to achieve learning outcomes. Our findings suggest that VR-Hosp has the potential to facilitate the development of situation awareness and decision-making, complementing current educational strategies. For instance, IVR provides a cost-effective and accessible alternative to traditional pedagogy, such as high-fidelity simulation. Although high-fidelity simulation is an effective educational strategy, certain limitations, such as shortages of personnel, resources, and space and the lack of available qualified facilitators, can impact its implementation and effectiveness. However, IVR eliminates the need for physical resources and a dedicated space, allowing students to engage in realistic scenarios using VR headsets or other devices. This scalability enables a larger number of students to participate simultaneously, enhancing accessibility and reducing logistical constraints. With the use of IVR, facilitators can guide and debrief students, leveraging the recorded interactions and performance data to provide targeted feedback and facilitate reflective learning.

XSL•FO RenderX

# Limitations

This study adopted a convenience sampling method; thus, it is difficult to generalize the results. The study involved a cross-sectional survey collected after VR-Hosp practice; thus, the cause and effect of this VR teaching strategy could not be determined. NTS in the real world are often influenced by external factors, such as high uncertainty and time pressure [55]. Considering that v-NOTECHS scores were self-reported, further work is needed to objectively evaluate the learning outcomes and assess whether these skills can be sustainably translated to realistic settings. When implementing VR-Hosp, students took turns in being players and observers. This might have interfered with the immersive experience since the observers communicated with the players during the activity, for example, in locating alarms and when answering MCQs. There might also have been bias when obtaining qualitative feedback, since the process was conducted during the debriefing session moderated by the teachers. However, the information that was obtained forms a basis for future studies to compare its impact with that of other educational pedagogies. In addition, the use of HMDs in IVR can lead to VR sickness, such as nausea,

dizziness, and blurred vision [56]. Although our study did not report cases of VR sickness, its presence could negatively impact the immersive learning experience. Future research should include measures such as the Virtual Reality Sickness Questionnaire to evaluate its effect on the desired learning outcomes [57]. Additionally, future studies using IVR may consider striking a balance between realism and incorporating elements shown to reduce VR sickness, such as narrowing the horizontal field of view, partially limiting the degrees of freedom in navigation control, and increasing tactile feedback [58].

# Conclusion

VR-Hosp appears to be a promising educational pedagogy for enhancing NTS, including situation awareness and decision-making ability, in nursing students. VR-Hosp portrays a nonlinear world that challenges students to operationalize what they have learned in traditional classroom teaching and simulation practices. The findings add evidence to the determinants of learning outcomes from the aspects of a sense of presence, satisfaction, and self-confidence in learning. This should motivate the undertaking of future work on VR-based teaching and learning activities in higher education.

# Acknowledgments

The research team thank Mr Joe Wong and his team, Mr Cartus Lam and Mr Jerry Wong, for their valuable advice and support in developing the virtual reality hospital software. We are grateful to the teachers and nursing students who participated in the game and provided feedback to refine and enhance the development of the game.

This work was supported by the Large Equipment Fund for Teaching 2020 and the matching fund from the School of Nursing in the Hong Kong Polytechnic University (grant number SN-1).

# **Authors' Contributions**

All authors made substantial contributions to (1) developing the immersive virtual reality game software, (2) developing the study conception and design, (3) acquiring data and analyzing and interpreting them, and (4) drafting the paper and revising it critically for important intellectual content. All authors have agreed on the final version of the manuscript.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# Multimedia Appendix 1

Content analysis: overview of categories and subcategories. [DOCX File , 26 KB - apinj\_v8i1e58818\_app1.docx ]

# References

- 1. Advancing healthcare transformation: a new era for academic nursing. American Association of Colleges of Nursing. 2016 Mar 1. URL: <u>https://www.aacnnursing.org/Portals/0/PDFs/Publications/AACN-New-Era-Report.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-06-26]
- 2. A vision for teaching with simulation. A living document from the National League for Nursing NLN Board of Governors. National League for Nursing. 2015 Apr 20. URL: <u>https://www.nln.org/docs/default-source/uploadedfiles/about/nln-vision-series-position-statements/vision-statement-a-vision-for-teaching-with-simulation.pdf?sfvrsn=e847da0d\_0 [accessed 2024-06-27]</u>
- 3. Williams J, Jones D, Walker R. Consideration of using virtual reality for teaching neonatal resuscitation to midwifery students. Nurse Educ Pract 2018 Jul;31:126-129. [doi: 10.1016/j.nepr.2018.05.016] [Medline: 29879636]
- 4. Standards for education and training: recovery and emergency programme standards. Nursing & Midwifery Council. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.nmc.org.uk/standards-for-education-and-training/emergency-education-standards/</u>[accessed 2024-06-27]
- Fogg N, Wilson C, Trinka M, Campbell R, Thomson A, Merritt L, et al. Transitioning from direct care to virtual clinical experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Prof Nurs 2020 Nov;36(6):685-691 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.profnurs.2020.09.012] [Medline: 33308572]

- 6. Kardong-Edgren SS, Farra SL, Alinier G, Young HM. A call to unify definitions of virtual reality. Clin Simulat Nurs 2019 Jun;31:28-34. [doi: 10.1016/j.ecns.2019.02.006]
- Hauze S, Hoyt H, Frazee J, Greiner P, Marshall J. Enhancing nursing education through affordable and realistic holographic mixed reality: the virtual standardized patient for clinical simulation. Adv Exp Med Biol 2019;1120:1-13. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-06070-1\_1] [Medline: 30919290]
- 8. Kononowicz AA, Woodham LA, Edelbring S, Stathakarou N, Davies D, Saxena N, et al. Virtual patient simulations in health professions education: systematic review and meta-analysis by the digital health education collaboration. J Med Internet Res 2019 Jul 02;21(7):e14676 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14676] [Medline: 31267981]
- 9. Bystrom K, Barfield W, Hendrix C. A conceptual model of the sense of presence in virtual environments. Presence: Teleop Virtual Environ 1999 Apr;8(2):241-244. [doi: 10.1162/105474699566107]
- 10. Dang BK, Palicte JS, Valdez A, O'Leary-Kelley C. Assessing simulation, virtual reality, and television modalities in clinical training. Clin Simul Nurs 2018 Jun;19:30-37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ecns.2018.03.001] [Medline: 38903161]
- Dubovi I, Levy ST, Dagan E. Now I know how! The learning process of medication administration among nursing students with non-immersive desktop virtual reality simulation. Comput Educ 2017 Oct;113:16-27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2017.05.009] [Medline: <u>38903161</u>]
- 12. Dunnington RM. The centricity of presence in scenario-based high fidelity human patient simulation: a model. Nurs Sci Q 2015 Jan;28(1):64-73. [doi: 10.1177/0894318414558605] [Medline: 25520467]
- Fealy S, Jones D, Hutton A, Graham K, McNeill L, Sweet L, et al. The integration of immersive virtual reality in tertiary nursing and midwifery education: a scoping review. Nurse Educ Today 2019 Aug;79:14-19. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2019.05.002</u>] [Medline: <u>31078869</u>]
- 14. Sevdalis N, Davis R, Koutantji M, Undre S, Darzi A, Vincent CA. Reliability of a revised NOTECHS scale for use in surgical teams. Am J Surg 2008 Aug;196(2):184-190. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amjsurg.2007.08.070</u>] [Medline: <u>18558392</u>]
- Lyk-Jensen HT, Jepsen RMHG, Spanager L, Dieckmann P, Østergaard D. Assessing nurse anaesthetists' non-technical skills in the operating room. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2014 Aug;58(7):794-801. [doi: <u>10.1111/aas.12315</u>] [Medline: <u>24673620</u>]
- Flin R, Youngson G, Yule S. How do surgeons make intraoperative decisions? Qual Saf Health Care 2007 Jun;16(3):235-239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/qshc.2006.020743] [Medline: 17545353]
- 17. Weaver SJ, Dy SM, Rosen MA. Team-training in healthcare: a narrative synthesis of the literature. BMJ Qual Saf 2014 May 05;23(5):359-372 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2013-001848] [Medline: 24501181]
- Anbro SJ, Szarko AJ, Houmanfar RA, Maraccini AM, Crosswell LH, Harris FC, et al. Using virtual simulations to assess situational awareness and communication in medical and nursing education: a technical feasibility study. J Org Behav Manag 2020 Apr 02;40(1-2):129-139. [doi: 10.1080/01608061.2020.1746474]
- 19. Saus E, Johnsen BH, Eid J. Perceived learning outcome: the relationship between experience, realism and situation awareness during simulator training. Int Marit Health 2010;62(4):258-264. [Medline: <u>21348021</u>]
- 20. Wright MC. Objective measures of situation awareness in a simulated medical environment. BMJ Qual Saf 2004 Oct 01;13(suppl\_1):65-71. [doi: 10.1136/qshc.2004.009951]
- Lewis R, Strachan A, Smith MM. Is high fidelity simulation the most effective method for the development of non-technical skills in nursing? A review of the current evidence. Open Nurs J 2012;6:82-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2174/1874434601206010082] [Medline: 22893783]
- Uramatsu M, Fujisawa Y, Mizuno S, Souma T, Komatsubara A, Miki T. Do failures in non-technical skills contribute to fatal medical accidents in Japan? A review of the 2010-2013 national accident reports. BMJ Open 2017 Feb 16;7(2):e013678 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013678] [Medline: 28209605]
- 23. Breitkreuz KR, Kardong-Edgren S, Gilbert GE, DeBlieck C, Maske M, Hallock C, et al. A multi-site study examining the usability of a virtual reality game designed to improve retention of sterile catheterization skills in nursing students. Simulat Gaming 2020 Sep 25;52(2):169-184. [doi: 10.1177/1046878120954891]
- 24. Kilmon CA, Brown L, Ghosh S, Mikitiuk A. Immersive virtual reality simulations in nursing education. Nurs Educ Perspect 2010;31(5):314-317. [Medline: 21086871]
- 25. Plotzky C, Lindwedel U, Sorber M, Loessl B, König P, Kunze C, et al. Virtual reality simulations in nurse education: a systematic mapping review. Nurse Educ Today 2021 Jun;101:104868. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104868</u>] [Medline: <u>33798987</u>]
- 26. Jorissen P, De Boi I. ImmersiMed: cross-platform simulation training. Digit Med 2018 Oct;4(4):166-172. [doi: 10.4103/digm.digm\_12\_18]
- 27. Forsberg E, Georg C, Ziegert K, Fors U. Virtual patients for assessment of clinical reasoning in nursing -- a pilot study. Nurse Educ Today 2011 Nov;31(8):757-762. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2010.11.015] [Medline: 21159412]
- 28. Lee EJ, Ryu MJ. Development and effects of a nursing education program using virtual reality for enhancing clinical decision-making ability in respiratory disease nursing care. J Korean Acad Fundam Nurs 2021 Nov 30;28(4):458-469. [doi: 10.7739/jkafn.2021.28.4.458]

- 29. Leder J, Horlitz T, Puschmann P, Wittstock V, Schütz A. Comparing immersive virtual reality and powerpoint as methods for delivering safety training: impacts on risk perception, learning, and decision making. Saf Sci 2019 Jan;111:271-286. [doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2018.07.021]
- 30. Hamilton D, McKechnie J, Edgerton E, Wilson C. Immersive virtual reality as a pedagogical tool in education: a systematic literature review of quantitative learning outcomes and experimental design. J Comput Educ 2020 Jul 11;8(1):1-32. [doi: 10.1007/s40692-020-00169-2]
- 31. Kyaw BM, Saxena N, Posadzki P, Vseteckova J, Nikolaou CK, George PP, et al. Virtual reality for health professions education: systematic review and meta-analysis by the digital health education collaboration. J Med Internet Res 2019 Jan 22;21(1):e12959 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12959] [Medline: 30668519]
- 32. Shorey S, Ng ED. The use of virtual reality simulation among nursing students and registered nurses: a systematic review. Nurse Educ Today 2021 Mar;98:104662. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104662] [Medline: 33203545]
- Woon APN, Mok WQ, Chieng YJS, Zhang HM, Ramos P, Mustadi HB, et al. Effectiveness of virtual reality training in improving knowledge among nursing students: a systematic review, meta-analysis and meta-regression. Nurse Educ Today 2021 Mar;98:104655. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104655] [Medline: <u>33303246</u>]
- 34. Jeffries PR. A framework for designing, implementing, and evaluating simulations used as teaching strategies in nursing. Nurs Educ Perspect 2005;26(2):96-103. [Medline: <u>15921126</u>]
- 35. Kolb AY, Kolb DA. Learning styles and learning spaces: Enhancing experiential learning in higher education. Acad Manag Learn Educ 2005 Jun;4(2):193-212. [doi: 10.5465/amle.2005.17268566]
- Harris DJ, Bird JM, Smart PA, Wilson MR, Vine SJ. A framework for the testing and validation of simulated environments in experimentation and training. Front Psychol 2020;11:605 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00605] [Medline: 32296379]
- 37. Dewey J. How We Think: A Restatement of the Relation of Reflective Thinking to the Educative Process. Lexington, MA: D. C. Heath and Company; 1933.
- 38. Witmer BG, Singer MJ. Measuring presence in virtual environments: a presence questionnaire. Presence 1998 Jun;7(3):225-240. [doi: 10.1162/105474698565686]
- Franklin AE, Burns P, Lee CS. Psychometric testing on the NLN Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence in Learning, Simulation Design Scale, and Educational Practices Questionnaire using a sample of pre-licensure novice nurses. Nurse Educ Today 2014 Oct;34(10):1298-1304. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2014.06.011] [Medline: 25066650]
- 40. Keszei AP, Novak M, Streiner DL. Introduction to health measurement scales. J Psychosom Res 2010 Apr;68(4):319-323. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpsychores.2010.01.006</u>] [Medline: <u>20307697</u>]
- Deng X, Chen S, Li X, Tan C, Li W, Zhong C, et al. Gender differences in empathy, emotional intelligence and problem-solving ability among nursing students: a cross-sectional study. Nurse Educ Today 2023 Jan;120:105649 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2022.105649] [Medline: 36435156]
- 42. Laschinger HKS, Finegan J, Wilk P. Context matters: the impact of unit leadership and empowerment on nurses' organizational commitment. J Nurs Adm 2009 May;39(5):228-235. [doi: <u>10.1097/NNA.0b013e3181a23d2b</u>] [Medline: <u>19423988</u>]
- 43. Akhu-Zaheya LM, Gharaibeh MK, Alostaz ZM. Effectiveness of simulation on knowledge acquisition, knowledge retention, and self-efficacy of nursing students in Jordan. Clin Simulat Nurs 2013 Sep;9(9):e335-e342. [doi: 10.1016/j.ecns.2012.05.001]
- 44. Chow M, Herold DK, Choo T, Chan K. Extending the technology acceptance model to explore the intention to use Second Life for enhancing healthcare education. Comput Educ 2012 Dec;59(4):1136-1144. [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2012.05.011]
- 45. Venkatesh V, Davis FD. A model of the antecedents of perceived ease of use: development and test. Decis Sci 1996 Sep;27(3):451-481 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1540-5915.1996.tb01822.x]
- Wixom BH, Todd PA. A theoretical integration of user satisfaction and technology acceptance. Inf Syst Res 2005 Mar;16(1):85-102. [doi: <u>10.1287/isre.1050.0042</u>]
- 47. Graneheim UH, Lundman B. Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. Nurse Educ Today 2004 Feb;24(2):105-112. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2003.10.001] [Medline: 14769454]
- 48. Huang CL, Luo YF, Yang SC, Lu CM, Chen A. Influence of students' learning style, sense of presence, and cognitive load on learning outcomes in an immersive virtual reality learning environment. J Educ Comput Res 2019 Aug 05;58(3):596-615. [doi: 10.1177/0735633119867422]
- 49. Burbach BE, Thompson SA. Cue recognition by undergraduate nursing students: an integrative review. J Nurs Educ 2014 Sep;53(9 Suppl):S73-S81. [doi: 10.3928/01484834-20140806-07] [Medline: 25102133]
- Saab MM, Hegarty J, Murphy D, Landers M. Incorporating virtual reality in nurse education: a qualitative study of nursing students' perspectives. Nurse Educ Today 2021 Oct;105:105045 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2021.105045] [Medline: 34245956]
- 51. Butt AL, Kardong-Edgren S, Ellertson A. Using game-based virtual reality with haptics for skill acquisition. Clin Simulat Nurs 2018 Mar;16:25-32. [doi: 10.1016/j.ecns.2017.09.010]
- 52. Durso FT, Sethumadhavan A. Situation awareness: understanding dynamic environments. Hum Factors 2008 Jun 01;50(3):442-448. [doi: 10.1518/001872008x288448]

- 53. Mystakidis S, Berki E, Valtanen J. Deep and meaningful e-learning with social virtual reality environments in higher education: a systematic literature review. Appl Sci 2021 Mar 09;11(5):2412. [doi: <u>10.3390/app11052412</u>]
- Persky S, Kaphingst KA, McCall C, Lachance C, Beall AC, Blascovich J. Presence relates to distinct outcomes in two virtual environments employing different learning modalities. Cyberpsychol Behav 2009 Jun;12(3):263-268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/cpb.2008.0262] [Medline: 19366319]
- 55. Agnew Ç, Flin R, Jackson J, Raduma M. Human Factors in Patient Safety: Review of Topics and Tools. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2009.
- 56. Kennedy R, Drexler J, Compton D, Stanney K, Lanham D, Harm D. Configural scoring of simulator sickness, cybersickness, and space adaptation syndrome: similarities and differences. In: Hettinger LJ, Haas MW, editors. Virtual and Adaptive Environments: Applications, Implications, and Human Performance Issues. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers; 2003:247-278.
- Kim HK, Park J, Choi Y, Choe M. Virtual Reality Sickness Questionnaire (VRSQ): motion sickness measurement index in a virtual reality environment. Appl Ergon 2018 May;69:66-73 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.apergo.2017.12.016</u>] [Medline: <u>29477332</u>]
- 58. Rebenitsch L, Owen C. Review on cybersickness in applications and visual displays. Virtual Real 2016 Apr 26;20(2):101-125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10055-016-0285-9]

# Abbreviations

HMD: head-mounted device
IVR: immersive virtual reality
MCQ: multiple-choice question
NTS: nontechnical skills
PQ: Presence Questionnaire
SSSCL: Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence in Learning
TAM: Technology Acceptance Model
v-NOTECHS: virtual nontechnical skills
VR: virtual reality
VR-Hospital/VR-Hosp: virtual reality hospital

Edited by H Ahn; submitted 26.03.24; peer-reviewed by S Kalampakorn, KYT Lim; comments to author 09.05.24; revised version received 03.06.24; accepted 10.06.24; published 10.07.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Chan K, Kor PPK, Liu JYW, Cheung K, Lai T, Kwan RYC The Use of Immersive Virtual Reality Training for Developing Nontechnical Skills Among Nursing Students: Multimethods Study Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e58818 URL: <u>https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e58818</u> doi:<u>10.2196/58818</u> PMID:

©Kitty Chan, Patrick Pui Kin Kor, Justina Yat Wa Liu, Kin Cheung, Timothy Lai, Rick Yiu Cho Kwan. Originally published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal (https://apinj.jmir.org), 10.07.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://apinj.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Examining the Evidence on the Statistics Prerequisite for Admission to Doctor of Nursing Practice Programs: Retrospective Cohort Study

Ha Do Byon<sup>1</sup>, RN, MPH, MSN, PhD; Sunbok Park<sup>1</sup>, RN, MSN; Beth A Quatrara<sup>1</sup>, RN, ACNS-BC, CMSRN, DNP; Jessica Taggart<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Lindsay Buford Wheeler<sup>2</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>School of Nursing, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, United States
 <sup>2</sup>Center for Teaching Excellence, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, United States

# **Corresponding Author:**

Ha Do Byon, RN, MPH, MSN, PhD School of Nursing University of Virginia 225 Jeanette Lancaster Way Charlottesville, VA, 22903 United States Phone: 1 434 243 3973 Email: hb7ze@virginia.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Doctor of Nursing Practice (DNP) programs in the United States confer the highest practice degree in nursing. The proportion of racial and ethnic minority DNP students, including those of Asian descent, keeps increasing in the United States. Statistics is commonly required for DNP programs. However, there is insufficient evidence regarding the number of years within which statistics should be taken and the minimum grade required for admission to the program.

**Objective:** This study aimed to examine the associations of statistics prerequisite durations and grades for admission with the course performances within the DNP program. We also explored whether a postadmission statistics overview course can prepare students for a DNP statistics course as well as a required statistics prerequisite course.

**Methods:** A retrospective cohort study was conducted with a sample of 31 DNP students at a large university in the Mid-Atlantic region. Statistical analysis of data collected over 5 years, between 2018 and 2022, was performed to examine the associations, using Spearman rank correlation analysis and Mann-Whitney U test (U).

**Results:** The performance of students in a DNP statistics course was not associated with prerequisite duration. There was no significant association between the duration and the DNP statistics course letter grades ( $\rho$ =0.12; *P*=.66), neither with exam 1 ( $\rho$ =0.03; *P*=.91) nor with exam 2 scores ( $\rho$ =0.01; *P*=.97). Prerequisite grades were positively associated with exam 1 grades ( $\rho$ =0.59; *P*=.02), but not exam 2 ( $\rho$ =0.35; *P*=.19) or course grades ( $\rho$ =0.40; *P*=.12). In addition, no difference was found in the performance of students whether meeting the prerequisite requirements or taking a 1-month, self-paced overview course (exam 1: *U*=159, *P*=.13; exam 2: *U*=102, *P*=.50; course letter grade: *U*=117, *P*=.92).

**Conclusions:** No evidence was found to support the need for limits on when prerequisites are completed or grade requirements. Opting for a statistics overview course after admission can serve as a viable alternative to the statistics prerequisite, effectively preparing students for advanced quantitative data analysis in a DNP program.

(Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e57187) doi:10.2196/57187

# **KEYWORDS**

Doctor of Nursing Practice; admission prerequisite; statistics requirement; biostatistics; nursing education

# Introduction

RenderX

Doctor of Nursing Practice (DNP) programs in the United States prepare nurse leaders, conferring the highest practice degree in

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e57187
```

nursing. The proportion of racial and ethnic minority DNP students, including those of Asian descent, increased from 21% in 2010 to 37% in 2020 [1]. Several countries in East and Southeast Asia have begun implementing practice-oriented

nursing doctorate programs, similar to DNP programs in the United States [2]. The American Association of Colleges of Nursing (AACN) documents that guide the development of DNP program curricula emphasize the importance of DNP graduates being prepared to lead evidence-based practice [3]. To fulfill this, DNP graduates should possess the competence to translate research into practice, evaluate evidence, apply research in decision-making, and implement viable clinical innovations to effect practice change [4].

Integration of research into clinical practice for evidence-based practice requires a firm understanding of statistics. Insufficient knowledge and reasoning skills in statistics can lead to inaccurate interpretation and application of knowledge [4]. Accordingly, it is common that DNP programs require statistics as an admission prerequisite. A total of 17% of DNP programs in the United States mandate applicants to complete a graduate-level statistics course before admission [5]. Some programs include statistics as a core course in their DNP curriculum [6], often requiring undergraduate-level statistics as a prerequisite.

While completion of a statistics course before admission to DNP programs is frequently required, there has been little evidence or consensus about the specific timeframe within which this prerequisite should be fulfilled [5] or whether prerequisites are even needed [7]. Candidates are largely affected by the existence and duration of this requirement; a tight, short timeframe may discourage them from applying to the program as it may mean they have to retake a statistics course to meet the requirement [8]. Such a duration requirement, when unnecessary, is disadvantageous to both applicants seeking to advance their education and to schools aiming to expand the qualified applicant pools [8]. Previous research has indicated limited evidence linking prerequisite coursework to subsequent performance [9,10]. There is no published evidence showing a differential effect of prerequisite statistics on the admission or academic performance of racial and ethnic minority DNP students. Furthermore, admission requirements have changed over time, implying that specific year criteria may not always be a good standard [7]. As the specific duration criteria of prerequisites vary across the DNP programs and limited evidence supports the need for prerequisite requirements, it is vital to address the existing gaps in prerequisite courses and to examine the evidence supporting the criteria [11].

Therefore, this study aimed to investigate the questions: (1) Is the time elapsed since students' completion of the statistics prerequisite (duration) associated with their performance in a DNP statistics course? (2) Are the grades of the statistics prerequisite course associated with students' performance in a DNP statistics course? and (3) Does a postadmission statistics overview course prepare students for a DNP statistics course as well as a required statistics prerequisite course?

# Methods

# **Study Design and Sample**

We conducted a retrospective cohort study that involved the analysis of data collected over 5 years, between 2018 and 2022.

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e57187
```

The unit of analysis was data from individuals. The data sources consisted of the transcripts and class artifacts of the students who were enrolled in a DNP program-required statistics course at a large university in the Mid-Atlantic region. We did not collect their demographics for anonymity. The DNP program in this study is designed to empower nurses to practice at the highest level of clinical practice and improve systems and safety as nurse leaders. The executive, hybrid format allows students to attend in-person classes once a month, with the balance of online learning. At the end of the program, students complete a quality improvement scholarly project that synthesizes and demonstrates the knowledge and skills they have learned throughout the program. Statistics play a key role in analyzing data for this scholarly project. While the DNP program required completing a prerequisite statistics course with a grade of at least B within 5 years of the program start, it also allowed the students who had not met either the grade requirement or the duration requirement of 5 years to alternatively take a summer statistics overview course. The 1-month, online, asynchronous, self-paced summer overview course was supervised by a faculty member and contained 5 modules (research design, sampling, measurement, descriptive statistics, and inferential statistics). In order to pass the course, the students were required to demonstrate at least 80% proficiency with the content through an end-of-the-course exam that they could take a maximum of 2 times. DNP statistics course grades were accessed by the course professor (HDB). The grades and the years and semesters of the prerequisite statistics course were obtained through the School of Nursing Office of Admissions and Student Services. The passing status of the summer overview course was obtained from the Director of the DNP program.

# Measures

# **Duration Since Statistics Prerequisite**

Students started taking the DNP statistics course at various elapsed times after completion of the prerequisite statistics course. To compute the duration of this elapsed time (DET), first, the years and months were identified for (1) when students had completed the prerequisite statistics courses based on their transcript (May for the spring semester, August for the summer semester, and December for the fall semester) and (2) when students had started taking the DNP statistics course (August). Then, we calculated the DET in months by subtraction between the 2 time points.

# Doctor of Nursing Practice Statistics Course Performances

In total, 3 DNP statistics course artifacts were used to measure the course performance of students: exam 1 and exam 2 scores (both with a possible score range of 0 to 15), and course letter grades (1=B-, 2=B, 3=B+, 4=A-, 5=A, and 6=A+). No study participants received a grade below B in the course.

The contents of the 2 exams were not cumulative. Exam 1 occurred at the midterm and exam 2 at the end of the semester. Each included 25 multiple-choice questions. The exams assessed students' understanding of the statistical theories and interpretation of the results from various statistical tests (eg, descriptive statistics, t tests, one-way ANOVA, repeated

XSL•FO

measures ANOVA, analysis of covariance, multiple linear regression, logistic regression, and nonparametric tests). The course letter grades also reflected other course artifacts (eg, a statistical analysis critique paper) that were excluded from this study due to a lack of immediate relevance to the prerequisite statistics grades. The course was taught by the same faculty member during the entire 5-year study period. The faculty maintained the other format (eg, exam length) and the difficulty level of the exams across cohorts of students, supported by comparable exam scores and course grades, on average, over the years.

# **Prerequisite Statistics Performance**

The letter grades of the statistics courses in the transcripts that students had submitted for admission were used to measure the performance of the students for the prerequisite statistics course (1=B-, 2=B, 3=B+, 4=A-, 5=A, and 6=A+). The DNP program required a grade of at least B– for admission.

# **Ethical Considerations**

All participants were informed of the purpose, content, process, and potential risks and benefits of the study. The informed consents were voluntarily obtained, and participants were informed that they could withdraw from the study whenever they wanted. No compensation was provided for study inclusion. The data used in this study were stored in the institutional encrypted storage. All study data were accessible only to the approved researchers. This study was approved by the University of Virginia Institutional Review Board (#5525) and adhered to ethical standards.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive and inferential statistics were calculated using IBM SPSS Statistics (version 28) [12]. Frequencies and proportions in percent for categorical variables and their means (SDs) and

medians (IQRs) for continuous variables were computed. A Spearman rank correlation analysis was used to explore the association between the DET and their DNP statistics course performance (study question 1) and statistics prerequisite course grades and students' DNP statistics course performance (study question 2) because the study data did not meet the normality assumption. A Mann-Whitney U test was used to investigate differences in DNP statistics course performance based on the completion of a statistics overview course or required statistics prerequisite (study question 3). The significance level for all statistical tests was set at the conventional level of P=.05.

# Results

# **Sample Characteristics**

Out of 86 students who had taken the DNP program statistics course and were invited to the study, a total of 31 (36%) students agreed to participate. From the 31 student participants in the sample, 16 (52%) students met the 5-year statistics prerequisite requirement for admission, and 15 (48%) students successfully completed the summer overview course. There were no missing data.

Among the 16 students who fulfilled the 5-year statistics requirement, the mean DET between taking the prerequisite statistics course and the DNP statistics course was 39.6 (SD 19.7; range 12-80) months, or approximately 3.5 years. Most of them (11/16, 69%) received an A in their prerequisite statistics course. In the total sample of 31 students, which was used to answer study question 3, the distribution of the letter grades in the DNP statistics course was left skewed, with predominantly A+ or A. Their mean scores for exam 1 and exam 2 were 13.4 (SD 1.5) out of 15 and 13.1 (SD 1.5) out of 15, respectively (Table 1).



Table 1. Sample characteristics of the study participants.

Characteristics	Descriptive statistics
Transcript grade of the prerequisite statistics course (n=16), n (%)	
А	11 (69)
В	4 (25)
В-	1 (6)
Duration (months elapsed from prerequisite; n=16)	
Mean (SD)	39.6 (19.7)
Median (IQR)	34 (27.0-53.5)
Year taking the DNP <sup>a</sup> statistics course (n=31), n (%)	
2018-2019	5 (16)
2020-2021	19 (61)
2022	7 (23)
DNP statistics course grade (n=31), n (%)	
A+	15 (48)
A	10 (32)
A–	4 (13)
B+	2 (6)
DNP statistics course performances (maximum score=15; n=31)	
Exam 1	
Mean (SD)	13.4 (1.5)
Median (IQR)	13.8 (12.8-14.5)
Exam 2	
Mean (SD)	13.1 (1.5)
Median (IQR)	13.7 (12.0-14.4)

<sup>a</sup>DNP: Doctor of Nursing Practice.

#### **Association Between Duration and Class Performance**

There was no significant association between the DET and the DNP statistics course letter grades ( $\rho$ =-0.12; *P*=.66). Also, the DET was neither significantly associated with exam 1 ( $\rho$ =0.03; *P*=.91) nor exam 2 scores ( $\rho$ =-0.01; *P*=.97; Table 2). There was

no difference between those who had a DET within 5 years and more than 5 years in their scores of exam 1 (14.2 out of 15 vs 14.2 out of 15), exam 2 (13.2 out of 15 vs 13.6 out of 15), and course grades (12/13, 92% students earned A– or above vs 3/3, 100% earned A– or above; Table 3).

Table 2.	Association of	class performance	with prerequisite	duration and	transcript grade (	n=16).
----------	----------------	-------------------	-------------------	--------------	--------------------	--------

Class performance	Duration	Transcript grade
Exam 1 score		
ρ	0.03	0.59
P value	.91	.02
Exam 2 score		
ρ	-0.01	0.35
P value	.97	.19
DNP <sup>a</sup> course letter grade		
ρ	-0.12	0.40
P value	.66	.12

<sup>a</sup>DNP: Doctor of Nursing Practice.

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e57187

Table 3. Comparison of the course performances by prerequisite duration ( $\leq$ 5 years vs >5 years; n=16).

Course performance	Duration	
	$\leq$ 5 years (n=13)	>5 years (n=3)
Exam 1	·	
Mean (SD)	14.2 (0.9)	14.2 (0.9)
Median (IQR)	14.4 (13.8-15.0)	14.4 (13.8-14.7)
Exam 2		
Mean (SD)	13.2 (1.4)	13.6 (1.9)
Median (IQR)	13.8 (12.6-13.8)	14.4 (12.9-14.7)
Letter grade, n (%)		
A+	6 (46)	2 (67)
А	4 (31)	0 (0)
A-	2 (15)	1 (33)
B+	1 (8)	0 (0)

# Association Between Prerequisite Performance and Class Performance

There was a significant and large association between letter grades in the prerequisite statistics course and exam 1 scores in the DNP statistics course ( $\rho$ =0.59; *P*=.02). However, the prerequisite letter grades were not significantly associated with exam 2 scores and the DNP statistics course letter grades, respectively ( $\rho$ =0.35, *P*=.19;  $\rho$ =0.40, *P*=.12). All other effect sizes were close to 0 (Table 2).

# Comparison Between Statistics Prerequisite and Overview Course

For the 31 students in the full sample, there were no differences in all 3 DNP statistics course performance measures between those who met the statistics prerequisite requirement and those who took the statistics overview course (exam 1: U=159, P=.13; exam 2: U=102, P=.50; course letter grade: U=117, P=.92). Exam 1 scores were slightly higher (14.2 out of 15 vs 13.5 out of 15) among those who met the prerequisite, but the difference was not significant (Table 4).

Table 4. Comparison between those who met the statistics prerequisite and those who took the overview course (n=31).

	Exam 1	Exam 2	Course letter grade
Total (n=31)			
Mean (SD)	13.9 (1.1)	13.3 (1.7)	5.2 (0.9)
Median (IQR)	14.4 (13.2-14.7)	13.9 (12.6-14.4)	5.0 (5.0-6.0)
Prerequisite group (n=16)			
Mean (SD)	14.2 (0.9)	13.3 (1.4)	5.2 (1.0)
Median (IQR)	14.4 (13.5-15.0)	13.8 (12.0-14.1)	5.5 (4.5-6.0)
Overview course group (n=15)			
Mean (SD)	13.5 (1.2)	13.3 (2.0)	5.3 (0.9)
Median (IQR)	13.8 (12.9-14.4)	14.4 (12.6-14.7)	5.0 (5.0-6.0)
U <sup>a</sup>	159.0	102.0	117.0
<i>P</i> value	.13	.50	.92
Pearson correlation coefficient $(r)$ (effect size)	0.28	0.13	0.02

<sup>a</sup>Mann-Whitney U test

# Discussion

We did not find a significant association between the duration after students' completion of the statistics prerequisite and their DNP statistics course performance. When a DNP program requires statistics as an admission prerequisite, a duration requirement is often attached (eg, 5 years) [11]. The rationale

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e57187
```

is that the knowledge of statistics has a limited shelf-life. However, there is no known evidence after what year the knowledge degrades significantly enough to warrant retaking a course. In our study, there was no such critical time point. Furthermore, our study result showed no overall association of duration with performance in the higher-level statistics course. Although the duration in our study sample only spanned from



12 to 80 months, there is little reason to suppose a significant association beyond the period.

Likewise, we did not find a correlation between course grades in the prerequisite statics course and performance in a DNP statistics course. Although exam 1 scores were positively associated with the prerequisite grades, the association did not continue for exam 2 or the overall course grades. In this context, the disadvantage for the students with lower prerequisite course grades was overcome by the end of the semester. One possible explanation for this is that the attenuation of the significant association over the semester might be related to what and how students and faculty contribute to the learning process. The faculty might have put more effort into helping the students with lower prerequisite grades, and at the same time, those students might have sought more academic support from the faculty. However, future research is needed to verify these claims. It also needs to be reiterated that all participating students in this study had at least a B-grade in their prerequisite statistics course, as this was an admission requirement. Therefore, the absence of the correlation over time may not apply to candidates who earned lower than B- in their prerequisite course. Nevertheless, our study findings highlight the necessity for evidence-based criteria regarding statistics requirements, which may differ from current DNP admission practices in many programs.

It is noteworthy that we did not find a difference in students' performance whether they met the prerequisite requirements or took an alternative overview course. A faculty-supervised, 1-month, self-paced, online statistics overview course was as effective in preparing the students for the DNP statistics course as a statistics course taken as a prerequisite. The effectiveness of the statistics overview course presents a novel avenue

diverging from the conventional statistics prerequisite in DNP programs. This pathway allows these programs to gauge the readiness of students for their enrollment in an advanced graduate-level statistics course within the program itself, eliminating the need for them to undertake an additional statistics course before joining the program. Also, this strategic initiative has the potential to foster greater equity and inclusivity within DNP program learning cohorts. By affording students the chance to familiarize themselves with essential content over a condensed timeframe, the approach eliminates the necessity of seeking an external course. Providing such an overview course after students are admitted, rather than requiring them to take an external course as a prerequisite to admission, can align with and strengthen increasing diversity, equity, and inclusion efforts at academic institutions. Our study had several limitations. The study sample size was small and recruited from one DNP program. We also did not collect data on potential confounding variables such as student sociodemographics (age, social support, work status, etc) and their academic tracks (part-time and full-time). Further research is needed to explore whether and how these student characteristics influence the outcomes. Also, collaborative or comparative studies with other health care education programs can be conducted to gain insights from diverse perspectives.

In conclusion, we did not find evidence to support requiring candidates to complete a statistics prerequisite course for admission within a fixed number of years. Instead, there is a need to establish evidence-based criteria regarding statistics requirements. Alternatively, offering a statistics overview course can be an effective way to prepare students for a higher-level statistics course in DNP programs. With support, students have the potential to achieve desirable learning outcomes.

# Acknowledgments

We thank Austin Stajduhar at the University of Virginia School of Nursing for retrieving and providing study data. This work was supported by the Margaret G. Tyson Innovative Teaching Award.

# **Data Availability**

The datasets generated during and/or analyzed during this study are not publicly available due to confidentiality.

# **Authors' Contributions**

HDB conceptualized the study, conducted data analysis, and took the main role in writing the manuscript. SP collected data, performed data analysis and interpretation, and drafted and revised the manuscript. BAQ contributed to data collection and critically revised the manuscript. JT and LBW contributed to the conception and design of the study and critically revised the manuscript.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

American Association of Colleges of Nursing. The state of doctor of nursing practice education in 2022. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aacnnursing.org/Portals/42/News/Surveys-Data/State-of-the-DNP-Summary-Report-June-2022.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-08-02]

- Molassiotis A, Wang T, Hoang HTX, Tan JY, Yamamoto-Mitani N, Cheng KF, et al. Doctoral nursing education in East and Southeast Asia: characteristics of the programs and students' experiences of and satisfaction with their studies. BMC Med Educ 2020;20:1-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-020-02060-1] [Medline: 32384895]
- 3. American Association of Colleges of Nursing. The essentials of doctoral education for advanced nursing practice. 2006. URL: <u>https://www.aacnnursing.org/Portals/42/Publications/DNPEssentials.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-08-02]
- 4. Kuerban A. Statistic methods used in scholarly projects of doctor of nursing practice graduates. International Journal of Nursing & Clinical Practices 2018;5:1-2. [doi: 10.15344/2394-4978/2018/276]
- 5. Kuerban A. Biostatistics course in postmaster doctor of nursing practice programs. Journal of Nursing Education and Practice 2016;7(3):26-31. [doi: 10.5430/jnep.v7n3p26]
- Costa LL, Bingham D, Storr CL, Hammersla M, Martin J, Seckman C. Development of a DNP measurement grid to increase the rigor of doctor of nursing practice students' data collection and analysis methods. J Prof Nurs 2020;36(6):666-672. [doi: 10.1016/j.profnurs.2020.09.006] [Medline: <u>33308569</u>]
- 7. Wolcott MD, Reside JM, Bobbitt LJ, Quinonez RB. Characterization of school of dentistry prerequisite courses and recommendations for admission. J Dent Educ 2021;85(3):293-299. [doi: <u>10.1002/jdd.12460</u>] [Medline: <u>33094508</u>]
- 8. Chesnut R, Anderson GW, Buncher O, Dietrich MA, Rosenberg JM, Ross LJ. Are prerequisite courses barriers to pharmacy admission or the keys to student success? Am J Pharm Educ 2022;86(10):1059-1063 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5688/ajpe8920] [Medline: 35165094]
- 9. Grace JT, D'Aoust R. Evidence-based program requirements: evaluation of statistics as a required course. Nurs Educ Perspect 2006;27(1):28-33. [Medline: <u>16613129</u>]
- Lysaght R, Donnelly C, Villeneuve M. Factors predicting applicant outcomes in occupational therapy education. Can J Occup Ther 2009;76(1):38-47. [doi: <u>10.1177/000841740907600110</u>] [Medline: <u>19341021</u>]
- 11. Mancuso JM, Udlis KA. Doctor of nursing practice programs across the United States: a benchmark of information. J Prof Nurs 2012;28(5):274-283. [doi: 10.1016/j.profnurs.2012.01.002] [Medline: 23006649]
- 12. IBM SPSS. SPSS statistics for Windows. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.ibm.com/products/spss-statistics</u> [accessed 2024-08-08]

# Abbreviations

AACN: American Association of Colleges of Nursing DET: duration of elapsed time DNP: Doctor of Nursing Practice

Edited by H Ahn; submitted 28.02.24; peer-reviewed by D Sherry, S Al Mukhtar; comments to author 19.03.24; revised version received 27.06.24; accepted 22.07.24; published 09.09.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Byon HD, Park S, Quatrara BA, Taggart J, Wheeler LB Examining the Evidence on the Statistics Prerequisite for Admission to Doctor of Nursing Practice Programs: Retrospective Cohort Study Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e57187 URL: <u>https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e57187</u> doi:10.2196/57187 PMID:39250220

©Ha Do Byon, Sunbok Park, Beth A Quatrara, Jessica Taggart, Lindsay Buford Wheeler. Originally published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal (https://apinj.jmir.org), 09.09.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://apinj.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Factors That Affect the Quality of Life of Mothers Caring for Children With Medical Needs at Home: Cross-Sectional Questionnaire Study

Kanako Nakamura<sup>1</sup>, MSN; Yuko Hamada<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Ayaka Fujita<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD; Seiichi Morokuma<sup>4</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Fukuoka Jo Gakuin Nursing University, Koga City, Japan

<sup>2</sup>Department of Nursing, Faculty of Nursing, Shimonoseki City University, Shimonoseki, Japan

<sup>4</sup>Department of Health Sciences, Graduate School of Medical Sciences, Kyushu University, Fukuoka City, Japan

# **Corresponding Author:**

Kanako Nakamura, MSN Fukuoka Jo Gakuin Nursing University 1-1-7 Chidori Koga City, 811-3113 Japan Phone: 81 92 943 4174 Fax: 81 92 940 2341 Email: <u>k\_nakamura@fukujo.ac.jp</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** The number of children requiring daily medical care is on the rise, with many being cared for at home. This situation places a significant burden on mothers, who often serve as the primary caregivers.

**Objective:** This study aimed to clarify the factors that affect the quality of life of mothers with children who require home health care.

**Methods:** A questionnaire study was conducted among mothers of children needing medical care at home, with 46 participants responding. The questionnaire included items regarding the child's condition, the mother's situation, and the World Health Organization Quality of Life-26scale.

**Results:** Factors influencing the quality of life of mothers included whether the child attended daycare or school ( $\beta$ =.274; *P*=.04), the duration of home care ( $\beta$ =.305; *P*=.02), and the presence or absence of position changes ( $\beta$ =-.410; *P*=.003). The presence or absence of position changes had the most significant impact (adjusted *R*<sup>2</sup>=.327).

**Conclusions:** The most significant factor affecting the quality of life of mothers of children requiring home medical care is the presence or absence of positional changes.

(Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e63946) doi:10.2196/63946

# KEYWORDS

home care; children with special health care needs; children with medical complexity; mother; quality of life; caregiver; questionnaire

# Introduction

Children requiring medical care are those who, owing to medical advancements, continue to need medical care interventions such as suctioning secretions and tube feeding after long-term hospitalization in units like the neonatal intensive care unit. These children often rely on medical devices such as ventilators and gastrostomy tubes daily [1]. In the United States, children

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e63946

RenderX

with special health care needs were defined in 1998 as those who have or are at increased risk for chronic physical, developmental, behavioral, or emotional conditions and require health and related services beyond what is generally required by children [2]. This definition includes children with congenital or acquired multisystem diseases, those with severe neurological conditions with significant functional impairments, and those who may require medical devices for daily life. These children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Cicely Saunders Institute of Palliative Care, Policy & Rehabilitation, Florence Nightingale Faculty of Nursing, Midwifery & Palliative Care, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

are classified as having medical complexity and are medically fragile, with various intensive care needs that cannot be easily met by existing medical models [3].

Advancements in perinatal and neonatal medicine have increased the number of children whose lives are saved. In Japan, the number of children requiring medical care has doubled over the past decade, reaching 20,000 nationwide [1]. Many of these children, such as those using ventilators, are discharged directly from the neonatal intensive care unit to home [4].

The Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare's Report on the Actual Conditions of Children Requiring Medical Care and Their Families reveals that 94% of caregivers are mothers and 5.3% are fathers, indicating that mothers are primarily responsible for care. It also reports that numerous families are nuclear, suggesting that the caregiving burden is heavily concentrated on mothers [5]. These children often require not only life-sustaining medical procedures but also observation and care for symptoms unique to their condition to maintain stability, making it difficult for others to take over the mother's role [6]. Consequently, mothers bear a significant burden and are often responsible for coordinating various social resources, including medical, welfare, educational, and public health services [6]. Despite insufficient support systems, families are primarily responsible for providing care. Matsui [5] found that the combined percentage of families who reported "agree" or "somewhat agree" to various lifestyle concerns was high: 71.1% for "chronic sleep deprivation," 70.4% for "feeling strong anxiety about not knowing how long this will continue," 69.7% for "unable to visit a medical institution when their own health deteriorates," and 68% for "daily life is a continuous state of tension." These high percentages indicate that their daily lives are continuously tense, sleep deprived, and anxious. This finding shows that mothers of children who require medical care experience significant caregiving and emotional burdens.

Furuya et al [7] have revealed that the quality of life (QOL) of parents of children with severe conditions tends to be generally low, influenced by the high caregiving burden at home. Senses Dinc et al [8] also reported that parents of children with Down syndrome have lower QOL than mothers of healthy children. They noted that the birth of a child with Down syndrome resulted in increased expenses and reduced participation in social and personal leisure activities, potentially affecting the mother's QOL. In addition, factors that lower the subjective QOL of mothers of children with severe physical and intellectual disabilities at home include the child's deteriorating health, decisions regarding treatment for secondary disabilities, the burden of dual caregiving for both parents and children, and anxiety over the mothers declining caregiving capacity. Conversely, factors that enhance subjective QOL include a sense of the child's growth, social connections, fulfillment from reclaiming the mother's social role, and family support during critical situations [9]. While there are scattered reports on the QOL of mothers of children with disabilities, few have specifically clarified the characteristics of the QOL of mothers of children requiring medical care. Comprehending these characteristics is crucial for providing support to improve their QOL. Therefore, this study had the following objective: to

XSL•FC

identify factors influencing the QOL of mothers of children requiring home medical care.

# Methods

# **Study Participants**

This study targeted mothers aged 20 years and older who had children (aged 3-12 years) requiring home medical care from late infancy to school age. To avoid imposing an excessive burden due to the home care situation and the child's condition, mothers for whom the survey would be overly burdensome were excluded. In addition, mothers with multiple children requiring home medical care were excluded, as their sense of burden was expected to differ. Children who require medical care are often discharged from the hospital after about 6 months to a year, and in a survey of children who had been receiving home care for less than a year and a half, the majority of the children were aged between 1 and 3 years [10]. Based on this, we decided that the lower age limit of the children should be 3 years, as this is the age at which they would be familiar with childcare and home care. We also decided that the upper age limit of the children should be 12 years, as this is the age at which they would be in elementary school, based on their physical size and the school system.

# Recruitment

The study was conducted in Fukuoka Prefecture, Japan, a region with a population of 5 million, including an area with 1 million residents. The target population was children requiring medical care and their families who are supported by pediatric home care through home-visit nursing stations and clinics. The study content was elucidated to these facilities, which were then asked to select eligible mothers and distribute the questionnaires. The questionnaires were anonymous and self-administered, with respondents instructed to return them by mail. The survey period was from April to September 2016.

#### **Survey Items**

This study was based on research into the factors that increase the burden of caring for a child [7], research into the factors that reduce QOL [8], and research into the factors that improve QOL [9]. The research framework was set up and the survey was conducted by focusing on the mother's situation, including the sense of burden of child-rearing, and the child's situation, including medical care, as factors related to the mother's QOL.

The survey included the following: the child's situation (age, disease, required medical care, daily life support, possession of a disability certificate, daycare or school attendance at nursery or regular school, and duration of home care) and the mother's situation (age group, marital status, presence of cohabiting grandparents, presence of siblings of the child requiring medical care, occupation, household income, education level, and time spent caring for the child requiring medical care).

QOL was assessed using the Japanese version of the World Health Organization Quality of Life-26 (WHOQOL-26) [11], which has been verified for reliability and validity. The WHOQOL-26 defines QOL as "an individual's perception of their position in life in the context of the culture and value

systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards, and concerns." While there are various scales with high reliability and validity for measuring QOL, this study adopted the concept of QOL, defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) as "a state of complete physical, mental, and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity." Therefore, the WHOQOL-26 was used, aligning with this interpretation. The WHOQOL-26 consists of 26 items, including 24 items across 4 domains (physical, psychological, social relationships, and environment) and 2 items that ask about the overall QOL. It seeks subjective judgments from the respondents. The physical domain includes activities of daily living, dependence on medication and medical aids, energy and fatigue, mobility, pain and discomfort, sleep and rest, as well as work capacity. The psychological domain includes body image, negative feelings, positive feelings, self-esteem, spirituality, religion, personal beliefs, thinking, learning, memory, and concentration. Social relationships include personal relationships, social support, and sexual activity. The environmental domain encompasses financial resources, freedom, physical safety and security, accessibility, quality of health and social care, home environment, opportunities to acquire new information and skills, participation in and opportunities for recreation and leisure activities, living environment, as well as means of transport. The respondents were asked to reflect on their circumstances over the past 2 weeks. Responses are given on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (not at all) to 5 (very much). Higher scores indicated a higher QOL. Cronbach  $\alpha$  for the WHOQOL-26 ranged from 0.66 to 0.84.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Participant and child attributes, children's medical care, and WHOQOL-26 scale scores were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney U test. The correlation between the caregiving burden scale and WHOQOL-26 was analyzed using Spearman rank correlation analysis. A multiple regression analysis was conducted for items exhibiting significant differences. The

multiple regression analysis confirmed no multicollinearity between the independent variables, with no variables having a variance inflation factor exceeding 5. The statistical software used for these analyses was JMP Pro 15 (JMP Statistical Discovery LLC).

# **Ethical Considerations**

This study was conducted with the approval of the Clinical Research Ethics Review Committee of the Regional Department of Medical Care, to which the author was affiliated (2019-191). Participation in the questionnaire survey was voluntary and anonymous, and consent was obtained through the completion and return of the questionnaire.

# Results

# **Participant Attributes**

Table 1 shows the characteristics of the participants. Questionnaires were distributed to mothers providing home care to children requiring medical care. Responses from those not providing medical care (including bedridden care) or from grandparents were excluded, resulting in 46 mothers being included in the analysis. The average age of the 46 children was 5.8 (SD 2.3) years. Children's conditions varied widely, with epilepsy (n=19, 41%) and cerebral palsy (n=16, 35%) being the most common. In addition, 23 (50%) children had two or more conditions, indicating that numerous children had multiple medical issues. Regarding disability certificates, 45 (98%) children had an identification booklet for individuals with physical disabilities, which was issued when a person was judged to have a certain level of physical disability and enabled access to welfare services, such as medical expense subsidies, tax benefits, and discounts on public transportation. In addition, 34 (74%) children had an identification booklet for individuals with intellectual disabilities, which enables access to similar welfare services as the identification booklet for individuals with physical disabilities. Numerous children have obtained both certificates.



Table 1. Participant attributes (N=46).

Participant attributes	Value, n (%)
Mother's age group (years)	
20s	5 (11)
30s	23 (50)
40s	18 (39)
Marital status	
Married	42 (91)
Other	4 (9)
Siblings	
Yes	37 (80)
No	9 (20)
Cohabiting grandparents	
Yes	9 (20)
No	37 (80)
Occupational status	
Yes	11 (24)
No	35 (76)
Household income (JP ¥10,000 <sup>a</sup> )	
≤400	15 (33)
400 or more	29 (63)
Missing data	2 (4)
Child's age (years)	
3-5	22 (48)
6-9	23 (50)
Missing data	1 (2)
Daycare or school attendance	
Yes	35 (76)
No	10 (22)
Missing data	1 (2)
Home medical care period (years)	
<5	19 (41)
5 or more	25 (54)
Missing data	2 (4)
Hospitalization	
Yes	27 (59)
No	19 (41)

<sup>a</sup>US \$1=JP ¥105 on average from April to September 2016.

# **Characteristics of QOL**

# Attributes of Mothers and Children and Their QOL

Table 2 shows the attributes of research participants and children, and WHOQOL-26 scores. Analysis of the attributes of mothers and children and their QOL revealed significant disparities in QOL scores based on certain attributes. Significant

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e63946

XSL•FO RenderX disparities were observed between marital status and social relationships QOL (P=.03); between children's age and physical QOL (P=.007); between daycare or school attendance and WHOQOL-26 score (P=.03) and environmental QOL (P=.04); between duration of home care and WHOQOL-26 score (P=.005), physical QOL (P=.007), and environmental QOL (P=.007); and between psychomotor developmental delay and

physical QOL (P=.04). The WHOQOL-26 scores were significantly higher for the group with daycare or school attendance (P=.03) and for those with a home care duration of 5 years or more (P=.005). Physical QOL was significantly higher in children aged 3-5 years (P=.007), those with a home care duration of less than 5 years (P=.007), and those with psychomotor developmental delay (P=.04). Environmental QOL was significantly higher in the group with daycare or school attendance (P=.04) and in those with a home care duration of less than 5 years (P=.007). Regarding the duration of home care, while the WHOQOL-26 scores were higher for those with a duration of 5 years or more (P=.005), the physical and environmental QOL scores were higher for those with a duration of less than 5 years (both P=.007).



Table 2.	2. Attributes of research participants or children and WHOQOL-26 <sup>a</sup> scores (Kruskal-Wallis	s test for mother's age group and	Mann-Whitney U
test for ot	others).		

Attributes	Participants (N=46), n (%)	WHO QOL- 26 score	P val- ue	Physi- cal QOL <sup>b</sup>	P val- ue	Psycho- logical QOL	P val- ue	Environ- mental QOL	P val- ue	Social rela- tion- ship QOL	P val- ue	Overall QOL (2 items)	P val- ue
Mother's age group (	(years)		.50		.21		.77		.47		.70		.54
20s	5 (11)	3.31		3.51		3.20		3.25		3.27		3.20	
30s	23 (50)	3.15		3.20		3.27		2.96		3.49		2.80	
40s	18 (39)	3.03		2.99		3.12		2.92		3.46		2.75	
Marital status			.89		.61		.54		.49		.03		.80
Married	42 (91)	3.12		3.14		3.22		2.96		3.50		2.82	
Other	4 (9)	3.11		3.29		3.04		3.09		3.00		2.88	
Siblings			.87		.90		.38		.11		>.99		.91
Yes	37 (80)	3.10		3.13		3.24		2.91		3.45		2.82	
No	9 (20)	3.20		3.23		3.08		3.25		3.48		2.83	
Cohabiting grandpar	rents		.39		.75		.42		.45		.04		.53
Yes	9 (20)	2.99		3.10		3.06		2.82		3.22		2.72	
No	37 (80)	3.15		3.16		3.24		3.01		3.51		2.85	
Occupation			.28		.69		.40		.18		.83		.55
Yes	11 (24)	3.28		3.29		3.33		3.15		3.45		2.95	
No	35 (76)	3.07		3.11		3.16		2.92		3.46		2.79	
Household income (J	(P ¥10,000 <sup>c</sup> )		.71		.09		.42		.60		.27		.22
≤400	15 (34)	3.15		3.32		3.29		2.87		3.33		3.00	
400 or more	29 (66)	3.07		3.03		3.12		2.98		3.51		2.69	
Child's age (years)			.11		.007		.54		.31		.31		.22
3-5	22 (49)	3.23		3.36		3.29		3.04		3.53		2.93	
6-9	23 (51)	2.98		2.91		3.10		2.88		3.39		2.70	
Daycare or school at	tendance		.03		.22		.25		.04		.14		.54
Yes	35 (76)	3.17		3.18		3.25		3.06		3.50		2.86	
No	10 (22)	2.87		2.97		3.00		2.58		3.30		2.65	
Home medical care p	oeriod (years)	)	.005		.007		.07		.007		.35		.10
<5	19 (41)	2.94		3.43		3.40		3.23		3.54		2.97	
5 or more	25 (54)	3.34		2.93		3.50		2.79		3.39		2.60	
Hospitalization			.14		.10		.15		.68		.13		.30
Yes	27 (59)	3.03		3.02		3.09		2.95		3.36		2.72	
No	19 (41)	3.24		3.33		3.36		3.02		3.60		2.97	
Psychomotor develop	omental delay	y	.06		.04		.15		.051		.41		.55
Yes	10 (22)	3.37		3.49		3.45		3.27		3.50		2.90	
No	36 (78)	3.05		3.06		3.14		2.89		3.44		2.81	
Multiple diseases			.40		.89		.59		.46		.79		.27
Yes	21 (46)	3.16		3.17		3.23		3.03		3.48		2.98	
No	25 (54)	3.09		3.13		3.19		2.93		3.44		2.70	

<sup>a</sup>WHOQOL-26: World Health Organization Quality of Life-26.

XSL•FO RenderX

<sup>b</sup>QOL: quality of life.

<sup>c</sup>US \$1=JP ¥105 on average from April to September 2016.

# Medical Care for Child and Mother's QOL

Children's medical care and mothers' QOL are represented in Table 3. The Mann-Whitney U test was conducted to examine the relationship between the medical care situation of the children and the QOL of the mothers. Significant disparities

were observed in the WHOQOL-26 scores, with the group not requiring position changes scoring higher than the group that did (P=.003). Among the various aspects of medical care, the presence or absence of positional changes exhibited the most significant disparities in QOL (from P=.02 to P=.003).

Table 3. Medical care for child and mother's QOL<sup>a</sup> (Mann-Whitney U test).

Medical care	Participants (N=46), n (%)	WHO- QOL-26 <sup>b</sup>	P val- ue	Physi- cal QOL	P val- ue	Psy- cholog- ical QOL	P val- ue	Environ- mental QOL	P val- ue	Social rela- tion- ship QOL	P val- ue	Overall QOL (2 items)	P val- ue
Ventilator us	e		.80		.31		.39		.87		.47		.41
Yes	8 (17)	3.14		3.00		3.36		2.96		3.58		3.06	
No	36 (78)	3.11		3.16		3.18		2.99		3.42		2.76	
Tracheotomy	site care		.87		.60		.28		.82		.09		.94
Yes	14 (30)	3.17		3.07		3.37		3.02		3.64		2.82	
No	30 (65)	3.09		3.16		3.14		2.97		3.36		2.82	
Oxygen inha	lation		.28		.21		.28		.35		.86		.16
Yes	15 (33)	2.99		2.95		3.05		2.91		3.47		2.60	
No	30 (65)	3.18		3.23		3.28		3.02		3.44		2.93	
Inhalation			.08		.002		.22		.36		.67		.06
Yes	31 (67)	3.03		2.95		3.14		2.93		3.48		2.68	
No	13 (28)	3.32		3.55		3.39		3.11		3.36		3.15	
Aspiration			.58		.22		.45		.67		.57		.51
Yes	31 (67)	3.08		3.08		3.15		2.96		3.48		2.79	
No	14 (30)	3.20		3.28		3.30		3.05		3.38		2.89	
Position char	nge		.003		.003		.03		.02		.07		.19
Yes	23 (50)	2.92		2.88		3.02		2.81		3.30		2.65	
No	21 (46)	3.34		3.46		3.47		3.16		3.62		2.98	
Care for gast	trostomy or enter	ostomy	.81		.12		.77		.89		.42		.97
Yes	14 (30)	3.09		2.94		3.25		3.02		3.55		2.79	
No	28 (61)	3.14		3.24		3.22		2.98		3.39		2.80	
Feeding tube	;		.08		.004		.40		.24		.71		.78
Yes	29 (63)	3.02		2.94		3.14		2.92		3.43		2.79	
No	14 (30)	3.31		3.53		3.34		3.14		3.48		2.80	

<sup>a</sup>QOL: quality of life.

<sup>b</sup>WHOQOL-26: World Health Organization Quality of Life-26.

# Factors that Affect WHOQOL-26 scores

Table 4 shows the predictors of QOL in mothers of children with medical care.

XSL•FO RenderX

, D

Variable	β	t	P value
Presence or absence of daycare or school attendance	.274	2.13	.04
Home medical care period (2 groups)	.305	2.33	.02
Presence or absence of position change	410	-3.16	.003

<sup>a</sup>QOL: quality of life.

 ${}^{b}F=7.79 \ (P<.001); adjusted R^{2}=.327.$ 

The significant factors influencing the WHOQOL-26 scores were examined based on the scores, attributes of the mothers and children, and the presence or absence of medical care, considering previous research findings. Three independent variables-daycare or school attendance, 2 groups of home care periods, and the presence or absence of position changes-were entered into the multiple regression analysis, with the WHOQOL-26 scores as the dependent variable. The variance inflation factor values of the independent variables were all below 5, indicating no multicollinearity. The presence or absence of daycare or school attendance (P=.04), home care periods (P=.02), and the presence or absence of position changes (P=.003) all had a significant impact on WHOQOL-26 scores. Position changes, home care periods, and the presence or absence of daycare or school attendance influenced the WHOQOL-26 scores, with position changes having the greatest impact.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

In this study, we used the WHOQOL-26 scale to examine the QOL of mothers caring for children who require medical care at home. Standard data for the WHOQOL-26 scale were obtained from random population samples [11]. Compared with these standard data, the WHOQOL-26 scores of mothers caring for children requiring medical care at home were lower than those of the general population.

# Factors Related to the QOL of Mothers of Children Requiring Medical Care at Home

Multiple regression analysis identified factors influencing the WHOQOL-26 scores, including the presence or absence of daycare or school attendance, duration of home care, and presence or absence of position changes. The following section examines these factors.

# **Daycare or School Attendance**

The WHOQOL-26 scores were significantly higher in the group with daycare or school attendance. Daycare or school attendance provides not only connections between the family and health care providers but also social connections with families of similar children and educators. These factors are believed to contribute to improvements in maternal QOL.

Matsuzawa et al [12] cited a "Lack of opportunities to seek advice or obtain information" as one of the challenges experienced by parents of children requiring medical care. They reported limited interactions with other family members and insufficient opportunities for consultation with their children.

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e63946
```

Daycare or school attendance contributes to obtaining opportunities for advice and information, as well as alleviating challenges through interactions with other families. It is, therefore, considered a significant contributing factor to enhancing maternal QOL.

Furthermore, through daycare or school attendance, children can receive appropriate therapy and education to promote their growth and development. In addition, there have been reports [13] of children wishing to experience as many external activities as possible while staying healthy, indicating the importance of parents in promoting their children's growth and development through experiences outside the home. Daycare or school attendance encourages children's growth and development, resulting in mothers feeling satisfied with their children's growth and development, thus enhancing their parenting satisfaction. Furthermore, through daycare or school attendance, parents may receive advice from experts on signs of growth that are not easily noticed under normal circumstances, leading to joy for parents and contributing to the enhancement of maternal QOL.

# **Duration of Home Care**

With regards to the duration of home care, significantly higher WHOQOL-26 scores were obtained in the group with a duration of 5 years or more. It is possible that through continued long-term home care, there is stabilization of the child's health condition as a result of improvement in the child's growth and the family's management abilities. In their study on factors influencing the empowerment of mothers of children with disabilities during home care, Noguchi and Ohmachi [14] reported that a longer duration from diagnosis was significantly associated with higher levels of maternal empowerment. In this study, it is considered that the duration of home care, which correlates with the length of time from diagnosis, is related to a high level of maternal empowerment, resulting in significantly higher WHOQOL-26 scores in the group with a duration of 5 years or more of home care. Baker and Claridge [15] stated that numerous mothers found the transition period post their child's diagnosis to be very difficult and stressful. However, most families were able to establish new daily routines and felt that they could manage their children's illness. Therefore, it is believed that creating a life together as a family with a child receiving medical care may lead to stabilization in life. These findings suggest that patients with longer periods of home care may ultimately experience improvements in their QOL.

However, it should be noted that this study targeted young mothers ranging from 20 to 40 years of age, while the children's ages were aged 12 years and younger. Considering the

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

possibility of a lighter body weight during growth and development, mothers might not perceive home care as a significant burden. Research on the duration of home care is limited, and further studies on these factors are needed.

# **Position Changes**

In the context of caring for children examined in this study, a significant association was found between the necessity of positional changes and the QOL of mothers. This association was substantial and treated with the same importance as other medical care items in the study.

Matsui and Takada [16] reported that managing artificial ventilation, aspiration, and injections for children with severe disability during the night increased mothers' caregiving burden. However, they did not find significant disparities in assistance with excretion or position changes, suggesting that these tasks were perceived as extensions of child-rearing. In this study, position changes exhibited a significant association with mothers' QOL, likely because, unlike typical child-rearing tasks that diminish as children grow, the need for positional care persists. In addition, as children's bodies change, meticulous care for contractures, fractures, and pressure ulcers becomes necessary, adding a substantial burden and impacting maternal QOL.

Kaya et al [17] reported a higher prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders among caregivers of children with cerebral palsy compared to those of healthy children. Although this study did not identify specific contributing factors, it is conceivable that conditions like lower back pain in mothers would exacerbate their burden, significantly affecting their QOL. Other research [18] highlighted the cumulative fatigue characteristics among mothers raising children with disabilities who require home medical care. These mothers experienced higher levels of cumulative fatigue than the general female population, with no seasonal or temporal variations, and many consistently reported higher average values throughout the year than the average complaint rate among the general female population. Therefore, comprehending caregivers' medical history and fatigue status is crucial, and there is a need for more research on interventions to improve caregivers' physical functioning in the future [19].

While other studies have investigated items related to medical care, little focus has been given to positional changes. Compared with the use of ventilators or oxygen inhalation, the significant impact on QOL may be less apparent. However, position changes require care approximately every 2 hours, including during the night, leading to significant time constraints and the inability to secure adequate sleep. Consequently, positional changes have a substantial impact on QOL. It is essential to consider this when discussing necessary support for the child and family, and such discussions should be conducted collaboratively with the family.

# Support Toward Improving the QOL of Mothers of Children Requiring Medical Care at Home

The findings of this study show that the QOL of mothers caring for children requiring medical care at home is related to whether the child attends school or daycare, the duration of home care, and the necessity for positional changes. In addition, it was

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e63946
```

associated with a sense of caregiving burden. Caregivers must comprehend these factors as related elements and focus on collecting relevant information to consider the necessary support. However, previous studies have reported that services are still insufficient in this regard [6,13].

In 2021, a law was enacted to support children requiring medical care and their families [20]. This law explicitly identifies children requiring medical care as a legal category that enables structured support. Measures, such as the placement of nurses in daycare centers and schools to accommodate these children, as well as subsidy systems, have been established, which are expected to enhance the caregiving environment for children and reduce the caregiving burden on families. Similar to Japan, Caicedo [21] noted that the transition to home care is progressing in the United States, and support systems are needed. The study reported that among 3 groups-home care only, home care with the use of daycare, and institutional care-the home care-only group faced significant threats to physical and mental health [21], underscoring the substantial burden of home care alone. This finding aligns with trends in South Korea and Japan; mothers typically bear the sole responsibility for caring for children with disabilities [22], reflecting a global recognition of the substantial burden on these mothers and the need for robust support systems. Sharing and adapting support strategies across countries is crucial to provide effective assistance to mothers in each nation. Suzuki et al [23] reported that care coordination by nurses could alleviate the burden on parents resulting from home medical care for children who require medical devices. Using various support systems and having nurses assume care coordination roles are anticipated to further reduce the burden on parents, improving their QOL and overall well-being.

Regarding the QOL of mothers based on the condition of their children, a study on the QOL of mothers with children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder [24] reported that the mother's QOL was not associated with the child's inattentiveness or hyperactivity symptoms as evaluated by the mother but with factors related to the mother and family, including the mother's own inattentiveness, hyperactivity, depressive symptoms, perceived family support, and living conditions. Similarly, this study found that the presence of multiple medical conditions in children requiring medical care, intellectual developmental delays, and the need for severe care such as mechanical ventilation or oxygen therapy did not significantly correlate with the mother's QOL. This aligns with previous research, suggesting that the child's symptoms are not necessarily the most significant factors affecting the mother's QOL, which caregivers must comprehend. However, previous research has indicated that the more severe a child's functional limitations, the more likely the mother is to experience depression [25]. It has been reported that parents who care for children with tracheostomies at home have low QOL scores and show moderate levels of distress [26]. This suggests that a child's condition can have a significant impact on the mother and that it is crucial to recognize the complexity of assessing a mother's QOL based solely on the child's condition. In order to provide high-quality care coordination for the family with children with a medical complexity, care coordinators need to

XSL•FO RenderX

pay attention to the evaluation and care planning of the entire family, especially the mother, who is the main caregiver in Japan [27]. Few countries take into account the opinions of families when formulating policies and national frameworks for providing care for children who use long-term ventilators [28]. It is important to properly assess the QOL of mothers, support them while taking into account the opinions of their families, and consider support for the whole country.

# Limitations

One of the limitations of this study was the small sample size, which limited the statistical power of the analysis.

Second, the adjusted  $R^2$  value of the multiple regression analysis was 0.327, indicating that the related factors did not fully

elucidate the variance in the results, suggesting that other factors should be explored.

To address the disadvantages of a prior fragmented administration across different ministries, the Children and Families Agency was established in 2023, focusing on supporting children and their families. Given that this study was conducted before the law was enacted, it can serve as a reference for future comparative studies.

# Conclusions

Factors related to the QOL of these mothers included the presence of daycare or school attendance ( $\beta$ =.274), the length of home care ( $\beta$ =.305), and the need for postural changes ( $\beta$ =.41). The need for postural changes was found to have the most significant effect.

# Acknowledgments

We would like to express our gratitude to the facilities that cooperated in data collection for this study and to the mothers who participated. This work was supported by JSPS KAKENHI grant JP 25871007.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- 1. Act on support for children receiving medical care and their families. Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. URL: <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/content/12601000/000794739.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-05-31]
- 2. McPherson M, Arango P, Fox H, Lauver C, McManus M, Newacheck PW, et al. A new definition of children with special health care needs. Pediatrics 1998;102(1 Pt 1):137-140. [doi: 10.1542/peds.102.1.137] [Medline: 9714637]
- Cohen E, Kuo DZ, Agrawal R, Berry JG, Bhagat SKM, Simon TD, et al. Children with medical complexity: an emerging population for clinical and research initiatives. Pediatrics 2011;127(3):529-538 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-0910] [Medline: 21339266]
- Funamoto J, Ohnishi F, Torii K. The study on the involvement of parents and professionals in the transition process of home care for severely physically and mentally disabled children or patients requiring medical care [Article in Japanese]. J Japan Pediatr Soc 2017;121(7):1294-1302 [FREE Full text]
- 5. Matsui Y. Examination of the results of the "Children receiving medical care and their family life survey report" by the the Ministry of health, Labor and Welfare and I after subsequent legal support [Article in Japanese]. Niigata J Health Welf 2022;21(3):92-99 [FREE Full text]
- 6. Miyazaki T, Kawase H, Kimura M. Child-rearing stress in mothers raising children requiring medical care at home: from mothers' narratives [Article in Japanese]. J Severe Motor Intellect Disabil 2021;46(1):77-85 [FREE Full text]
- 7. Furuya S, Yamazaki Y, Shishikura K. Study on the expectations for the future of their child, and quality of life of mothers of persons with severe motor and intellectual disabilities living at home and related factors [Article in Japanese]. J Severe Motor Intellect Disabil 2016;41(3):379-391 [FREE Full text]
- 8. Senses Dinc G, Cop E, Tos T, Sari E, Senel S. Mothers of 0-3-year-old children with down syndrome: effects on quality of life. Pediatr Int 2019;61(9):865-871. [doi: 10.1111/ped.13936] [Medline: 31267616]
- 9. Nishihara M, Yamazaki Y. Subjective QOL changes and associated factors in experiences of mothers nursing children (adults) with severe motor and intellectual disabilities at home [Article in Japanese]. J Severe Motor Intellect Disabil 2019;44(1):201-210 [FREE Full text]
- 10. Tachibana Y, Suzuki H. The feelings of the mothers conducting home medical care for their children who require medical care: focus on the mothers whose children have home medical care for less than one and half years [Article in Japanese]. JSCHN 2017;26:45-50 [FREE Full text]
- 11. Tasaki M, Nakane M. WHO /QOL-26 Guidelines. Tokyo, Japan: Kaneko Shobo; 2001:1-24.
- 12. Matsuzawa A, Shiroki Y, Arai J. Difficulties experienced in child-rearing among Japanese parents caring for children with medical technology dependence. J Child Health. Japanese 2021;80(1):75-83 [FREE Full text]
- 13. Asai K. A new social resources to encourage the growth and development of children having medical cares: focusing on the felt needs of a main caregiver [Article in Japanese]. J Child Health 2019;78(2):168-174 [FREE Full text]

- 14. Noguchi I, Ohmachi I. Factors that affect empowerment in mothers of children with special needs receiving homecare. Health Sci Res 2020:33-34 [FREE Full text]
- Baker K, Claridge AM. "I have a Ph.D. in my daughter": mother and child experiences of living with childhood chronic illness. J Child Fam Stud 2022:1-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10826-022-02506-8] [Medline: 36530562]
- 16. Matsui G, Takada S. The effects of sleep quality and medical care on the burden of mothers with severely physically handicapped children [Article in Japanese]. J Child Health 2013;72(4):508-513 [FREE Full text]
- Kaya K, Unsal-Delialioglu S, Ordu-Gokkaya NK, Ozisler Z, Ergun N, Ozel S, et al. Musculo-skeletal pain, quality of life and depression in mothers of children with cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil 2010;32(20):1666-1672. [doi: <u>10.3109/09638281003649912</u>] [Medline: <u>20170278</u>]
- 18. Miyazaki T, Kimura M. Characteristics of cumulative fatigue in mothers of disabled children requiring medical care at home. J Severe Motor Intellect Disabil 2018;43(3):425-432 [FREE Full text]
- Liu F, Shen Q, Huang M, Zhou H. Factors associated with caregiver burden among family caregivers of children with cerebral palsy: a systematic review. BMJ Open 2023;13(4):e065215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-065215] [Medline: 37012010]
- 20. The enactment of the law concerning support for children requiring medical care and their families. Children and Families Agency. URL: <u>https://www.cfa.go.jp/assets/contents/node/basic\_page/field\_ref\_resources/</u> 5218c3a3-610e-4925-8596-a9116889756f/55d6932e/20231013-policies-shougaijishien-care-ji-shien-000801676.pdf [accessed 2024-05-31]
- Caicedo C. Health and functioning of families of children with special health care needs cared for in home care, long-term care, and medical day care settings. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2015;36(5):352-361. [doi: <u>10.1097/DBP.000000000000167</u>] [Medline: <u>25933227</u>]
- 22. Lee MH, Matthews AK, Park C. Determinants of health-related quality of life among mothers of children with cerebral palsy. J Pediatr Nurs 2019;44:1-8. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2018.10.001] [Medline: 30683274]
- Suzuki S, Sato I, Emoto S, Kamibeppu K. Physio-psychological burdens and social restrictions on parents of children with technology dependency are associated with care coordination by nurses. J Pediatr Nurs 2017;36:124-131. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pedn.2017.06.006</u>] [Medline: <u>28888492</u>]
- 24. Chen VC, Yeh CJ, Lee TC, Chou J, Shao W, Shih D, et al. Symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and quality of life of mothers of school-aged children: the roles of child, mother, and family variables. Kaohsiung J Med Sci 2014;30(12):631-638 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.kjms.2014.09.001] [Medline: 25476102]
- 25. Sonune SP, Gaur AK, Shenoy A. Prevalence of depression and quality of life in primary caregiver of children with cerebral palsy. J Family Med Prim Care 2021;10(11):4205-4211. [doi: 10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc\_70\_21] [Medline: 35136790]
- 26. Joseph RA, Goodfellow LM, Simko LM. Parental quality of life: caring for an infant or toddler with a tracheostomy at home. Neonatal Netw 2014;33(2):86-94. [doi: 10.1891/0730-0832.33.2.86] [Medline: 24589900]
- 27. Matsuzawa A, Shiroki Y, Arai J, Hirasawa A. Care coordination for children with medical complexity in Japan: caregivers' perspectives. Child Care Health Dev 2020;46(4):436-444. [doi: 10.1111/cch.12767] [Medline: 32246855]
- 28. Brenner M, O'Shea MP, Larkin P, Berry J. Key constituents for integration of care for children assisted with long-term home ventilation: a European study. BMC Pediatr 2020;20(1):71. [doi: 10.1186/s12887-020-1979-4] [Medline: 32061253]

# Abbreviations

**QOL:** quality of life **WHO:** World Health Organization **WHOQOL-26:** World Health Organization Quality of Life-26

Edited by H Ahn; submitted 16.07.24; peer-reviewed by AS Farahani; comments to author 22.08.24; revised version received 12.10.24; accepted 06.11.24; published 18.12.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Nakamura K, Hamada Y, Fujita A, Morokuma S Factors That Affect the Quality of Life of Mothers Caring for Children With Medical Needs at Home: Cross-Sectional Questionnaire Study Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e63946 URL: https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e63946 doi:10.2196/63946 PMID:



©Kanako Nakamura, Yuko Hamada, Ayaka Fujita, Seiichi Morokuma. Originally published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal (https://apinj.jmir.org), 18.12.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://apinj.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.
# A Random Forest Algorithm for Assessing Risk Factors Associated With Chronic Kidney Disease: Observational Study

Pei Liu<sup>1\*</sup>, MSc; Yijun Liu<sup>2\*</sup>, BS; Hao Liu<sup>3\*</sup>, MSc; Linping Xiong<sup>2</sup>, MD, DSC; Changlin Mei<sup>4</sup>, MD; Lei Yuan<sup>2</sup>, BS

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics and Physics, Second Military Medical University, Shanghai, China

<sup>2</sup>Department of Health Management, Second Military Medical University, Shanghai, China

<sup>3</sup>Faculty of Health Service, Second Military Medical University, Shanghai, China

<sup>4</sup>Nephrology Department, Shanghai Changzheng Hospital, Shanghai, China

\*these authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Lei Yuan, BS Department of Health Management Second Military Medical University No.800 Xiangyin Road, Yangpu District, Shanghai, China Shanghai, 200433 China Phone: 86 15026929271 Email: <u>yuanleigz@163.com</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** The prevalence and mortality rate of chronic kidney disease (CKD) are increasing year by year, and it has become a global public health issue. The economic burden caused by CKD is increasing at a rate of 1% per year. CKD is highly prevalent and its treatment cost is high but unfortunately remains unknown. Therefore, early detection and intervention are vital means to mitigate the treatment burden on patients and decrease disease progression.

**Objective:** In this study, we investigated the advantages of using the random forest (RF) algorithm for assessing risk factors associated with CKD.

**Methods:** We included 40,686 people with complete screening records who underwent screening between January 1, 2015, and December 22, 2020, in Jing'an District, Shanghai, China. We grouped the participants into those with and those without CKD by staging based on the glomerular filtration rate staging and grouping based on albuminuria. Using a logistic regression model, we determined the relationship between CKD and risk factors. The RF machine learning algorithm was used to score the predictive variables and rank them based on their importance to construct a prediction model.

**Results:** The logistic regression model revealed that gender, older age, obesity, abnormal index estimated glomerular filtration rate, retirement status, and participation in urban employee medical insurance were significantly associated with the risk of CKD. On RF algorithm–based screening, the top 4 factors influencing CKD were age, albuminuria, working status, and urinary albumin-creatinine ratio. The RF model predicted an area under the receiver operating characteristic curve of 93.15%.

**Conclusions:** Our findings reveal that the RF algorithm has significant predictive value for assessing risk factors associated with CKD and allows the screening of individuals with risk factors. This has crucial implications for early intervention and prevention of CKD.

(Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e48378) doi:10.2196/48378

# KEYWORDS

chronic kidney disease; random forest model; risk factors; assessment

# Introduction

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is characterized by chronic structural and functional impairment of the kidney of >3 months, caused by various factors. CKD is diagnosed based on the

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e48378

RenderX

presence of pathological injury for more than 3 months, abnormal glomerular filtration rate (GFR), abnormal blood or urine composition, abnormal imaging findings, or an index estimated GFR (eGFR) of <60 mL/minute/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> [1]. CKD is a major global health concern. Between 1990 and 2015, the

annual mortality rate attributed to CKD increased at an average rate of 3.4% per year, and the global prevalence rate of CKD increased to 14.3% [2]. The economic burden due to CKD accounts for 31.4% of the global annual burden of living with disability [3-6]. In China, the prevalence of CKD among patients aged 18 years and older is 10.8%, encompassing approximately 120 million patients, indicating that approximately 1 in 10 Chinese individuals have had CKD [1]. Nevertheless, the awareness rate of CKD is low, and only 12.5% of patients know about their illness. CKD is highly prevalent and its treatment cost is high but unfortunately remains unknown. Therefore, early detection and intervention can mitigate the treatment burden on patients and decrease disease progression.

In recent years, risk factors including hypertension, diabetes, and obesity, which are associated with CKD, have gradually shown a trend toward affecting the younger population [7]. CKD is closely linked with an increased risk of all-cause mortality, cardiovascular disease (CVD), renal failure, and other adverse health outcomes, causing a serious disease burden [8-10]. CKD is a major health concern due to its high prevalence, low awareness rate, high treatment cost, increased risk of combined cardiovascular events, and early mortality. Early intervention, treatment, and controlling the risk factors of CKD can decelerate and decrease disease progression and consequently reduce overall morbidity and mortality. Hence, diagnosis and risk factor assessment for patients with early-stage CKD are of immense significance.

With continuous advancements in artificial intelligence technology, many researchers have attempted to use machine learning models in the medical field. Many studies have reported that machine learning algorithms can improve the decision-making abilities of clinicians in different fields, including clinical prediction. A study published in The Lancet [11] developed a feasible and effective machine learning-based risk stratification model for predicting adverse events post hospital discharge in patients with acute coronary syndromes. The random forest (RF) algorithm was first proposed by Leo Breiman and Adele Cutler in the early 21st century [12]. In the last few years, the use of the RF algorithm for disease risk prediction has garnered increasing attention due to its high accuracy. Furthermore, some researchers have used econometric models based on logistic regression (LR) and RF to predict the risk of acute ovarian failure [13]. Additionally, Let et al [14] constructed an RF model to improve the early detection and prediction of the incidence of venous thromboembolism in patients with lung cancer.

Some researchers have explored the application of machine learning algorithms in disease prediction, compared them with traditional statistical regression models, and reported the differences in the performance of various prediction models. While comparing conventional LR models with the RF algorithm, many studies reported that the RF algorithm is more advantageous than the LR model. A previous study investigated the predictability of the RF algorithm, the LR model, and deep neural network models and found that machine learning models, particularly deep neural network models, can improve the long-term prognosis prediction of patients with ischemic stroke [15]. Another study constructed an interpretable RF model to

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e48378

XSL•FO

predict severe acute pancreatitis and found that the RF model showed better precision and diagnostic accuracy than the LR and Bedside Index Of Severity In Acute Pancreatitis models [16]. Some researchers used 5 machine learning algorithms separately to predict the malnutrition status of 5-year-old children in Bangladesh and found that the accuracy of the RF algorithm was 68.51%, which was greater than that of other algorithms [17]. Another study reported that the RF algorithm is a better predictive model for older patients with hip fractures and high-risk mortality within 1 year after surgery [18].

A longitudinal study involving 143,043 patients with hypertension was performed to predict long-term CVD risk. The study reported that advanced machine learning algorithms using RF performed better than traditional LR [19]. A longitudinal cohort study compared clinical risk predictions among patients with CVD using 19 prediction techniques. The study also reported that excluding LR and commonly used machine learning algorithms from long-term risk prediction models underestimated the disease risk [20].

Researchers have also investigated the advantages of using RF models in predicting kidney diseases. A previous study reported the performance of 4 prediction tools, namely deep learning, plain Bayesian, RF, and LR, for predicting all-cause mortality in patients with CKD. The study showed that Bayesian networks and LR showed superior prediction abilities [21]. However, another study reported that plain Bayesian, RF, and LR performed adequately well and showed high sensitivity for screening end-stage renal disease in patients with CKD, which is inconsistent with previous reports [22]. Another previous study constructed 3 algorithms, namely RF, plain Bayesian, and LR, to classify glomerular and tubular injury and found that RF showed the best performance in terms of accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity. These findings suggest that RF can facilitate early diagnosis of glomerular and tubular injury to mitigate CKD progression [23]. Therefore, previous studies on the viability of RF models have reported inconsistent conclusions due to differences in research perspectives and subjects.

# Methods

#### **Data Source**

The data for this study were collected from the CKD screening population in Jing'an District from January 1, 2015, to December 22, 2020. Information obtained included demographic and sociological characteristics, height, weight, diastolic and systolic blood pressure, health insurance type, screening date, urinary protein and urinary albumin-creatinine ratio (UACR), blood creatinine, eGFR, and screening results. In total, 103,960 records were initially screened and CKD diagnoses were categorized based on *ICD-10 (International Statistical Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision)* criteria. Records with incomplete or duplicate data were excluded, resulting in a final sample size of 40,686 cases for analysis. These data are considered credible and authentic.

#### **Definition of Grouping**

The participants were categorized based on dichotomous variables: 1 for the nonmanagement population (indicating the

absence of CKD) and 2 for the management population (indicating the presence of CKD).

#### Covariance

We used the 11 factors identified in the univariate analysis as explanatory variables for the LR model. The grouping and assignment of the dependent and independent variables are listed in Table 1.

Tabla 1	Grouping	and	accimment	of	dependent	and	independent	variables
Table L.	Olouping	anu	assignment	UI.	ucocnuciii	anu	machenacia	variables.

Name	Variable	Value assignment
CKD <sup>a</sup> screening	Y	1. Nonmanagement population; 2. Management population
Gender	<i>x</i> <sub>1</sub>	1. Male; 2. Female
Age	<i>x</i> <sub>2</sub>	1. <65 years; 2. 65-75 years; 3. ≥75 years
BMI	<i>x</i> <sub>3</sub>	1. Normal: 18.5-24; 2. Underweight: <18.5; 3. Overweight: 24-28; 4. Obesity: ≥28
History of	<i>x</i> <sub>4</sub>	1. No; 2. Yes
hypertension		
Index blood	<i>x</i> 5	1. Normal; 2. Abnormal
creatinine		
Index eGFR <sup>b</sup>	<i>x</i> <sub>6</sub>	1. No; 2. Yes
Index urinary protein	<i>x</i> 7	1. Negative; 2. Positive
Albuminuria	<i>x</i> <sub>8</sub>	1. No; 2. Yes
Urine albumin-	<i>x</i> 9	1. <30; 2. 30-300; 3. ≥300
creatinine ratio		
Working status	<i>x</i> <sub>10</sub>	1. Retired staff; 2. Unemployed person; 3. Others <sup>c</sup>
Type of medical	<i>x</i> <sub>11</sub>	1. Urban employee medical insurance;
insurance		2. Urban resident medical insurance; 3. Others <sup>d</sup>

<sup>a</sup>CKD: chronic kidney disease.

<sup>b</sup>eGFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate.

<sup>c</sup>Others include students, freelancers, and workers.

<sup>d</sup>Others include the poverty relief system, out-of-pocket insurance, new rural cooperative medical system (NRCMS), commercial medical insurance, and free medical service. The same as below.

## **Statistical Model**

A database was established using Excel (Microsoft Corp) 2010, and SAS (version 9.4; SAS Institute Inc) statistical software was used for data analysis. The chi-square test was performed for 1-way analysis to select variables for inclusion in the model, with the threshold for statistical significance set at P<.05. Based on the GFR stage, albuminuria (Alb) grouping, and the distribution of data, the study categorized participants for CKD screening into management (suspected and diagnosed patients) and nonmanagement (healthy individuals) populations. The resulting dichotomous LR model was then used for subsequent analysis.

# The RF Algorithm

RF is a classification algorithm that uses multiple decision trees to train and predict samples. Specifically, the algorithm samples the training data set N times with replacement and selects a random subset of training samples each time. The remaining undrawn samples are subsequently used to evaluate the prediction error of the model.

#### **Training Validation Split**

The data set of 40,686 participants was randomly split into the following 2 subsets using simple random sampling in Python 3.6: one for validation sample set A including 13,549 cases (or 33.3% of the total data set), and the other for then training sample set B including 27,139 cases (or 66.7% of the total data set). The first subset A constituted the external validation sample set with 3000 cases (accounting for 7.4% of the total data set). The RF algorithm was subsequently applied to the training sample set to evaluate the importance of each variable and construct a CKD risk factor model. This model was used to predict the test sample set, with a minimum prediction accuracy threshold of 70%.

# Parameters

The mean number of feature selections was used for each random tree (mtry) in the model.

For a set with predictors, a typical number is the rounded square root of mtry [12]. Only 11 features were used in this study. We did not use the square root method to calculate mtry. However, we randomly selected a certain number of features each time



and fixed ntree to adjust mtry to determine the values that minimized generalization errors as the optimal value of mtry.

The mean number of random trees was used in the RF algorithm (ntree) in the model. (1) Using bootstrap resampling, 20% of the B set was randomly split and was used as an internal validation set and 80% was used as the training set. (2) Assuming that the number of the decision tree was ntree, for each node, mtry features were randomly selected. These mtry features were used to divide the sample set, and the index Gini was used to determine the best partitioning method. (3) For determining the mean error of the test set, steps (1), (2), and (3) were repeated. With each iteration of step (2), the ntree was increased by 1. ntree gradually increased from 1 to 200. We obtained the set for average generalization error with ntree. When the optimal model was achieved, we obtained the number of ntrees.

#### Variable Importance

After establishing the RF model, it was used for prediction. Given the abundance of trees in the forest, determining which variables have the most significant impact on predictions can be challenging. Fortunately, an important method was used to assess the significance of variables in the model. Specifically, for each variable, in each decision tree of an RF, the decrease in the splitting criterion function (residual squared or Gini index)

caused by that variable was measured. The decrease in magnitude for each decision tree was then averaged to determine the importance of the variable. The importance of each feature variable was ranked and plotted in order, resulting in a variable importance plot.

## **Ethical Considerations**

The Institutional Review Committee Board at Shanghai Changzheng Hospital affiliated with the Naval Medical University approved this study with written consent (No.2016SL020). This observational study analyzed existing data sources, which did not contain any patient-identifiable information. This study did not involve the collection, use, or transmission of individually identifiable data.

# Results

# LR Model With 2 Classifications

# **Results of Single Factor Analysis**

An LR model with 2 classifications (CKD and non-CKD) was used for analysis. As shown in Table 2, the results of the univariate analysis indicate a statistically significant distribution of differences in CKD status in the investigated population across 11 variables: gender, age, BMI, history of hypertension, index blood creatinine, index eGFR, index urinary protein, Alb, UACR, working status, and type of health insurance (P<.05).



Liu et al

# Table 2. Distribution and comparison of baseline characteristics among patients diagnosed with CKD<sup>a</sup>.

Variable name	Total participants, n	Management population, n (%)	Chi-square (df)	P value
Gender	•		47.43 (1)	<.001
Male	17,205	16,052 (93.30)		
Female	23,481	21,473 (91.45)		
Age (years)			7811.50 (2)	<.001
<65	9638	6864 (71.22)		
65-75	20,156	19,783 (98.15)		
≥75	10,892	10,878 (99.87)		
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )			220.31 (3)	<.001
Normal (18.5-24)	19,444	17,545 (90.23)		
Underweight (<18.5)	1021	936 (91.67)		
Overweight (24-28)	15,387	14,457 (93.96)		
Obesity (≥28)	4834	4587 (94.89)		
History of hypertension			8.62 (1)	.003
No	37,513	34,556 (92.12)		
Yes	3173	2969 (93.57)		
Index blood creatinine			62.35 (1)	<.001
Normal	39,959	36,798 (92.09)		
Abnormal	727	727 (100)		
Index eGFR <sup>b</sup>			1164.79 (1)	<.001
Normal	16,817	14,603 (86.83)		
Abnormal	23,869	22,922 (96.03)		
Urine protein indicators			387.10(1)	<.001
Negative	36,557	33,396 (91.35)		
Positive	4129	4129 (100)		
Albuminuria			519.68 (1)	<.001
No	35,329	32,168 (91.05)		
Yes	5357	5357 (100)		
Urinary albumin-creatinine rati	io		580.49 (2)	<.001
<30	34,793	31,632 (90.91)		
30-300	5207	5207 (100)		
≥300	686	686 (100)		
Working status			1471.67 (2)	<.001
Retired staff	37,406	35,062 (93.73)		
Unemployed person	204	142 (69.61)		
Others	3076	2321 (75.46)		
Type of medical insurance			111.97 (2)	<.001
Urban worker	22,909	21,405 (93.43)		
Urban resident	16,626	15,055 (90.55)		
Others	1151	1065 (92.53)		

<sup>a</sup>CKD: chronic kidney disease.

<sup>b</sup>eGFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate.

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e48378

## Multivariate Analysis

On univariate analysis, variables with statistically significant differences were subjected to multivariate analysis as explanatory variables in binary LR to establish a regression model. The variables were screened using the input method with a significance level of  $\alpha$ =.05. The results of the multivariate analysis are presented in Table 3. The risk of CKD was lower in women than in men (odds ratio [OR] 0.909, 95% CI 0.829-0.997). Furthermore, the risk of CKD gradually increased with an increase in age, with people aged 75 years and older (OR 256.759, 95% CI 151.115-436.259) and those aged 65-75 years (OR 20.471, 95% CI 18.209-23.013) being at higher risk than those younger than 65 years. Moreover, individuals with a BMI above the normal range were at a higher risk of CKD. People with a BMI of ≥28 (OR 2.024, 95% CI 1.426-1.733) and those with a BMI of 24-28 (OR 1.572, 95% CI 1.426-1.733) were at a higher risk of CKD than those with a normal BMI. Similarly, people with an abnormal eGFR index were at a higher risk of CKD (OR 1.397, 95% CI 1.271-1.537) than those with a normal eGFR. Compared with other participants, retirees (OR 2.432, 95% CI 2.162-2.736) and people with medical insurance

for urban employees (OR 1.769, 95% CI 1.319-2.372) were at higher risk of CKD.

Table 4 shows that in the test sample, a high proportion of records (98.9%) was accurately predicted. Specifically, the prediction model correctly identified all management population records, whereas only 6.4% of nonmanagement population records were accurately predicted.

Although dichotomous LR offers notable advantages including fast training, easy understanding, and high interpretability, its limitations should be acknowledged. First, its effectiveness may be hampered when managing imbalanced data sets, as observed in this study where indicators including urine routine proteins (PROs) exhibited excessive ORs because of the higher proportion of abnormal values within the management population. Second, similar to the accuracy rates of linear models, the accuracy rates of LR models may not be optimal because the latter can experience difficulty in fitting the true data distribution. Herein, imbalanced data sets in the regression model led to statistically insignificant urine test results. Thus, to overcome these limitations, we considered using a machine learning approach.



Table 3. Logistic regression analysis of factors affecting chronic kidney disease in people with different characteristics.

Variable name	β	×	Wald chi-square ( <i>df</i> )	P value	Odds ratio (95% CI)
Female gender (reference: male)	-0.095	0.047	4.103 (1)	.04	0.909 (0.829-0.997)
Age (years; reference: ≤65 yea	irs)				
65-75	3.019	0.060	2555.045 (1)	<.001	20.471 (18.209-23.013)
≥75	5.548	0.270	420.803 (1)	<.001	256.759 (151.115-436.259)
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ; reference: norma	al [18.5-24 kg/m <sup>2</sup> ]	])			
Underweight (<18.5)	-0.286	0.148	3.737 (1)	.05	0.751 (0.562-1.004)
Overweight (24-28)	0.452	0.050	82.521 (1)	<.001	1.572 (1.426-1.733)
Obesity (≥28)	0.705	0.081	76.341 (1)	<.001	2.024 (1.728-2.370)
Having a history of hyperten- sion (reference: no)	0.127	0.089	2.031 (1)	.15	1.135 (0.953-1.352)
Abnormal index blood creati- nine (reference: normal index blood creatinine)	16.407	1054.200	0.000 (1)	.99	1.33×10 <sup>7</sup> (0.000-0.000)
Abnormal index eGFR <sup>a</sup> (reference: normal index eGFR)	0.335	0.048	47.630 (1)	<.001	1.397 (1.271-1.537)
Positive urine protein indicators (reference: negative urine pro- tein indicators)	15.990	436.534	0.001 (1)	.97	8.80×10 <sup>6</sup> (0.000-0.000)
Having albuminuria (not having albuminuria)	17.360	403.317	0.002 (1)	.97	3.46×10 <sup>7</sup> (0.000-0.000)
Urine albumin-creatinine ratio	o (reference: <30)	)			
30-300	17.435	440.654	0.002 (1)	.97	3.73×10 <sup>7</sup> (0.000-0.000)
≥300	15.824	1063.960	<0.001 (1)	.99	7.45×10 <sup>6</sup> (0.000)
Working status (reference: oth	ner)				
Retired staff	0.889	0.060	218.852 (1)	<.001	2.432 (2.162-2.736)
Unemployed person	-0.032	0.203	0.026 (1)	.87	0.968 (0.651-1.441)
Type of medical insurance (ref	ference: other)				
Urban employee medical insurance	0.570	0.150	14.504 (1)	<.001	1.769 (1.319-2.372)
Urban resident medical insurance	-0.159	0.151	1.116 (1)	.29	0.853 (0.634-1.146)

<sup>a</sup>eGFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate.

#### Table 4. Classification of model predictions.

Real test	Prediction of chronic kidney dise	Percentage of accurate predictions, %	
	Nonmanagement population, n	Management population, n	
Chronic kidney disease	-	-	
Non-management target population	3	44	6.4
Management target population	0	3818	100.00
Total percentage			98.90

XSL•FO RenderX

change in the error rate of the model, with respect to mtry, is

depicted in Figure 1. The error rate decreased significantly when

the number of features changed from 1 to 2, followed by an

increase close to the minimum value, which was achieved when

mtry=4. Next, the mtry value was set to 4, and the ntree value

was adjusted accordingly. In total, 200 random trials were

conducted to gauge the average generalization error of the test

set (Figure 2). The generalization error rate decreased rapidly

from 1 to 10, decreased slowly from 10 to 25, and thereafter

flattened and stabilized. Thus, the optimal model was identified

when the ntree value was 166.

#### Machine Learning: RF Algorithm

# Modeling

The data set was split into 66.7% of samples, which corresponded to 27,139 records, randomly selected without replacement. The control method was applied by fixing the ntree (number of means of random trees in the RF algorithm) constant and debugging the mtry (mean number of feature selections used for each random tree) parameter. In each iteration, a certain number of features were randomly selected, and the average generalization error value was computed for 11 trials. The

Figure 1. The effect of mtry on the error rate of random forest algorithm.



mtry(feature selection)

Figure 2. The effect of ntree on the error rate of the random forest (RF) algorithm.



## Analysis of the Results of the RF Algorithm

The RF algorithm was trained on a test data set comprising 27,139 records, with ntree=166 and mtry=4. Using these parameters, the algorithm was applied to classify the test set data, and the importance ranking of each feature was determined (Multimedia Appendix 1). The 4 most important features identified were age, Alb, working status, and UACR. These

features were further selected for the prediction study, which yield a final classification accuracy rate of 92.67%.

Next, 100 random trials were conducted to ensure the reliability of our results. The generalization error plot is presented in Figure 3. The error was concentrated around 0.0735, with a small fluctuation and an average error of 7.371%. Our results indicate a good generalization ability of the model, suggesting its reliability in classification tasks.

Figure 3. The generalization error rate of the random forest algorithm was estimated by conducting 100 randomized trials.



# Comparison of the Sensitivity and Specificity of RF Models

The area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC) of the RF model based on the training and test sets was 93.15% (Figure 4). The RF algorithm outputs voting results (0s and 1s), whereas the receiver operating characteristic curve requires voting probability data. Converting probabilities to voting results

can lead to error because of extreme probabilities, such as 0.01515526 and 0.98484474. Therefore, we calculated the AUC to assess model performance and the classification prediction rate to indicate the accuracy of the model. Herein, the RF algorithm achieved an accuracy rate of 92.67%, with some degree of error. These results suggest that the model exhibited good predictive power and accurately classified new data samples.



Figure 4. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve of chronic kidney disease prediction by the random forest algorithm. AUC: area under the receiver operating characteristic curve.



# **Confusion Matrix**

Four possible predicted results were as follows: true positives, false positives, true negatives, and false negatives. Table 5

shows the confusion matrix of the RF model. The precision, recall, and  $F_1$ -score were 0.951, 0.984, and 0.967, respectively.

 Table 5. Confusion matrix of the random forest algorithm model.

	Predicted values (=1)	Predicted values (=0)
Actual values (=1)	True positive: 12,505	False negative: 209
Actual values (=0)	False positive: 640	True negative: 195
	F	

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

A risk assessment model for CKD was developed in this study using dichotomous LR and RF models. Our results indicate that gender, older age, BMI beyond the normal range, abnormal index eGFR, retirement status, and urban employee medical insurance were significantly associated with a higher risk of CKD. By leveraging the RF model, the most important factors for CKD development were older age, abnormal urinary test results (eg, Alb, UACR, and index PRO indicators), and high BMI.

In China, the number of studies on the assessment of risk factors for CKD and the investigation of methods for risk prediction is increasing and LR analysis is commonly being performed. Feng et al [24] used an adjusted LR model to investigate CKD prevalence and related risk factors in 38 megacities across China. Liu et al [25] and Yang et al [26] performed cross-sectional studies to analyze risk factors for diabetic nephropathy in Shanghai, whereas a community-based, 7-year-long cohort study from Tianjin used LR to examine the association between the high triglyceride waist phenotype and risk of CKD development [27]. Yan et al [28] performed LR

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e48378
```

analysis to assess the correlation between residual cholesterol levels and CKD, and identify other significant risk factors affecting middle-aged and older individuals residing within a city. Gradual advancements in machine learning models have prompted further scrutiny of the divergent performance and inherent limitations of the conventional LR approach. To distinguish this study from previous studies that followed the LR approach for exploratory purposes, we used the RF algorithm to rank risk factors that were subjected to single-factor analysis according to their relevance and consequently evaluated comparative predictive precision by performing LR analysis using training samples. Our results reveal that both the RF and LR models achieved an overall accuracy rate exceeding 90% in the prediction test set. Conversely, the dichotomous LR model exhibited a marginally superior predictive performance than the RF model. Nevertheless, one should pay attention to the tendency of LR to result in excessive ORs when imbalanced data are used. Although LR exhibits excellent predictive abilities and desirable attributes such as high accuracy and stability, and ease of operation with a minimal possibility of overlearning during classification prediction, RF has the ability to assess the importance of variables when classifying data into suitable categories while compensating for errors in imbalanced sets of categorical data.

Our results indicate that age was the primary significant factor in the RF model, and LR analysis confirmed that higher age was significantly associated with CKD. Compared to participants aged  $\leq 64$  years, those aged 65-75 years and older were at a significantly higher risk of CKD, which is in line with previous results [29,30]. The risk of CKD increases with age; thus, early screening and risk prediction for CKD are crucial for middle-aged and older people.

A cross-sectional study published in *The Lancet* [31], using a nationally representative sample of Chinese adults also identified independent factors associated with kidney damage, which included age and gender. Age and gender are independent CKD risk factors [32]. Many studies worldwide have shown that women are at a higher risk of CKD [33,34], and similar observations have been reported in China [24,30]. This correlation may be attributed to differences in the prevalence of primary diseases and the availability of medical resources across genders [35]. However, our results show that females in the survey population were at a lower risk of CKD than were males, which is inconsistent with the majority of previous results. Our data include information regarding the registered population in a district of Shanghai. The exclusion of samples with incomplete information and regional differences, as well as the presence of unregistered patients, may have led to bias, ultimately yielding inconsistent results.

Next, this study shows that people with a higher-than-normal BMI were at a higher risk of CKD, similar to a time-series study that investigated risk factors regarding CKD burden in China from 1991 to 2011 and identified the correlation between high BMI and CKD [36]. Obesity is an important risk factor for CKD worldwide [24,25,37-39]. Potential obesity-associated factors that may lead to or aggravate CKD include hemodynamic disorder and renal tissue hypoxia [40,41]. However, weight loss through diet and regular exercise can reverse kidney damage; hence, maintaining a healthy lifestyle and controlling body weight could prevent or decelerate CKD progression to a certain extent [42]. Additionally, this study shows that CKD risk was higher in people who had urban employee medical insurance. These people were employed and had relatively better economic conditions; however, health risk factors such as work stress and

unhealthy lifestyles probably contribute to an increased CKD risk [43].

Moreover, people with abnormal urine test results (Alb, UACR, and PRO indicators) were at a higher CKD risk, which is consistent with previous results reported worldwide [36,44,45]. Similarly, a Chinese study using 4 machine learning models, comprising 19,270 adult samples, showed that UACR, Alb, age, and gender were important CKD risk factors [44]. Urine tests can serve as an early warning system for CKD detection. Similarly, our risk prediction model could guide decision-making regarding early CKD screening.

# Limitations

Herein, we effectively assessed the risk of CKD by combining internal data for model construction and testing. However, this study has some limitations. First, the generalization ability of the model remains unknown because the study did not include external data for external validation. Second, owing to the bias in data collection, our results were inconsistent with those of the previous studies. Finally, more prospective studies are required to verify the predictive power and practical utility of our model. Thus, health care professionals should routinely evaluate the level of agreement within and between models before reaching any clinical decision on the basis of the present limitations and previous findings [46].

## Conclusions

In conclusion, the RF model has significant predictive value for assessing risk factors associated with CKD and is capable of correcting errors in imbalanced categorical data sets. It can be used to screen individuals with risk factors, which is of great significance for early intervention and prevention of CKD.

For the prevention and treatment of CKD, early intervention can involve a low-protein diet, regular physical examination, actively promoting urine examination, and screening of high-risk groups to achieve early detection, early treatment, early diagnosis, and early intervention of CKD, and to reduce the social and personal losses caused by diseases and improve people's quality of life.

# Acknowledgments

We are grateful for the enthusiastic cooperation of the nephrology department of Shanghai Changzheng Hospital, Shanghai. We thank Bullet Edits for providing language editing support. This study was funded by the Shanghai 3-Year Action Plan for Public Health System Construction (SCREENING STUDY GWIV-18). The funder had no role in the study's design, data collection, or analysis, the decision to publish, or the preparation of the manuscript.

# **Data Availability**

The data sets used or analyzed in this study are available from the first author upon reasonable request.

# **Authors' Contributions**

LX and CM obtained the funding. PL, YL, HL, LX, CM, and LY conceived and designed the experiments. PL, YL, HL, and LY performed the experiments, analyzed the data, and contributed reagents, materials, and analysis tools. PL drafted the manuscript. All authors participated in the discussion, revision, and approval of the final manuscript.



None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Importance ranking of each indicator in the random forest algorithm. [PNG File, 16 KB - apinj\_v8i1e48378\_app1.png]

# References

- Expert Group on Early Detection, Diagnosis and Treatment System Construction of Chronic Kidney Disease in Shanghai, Gao X, Mei C. Guideline for screening, diagnosis, prevention and treatment of chronic kidney disease [Article in Chinese]. Chin J Pract Int Med 2017;37(01):28-34. [doi: 10.19538/j.nk2017010108]
- 2. Danial M, Hassali MA, Meng OL, Kin YC, Khan AH. Development of a mortality score to assess risk of adverse drug reactions among hospitalized patients with moderate to severe chronic kidney disease. BMC Pharmacol Toxicol 2019 Jul 08;20(1):41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40360-019-0318-6] [Medline: 31287030]
- Thomas B, Matsushita K, Abate KH, Al-Aly Z, Ärnlöv J, Asayama K, Global Burden of Disease 2013 GFR Collaborators, Global Burden of Disease Genitourinary Expert Group. Global cardiovascular and renal outcomes of reduced GFR. J Am Soc Nephrol 2017 Jul;28(7):2167-2179 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1681/ASN.2016050562] [Medline: 28408440]
- GBD 2015 MortalityCauses of Death Collaborators. Global, regional, and national life expectancy, all-cause mortality, and cause-specific mortality for 249 causes of death, 1980-2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Lancet 2016 Oct 08;388(10053):1459-1544 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31012-1] [Medline: 27733281]
- Kerr PG, Tran HTB, Ha Phan H, Liew A, Hooi LS, Johnson DW, OSEA Regional Board. Nephrology in the Oceania-South East Asia region: perspectives and challenges. Kidney Int 2018 Sep;94(3):465-470 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.05.014] [Medline: <u>30045813</u>]
- Luo K, Bian J, Wang Q, Wang J, Chen F, Li H, et al. Association of obesity with chronic kidney disease in elderly patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Turk J Gastroenterol 2019 Jul;30(7):611-615 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5152/tjg.2019.18343] [Medline: 31290748]
- Kuma A, Kato A. Lifestyle-related risk factors for the incidence and progression of chronic kidney disease in the healthy young and middle-aged population. Nutrients 2022 Sep 14;14(18) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu14183787] [Medline: 36145162]
- 8. Nugent RA, Fathima SF, Feigl AB, Chyung D. The burden of chronic kidney disease on developing nations: a 21st century challenge in global health. Nephron Clin Pract 2011;118(3):c269-c277 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000321382] [Medline: 21212690]
- A. US Renal Data System 2019 Annual Data Report: epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States. Am J Kidney Dis 2019 Oct 31;75(1):S1-S64. [doi: <u>10.1053/j.ajkd.2019.09.002</u>] [Medline: <u>31704084</u>]
- Chronic Kidney Disease Prognosis Consortium, Matsushita K, van der Velde M, Astor BC, Woodward M, Levey AS, et al. Association of estimated glomerular filtration rate and albuminuria with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in general population cohorts: a collaborative meta-analysis. Lancet 2010 Jun 12;375(9731):2073-2081 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60674-5] [Medline: 20483451]
- 11. D'Ascenzo F, De Filippo O, Gallone G, Mittone G, Deriu MA, Iannaccone M, et al. Machine learning-based prediction of adverse events following an acute coronary syndrome (PRAISE): a modelling study of pooled datasets. The Lancet 2021 Jan;397(10270):199-207. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)32519-8]
- 12. Breiman L. Random forests. Mach Learn 2001;45:5-32. [doi: 10.1023/A:1010933404324]
- Clark RA, Mostoufi-Moab S, Yasui Y, Vu NK, Sklar CA, Motan T, et al. Predicting acute ovarian failure in female survivors of childhood cancer: a cohort study in the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study (CCSS) and the St Jude Lifetime Cohort (SJLIFE). Lancet Oncol 2020 Mar;21(3):436-445 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30818-6] [Medline: 32066539]
- Lei H, Zhang M, Wu Z, Liu C, Li X, Zhou W, et al. Development and validation of a risk prediction model for venous thromboembolism in lung cancer patients using machine learning. Front Cardiovasc Med 2022;9:845210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.845210] [Medline: 35321110]
- Heo J, Yoon JG, Park H, Kim YD, Nam HS, Heo JH. Machine learning-based model for prediction of outcomes in acute stroke. Stroke 2019 May;50(5):1263-1265. [doi: <u>10.1161/STROKEAHA.118.024293</u>] [Medline: <u>30890116</u>]
- Hong W, Lu Y, Zhou X, Jin S, Pan J, Lin Q, et al. Usefulness of random forest algorithm in predicting severe acute pancreatitis. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2022;12:893294 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2022.893294] [Medline: 35755843]
- 17. Talukder A, Ahammed B. Machine learning algorithms for predicting malnutrition among under-five children in Bangladesh. Nutrition 2020 Oct;78:110861. [doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2020.110861] [Medline: 32592978]

- Xing F, Luo R, Liu M, Zhou Z, Xiang Z, Duan X. A new random forest algorithm-based prediction model of post-operative mortality in geriatric patients with hip fractures. Front Med (Lausanne) 2022 May 11;9:829977 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.829977] [Medline: 35646950]
- Xi Y, Wang H, Sun N. Machine learning outperforms traditional logistic regression and offers new possibilities for cardiovascular risk prediction: A study involving 143,043 Chinese patients with hypertension. Front Cardiovasc Med 2022;9:1025705 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.1025705] [Medline: 36451926]
- 20. Li Y, Sperrin M, Ashcroft DM, van Staa TP. Consistency of variety of machine learning and statistical models in predicting clinical risks of individual patients: longitudinal cohort study using cardiovascular disease as exemplar. BMJ 2020 Nov 04;371:m3919 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m3919] [Medline: 33148619]
- Tran NTD, Balezeaux M, Granal M, Fouque D, Ducher M, Fauvel J. Prediction of all-cause mortality for chronic kidney disease patients using four models of machine learning. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2023 Jun 30;38(7):1691-1699. [doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfac316] [Medline: 36484698]
- 22. Bai Q, Su C, Tang W, Li Y. Machine learning to predict end stage kidney disease in chronic kidney disease. Sci Rep 2022 May 19;12(1):8377 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-12316-z] [Medline: 35589908]
- 23. Song W, Zhou X, Duan Q, Wang Q, Li Y, Li A, et al. Using random forest algorithm for glomerular and tubular injury diagnosis. Front Med (Lausanne) 2022;9:911737 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.911737] [Medline: 35966858]
- 24. Feng T, Xu Y, Zheng J, Wang X, Li Y, Wang Y, et al. Prevalence of and risk factors for chronic kidney disease in ten metropolitan areas of China: a cross-sectional study using three kidney damage markers. Ren Fail 2023 Dec;45(1):2170243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/0886022X.2023.2170243] [Medline: 36721891]
- 25. Liu W, Du J, Ge X, Jiang X, Peng W, Zhao N, et al. The analysis of risk factors for diabetic kidney disease progression: a single-centre and cross-sectional experiment in Shanghai. BMJ Open 2022 Jun 28;12(6):e060238 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-060238] [Medline: 35768116]
- 26. Yang Y, Wang N, Jiang Y, Zhao Q, Chen Y, Ying X, et al. The prevalence of diabetes mellitus with chronic kidney disease in adults and associated factors in Songjiang District, Shanghai. Ann Palliat Med 2021 Jul;10(7):7214-7224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/apm-21-803] [Medline: 34263637]
- Chen R, Sun G, Liu R, Sun A, Cao Y, Zhou X, et al. Hypertriglyceridemic waist phenotype and risk of chronic kidney disease in community-dwelling adults aged 60 years and older in Tianjin, China: a 7-year cohort study. BMC Nephrol 2021 May 19;22(1):182 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12882-021-02339-5] [Medline: 34011292]
- Yan P, Xu Y, Miao Y, Bai X, Wu Y, Tang Q, et al. Association of remnant cholesterol with chronic kidney disease in middle-aged and elderly Chinese: a population-based study. Acta Diabetol 2021 Dec;58(12):1615-1625. [doi: 10.1007/s00592-021-01765-z] [Medline: 34181081]
- 29. Li Y, Ning Y, Shen B, Shi Y, Song N, Fang Y, et al. Temporal trends in prevalence and mortality for chronic kidney disease in China from 1990 to 2019: an analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Clin Kidney J 2023 Feb;16(2):312-321 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfac218] [Medline: 36755850]
- 30. Zhuang Z, Tong M, Clarke R, Wang B, Huang T, Li L. Probability of chronic kidney disease and associated risk factors in Chinese adults: a cross-sectional study of 9 million Chinese adults in the Meinian Onehealth screening survey. Clin Kidney J 2022 Dec;15(12):2228-2236 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfac176] [Medline: 36381363]
- 31. Zhang L, Wang F, Wang L, Wang W, Liu B, Liu J, et al. Prevalence of chronic kidney disease in China: a cross-sectional survey. Lancet 2012 Mar 03;379(9818):815-822. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60033-6</u>] [Medline: <u>22386035</u>]
- Deng Y, Li N, Wu Y, Wang M, Yang S, Zheng Y, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of diabetes-related chronic kidney disease from 1990 to 2019. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2021;12:672350 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.672350] [Medline: 34276558]
- 33. Brar A, Markell M. Impact of gender and gender disparities in patients with kidney disease. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2019 Mar;28(2):178-182. [doi: 10.1097/MNH.0000000000482] [Medline: 30652978]
- 34. Forni Ogna V, Ogna A, Ponte B, Gabutti L, Binet I, Conen D, et al. Prevalence and determinants of chronic kidney disease in the Swiss population. Swiss Med Wkly 2016;146:w14313 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4414/smw.2016.14313] [Medline: 27152492]
- 35. Carrero JJ, Hecking M, Chesnaye NC, Jager KJ. Sex and gender disparities in the epidemiology and outcomes of chronic kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol 2018 Mar 22;14(3):151-164. [doi: <u>10.1038/nrneph.2017.181</u>] [Medline: <u>29355169</u>]
- 36. Li P, Yang M, Hang D, Wei Y, Di H, Shen H, et al. Risk assessment for longitudinal trajectories of modifiable lifestyle factors on chronic kidney disease burden in China: a population-based study. J Epidemiol 2022 Oct 05;32(10):449-455 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2188/jea.JE20200497] [Medline: 33814506]
- 37. Duan J, Duan G, Wang C, Liu D, Qiao Y, Pan S, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of chronic kidney disease and diabetic kidney disease in a central Chinese urban population: a cross-sectional survey. BMC Nephrol 2020 Apr 03;21(1):115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12882-020-01761-5] [Medline: 32245423]
- 38. Wang L, Xu X, Zhang M, Hu C, Zhang X, Li C, et al. Prevalence of chronic kidney disease in China: results from the sixth China Chronic Disease and Risk Factor Surveillance. JAMA Intern Med 2023 Apr 01;183(4):298-310 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2022.6817] [Medline: 36804760]

- Betzler BK, Sultana R, Banu R, Tham YC, Lim CC, Wang YX, et al. Association between body mass index and chronic kidney disease in Asian populations: a participant-level meta-analysis. Maturitas 2021 Dec;154:46-54. [doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2021.09.005] [Medline: 34736579]
- 40. Shen W, Chen H, Chen H, Xu F, Li L, Liu Z. Obesity-related glomerulopathy: body mass index and proteinuria. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2010 Aug;5(8):1401-1409 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2215/CJN.01370210</u>] [Medline: <u>20498244</u>]
- 41. Redon J, Lurbe E. The kidney in obesity. Curr Hypertens Rep 2015 Jun;17(6):555. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11906-015-0555-z</u>] [Medline: <u>25893477</u>]
- 42. Jiang Z, Wang Y, Zhao X, Cui H, Han M, Ren X, et al. Obesity and chronic kidney disease. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2023 Jan 01;324(1):E24-E41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00179.2022] [Medline: 36383637]
- 43. Wang X, Shi KX, Yu CQ, Lyu J, Guo Y, Pei P, et al. [Prevalence of chronic kidney disease and its association with lifestyle factors in adults from 10 regions of China]. Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi 2023 Mar 10;44(3):386-392. [doi: 10.3760/cma.j.cn112338-20220801-00680] [Medline: 36942332]
- 44. Shih C, Lu C, Chen G, Chang C. Risk prediction for early chronic kidney disease: results from an adult health examination program of 19,270 individuals. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Jul 10;17(14) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17144973] [Medline: 32664271]
- 45. Murton M, Goff-Leggett D, Bobrowska A, Garcia Sanchez JJ, James G, Wittbrodt E, et al. Burden of chronic kidney disease by KDIGO categories of glomerular filtration rate and albuminuria: a systematic review. Adv Ther 2021 Jan;38(1):180-200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12325-020-01568-8] [Medline: 33231861]
- 46. Bikbov B, Perico N, Remuzzi G, on behalf of the GBD Genitourinary Diseases Expert Group. Disparities in chronic kidney disease prevalence among males and females in 195 countries: analysis of the Global Burden of Disease 2016 Study. Nephron 2018;139(4):313-318 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000489897] [Medline: 29791905]

# Abbreviations

Alb: albuminuria CKD: chronic kidney disease CVD: cardiovascular disease eGFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate GFR: glomerular filtration rate ICD-10: International Statistical Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision LR: logistic regression OR: odds ratio PRO: urine routine protein RF: random forest UACR: urinary albumin-creatinine ratio

Edited by H Ahn; submitted 21.04.23; peer-reviewed by M Singh, N Trehan, M Gasmi, Y Zhang; comments to author 04.01.24; revised version received 02.02.24; accepted 16.04.24; published 03.06.24.

Please cite as:

Liu P, Liu Y, Liu H, Xiong L, Mei C, Yuan L A Random Forest Algorithm for Assessing Risk Factors Associated With Chronic Kidney Disease: Observational Study Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e48378 URL: <u>https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e48378</u> doi:10.2196/48378 PMID:<u>38830204</u>

©Pei Liu, Yijun Liu, Hao Liu, Linping Xiong, Changlin Mei, Lei Yuan. Originally published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal (https://apinj.jmir.org), 03.06.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://apinj.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# Toward Sustaining Web-Based Senior Center Programming Accessibility With and for Older Adult Immigrants: Community-Based Participatory Research Cross-Sectional Study

Connie Kim Yen Nguyen-Truong<sup>1</sup>, RN, BSN, PhD; Katherine Wuestney<sup>2</sup>, RN, BSN, PhD; Holden Leung<sup>3</sup>, MSW; Chenya Chiu<sup>3</sup>, MPH; Maria Park<sup>3</sup>, CIRS A/D, BS; Christina Chac<sup>3</sup>, BS; Roschelle Lynette Fritz<sup>1</sup>, RN, BSN, MSN, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Nursing and Systems Science Department, College of Nursing in Vancouver, Washington State University, Vancouver, WA, United States <sup>2</sup>PhD in Nursing Program, College of Nursing, Spokane Health Sciences, Washington State University, Spokane, WA, United States

<sup>3</sup>Asian Health & Service Center, Portland, OR, United States

## **Corresponding Author:**

Connie Kim Yen Nguyen-Truong, RN, BSN, PhD Nursing and Systems Science Department College of Nursing in Vancouver Washington State University 14204 NE Salmon Creek Ave Vancouver, WA, 98686-9600 United States Phone: 1 3605469395 Fax: 1 3605469398 Email: c.nguyen-truong@wsu.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** During the COVID-19 pandemic, many community-based organizations serving Asian Americans pivoted to provide web-based care and social services. Asian American community leaders in the United States Pacific Northwest, including Asian Health & Service Center expressed that there are older immigrant adults who experienced backlash from discrimination, fear, and anxiety owing in part to anti-Asian hate and isolation, including from infection precautions. Pivoting supported staying safe from COVID-19 transmission and anti-Asian hate crimes.

**Objective:** This study aims to examine the readiness of diverse groups of older Asian American immigrant adults (Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese) to use a web-based senior center, including technology access and telehealth use, and to identify the psychosocial health impacts that a web-based senior center could be positioned to meet.

**Methods:** A community-based participatory research approach was used to conduct a cross-sectional survey study in an Asian-based health and service center in 2022. We selected surveys from the National Institutes of Health–supported PhenX Toolkit. Analyses were performed using R software.

**Results:** There was an 88.2% (216/245) response rate. Overall, 39.8% (86/216) of participants were Chinese, 25% (54/216) were Korean, and 24.5% (53/216) were Vietnamese. There were significant group differences in mobile data plans (P=.0005). Most had an unlimited mobile data plan (38/86, 44% Chinese; 39/54, 72% Koreans; 25/53, 47% Vietnamese). Significant group differences existed regarding whether they started using a new electronic device to communicate with friends or family after the COVID-19 outbreak (P=.0005); most were Korean participants (31/54, 57%). For written text and audio or video apps, most Chinese participants used WeChat (65/85, 76%; 57/84, 68%, respectively), most Koreans used KakaoTalk (49/54, 91%; 49/54, 91%, respectively), and most Vietnamese used Facebook Messenger for written text (32/50, 64%) and Apple Face Time (33/50, 66%) or Facebook Messenger (31/50, 62%) for audio or video. Significant group differences existed regarding whether to try telehealth (P=.0005); most Vietnamese expressed that they would never consider it (41/53, 77%). Significant group differences existed regarding how well they were able to concentrate ( $\chi^2_2$ =44.7; P<.0001); Chinese participants reported a greater inability (median 5, IQR 4-6). With regard to difficulties in life experiences ( $\chi^2_2$ =51; P<.0001), the median was 6 (IQR 5-7) for the Vietnamese group. Significant group differences existed in having had a family/household member's salary, hours, and contracts

reduced (P=.0005) and having had a family/household member or friend fallen physically ill (P=.0005)—most Vietnamese (15/53, 28%) and Korean participants (10/53, 19%).

**Conclusions:** To build an efficacious, web-based senior center with web-based care and social service options, more older adults need access to the internet and education about using technology-enabled communication devices. Addressing the unique psychosocial impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on each group could improve health equity. The strength of the participating older adults was observed and honored.

(Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e49493) doi:10.2196/49493

### **KEYWORDS**

Asian American; Chinese; Korean; Vietnamese; community-based participatory research; CBPR; COVID-19; health equity; immigrants; older adults; psychosocial; technology access; telehealth use; web-based senior center; mobile phone

# Introduction

#### Background

During the COVID-19 pandemic, many community-based organizations (CBOs), such as culturally based health and social service centers quickly pivoted to provide web-based services to maintain contact with clients. Although the pivot to web-based contact helped to maintain care and social services, questions remain about how to best provide web-based care and social services and whether older adults can access care and services in a meaningful way. The sustainability of web-based care and social services is important because of reports by older adults that they continue to experience anti-Asian hate [1,2] and isolation [1]. During the COVID-19 pandemic, many Asian Americans avoid leaving their home to go to public places such as grocery stores, church, and school, and many have not talked with a health care provider or mental health professional about their feelings of isolation [3]. Providing web-based services can address both safety and isolation concerns; however, it is important for CBOs serving older Asian Americans to understand how they engage with technology and which devices and platforms they commonly use. Our community and academic partnership studied these issues at the request of a CBO serving Asian Americans in the Pacific Northwest. Findings reflect a drive toward health equity and responsiveness to community-identified priorities for sustaining and growing web-based social and health services after the COVID-19 pandemic. We intentionally disaggregated group data into granular, within group-specific data to address concerns expressed in the extant literature [2,4,5] and by CBOs that aggregated Asian American data are not always helpful at an actionable community level for countering systemic issues and for advancing health equity ideals.

Many Asian American CBOs serving older adults reported escalated racial discrimination during the COVID-19 pandemic, such as hate crimes or microaggressions [6]. Asian Americans experienced aggravated physical and mental health problems or violence [4]. Many were afraid to seek care because of anti-Asian xenophobia [5]. Older Asian American immigrants continue to be particularly vulnerable when they leave home owing to hate crimes against Asian individuals, with great adverse effects experienced by older adults who are undocumented, facing poverty, and having limited English proficiency [5]. Between March 2020 and April 2023, Stop AAPI Hate received 17,804 reports of hate incidents, including

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e49493
```

verbal harassment, shunning, physical assault, civil rights violations, harassment via the web, and more [1]. Asian Americans experienced psychological distress, stress, and depression during the COVID-19 pandemic. Southeast Asian individuals experienced more psychological distress than White (not Hispanic) individuals [7]. Chinese and Vietnamese reported that racial and ethnic discrimination and violence against their population led to feelings of stress and depression, and some reported being treated unfairly because of their race and ethnicity [3]. Furthermore, Koreans with preexisting chronic diseases were heavily affected, thus experiencing worse health outcomes [8]. Despite these known discriminations amid the COVID-19 pandemic, studying mental health among Asian Americans, particularly among Asian subgroups, was not prioritized in the United States [7]. Web-based care can be a necessary response to address continuity in delivering care and social services for constituents at risk for infection and criminal victimization.

Web-based care was a part of the pivot during the COVID-19 pandemic; however, this was isolating to many older Asian American immigrants [6]. Older adult users in the general population increasingly integrate technology and mobile devices into their daily lives [9], but this is not necessarily true for older Asian Americans. A study including older White Canadians showed that they were primarily concerned with avoiding the virus and with health care efficiencies [1] that web-based services can address, whereas older Korean immigrants were primarily worried about autonomy, technology dependence, and the burden of learning a new technology for engaging in social and health services [10]. Such worries, along with more broadly reported concerns by older adults about needing to be technology savvy and wanting in-person physical health exams [11] are not easily mitigated with web-based services. Despite these findings, in a national study of 40 CBOs serving Asian Americans, researchers found that technology was a connector for organizations [6]. Thus, understanding how to integrate technology in a meaningful way is important for successfully sustaining web-based contact with clients. Many resilient organizations have reflected on their commitment to serve communities with pride by adapting and preparing to face future crises [6].

#### **Community Context**

Asian American community leaders at the Asian Health & Service Center (AHSC) in Oregon in the United States Pacific Northwest expressed concerns that there are older Asian American immigrant adults who experienced backlash regarding

discrimination, fear, and anxiety in part from anti-Asian hate and isolation, including from social distancing for infection protection since the COVID-19 outbreak. AHSC is a culturally diverse, nonprofit CBO and a trusted source for health care and social services [12]. Most clients are older Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese immigrants [1]. The chief executive director reported that they required a fast pivot to use more technology owing to concerns expressed by older Asian American immigrant adults. This pivot included training staff to deliver health care and social services remotely (ie, distance). COVID-19 Asian response teams were created that consisted of community health workers (CHWs) and behavioral health counselors. Health care and social services were delivered via audio and video calls while attempting to maintain the AHSC holistic health care and social services model of social engagement, public health information, and support for health needs. There is a crucial need to engage to inform rebuilding as a web-based senior center after COVID-19 with a web-based care and social services option. AHSC community leaders identified priorities based on expressed concerns, and this included engaging culturally diverse, older Asian American immigrant adult clients by centering their voice, learning about their technology access and telehealth use to extend reach in client support and mental health counseling, and uplifting a dedicated community workforce of culturally diverse and multilingual CHWs for web-based outreach and care of older Asian American immigrant adults to advance health equity. AHSC community leaders raised that conducting a survey study can be a step in centering the voice and engaging the participation of older Asian American immigrant adults by clarifying what is meant by web-based care.

#### **Community Engagement to Advance Health Equity**

Community engagement is essential to advance health equity. Academic and community researchers should comprehensively embed methods of community-based participatory research (CBPR) that is action oriented into the design of research studies [13]. There is a need to fully engage communities in community-involved care settings to ensure sustainability in the context of direct application to real-world care delivery [13]. Community engagement in scientific design and procedures is important for collaborative research decision-making based on a shared working understanding [1]. Community engagement through CBPR and citizen science, where participatory action drives research direction for sustainability in population health science, is important [1,14]. Authentic intentionality for an inclusive collaboration partnership needs to include conceptualization, design, implementation, and dissemination. The Community Connected Health initiative set forth by the White House Office of Science and Technology Policy underscored the need to work with communities. Emphasis is placed on CBOs to prioritize their technological needs and goals while integrating strengths and keeping the end users in mind while designing and have support for a representative and diverse health technology workforce [15]. Furthermore, a need exists for thoughtful approaches to equity and inclusion in collecting and using data and for organizations to be involved in community-based health care delivery through actionable data [15]. We built upon a long-standing, cross-sector, and

trusted community-academic partnership between AHSC and a public Washington State University (WSU) College of Nursing since 2015. As a community and academic partnership, we conducted previous CBPR studies regarding capacity building on health-assistive smart home monitoring technology adoption and perceptions about smart home adoption by older Asian American immigrant adults, including Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese. Details were reported elsewhere [16,17].

#### This CBPR Study

CBO leaders organically drove the purpose, aims, and design for this study in partnership with a nursing science research team. The aims they identified for this CBPR cross-sectional survey study were to explore two domains: (1) examine the readiness of diverse groups of Asian American immigrant older adults (Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese) to use a web-based senior center, including technology access and telehealth, and (2) identify the psychosocial health impacts of older Asian American immigrants among Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups that a web-based senior center could be positioned to meet. As a step to understand the potential sustainability of web-based social and health services, we investigated the behaviors and attitudes toward the internet; access to the internet and associated devices; experiences and attitudes toward telehealth; and psychosocial impacts, including needs and effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on diverse Asian American immigrant groups of older adults (Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese) in the United States Pacific Northwest. Findings may inform future studies in maintaining and growing web-based senior centers with a web-based care option for a culturally diverse, nonprofit, Asian-based health and social service center.

# Methods

# **CBPR Cross-Sectional Survey Study Design**

We used a CBPR approach to design, implement, and interpret this cross-sectional survey study and used the principles of mutual trust, rapport, respect, learning, and mentoring [18]. CBPR included equitable involvement of diverse partners throughout the research and dissemination process [18]. Our cross-sector partnership was culturally diverse, multilingual, and multidisciplinary. WSU College of Nursing academic nurse researchers included the principal investigator (PI) with a Vietnamese and Guamanian Micronesian Islander background, specialty in CBPR with immigrants and marginalized communities, and health equity in health-assistive technology adoption; co-PI with a White and Native American background and smart home health-assistive monitoring and informatics specialty; and a statistician with a White background and history in data analysis and management and smart home health-assistive monitoring. AHSC community partners included the chief executive director with a Chinese background and experience in social work and immigrant community health; 3 program managers in community health including the senior program manager with a Korean background and specialty in aging and disability, community program manager with a Chinese background and public health management and policy specialty, and community health project manager with a Chinese

XSL•FO

background and public health specialty; and 4 CHWs with a Chinese, Korean, or Vietnamese background and specialties in psychology, communication disorders, and sciences; education; fine arts; or health promotion and health behavior.

We used surveys from the National Institutes of Health-supported PhenX Toolkit that included the COVID-19 Technology Accessibility Survey (for technology access), Technology Telehealth Use, and Psychosocial Impact of COVID-19 Survey [19]. In addition, the PI, co-PI, and AHSC chief executive director codeveloped the items about written and audio or video communication apps, internet service provider, mobile phone use, mobile data plan, and access to the internet via a mobile phone (ie, technology access). The PI and co-PI consulted with a biostatistician and discussed with the nurse researcher statistician regarding the selection of items and technical functionality. The chief executive director and 3 program managers at AHSC reviewed and pretested the survey (Multimedia Appendices 1 and 2) for face validity and technical functionality. AHSC community partners discussed among themselves about meaningful interpretation and discussed with academic nurse researchers on a regular basis throughout the research process. AHSC community partners spoke English and Chinese Cantonese, Chinese Mandarin, Korean, or Vietnamese and assisted the academic nurse researchers with outreach, recruitment, and interpretation. This aligns with the AHSC holistic health care and social services model, which provides cultural and linguistic interpretation in the context of a real-world health and social service setting [12]. The study was conducted at the AHSC in the United States Pacific Northwest between March 2022 and April 2022.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

This study underwent a limited review and received a certificate of exemption from full board review by the WSU Human Research Protection Program (18816). Each participant received a shopping gift card worth US \$10 (eg, grocery) upon completion that honored and thanked them.

#### Measurements

As of October 29, 2020, at the beginning of the CBPR design, the PI reviewed 94 COVID-19 survey protocols that were made publicly available for use, the PhenX Toolkit by the trans-National Institutes of Health working group, that consisted of the National Institute on Aging and the Office of Behavioral and Social Sciences Research [20]. Owing to the urgency of need for COVID-19-specific survey measurements at the time, these items did not undergo the same level of standardization, harmonization, or psychometric testing as per the PhenX consensus process [20]. Our academic and community partnership discussed, selected, consulted, and pretested the survey as described previously in the CBPR Cross-Sectional Survey Study Design section. Therefore, each item incorporated in the survey was treated as its own variable, rather than contributing to the measurement scales. The survey consisted of the following: sociodemographic and background items from our previous CBPR [17]; technology access items from the National Institute on Aging Alzheimer's Disease Research Centers and Levey [21] and from the items codeveloped by the PI, co-PI, and AHSC chief executive director; telehealth use

items from the Institute on Aging at the University of Florida [22]; and psychosocial health impact items from the National Institute of Mental Health Intramural Research Program [23]. Of the technology access items, we incorporated our codeveloped items as described previously. We used the secure and password-protected WSU Qualtrics web-based platform, formatted the survey, and entered the participant responses.

#### Participants, Recruitment, and Data Collection

Overall, 7 trained program managers and CHWs at AHSC reached out to clients from the AHSC registry and used a script to provide oral information about the study primarily via telephone, with some in-person communication. The script contained information similar to the consent form that included the study purpose, investigators, eligibility, voluntary participation, procedures, shopping gift card for completion, and contact information. If an individual expressed interest, an AHSC community partner referred them to the web-based Qualtrics site that has the combined consent form, eligibility, and survey. Through the consent form, individuals were informed about the study purpose and investigators. Only a unique study number will be used to follow up for providing a shopping gift card, and it will be accessible to community-academic research partnership. Responses will be entered into the secure Qualtrics web-based platform and retained for 3 years. The survey takes approximately 30 minutes. The participants were also informed about the potential for risks, such as emotional discomfort, feeling of embarrassment, or loss of privacy if the participant chooses to have interpretation assistance. Individuals were asked to participate in the study if they were eligible and complete the survey. Participants could choose either Chinese Cantonese, Chinese Mandarin, Korean, or Vietnamese interpretation assistance from an AHSC community partner as they completed the survey. This convenient and purposive sample included a total of 216 individuals who identified as an Asian American immigrant and were aged  $\geq 60$  years.

#### **Data Analysis**

All statistical analyses were performed using R (version 4.2.0) [24] and RStudio (version 2022.7.1) [25], with the *tidyverse* (version 1.3.1) [26], arsenal (version 3.6.3) [27], labelled (version 2.9.1) [28], and *psych* (version 2.2.5) [29] packages. We analyzed the data of older Asian American immigrants as a whole and as disaggregated data that are stratified by race and ethnicity. Of the 216 older Asian American immigrant adults, a subtotal was 193 (89.4%) across Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups. There was low participation of Taiwanese and multiracial individuals, and a participant reported as being Asian and having a different ethnicity than listed previously; therefore, we described meaningful interpretation of group-wide comparisons across and among Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups alongside the total group of older Asian American immigrant adults. For the purpose of this paper about learnings from a real-world CBPR survey study, we decided not to combine groups with low participation into less meaningful aggregated data. This also protects the privacy of these individual analyses. Frequencies and percentages were reported for categorical variables, ordinal variables, and

XSL•FO RenderX

variables with select-all response categories (ie, >1 response). Means (SDs) were reported for continuous variables, and medians (IQRs) were reported for continuous and ordinal variables. We used Bonferroni correction to maintain a cross-study, family-wise error rate of 0.05; thus,  $\alpha$ =.0008 was the cutoff for statistical significance among Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups. Therefore, all *P* values were reported to 4 decimals to be specific and align with a meaningful data analysis, and we reported data at a granular level to align with disaggregated data science. For mutually exclusive categorical variables, Fishers exact tests were performed to examine for any group differences and the variables under consideration (*P*=.0008). We also reported  $\chi^2$  (*df*) and *P* values for continuous and ordinal variables from Kruskal-Wallis rank sum tests.

We maintained a health equity lens as a community-academic partnership. The PI and statistician discussed the data and data analysis outputs first, and then with the co-PI, and this informed a culturally responsive discussion with AHSC community partners with regard to the observed response patterns. The statistician maintained field note records that captured reflexivity where we discussed potential bias as a community-academic partnership. Analytics and outputs reflected the insights gained from these discussions, contributing to the reflexive nature of the study. These records were reviewed by the PI and discussed within the community-academic partnership. Such discussions and record keeping promoted communication transparency as a way to address potential bias. We achieved meaningful data interpretation by being responsive to community partners.

# Results

# Overview

In total, AHSC community partners reached out to 245 older Asian immigrant adult clients, of whom 25 (10.2%) declined to participate in the study. Reasons for not participating included the survey length and not having experience with telehealth. The length of time to complete the survey was 60 minutes. After the statistician performed initial screening for duplicate or erroneous entries, then we discussed as a community-academic partnership and 88.2% (216/245) of the survey responses were retained for data analysis—response rate: 216/245, 88.2% and completion rate: 216/216, 100% (ie, started and completed the survey). The completeness rate (ie, no missing responses and completed answering the survey items) was approximately 93.9% (203/216). Absolute and total numbers are shown in all tables.

# Sociodemographics and Background of Participants

In total, there were 216 older Asian American immigrant adults. Overall, 39.8% (86/216) identified as Chinese, 25% (54/216) as Korean, 24.5% (53/216) as Vietnamese, 6.9% (15/216) as Taiwanese, and 3.2% (7/216) as multiracial, and 0.5% (1/216) reported as having a different Asian ethnicity than listed previously. There were 89.4% (193/216) participants across older Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese immigrant adults. Most Chinese (34/86, 40%) and Korean (28/54, 52%) participants had postsecondary education, and most Vietnamese participants (27/53, 51%) graduated from high school. Of the Chinese,

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e49493
```

XSL•FO

Korean, and Vietnamese participants, 60.6% (117/193) reported <US \$15,000 as total household income before taxes, of which 59% (51/86) is Chinese, 56% (30/54) is Korean, and 68% (36/53) is Vietnamese. Overall, 97.9% (189/193) of participants have a regular place of care for nonemergency health care services. Furthermore, 95% (82/86) of the Chinese participants and all Korean (54/54, 100%) and Vietnamese (53/53, 100%) participants reported having a regular place of care.

Multimedia Appendix 3 summarizes the sociodemographics and background characteristics of older Asian American immigrant adults and Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups.

## Behaviors, Attitudes, and Access to the Internet and Internet-Enabled Devices

Table 1 summarizes the behaviors, attitudes, and access to the internet and internet-enabled devices of older Asian American immigrant adults and Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups. Overall, 13% (7/53) of Vietnamese and 2% (2/86) of Chinese participants reported not having a mobile phone at all. In total, most participants (208/216, 96.3% older Asian American immigrants; 185/193, 95.9% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese) reported that they have or have access to a smartphone or tablet; 97% (83/86) of Chinese participants, 100% (54/54) of Korean participants, and 91% (48/53) of Vietnamese participants reported access. Less than half (97/216, 44.9% older Asian American immigrants; 85/193, 44% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese) of the participants have or have access to a PC (either desktop or laptop); 37% (32/86) of Chinese participants, 57% (31/54) of Korean participants, and 42% (22/53) of Vietnamese participants reported access. In total, most participants (160/215, 74.4% older Asian American immigrants; 144/192, 75% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese) have a national internet service provider; 71% (60/85) of Chinese participants, 82% (44/54) of Korean participants, and 76% (40/53) of Vietnamese participants have a national internet service provider. Some participants (22/215, 10.2% older Asian American immigrants; 20/192, 10.4% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese) have no internet service provider; 11% (9/85) of Chinese participants, 7% (4/54) of Korean participants, and 13% (7/53) of Vietnamese participants have no internet service provider. Most participants have an unlimited mobile data plan (116/216, 53.7% older Asian American immigrants; 102/193, 52.8% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese); 44% (38/86) of Chinese participants, 72% (39/54) of Korean participants, and 47% (25/53) of Vietnamese participants have an unlimited mobile data plan. However, there was a statistically significant difference among Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups (P=.0005), with Korean participants reporting having unlimited data at a much higher rate (39/54, 72%) than Chinese participants (38/86, 44%) or Vietnamese participants (25/53, 47%). There were also significant differences among groups (P=.0005) about having started using a new electronic device to communicate with friends and family after the COVID-19 outbreak with most being Korean participants (31/54, 57%) followed by Chinese participants (15/86, 17%) and a Vietnamese (1/53, 2%) participant. There were no significant differences among groups with regard to technology savvy responses ( $\chi^2_2$ =3.2; P=.202). Overall, very

few participants (9/216, 4.2% older Asian American immigrants; 7/193, 3.6% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese) perceived themselves to be very technology savvy. Most participants perceived themselves to be only a little technology savvy (76/216, 35.2% older Asian American immigrants;

67/193, 34.7% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese; 26/86, 30% Chinese; 17/54, 32% Koreans; 24/53, 45% Vietnamese) or not at all (93/216, 43.1% older Asian American immigrants; 82/193, 42.5% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese; 41/86, 48% Chinese; 25/54, 46% Koreans; 16/53, 30% Vietnamese).

# Nguyen-Truong et al

Table 1. Behaviors, attitudes, and access to the internet and internet-enabled devices of older Asian American immigrant adults and Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups.

Var	iables	Total older	Subtotal across	Chinese immi-	Korean immi-	Vietnamese im-	<i>P</i> value	Chi-
		Asian American immigrants (n=216) <sup>a</sup>	older Chinese, Korean, and Viet- namese immi- grants (n=193) <sup>b</sup>	grants (n=86) <sup>c</sup>	grants (n=54) <sup>c</sup>	$(n=53)^{c}$		square ( <i>df</i> ) <sup>d</sup>
Doe pho	es not have a mobile ne, n (%)	10 (4.6)	9 (4.7)	2 (2)	0 (0)	7 (13)	.003 <sup>e</sup>	N/A <sup>f</sup>
Has or is (%)	a smartphone or tablet s able to access one, n	208 (96.3)	185 (95.9)	83 (97)	54 (100)	48 (91)	.048 <sup>e</sup>	N/A
Has top) one	a PC (desktop or lap- or is able to access , n (%)	97 (44.9)	85 (44)	32 (37)	31 (57)	22 (42)	.0565 <sup>e</sup>	N/A
Has net- sma dev (%)	access to other inter- enabled device (eg, rtwatch, smart home ice, or television), n	15 (6.9)	13 (6.7)	8 (9)	3 (6)	2 (4)	.4213 <sup>e</sup>	N/A
Wh	o is your internet prov	ider? (multiple r	esponses) <sup>g</sup> , n (%)				.1794 <sup>e</sup>	N/A
	National internet ser- vice provider	160 (74.4)	144 (74.6)	60 (71)	44 (82)	40 (76)		
	Regional or local inter- net service provider	13 (6)	12 (6.2)	6 (7)	5 (9)	1 (2)		
	Mobile phone	7 (3.3)	6 (3.1)	5 (6)	1 (2)	0 (0)		
	National internet ser- vice provider and mo- bile phone	2 (0.9)	1 (0.5)	1 (1)	0 (0)	0 (0)		
	Regional or local inter- net service provider and mobile phone	1 (0.5) <sup>a</sup>	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)		
	Specified an internet provider different from abovementioned ones	2 (0.9)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (2)		
	Not sure	8 (3.7)	8 (4.2)	4 (5)	0 (0)	4 (8)		
	None	22 (10.2)	20 (10.4)	9 (11)	4 (7)	7 (13)		
Mo	bile data plan type, n (	(%)					.0005 <sup>e</sup>	N/A
	Capped or limited plan	10 (4.6)	9 (4.7)	6 (7)	1 (2)	2 (4)		
	Capped or limited plan amount unsure	39 (18.1)	36 (18.7)	14 (16)	6 (11)	16 (30)		
	Not applicable (ie, no mobile phone)	10 (4.6)	9 (4.7)	2 (2)	0 (0)	7 (13)		
	None	4 (1.9)	4 (2.1)	3 (4)	0 (0)	1 (2)		
	Unlimited	116 (53.7)	102 (52.8)	38 (44)	39 (72)	25 (47)		
	Unsure about plan type	37 (17.1)	33 (17.1)	23 (27)	8 (15)	2 (4)		
Do	you consider yourself (	to be technology s	savvy?				.202 <sup>d</sup>	3.2 (2)
	Score, median (IQR)	2 (1-2)	2 (1-2)	2 (1-2)	2 (1-2)	2 (1-2)		
	Not at all, n (%)	93 (43.1)	82 (42.5)	41 (48)	25 (46)	16 (30)		
	A little, n (%)	76 (35.2)	67 (34.7)	26 (30)	17 (32)	24 (45)		

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e49493

XSL-FO RenderX

Nguyen-Truong et al

Variables	Total older Asian American immigrants (n=216) <sup>a</sup>	Subtotal across older Chinese, Korean, and Viet- namese immi- grants (n=193) <sup>b</sup>	Chinese immi- grants (n=86) <sup>c</sup>	Korean immi- grants (n=54) <sup>c</sup>	Vietnamese im- migrants (n=53) <sup>c</sup>	<i>P</i> value	Chi- square ( <i>df</i> ) <sup>d</sup>
Somewhat so, n (%)	38 (17.6)	37 (19.2)	16 (19)	12 (22)	9 (17)		
Very much so, n (%)	9 (4.2)	7 (3.6)	3 (4)	0 (0)	4 (8)		
Overall, how confident do you need to do online?	.4224 <sup>d</sup>	1.7 (2)					
Score, median (IQR)	2 (1-3)	2 (1-3)	2 (1-3)	2 (1-2.8)	2 (1-3)		
Not at all confident, n (%)	89 (41.2)	80 (41.5)	34 (40)	26 (48)	20 (38)		
Only a little confident, n (%)	66 (30.6)	57 (29.5)	27 (31)	14 (26)	16 (30)		
Somewhat confident, n (%)	50 (23.1)	47 (24.4)	21 (24)	14 (26)	12 (23)		
Very confident, n (%)	11 (5.1)	9 (4.7)	4 (5)	0 (0)	5 (9)		
Have you started using a new electronic device to communicate with friends and family after the COVID-19 outbreak? (yes), n (%)	52 (24.1)	47 (24.4)	15 (17)	31 (57)	1 (2)	.0005 <sup>e</sup>	N/A
Before the COVID-19 out	break, would you	ı say technology ha	is had a mostly p	ositive effect on o	our society or a	.0221 <sup>d</sup>	7.6 (2)
mostly negative effect on	our society <sup>h</sup> ?						
Score, median (IQR)	3 (2-3)	3 (2-3)	2 (2-3)	2.5 (2-3)	3 (2-3)		
1=mostly negative, n (%)	7 (3.3)	6 (3.1)	2 (2)	4 (7)	0 (0)		
2=equal positive and negative effects, n (%)	98 (45.6)	88 (45.8)	47 (55)	23 (43)	18 (34)		
3=mostly positive, n (%)	110 (51.2)	98 (51)	36 (42)	27 (50)	35 (66)		
After the COVID-19 outb mostly negative effect on	oreak, would you our society?	say technology has	had a mostly po	sitive effect on ou	r society or a	0.2518 <sup>d</sup>	2.8 (2)
Score, median (IQR)	3 (2-3)	3 (2-3)	3 (2-3)	3 (2-3)	3 (2-3)		
1=mostly negative, n (%)	6 (2.8)	5 (2.6)	0 (0)	5 (9)	0 (0)		
2=equal positive and negative effects, n (%)	78 (36.1)	69 (35.8)	33 (38)	19 (35)	17 (32)		
3=mostly positive, n (%)	132 (61.1)	119 (61.7)	53 (62)	30 (56)	36 (68)		

<sup>a</sup>Responses from participants who identified as Chinese, Korean, Vietnamese, Taiwanese, and multiracial and a participant who specified Asian race and ethnicity different from those listed previously.

<sup>b</sup>Responses from participants who identified as Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese.

<sup>c</sup>Responses from participants who identified as Chinese, Korean, or Vietnamese.

<sup>d</sup>Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test.

<sup>e</sup>Fisher exact test.

XSL•FO RenderX

<sup>f</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>g</sup>Overall, 1 missing response from the Chinese group; total sample size=215; subtotal sample size=192; Chinese sample size=85; Korean sample size=54; Vietnamese sample size=53.

<sup>h</sup>Total sample size=215; subtotal sample size=192; Chinese sample size=85; Korean sample size=54; Vietnamese sample size=53.

# Apps Used for Written and Audio or Video Communication

Table 2 shows the apps used for written and audio or video communication by older Asian American immigrant adults and Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups. Approximately half of the participants (103/212, 48.6% older Asian American immigrants; 91/189, 48.1% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese) used email for written communication, with email use at 44% (37/85) for Chinese participants, 57% (31/54) for Korean participants, and 46% (23/50) for Vietnamese participants. Most participants used mobile phone texting for written communication (131/212, 61.8% older Asian American immigrants; 118/189, 62.4% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese; 42/85, 49% Chinese; 44/54, 82% Koreans; 32/50, 64% Vietnamese). The following results were regarding written communication apps and audio or video communication apps. Chinese participants used WeChat the most for written communication (65/85, 77%) and audio or video communication

(57/84, 68%) among the apps. Korean participants were the only participants who reported having used KakaoTalk with most use for written communication (49/54, 91%) and audio or video communication (49/54, 91%). Vietnamese participants mostly reported the use of Facebook Messenger (32/50, 64%) for written communication and Apple Face Time (33/50, 66%) or Facebook Messenger (31/50, 62%) for audio or video communication. Some participants did not use any of the written communication apps (20/212, 9.4% older Asian American immigrants; 17/189, 8.9% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese); 18% (9/50) of Vietnamese participants, 7% (6/85) of Chinese participants, and 4% (2/54) of Korean participants did not use written communication apps. Some participants did not use any of the audio or video communication apps (22/211, 10.4% older Asian American immigrants; 20/188, 10.6% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese); 20% (10/50) of Vietnamese participants, 11% (9/84) of Chinese participants, and 2% (1/54) of Korean participants did not use audio or video communication apps.



#### Nguyen-Truong et al

Table 2. Apps used for written and audio or video communication by older Asian American immigrant adults and by Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups.

Variables	Total older Asian American immi- grants, n (%) <sup>a</sup>	Subtotal across older Chinese, Ko- rean, and Viet- namese immi- grants, n (%) <sup>b</sup>	Chinese immi- grants, n (%) <sup>c</sup>	Korean immi- grants, n (%) <sup>c</sup>	Vietnamese immi- grants, n (%) <sup>c</sup>
What communication apps are you using for w	ritten communicati	on? <sup>d</sup> (multiple respo	onses)		
Email	103 (48.6)	91 (48.1)	37 (44)	31 (57)	23 (46)
Mobile phone texting	131 (61.8)	118 (62.4)	42 (49)	44 (82)	32 (64)
Facebook Messenger	49 (23.1)	44 (23.3)	7 (8)	5 (9)	32 (64)
WhatsApp	11 (5.2)	9 (4.8)	9 (11)	0 (0)	0 (0)
WeChat	74 (34.9)	66 (34.9)	65 (77)	1 (2)	0 (0)
KakaoTalk	49 (23.1)	49 (25.9)	0 (0)	49 (91)	0 (0)
Line	24 (11.3)	10 (5.3)	10 (12)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Specified a written communication app differ- ent from abovementioned ones (ie, Twitter, Google Chat, Skype, LinkedIn, Telegram, Zalo, Viber, Instagram, and TikTok)	29 (13.7)	27 (14.3)	6 (7)	4 (7)	17 (34)
None	20 (9.4)	17 (8.9)	6 (7)	2 (4)	9 (18)
What communication apps are you using for a	udio/video commun	ication? <sup>e</sup> (multiple r	esponses)		
Apple FaceTime	83 (39.3)	73 (38.8)	21 (25)	19 (35)	33 (66)
Video Android	20 (9.5)	19 (10.1)	6 (7)	13 (24)	0 (0)
Facebook Messenger	39 (18.5)	38 (20.2)	3 (4)	4 (7)	31 (62)
Zoom	31 (14.7)	29 (15.4)	13 (16)	16 (30)	0 (0)
WeChat	65 (30.8)	58 (30.9)	57 (68)	1 (2)	0 (0)
KakaoTalk	49 (23.2)	49 (26.1)	0 (0)	49 (91)	0 (0)
Line	20 (9.5)	7 (3.7)	7 (8)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Specified an audio/video communication app different from abovementioned ones (ie, Skype, WhatsApp, Telegram, Zalo, Viber, Tango, and FCC HD)	24 (11.4)	21 (11.2)	8 (10)	2 (4)	11 (22)
None	22 (10.4)	20 (10.6)	9 (11)	1 (2)	10 (20)

<sup>a</sup>Responses from participants who identified as Chinese, Korean, Vietnamese, Taiwanese, and multiracial and a participant who specified Asian race and ethnicity different from those listed previously.

<sup>b</sup>Responses from participants who identified as Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese.

<sup>c</sup>Responses from participants who identified as Chinese, Korean, or Vietnamese.

<sup>d</sup>Overall, 4 missing responses, of which 1 (25%) was from the Chinese group and 3 (75%) were from the Vietnamese group; total sample size=212; subtotal sample size=189; Chinese sample size=85; Korean sample size=54; Vietnamese sample size=50.

<sup>e</sup>Overall, 5 missing responses, of which 2 (40%) were from the Chinese group and 3 (60%) were from the Vietnamese group; total sample size=211; subtotal sample size=185; Chinese sample size=84; Korean sample size=54; Vietnamese sample size=50.

#### **Experience With and Attitudes Toward Telehealth**

Table 3 summarizes the experiences and attitudes of older Asian American immigrant adults and Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups toward telehealth. Overall, approximately one-fourth of the older Asian American immigrant adults (48/215, 22.3%; across Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups: 42/192, 21.9%) already had a telehealth appointment, with Korean participants at 28% (15/54), Chinese participants at 25% (21/85), and Vietnamese participants at 11% (6/53). There were significant differences among the groups (P=.0005)

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e49493

RenderX

that expressed they would never consider trying a telehealth appointment. Just less than half of the older Asian American immigrant adults (95/215, 44.2%; 87/192, 45.3% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese groups; 22/85, 26% Chinese; 24/54, 44% Koreans; 41/53, 77% Vietnamese) reported that they would never consider trying a telehealth appointment. Participants were able to choose >1 response regarding specific concerns about telehealth services. More than half of the participants worried about the quality of health care (121/212, 57.1% older Asian American immigrants; 110/190, 57.9% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese; 34/83, 41% Chinese; 30/54, 56%

Koreans; 46/53, 87% Vietnamese), less than half of the participants were not convinced that a telehealth diagnosis can ever be truly accurate (93/212, 43.9% older Asian American immigrants; 81/190, 42.6% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese; 27/83, 33% Chinese; 23/54, 43% Koreans; 31/53, 59% Vietnamese), and approximately one-third of the participants have never used telehealth services before and do not know how to start (68/212, 32.1% older Asian American immigrants; 61/190, 32.1% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese; 13/83, 16% Chinese; 20/54, 37% Koreans; 28/53, 53% Vietnamese). There were significant differences in perspectives regarding the main advantages of telehealth services among Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups (P=.0005). Approximately half of the total older Asian American immigrant adults (102/214, 47.7%) reported no need for transportation as the main advantage of telehealth services, whereas approximately all Vietnamese participants (47/53, 89%) selected this reason as the main advantage, as compared with half of Korean participants (28/54, 52%), and less than one-fourth of Chinese participants (20/85, 24%). In total, less than half of the participants (95/215, 44.2% older Asian American immigrants;

81/192, 42.2% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese; 24/85, 28% Chinese; 22/54, 41% Koreans; 35/53, 66% Vietnamese) reported that a telehealth visit will never match an in-person visit. Furthermore, 39% (33/85) of Chinese participants reported that although telehealth does not compare with in-person visits, it Is a good option for initial consultation or basic care; followed by 28% (15/54) Korean participants and 17% (9/53) Vietnamese participants. There were significant differences in having the COVID-19 outbreak change the perspectives about telehealth use among groups ( $\chi^2_2$ =20.6; *P*<.0001), and the median was 2 (IQR 2-3) for the Chinese group, 1 (IQR 1-3) for the Korean group, and 2 (IQR 1-2) for the Vietnamese group. Most Korean participants (33/54, 61%) reported to be less likely to use telehealth, approximately half of Chinese participants reported having the same opinion as before the COVID-19 outbreak (47/85, 55%), more than half of Vietnamese participants reported having the same opinion as before the COVID-19 outbreak (29/52, 56%), and more than one-fourth of Chinese participants (25/85, 29%) reported to be more likely to use telehealth in the future.



#### Table 3. Experience and attitudes of older Asian American immigrant adults and Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups toward telehealth.

	-	Total older Asian American immi- grants <sup>a</sup>	Subtotal across older Chinese, Ko- rean, and Viet- namese immi- grants <sup>b</sup>	Chinese immi- grants <sup>c</sup>	Korean immi- grants <sup>c</sup>	Vietnamese immi- grants <sup>c</sup>	P value	Chi- square ( <i>df</i> ) <sup>d</sup>
Ha	ve vou considered trying	g a telehealth appo	intment?				0005 <sup>e</sup>	N/Af
	Sample size n	215	192	85	54	53	.0005	IN/A
	No, and I would never consider a telehealth appointment, n (%)	95 (44.2)	87 (45.3)	22 (26)	24 (44)	41 (77)		
	No, but I would consid- er a telehealth appoint, n (%)	37 (17.2)	31 (16.1)	20 (24)	7 (13)	4 (8)		
	Yes, I have considered it, but I have not yet had an appointment, n (%)	35 (16.3)	32 (16.7)	22 (26)	8 (15)	2 (4)		
	Yes, and I have already had a telehealth appoint- ment, n (%)	48 (22.3)	42 (21.9)	21 (25)	15 (28)	6 (11)		
Do	es anything in particula	r concern you abou	it telehealth services	s? <sup>g</sup> (multiple resp	oonses)		N/A	N/A
	Sample size, n	212	190	83	54	53		
	I worry about the quali- ty of health care, n (%)	121 (57.1)	110 (57.9)	34 (41)	30 (56)	46 (87)		
	I am not convinced a telehealth diagnosis can ever be truly accurate, n (%)	93 (43.9)	81 (42.6)	27 (32.5)	23 (43)	31 (59)		
	I do not want my ap- pointment to be record- ed, n (%)	12 (5.7)	10 (5.3)	8 (10)	1 (2)	1 (2)		
	I worry about the priva- cy of my personal health information, n (%)	21 (9.9)	19 (10)	15 (18)	1 (2)	3 (6)		
	I do not have an elec- tronic device to access telehealth services, n (%)	26 (12.3)	25 (13.2)	5 (6)	12 (22)	8 (15)		
	I have never used tele- health services before and do not know how to start, n (%)	68 (32.1)	61 (32.1)	13 (16)	20 (37)	28 (53)		
	A medical interpreter is not available for me, n (%)	19 (9)	14 (7.4)	12 (15)	0 (0)	2 (4)		
	Specified reason is dif- ferent from abovemen- tioned ones, n (%)	27 (12.7)	25 (13.2)	16 (19)	9 (17)	0 (0)		
W	hat do you view as the m	ain advantage to t	elehealth services?				.0005 <sup>c</sup>	N/A
	Sample size, n	215	192	85	54	53		
	Quicker access to care, n (%)	52 (24.3)	46 (23.9)	32 (38)	9 (17)	5 (9)		
	Greater access to care in remote areas, n (%)	14 (6.5)	13 (6.8)	13 (15)	0 (0)	0 (0)		

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e49493

XSL•FO RenderX

Nguyen-Truong et al

		Total older Asian American immi- grants <sup>a</sup>	Subtotal across older Chinese, Ko- rean, and Viet- namese immi- grants <sup>b</sup>	Chinese immi- grants <sup>c</sup>	Korean immi- grants <sup>c</sup>	Vietnamese immi- grants <sup>c</sup>	P value	Chi- square ( <i>df</i> ) <sup>d</sup>
	No need for transporta- tion, n (%)	102 (47.7)	95 (49.5)	20 (24)	28 (52)	47 (89)		
	The ability to take less time out of my day, n (%)	32 (14.9)	28 (14.6)	10 (12)	17 (32)	1 (2)		
	Avoid overcrowding of waiting rooms, n (%)	14 (6.5)	10 (5.2)	10 (12)	0 (0)	0 (0)		
W	hich of the following mig	ht deter you from	making a future tel	ehealth appointm	ent? <sup>h</sup> (multiple r	responses)	N/A	N/A
	Sample size, n	210	188	81	54	53		
	I just prefer to meet with someone in per- son, n (%)	158 (75.2)	139 (73.9)	43 (53)	44 (82)	52 (98)		
	Greater access to care in remote areas, n (%)	18 (8.6)	18 (9.6)	9 (11)	9 (17)	0 (0)		
	I do not want to mess with technology, n (%)	49 (23.3)	47 (25)	18 (22)	7 (13)	22 (42)		
	I am not convinced that someone could give good health care by telehealth, n (%)	58 (27.6)	54 (28.7)	17 (21)	4 (7)	33 (62)		
	I do not think my inter- net connection is good enough, n (%)	19 (9)	19 (10.1)	7 (9)	7 (13)	5 (9)		
Do	you feel that people get	comparable health	n care through teleh	ealth as they do f	or in-person visit	s?	.0015 <sup>c</sup>	N/A
	Sample size, n	215	192	85	54	53		
	No, telehealth care will never match the quality of an in-person visit, n (%)	95 (44.2)	81 (42.2)	24 (28)	22 (41)	35 (66)		
	No, but telehealth is a good option for initial consultation or basis care, n (%)	60 (27.9)	57 (29.7)	33 (39)	15 (28)	9 (17)		
	Yes I think the care is comparable, n (%)	41 (19.1)	37 (19.3)	16 (19)	14 (26)	7 (13)		
	I am not sure, n (%)	19 (8.8)	17 (8.9)	12 (14)	3 (6)	2 (4)		
Ha	s the COVID-19 outbrea	ak changed your vi	iew of telehealth?				<.0001 <sup>d</sup>	20.6 (2)
	Sample size, n	214	191	85	54	52		
	Score, median (IQR)	2 (1-2)	2 (1-2)	2 (2-3)	1 (1-3)	2 (1-2)		
	1=I am less likely to use telehealth, n (%)	72 (33.6)	67 (35.1)	13 (15)	33 (61)	21 (40)		
	2=I have the same opinion compared to before the COVID-19 outbreak, n (%)	91 (42.5)	81 (42.4)	47 (55)	5 (9)	29 (56)		
	3=I am more likely to use telehealth, n (%)	51 (23.8)	43 (22.2)	25 (29)	16 (30)	2 (4)		
We	ould you wear a smartwa	atch to help your d	octor track your syı	nptoms between	appointments?		.0128 <sup>d</sup>	8.7 (2)

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e49493



		Total older Asian American immi- grants <sup>a</sup>	Subtotal across older Chinese, Ko- rean, and Viet- namese immi- grants <sup>b</sup>	Chinese immi- grants <sup>c</sup>	Korean immi- grants <sup>c</sup>	Vietnamese immi- grants <sup>c</sup>	P value	Chi- square ( <i>df</i> ) <sup>d</sup>
S	Sample size, n	215	192	85	54	53		
S	Score, median (IQR)	2 (1-4)	2 (1-3.2)	1 (1-4)	3 (1-4)	2 (1-2)		
1	=not likely, n (%)	103 (47.9)	92 (47.9)	45 (53)	23 (43)	24 (45)		
2 ('	e=somewhat likely, n %)	31 (14.4)	31 (16.1)	6 (7)	2 (4)	23 (43)		
3	=likely, n (%)	26 (12.1)	21 (10.9)	12 (14)	3 (6)	6 (11)		
4	=very likely, n (%)	55 (25.6)	48 (25)	22 (26)	26 (48)	0 (0)		

<sup>a</sup>Responses from participants who identified as Chinese, Korean, Vietnamese, Taiwanese, and multiracial and a participant who specified Asian race and ethnicity different from those listed previously.

<sup>b</sup>Responses from participants who identified as Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese.

<sup>c</sup>Responses from participants who identified as Chinese, Korean, or Vietnamese.

<sup>d</sup>Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test.

<sup>e</sup>Fisher exact test.

<sup>f</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>g</sup>Overall, 4 missing responses, of which 3 (75%) were from the Chinese group and 1 (25%) was from Asian race and ethnicity was different from those listed previously.

<sup>h</sup>Overall, 6 missing responses, of which 5 (83%) were from the Chinese group and 1 (17%) was from Asian race and ethnicity was different from those listed previously.

#### Psychosocial Needs and Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Multimedia Appendix 4 summarizes the psychosocial needs of and effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on older Asian American immigrant adults and Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups. There were significant differences among Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups, pertaining to overall psychosocial health, social distancing, worries, and functioning. For overall psychosocial health with regard to how well they have been able to concentrate or focus during the COVID-19 outbreak (1=not at all to 10=extremely well;  $\chi^2_2$ =44.7; P<.0001), the median was 8 (IQR 8-9) for the Korean group, 6 (IQR 1-8) for the Vietnamese group, and 5 (IQR 4-6) for the Chinese group. With regard to how much they have been able to maintain social distance (1=not at all to 10=at all times;  $\chi^2_2$ =33.6; P<.0001), the median was 10 (IQR 9-10) for the Korean group, 9 (IQR 9-10) for the Vietnamese group, and 8 (IQR 6-10) for the Chinese group. With regard to how stressful it has been to maintain social distancing owing to the COVID-19 outbreak (1=not at all stressful to 10=extremely stressful;  $\chi^2_2$ =16.1; P=.0003), the median was 7 (IQR 5-9) for the Vietnamese group, 5 (IQR 2-9.8) for the Korean group, and 5 (IQR 1-7) for the Chinese group. For the following worry-related items (1=not at all worried to 10=extremely worried), such as how worried they have been about SARS-CoV-2 ( $\chi^2_2$ =37.9; P<.0001), that they will be infected with SARS-CoV-2 ( $\chi^2_2$ =75.5; P<.0001), that a family member will be infected with SARS-CoV-2  $(\chi^2_2=55.3; P<.0001)$ , and that people around them will be infected with SARS-CoV-2 ( $\chi^2_2$ =70.1; P<.0001), the median

was 8 (IQR 7-9), 9 (IQR 9-9), 9 (IQR 9-9), and 9 (IQR 9-9), respectively, for the Vietnamese group; 7 (IQR 4-8), 7 (IQR 4-8), 7 (IQR 5-8), and 7 (IQR 5-8), respectively, for the Chinese group; and 5 (IQR 1-8), 2 (IQR 1-5), 4.5 (IQR 1-7.8), and 2 (IQR 1-6), respectively, for the Korean group. With regard to how worried they have been about not being able to afford or access food during the COVID-19 pandemic ( $\chi^2_2$ =62.6; P < .0001), how worried they were about access to important resources, such as transportation or housing owing to the COVID-19 outbreak ( $\chi^2_2$ =45.4; P<.0001), and how the COVID-19 crisis in their area created financial problems for participants or their family ( $\chi^2_2$ =17.7; P=.0001), the median was 7 (IQR 5-8), 6 (IQR 1-8), and 2 (IQR 1-8), respectively, for the Vietnamese group; 3 (IQR 1-5), 3 (IQR 1-5), and 3 (IQR 1-5), respectively, for the Chinese group; and 1 (IQR 1-2), 1 (IQR 1-1), and 1 (IQR 1-1), respectively, for the Korean group. With regards to functioning, participants have experienced difficulties in life owing to the COVID-19 outbreak (1=experienced no difficulties to 10=experienced extreme difficulties;  $\chi^2_2 = 51$ ; P<.0001) and the distress they have had owing to the COVID-19 outbreak (1=not at all distressed to 10=extremely distressed;  $\chi^2_2$ =22.1; P<.0001), the median was 6 (IQR 5-7) and 7 (IQR 5-7), respectively, for the Vietnamese group; 5 (IQR 2-6) and 5 (IQR 2-6), respectively, for the Chinese group; and 1 (IQR 1-3) and 4.5 (IQR 1-6.8), respectively, for the Korean group.

Most participants reported that 2 people lived in their house including themselves (112/215, 52.1% older Asian American immigrants; 99/192, 51.6% across Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese; 51/85, 60% Chinese; 27/54, 50% Koreans; 21/53, 40% Vietnamese). There were *significant* differences with

XSL•FO RenderX regard to having had a family/household member's salary, *hours*, or contracts significantly reduced (P=.0005) and having had a family/household member or friend fallen physically ill (P=.0005) owing to the COVID-19 outbreak. Most Vietnamese participants (15/53, 28%) had a family/household member's salary, *hours*, or contracts significantly reduced, followed by Korean (8/53, 15%) and Chinese (2/81, 2%) participants. Most Korean participants (10/53, 19%) reported having had a family/household member or friend fallen physically ill, followed by Chinese (7/81, 9%) and Vietnamese (0/53, 0%) participants. There were *significant* differences among Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups in how relationships have been between members of family/household during the COVID-19 outbreak (1=extremely negative to 10=extremely positive;

between members of family/household during the COVID-19 outbreak (1=extremely negative to 10=extremely positive;  $\chi^2_2$ =33.2; *P*<.0001), and the median was 9 (7.2-10) for the Korean group, 9 (IQR 7.8-9.2) for the Vietnamese group, and 6 (IQR 5-8) for the Chinese group. There were *significant* differences among Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups regarding what the exercise activity level has been ( $\chi^2_2$ =20.2; *P*<.0001) and how much they have engaged in hobbies ( $\chi^2_2$ =26.6; *P*<.0001) since the COVID-19 outbreak—the median was 5 (IQR 4-5) and 6 (IQR 5-7), respectively, for the Vietnamese group; 5 (IQR 3-5) and 5 (IQR 5-5), respectively, for the Korean group; and 4 (IQR 3-5) and 5 (IQR 5-5), respectively, for the Chinese group.

# Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

In a group of 216 older Asian American immigrant adult participants, we found significant differences in technology access, telehealth use, and psychosocial health impacts among the Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups. In our CBPR cross-sectional survey study, we examined the readiness for a web-based senior center among older Asian American immigrant adults and specifically among Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups. We also identified the psychosocial needs and effects of the COVID-19 pandemic that a web-based senior center could be positioned to meet.

Socioeconomic status is an important context when planning a web-based senior center because financial resources are often limited. It is important to avoid adding financial burden while trying to be intentional in providing web-based care and social services via mobile apps. In our study, most Chinese (38/86, 44%), Korean (39/54, 72%), and Vietnamese (25/53, 47%) older participants had an unlimited mobile data plan, followed by a small group that had a limited mobile data plan. Of those using limited plans, many (39/216, 18.1%) were unsure about their data limits. More than half of older Asian American immigrant adult participants (123/216, 56.9%), including older Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese participants, reported <US \$15,000 as total household income before taxes. According to an AHSC leader, staff has assisted many older Asian American immigrant clients and applied for an affordable internet plan during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Overall, more than half of the older Asian American immigrant adult participants (131/212, 61.8%), including older Chinese,

Korean, and Vietnamese participants, reported using mobile phone texting for written communication, followed by approximately half of the participants (103/212, 48.6%) using email for written communication in our study. Both mobile phone texting and email can present challenges for older adults. Challenging intrinsic factors can affect the adoption of a web-based senior center. For example, having less dexterity, experiencing tremors or physical changes resulting from arthritis or stroke, not having confidence in using new apps or platforms, and not being interested in learning new ways to access social and health services are known barriers to using technology for health purposes [30-32]. Extrinsic barriers include limited to no access to digital communication devices for all older adults, not having trust in technology, belief that mobile phones are for communication rather than accessing health and social services, and cultural beliefs that technologies detract from family time [31] or may dismantle cultural expectations for children and grandchildren to care for their older family members as they age [17].

There is a gamut of available information and communication technology devices and apps, including written and audio or video. We found that only 2% (1/53) of the Vietnamese older participants started using a new electronic device to communicate with friends and family after the COVID-19 outbreak, followed by more than half of Korean older participants (31/54, 57%) and less than one-fifth of Chinese older participants (15/86, 17%). This may be owing to not knowing what is available, not knowing how to use the device, or the degree of comfort with use. Our findings differ from those of a study that focused on South Koreans, where researchers identified themes that included a reluctance to learn about and use new technology and ambivalence regarding using technology-enabled services for connection with family or acquaintances [10]. In our study, for written and audio or video communication apps, most older Chinese participants (65/85, 77%; 57/84, 68%, respectively) used WeChat, most Korean participants (49/54, 91%; 49/54, 91%, respectively) used KakaoTalk (this app was exclusively used by the Korean group), and most Vietnamese participants used Facebook Messenger for written communication (32/50, 64%) and Apple Face Time or Facebook Messenger for audio or video communication (33/50, 66%; 31/50, 62%, respectively). Our results suggest that there are differences among groups that must be considered by CBOs offering web-based care and social services. Different communities tend to use specific communication platforms and have preferences regarding the types of services that are acceptable when using web-based platforms. It is important to note that, early in the COVID-19 pandemic, there was no existing cross-cultural communication system that was free, quickly available, and easy for symptom monitoring of large, diverse populations [33]. For example, in China, WeChat is mostly well known and is among the frequently used, web-based, health service social media platforms [34]. Our community-academic partnership kept in mind that individual COVID-19 prevention and control apps, such as WeChat in China, were developed by adding to existing social apps with regard to the management of the COVID-19 outbreak [35]. KakaoTalk is a mobile instant messenger based in South Korea (ie, host country) and is the most popular and cross-platform

XSL•FO RenderX

social media service in South Korea [36]. In our study, findings imply that cultural and country-based web-based communication platforms, such as WeChat and Kakao Talk, are important sustainable connections with diverse Asian immigrant groups [34-36] for sustainable accessibility [37]. Our study results suggest that culturally based CBOs serving diverse communities need to navigate community contexts, capacity, and operations and determine the capacity for providing sustainable cultural, linguistic, and health care services via web-based care. CBOs and researchers need to consider how to best use these platforms, given that personal health information may be a part of certain communications. Authenticity and intentionality will be needed regarding which web-based services are best suited for these various platforms.

Web-based care is different from in-person care. In our study, few older Asian American participants, including Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese participants perceived themselves to be very technology savvy. Furthermore, most Vietnamese older participants (41/53, 77%) expressed that they would never consider trying a telehealth appointment. A few older Chinese and Korean participants expressed the same view. Thus, CBOs and researchers need to consider intentionally using multiple communication platforms; ones that each community group is already familiar with. This will likely improve sustainability because it will relieve community members from having to learn something new to access health and social services.

We made additional important contributions to the literature about what to consider regarding sustaining accessibility in telehealth. We found that more than half of older Asian American immigrant adults (121/212, 57.1%) worry about the quality of health care with web-based care and social services. Less than half (93/212, 43.9%) were not convinced that a diagnosis made via telehealth would result in an accurate diagnosis. For example, most Vietnamese among Asian American immigrants (28/53, 53%) had never used telehealth services and do not know how to start. These findings align with what CBOs have reported-that is, most older Asian American clients struggled to use web-based platforms and web-based programs and had limited technological literacy despite having compatible computers and platforms [6]. Of importance, according to older Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese immigrants, the main advantage of telehealth was not needing transportation services. Implications from our study suggest that there is a need to further enhance older Asian American immigrant clients' readiness for a web-based senior center, and one way is to engage and collaborate with more clients in subsequent intervention design and training in technology and telehealth delivery. According to AHSC community partners, regarding their work with older Asian American immigrant adult clients, they expressed the importance to build trust over time. For example, there are clients who were more willing to share concerns after their staff built personal connections.

Regarding overall psychosocial health in our study, older Chinese immigrants had a reduced ability to concentrate or focus during the COVID-19 outbreak. Furthermore, older Chinese, Koreans, and Vietnamese engaged less in exercise and hobbies. According to a program manager at AHSC, many older Chinese clients enjoyed being at the center in person for physical

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e49493
```

XSL•FO

activity (eg, Tai Chi and light aerobics) and hobbies (eg, singing, dancing, and social groups) before the outbreak. A few older Chinese participants expressed that they did not have a place to go to for physical activity or engaging in hobbies. Some chose to stay at home and away from crowds owing to infection precautions, and in particular, Chinese older adults wanted to avoid anti-Asian hate. AHSC community leaders examined anti-Asian hate more specifically in another initiative apart from what our community-academic partnership's CBPR research cross-sectional survey study aimed in this study. Our partnership remains cognizant that among the anti-Asian hate incidents was the use of the terms, China virus or Wuhan virus, which relates a virus with a race, ethnicity, or city instead of to the biological SARS-CoV-2 or COVID-19, and this does not align with the World Health Organization [37]. Researchers discovered profound discrimination and violence among Asian American populations; for example, Chinese and Vietnamese commonly experienced being yelled at and being given *dirty looks* for carrying the virus [3]. Our findings suggest that there may be a need for increased caregiving efforts; a need for caregiver support; and a need for increasing services for social, health, and financial stressors; however, the extent is different among groups. For example, most Vietnamese immigrants, followed by Chinese and Korean immigrants, experienced stress owing to maintaining social distancing, worry about SARS-CoV-2, and worry about infecting themselves and people. In another example, most Vietnamese immigrants, followed by Chinese and Korean immigrants, worry about not being able to afford or access food and important resources, such as transportation or housing; feel that the crisis created financial problems for them or their family; experienced difficulties in life and distress; and had a family/household member's salary, hours, or contracts significantly reduced. These results align with the findings by Quach et al [3] and Tiwari and Zhang [7]. CBOs should include psychosocial services in the web-based portfolio. Psychosocial services will likely need to be administered on different platforms to different community groups. Psychosocial services will need to be tailored to the specific needs of each community group because they would be different across groups.

To meet these needs and to support safety while offering the broadest possible access to care, CBOs may wish to consider rebuilding after the pandemic by adding web-based health and social services for older adults. To reduce barriers for clients, consideration should be given to the needs of specific cultural groups and the technology platforms already in use by each group. A CBO web-based senior center should be designed for use across multiple free platforms such as Facebook, WeChat, KakaoTalk, or any other platform used by a specific group that a CBO serves. An important component of intentional planning and design includes conducting a survey to discover which social media platforms the CBOs clientele is familiar with and which ones they trust. Delivering services across multiple platforms may add burden to CBOs, but it will improve access and acceptance of web-based programming, thus providing the opportunity to extend reach and support more older adults and their families.

# **Limitations and Future Studies**

Although the timing of the survey limits this study in part owing to recall consideration, this is an important step. We conducted the survey in the second year of the COVID-19 pandemic, in 2022 [38]. Community-academic partners originally planned to implement the study starting in July of 2021, but this was not possible owing to concurrent Asian American immigrant community needs driven by the COVID-19 pandemic. We honored the need to pivot, so that AHSC could focus on addressing staffing, vaccinations, and other needs in response to the virus and the increasing anti-Asian hate. AHSC community leaders expressed that the ability to recall psychosocial impacts based on ratings from 1 to 10 may have influenced the ability for some older adult participants to differentiate between 2 numbers that are next to one another (eg, 5 vs 6). Often, in health technology studies focused on individuals of Asian descent, the research data of subgroups within the large Asian population are aggregated. We examined our study data as a large group of older Asian American immigrant adults and among Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese participants. However, further studies are needed to examine at a large scale and longitudinally and to examine additional Asian subgroups, for example, Taiwanese and multiracial groups, as they may have different needs. The response rate and completion rate were high in our study, even though a small portion of clients declined to participate. Reasons for rejection included survey length and not having experience with technology or telehealth, and, according to AHSC leaders, some may have declined because of not having a need to use a technology to access health care or having had a bad experience with technology. Although the instruments that we adapted from the PhenX Toolkit [19] have not been formally tested and validated, we pretested them with community partners for face validity and technical functionality before use in this study. We recommend further studies for additional psychometric testing and continuing engagement of older Asian American immigrants in co-designing for adoption research and building upon a CBPR

approach using both quantitative and qualitative methods. This may increase meaningful use and sustainability [9,13,39]. Further studies need to address continuing engagement of older immigrant clients in building and sustaining a senior center, completely web-based versus hybrid—combination of web-based and in-person services, and essential trust in web-based continuity of health care and social service. We also recommend further examination of technology accessibility, technology literacy, and complexity of interventions as barriers to or facilitators of uptake [40] and the ethics and utility of using different types of technologies in service and clinical care from the perceptions and experiences of older Asian American immigrant adults, CBO leaders, and health care providers.

# Conclusions

Results from our community-academic partnership study inform the rebuilding of an efficacious web-based senior center, where more older Asian American immigrant adults who need can obtain access to the internet and education about using technology-enabled communication devices. Differences in psychosocial needs and the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic were reported among Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups. The strength of the participating older adults was observed and honored. There is a need to engage clients and culturally diverse CBOs in technology access and telehealth as a part of bridging care. This includes uplifting the communication about clients' health and extending the reach of providing care remotely through distance learning and distance integrative health care and social service delivery. There are different psychosocial needs and effects of the COVID-19 pandemic that a web-based senior center could be positioned to meet. Consideration should be given to intragroup and intergroup needs across older Asian American immigrant adults such as among Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups within the large older group. Our study results illuminate the conventional challenges in delivering health care since the COVID-19 pandemic and a pathway forward for improving care and advancing health equity for culturally diverse, older, Asian immigrants.

# Acknowledgments

This study was supported in part by Washington State University (WSU) Vancouver and Research Mini-Grant. This study was also supported in part by the Nurse Technology Enhanced Care at Home Lab as a space to work together as partners in the context of preventing and managing chronic conditions in adults. The authors thank the following community leaders and community health workers (CHWs) at Asian Health and Service Center for community mobilization and providing interpretation assistance with data collection: Christine Lau, MA, Certified Alcohol and Drug Counselor I, Certified Gambling Addiction Counselor I, chief operating officer; Cang Le, BS, community program manager; Laimei Li, BSW, community program manager; Jieheng Xu, BS in Public Health, community health project manager; Julie Jinsook Ahn, BE, CHW; Jeannie Kim, BFA, CHW; Chia-Ni Shen, BA, CHW; Suhao Li, BA in History, CHW; Sophia Shiozawa, BS, CHW; Nelson Chan, general manager; and Sarah Cheng, MBA, MS, controller. The authors thank Dr Lois James, PhD, assistant dean for research and associate professor at WSU, Nursing and Systems Science Department, College of Nursing for a review, and Dr Kandy S Robertson, PhD, professor, career track and writing center coordinator at WSU for editing. The authors also thank the *Asian/Pacific Islander Nursing Journal/JMIR* editorial team and peer reviewers.

# **Authors' Contributions**

The following are individual contributions from authors who have contributed substantially to the work reported. CKYNT and RLF were the 2 senior authors for this study. CKYNT, RLF, and HL were involved in conceptualization. CKYNT, RLF, HL, C Chiu, C Chac, MP, and KW contributed to the methodology. KW dealt with the software. KW, CKYNT, C Chiu, C Chac, MP,

and RLF were involved in validation. KW and CKYNT were involved in formal analysis. CKYNT, KW, HL, C Chiu, C Chac, MP, and RLF contributed to analysis review. CKYNT, KW, HL, C Chiu, C Chac, MP, and RLF contributed to the investigation. CKYNT, HL, KW, C Chiu, C Chac, MP, and RLF dealt with the resources. KW and CKYNT were involved in data curation. CKYNT and KW contributed to the original draft preparation. CKYNT, KW, HL, C Chiu, C Chac, MP, and RLF were involved in reviewing and editing the draft. CKYNT and KW contributed to visualization. CKYNT, HL, and RLF were involved in supervision. CKYNT and HL were involved in project administration. CKYNT and RLF were involved in funding acquisition.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

## Multimedia Appendix 1

Combined consent; eligibility; and technology access, telehealth, and psychosocial health impacts survey-Microsoft Word document version.

[DOCX File, 224 KB - apinj\_v8i1e49493\_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Combined consent; eligibility; and technology access, telehealth, and psychosocial health impacts survey—PDF version. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 410 KB - apinj\_v8i1e49493\_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Sociodemographics and background characteristics of older Asian American immigrant adults and Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 196 KB - apinj\_v8i1e49493\_app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Psychosocial needs of and effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on older Asian American immigrant adults and Chinese, Korean, and Vietnamese groups.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 340 KB - apinj v8i1e49493 app4.pdf]

#### References

- 1. Stop AAPI Hate homepage. Stop AAPI Hate. URL: <u>https://stopaapihate.org/</u> [accessed 2023-04-26]
- Nguyen-Truong CK, Waters SF, Richardson M, Barrow N, Seia J, Eti DU, et al. An antiracism community-based participatory research with organizations serving immigrant and marginalized communities, including Asian Americans and native Hawaiians/Pacific Islanders in the United States Pacific Northwest: qualitative description study with key informants. Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2023 Jan 11;7:e43150 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/43150] [Medline: 36648292]
- Quach T, Đoàn LN, Liou J, Ponce NA. A rapid assessment of the impact of COVID-19 on Asian Americans: cross-sectional survey study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2021 Jun 11;7(6):e23976 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23976] [Medline: 34019478]
- 4. Ka'ai K, Lee R, Chau V, Xu L. Advancing health equity for Asian Americans, native Hawaiians, and Pacific Islanders. Health Equity 2022 Jun 02;6(1):399-401 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/heq.2022.0075] [Medline: 35801149]
- 5. Le TK, Cha L, Han HR, Tseng W. Anti-Asian xenophobia and Asian American COVID-19 disparities. Am J Public Health 2020 Sep;110(9):1371-1373. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.305846] [Medline: 32783714]
- 6. Ko LK, Lee EJ, Hara-Hubbard KK, Quigley T, Wong D, Bishop S. Community-based organizations' capacity to serve older Asian American and Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. Asian American Resource and Information Network. 2021. URL: <u>https://aarin.org/reports/aarin\_2021/</u> [accessed 2022-03-20]
- Tiwari BB, Zhang DS. Differences in mental health status among Asian Americans during the COVID-19 pandemic: findings from the health, ethnicity, and pandemic study. Health Equity 2022 Jun 24;6(1):448-453 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/heq.2022.0029] [Medline: <u>35801151</u>]
- Kang E, Lee H, Sohn JH, Yun J, Lee JY, Hong YC. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the health status and behaviors of adults in Korea: national cross-sectional web-based self-report survey. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2021 Nov 26;7(11):e31635 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/31635] [Medline: 34653017]
- Tong C, Kernoghan A, Lemmon K, Fernandes P, Elliott J, Sacco V, et al. Lessons and reflections from an extended co-design process developing an mHealth app with and for older adults: multiphase, mixed methods study. JMIR Aging 2022 Oct 28;5(4):e39189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/39189] [Medline: 36306166]
- 10. Jo HS, Hwang YS. Psychological factors that affect the acceptance and need for ICT services for older adults with chronic diseases. Gerontechnology 2021;20(2):1-11. [doi: 10.4017/gt.2021.20.2.411.01]
- 11. Abdallah L, Stolee P, Lopez KJ, Whate A, Boger J, Tong C. The impact of COVID-19 on older adults' perceptions of virtual care: qualitative study. JMIR Aging 2022 Oct 20;5(4):e38546 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/38546] [Medline: 36054599]

- 12. Continuum of care. Asian Health & Service Center. URL: <u>https://ahscpdx.org/continuum-of-care/</u> [accessed 2020-10-29]
- Rice K, Seidman J, Mahoney O. A health equity-oriented research agenda requires comprehensive community engagement. J Particip Med 2022 Sep 30;14(1):e37657 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/37657] [Medline: 36178726]
- Katapally TR. The SMART framework: integration of citizen science, community-based participatory research, and systems science for population health science in the digital age. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Aug 30;7(8):e14056 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14056] [Medline: 31471963]
- 15. Office of science and technology policy. The White House. URL: <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/ostp/</u> [accessed 2022-05-03]
- Nguyen-Truong CK, Fritz RL, Lee J, Lau C, Le C, Kim J, et al. Interactive CO-learning for research engagement and education (I-COREE) curriculum to build capacity between community partners and academic researchers. Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2018;3(4):126-138 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.31372/20180304.1030] [Medline: 31037261]
- 17. Fritz RL, Nguyen-Truong CK, Leung J, Lee J, Lau C, Le C, et al. Older Asian immigrants' perceptions of a health-assistive smart home. Gerontechnology 2020 Dec 31;19(4):1-11. [doi: 10.4017/gt.2020.19.04.385]
- 18. Wallerstein N, Duran B, Oetzel JG, Minkler M. Community-Based Participatory Research for Health: Advancing Social and Health Equity. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons; 2017.
- 19. PhenX toolkit homepage. PhenX Toolkit. URL: https://www.phenxtoolkit.org/index.php [accessed 2020-10-29]
- COVID-19 specific survey items now available on PhenX and the NIH disaster research response (DR2) platforms. National Institutes of Health. 2020 Apr 16. URL: <u>https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/USNIH/bulletins/286e398</u> [accessed 2020-10-29]
- 21. The COVID-19 technology accessibility survey. National Alzheimer's Coordinating Center. URL: <u>https://www.phenxtoolkit</u>.org/toolkit\_content/PDF/NACC\_Covid\_Tech\_Survey.pdf [accessed 2020-10-29]
- 22. Technology telehealth use. PhenX Toolkit. URL: <u>https://www.phenxtoolkit.org/toolkit\_content/PDF/UFl\_Coping\_with</u> <u>COVID19\_Technology.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-29]
- 23. Psychosocial impact of COVID-19 survey. PhenX Toolkit. URL: <u>https://www.phenxtoolkit.org/toolkit\_content/PDF/Psycho</u> social\_Impact\_of\_COVID-19\_Survey.pdf [accessed 2020-10-29]
- 24. R Core Team. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u> [accessed 2022-12-30]
- 25. RStudio: integrated development environment for R. RStudio. URL: <u>https://www.r-project.org/conferences/useR-2011/</u> <u>abstracts/180111-allairejj.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-12-30]
- 26. Wickham H, Averick M, Bryan J, Chang W, McGowan LD, François R, et al. Welcome to the Tidyverse. J Open Source Softw 2019 Nov;4(43):1686. [doi: 10.21105/joss.01686]
- 27. Heinzen E, Sinnwell J, Atkinson E, Gunderson T, Dougherty G, Votruba P, et al. arsenal: an arsenal of 'R' functions for large-scale statistical summaries. The Comprehensive R Archive Network. 2021. URL: <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=arsenal</u> [accessed 2022-12-30]
- 28. Larmarange J. labelled: manipulating labelled data. The Comprehensive R Archive Network. 2023 Jun 21. URL: <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=labelled</u> [accessed 2024-01-12]
- 29. Revelle W. Psych: procedures for psychological, psychometric, and personality research. The Comprehensive R Archive Network. 2023 Dec 20. URL: <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=psych</u> [accessed 2024-01-12]
- Matthew-Maich N, Harris L, Ploeg J, Markle-Reid M, Valaitis R, Ibrahim S, et al. Designing, implementing, and evaluating mobile health technologies for managing chronic conditions in older adults: a scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jun 09;4(2):e29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5127] [Medline: 27282195]
- Wilson J, Heinsch M, Betts D, Booth D, Kay-Lambkin F. Barriers and facilitators to the use of e-health by older adults: a scoping review. BMC Public Health 2021 Aug 17;21(1):1556 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-11623-w] [Medline: 34399716]
- 32. Kurniawan S. Older people and mobile phones: a multi-method investigation. Int J Hum Comput Stud 2008 Dec;66(12):889-901. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2008.03.002]
- Joseph HA, Ingber SZ, Austin C, Westnedge C, Strona FV, Lee L, et al. An evaluation of the text illness monitoring (TIM) platform for COVID-19: cross-sectional online survey of public health users. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022 Feb 07;8(2):e32680 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/32680] [Medline: 34882572]
- 34. Tan Y, Teng Z, Qiu Y, Tang H, Xiang H, Chen J. Potential of mobile technology to relieve the urgent mental health needs in China: web-based survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Jul 07;8(7):e16215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16215] [Medline: 32673239]
- 35. Fan Y, Wang Z, Deng S, Lv H, Wang F. The function and quality of individual epidemic prevention and control apps during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review of Chinese apps. Int J Med Inform 2022 Apr;160:104694 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2022.104694] [Medline: 35144100]
- Park N, Noh H. Effects of mobile instant messenger use on acculturative stress among international students in South Korea. Comput Hum Behav 2018 May;82:34-43. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2017.12.033</u>]
- Wang D, Gee GC, Bahiru E, Yang EH, Hsu JJ. Asian-Americans and Pacific Islanders in COVID-19: emerging disparities amid discrimination. J Gen Intern Med 2020 Dec;35(12):3685-3688 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-06264-5] [Medline: 33009656]

- 38. Sencer DJ. CDC museum: in association with the Smithsonian institution. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/museum/timeline/covid19.html</u> [accessed 2023-04-13]
- Viklund EW, Nilsson I, Hägglund S, Nyholm L, Forsman AK. The perks and struggles of participatory approaches: exploring older persons' experiences of participating in designing and developing an application. Gerontechnology 2023 Mar 17;22(1):1-12. [doi: <u>10.4017/gt.2023.22.1.816.03</u>]
- Wister A, O'Dea E, Fyffe I, Cosco TD. Technological interventions to reduce loneliness and social isolation among community-living older adults: a scoping review. Gerontechnology 2021 Jan;20(2):1-16. [doi: <u>10.4017/gt.2021.20.2.30-471.11]</u>

## Abbreviations

AHSC: Asian Health & Service Center
CBO: community-based organization
CBPR: community-based participatory research
CHW: community health worker
PI: principal investigator
WSU: Washington State University

Edited by H Ahn; submitted 30.05.23; peer-reviewed by G Barbareschi, Y Zhu; comments to author 09.10.23; revised version received 29.11.23; accepted 13.12.23; published 26.01.24.

Please cite as:

Nguyen-Truong CKY, Wuestney K, Leung H, Chiu C, Park M, Chac C, Fritz RL Toward Sustaining Web-Based Senior Center Programming Accessibility With and for Older Adult Immigrants: Community-Based Participatory Research Cross-Sectional Study Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e49493 URL: https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e49493 doi:10.2196/49493 PMID:38277216

©Connie Kim Yen Nguyen-Truong, Katherine Wuestney, Holden Leung, Chenya Chiu, Maria Park, Christina Chac, Roschelle Lynette Fritz. Originally published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal (https://apinj.jmir.org), 26.01.2024. This is an distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons open-access article Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://apinj.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Association Between Gestational Weeks, Initial Maternal Perception of Fetal Movement, and Individual Interoceptive Differences in Pregnant Women: Cross-Sectional Study

Miku Furusho<sup>1</sup>, MSN; Minami Noda<sup>1</sup>, MSN; Yoko Sato<sup>1</sup>, MSN; Yoshiko Suetsugu<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Seiichi Morokuma<sup>1</sup>, PhD Department of Health Sciences, Graduate School of Medical Sciences, Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan

Corresponding Author: Seiichi Morokuma, PhD Department of Health Sciences Graduate School of Medical Sciences Kyushu University 3-1-1 Maidashi Higashi-ku Fukuoka, 812-8582 Japan Phone: 81 926426708 Email: morokuma.seiichi.845@m.kyushu-u.ac.jp

# Abstract

**Background:** Interoception encompasses the conscious awareness of homeostasis in the body. Given that fetal movement awareness is a component of interoception in pregnant women, the timing of initial detection of fetal movement may indicate individual differences in interoceptive sensitivity.

**Objective:** The aim of this study is to determine whether the association between the gestational week of initial movement awareness and interoception can be a convenient evaluation index for interoception in pregnant women.

**Methods:** A cross-sectional study was conducted among 32 pregnant women aged 20 years or older at 22-29 weeks of gestation with stable hemodynamics in the Obstetric Outpatient Department. Interoception was assessed using the heartbeat-counting task, with gestational weeks at the first awareness of fetal movement recorded via a questionnaire. Spearman rank correlation was used to compare the gestational weeks at the first awareness of fetal movement and heartbeat-counting task scores.

**Results:** A significant negative correlation was found between the gestational weeks at the first fetal movement awareness and heartbeat-counting task performance among all participants (r=-0.43, P=.01) and among primiparous women (r=-0.53, P=.03) but not among multiparous women.

**Conclusions:** Individual differences in interoception appear to correlate with the differences observed in the timing of the first awareness of fetal movement.

(Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e57128) doi:10.2196/57128

# KEYWORDS

fetal movement; gestational weeks; gestation; gestational; heartbeat counting task; interoception; pregnancy; pregnant; maternal; fetus; fetal; association; association; correlation; correlations; obstetric; obstetrics; interoceptive; perception; perceptions; awareness; sense; sensing; senses; internal stimulus; internal stimuli

# Introduction

A pregnant woman typically first senses fetal movement at approximately 18-20 weeks of gestation in primipara and approximately 16-18 weeks in multipara. However, there is variability in the gestational week when this awareness occurs, with some experiencing it earlier or later [1,2]. The factors contributing to these variations remain unknown. Interestingly,

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e57128

RenderX

this awareness tends to occur at approximately 16 weeks or after 20 weeks of gestation. Fetal movements begin in the eighth week of pregnancy, initially subtle and imperceptible to pregnant women. In the absence of maternal or fetal complications, differences in fetal development up to 20 weeks of gestation are minimal [3]. Therefore, fetal development is unlikely to influence a pregnant woman's initial awareness of fetal movement.

Recently, interoception has attracted attention in the fields of psychosomatic medicine and psychology [4]. The term "interoception" was first coined by the British physiologist Sherrington [5] in 1906. It refers to awareness related to changes inside the body, such as the movement of the heart and internal organs, signifying a crucial aspect of overall bodily homeostasis [6]. However, the measurement of interoception is complicated by the need to use questionnaires or a heartbeat-counting task.

Considering that the awareness of fetal movement is considered a component of interoception in pregnant women, variations in the gestational weeks at which initial detection occurs may indicate individual interoceptive disparities. These deviations may lead to mental and physical illnesses, such as mood and metabolic disorders [7]. During pregnancy, mood disorders related to anxiety and depression often develop. However, there is no easy way to detect mental problems in pregnant women [8].

Therefore, establishing the correlation between the gestational week of first fetal movement awareness and interoception could serve as an evaluation index for interoception in pregnant women and may predict mental problems. However, to our knowledge, no previous study has examined the association between interoception and the gestational week at the first fetal movement awareness in pregnant women. Thus, in this study, we aimed to clarify this noteworthy association.

# Methods

# **Study Design**

A cross-sectional study was conducted among the recruited 32 pregnant women aged 20 years or older at 22-29 weeks of gestation with stable hemodynamics in the Obstetric Outpatient Department of Kyushu University Hospital. The study was conducted between July and September 2019. Mothers with obvious fetal morphological abnormalities or maternal complications were excluded from recruitment.

# Procedure

The data sampling was conducted in a quiet outpatient private room to avoid outside noise, as described in the previous study [9]. First, a wearable heart rate sensor (WHS-1, Union Tool Co.) was attached to the left precordial area, and the participants were allowed to sit and rest for 5 minutes. Then, the heartbeat-counting task was conducted.

# **Clinical Characteristics**

The pregnant women's health status and personal information (including age, gestational period in weeks, educational background, past and current medical history, obstetric history, height, weight, drinking status, smoking status, fertility treatment status, employment status, and financial status) were obtained from the medical records and questionnaires. BMI was calculated using the above data.

# **Measurement of Interoception**

There are different methods for measuring interoception. In the heartbeat-tracking task [10], the participant is asked to press a button on the experimental device synchronous with their

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e57128
```

heartbeat. In the heartbeat discrimination task [11], the participant is asked to discriminate a sound that matches the heartbeat from a sound that deviates from the heartbeat. In the heartbeat-counting task [10], the number of heartbeats felt by the participant is compared with the actual number of heartbeats measured using an electrocardiogram (ECG) within a certain period. In this study, we used the heartbeat-counting task developed by Schandry [12] to measure interoception, which can be performed in an outpatient setting.

For the measurement procedure, the participants were asked to sit on a chair in the laboratory and were instructed not to touch their bodies to avoid obtaining cues by touching their pulse points. In this state, the participants were asked to count the number of times they felt a heartbeat at 3 intervals of 25, 35, and 45 seconds and to complete a preprepared form after each interval. The absolute value of the difference between the participants' reported heartbeats and the actual ECG-measured heartbeats during each interval was calculated. This absolute difference was divided by the actual number of heartbeats separately for each of the 3 intervals to obtain the ratio of deviation in heartbeats. This value was subtracted from 1, and the mean of all 3 intervals was calculated. This value was used as the heartbeat-counting task score. The heartbeat-counting task score ranged from 0 to 1. The closer the score was to 1, the more accurately the participant felt her heartbeat [4,12].

## Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were calculated, and the Mann-Whitney U and Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to compare the data between the groups. Spearman rank correlation was used to compare the gestational weeks at the first awareness of fetal movement and the heartbeat-counting task scores. All analyses were performed using SPSS (version 27; IBM Corp). The significance level was set at 5% or P<.05.

The sample size calculation was performed using G\*Power 3.1.9.7 [13]. Assuming a 2-tailed test for the population correlation coefficient with an expected correlation coefficient of 0.5, a significance level of 5%, and a power of 80%, the required sample size was calculated to be 26 cases.

# **Ethical Considerations**

The Ethics Committee of Kyushu University Hospital (No. 22071-00) approved this study, and all participants provided written informed consent. All the research procedures were conducted following the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Information on the participants and the data used in this study were collected from a previous report [9], which showed an association between interoception and anxiety. Additionally, data regarding the gestational week at the first awareness of fetal movements in pregnant women were added. Permission was obtained from the authors of the previous study.

# Results

Among the 32 participants, the mean gestational week at the first fetal movement awareness was 18.3 (SD 2.6). Table 1 compares the gestational weeks at the first fetal movement awareness based on the participants' characteristics. There were
no significant differences in the gestational weeks of the first fetal movement based on participant characteristics (all *P*>.05).

A significant negative correlation (r=-0.43, P=.01) was found between the gestational weeks at the first fetal movement awareness and heartbeat-counting task performance among all the participants (Figure 1A). In primiparous women, a significant negative correlation (r=-0.53, P=.03) was found between the gestational weeks at initial fetal movement awareness and the heartbeat-counting task performance (Figure 1B). However, for multiparous women, there was no significant association between the gestational weeks at initial fetal movement awareness and heartbeat-counting task performance (r=-0.35, P=.18; Figure 1C).

Table 1.	Participant	t characteristics a	nd gestational	weeks at the first	awareness of fetal	movement (N=32)
----------	-------------	---------------------	----------------	--------------------	--------------------	-----------------

Characteristics	Participant, n (%)	GWs <sup>a</sup> at the first awareness of FM <sup>b</sup> , mean (SD)	P value	
Mother's age (years)			.39	
<35	21 (65.6)	18.5 (2.8)		
≥35	11 (34.4)	17.8 (2.2)		
Parity			.32	
Primipara	16 (50)	18.4 (2.4)		
Multipara	16 (50)	18.1 (2.8)		
BMI			.44 <sup>c</sup>	
<18.5	4 (12.5)	17.5 (3.0)		
18.5-25	24 (75)	18.1 (2.4)		
≥25	4 (12.5)	20.3 (2.6)		
Fertility treatment during this pregnancy			.55	
No	24 (75)	18.1 (2.8)		
Yes	8 (25)	18.9 (1.7)		
Employment status			.74	
Working	18 (56.3)	18.2 (2.9)		
Not working	14 (43.8)	18.4 (2.2)		
Smoking			.14	
Previously smoked	3 (9)	20.0 (0.0)		
No smoking	29 (91)	18.1 (2.6)		

<sup>a</sup>GW: gestational week.

<sup>b</sup>FM: fetal movement.

<sup>c</sup>Kruskal-Wallis test.



Figure 1. Correlation between the gestational weeks at the first fetal movement awareness and heartbeat-counting task performance: (A) all participants, (B) primiparous women, and (C) multiparous women.

Gestational week at the first awareness of fetal movements

**RenderX** 

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

We found a significant association between the gestational week at initial fetal movement awareness and performance on the heartbeat-counting task. In terms of parity, the association between the gestational week at the first awareness of fetal movement and heartbeat-counting task performance was found in primiparous women but not in multiparous women. Although the reasons for the individual differences in fetal movement awareness remain unclear, our results indicate a link between these differences and individual variations in interoception.

The average number of weeks at which fetal movement was first detected in the participants of this study was 18.3 weeks. *Williams Obstetrics* estimated it to be around 18-20 weeks for primiparous women and around 16-18 weeks for multiparous women [1]. Other studies reported that most pregnant women experience the onset of fetal movement at 16-20 weeks [2,14,15]. Therefore, we posit that the number of weeks at which fetal movements are first noticed in the participants of this study is approximately the same as the average number of weeks.

Primiparous women have difficulty distinguishing fetal movements from stomach and bowel movements, as fetal movements represent an unfamiliar sensation to them [14,15]. Regarding awareness of fetal movements, Tuffnell et al [16] stated that awareness of fetal movements is caused by pressure on the pregnant woman's body wall structure. Interoceptive sensations are sensations related to the internal environment of

the body and its changes, such as the heartbeat, and internal organs, such as the stomach and intestines. Pressure on body wall structures is also a part of interoceptive sensation. Furthermore, the accuracy of interoceptive sensation is a value that objectively measures how accurately a person can grasp the internal situation through the senses [17]. Therefore, it is thought that the more accurately a person can detect fetal movements, the more accurate is their interoceptive sense.

Few studies have explored interoception in pregnant women, highlighting the need for further investigation in this area. Furthermore, as it has been reported that deviations in interoception may lead to mental and physical illnesses, such as mood and metabolic disorders [6], it is necessary to examine whether the gestational week at initial fetal movement awareness correlates with maternal mental characteristics and challenges during the peri- and postnatal periods.

# Limitations

The generalizability of this study's findings may be limited when restricted to primiparous or multiparous women because of the small sample size. Moreover, the method used, which relied on pregnant women recalling and describing the gestational week of their first fetal movement experience, introduces the possibility of recall bias, which cannot be excluded.

# Conclusions

Individual differences in interoception are related to individual differences in the first awareness of fetal movement and can be a crucial evaluation index for interoception in pregnant women.

# Acknowledgments

The authors disclosed receipt of the following financial support for the research, authorship, and publication of this article: research grants from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science KAKENHI (grants JP18H00994, JP20K10928, and JP21H03615) supported this work.

# **Authors' Contributions**

MF, Y Suetsugu, and SM were involved in the conception and design of the study. MF, MN, and Y Sato acquired, analyzed, and interpreted the data. MF, Y Sato, and SM drafted and revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- 1. Cunningham F, Leveno K, Bloom S. Williams Obstetrics. New York city: McGraw-Hill Education Medical; 2014:668-671.
- Tsakiridis I, Zerva C, Mamopoulos A, Kalogiannidis I, Athanasiadis A, Dagklis T. Maternal perception of fetal movements: onset and associated factors. J Perinat Med 2022 Nov 25;50(9):1174-1179 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1515/jpm-2021-0606] [Medline: 35779269]
- 3. Itabashi K, Miura F, Uehara R, Nakamura Y. New Japanese neonatal anthropometric charts for gestational age at birth. Pediatr Int 2014 Oct;56(5):702-708. [doi: 10.1111/ped.12331] [Medline: 24617834]
- 4. Domschke K, Stevens S, Pfleiderer B, Gerlach AL. Interoceptive sensitivity in anxiety and anxiety disorders: an overview and integration of neurobiological findings. Clin Psychol Rev 2010 Feb;30(1):1-11. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cpr.2009.08.008</u>] [Medline: <u>19751958</u>]
- 5. Sherrington CS. The integrative action of the nervous system. New Haven: Yale University Press; 1906:114.

- Garfinkel S, Critchley H. Interoception, emotion and brain: new insights link internal physiology to social behaviour. Commentary on:: "Anterior insular cortex mediates bodily sensibility and social anxiety" by Terasawa et al. (2012). Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci 2013;8(3):231-234 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/scan/nss140] [Medline: 23482658]
- Barrett LF, Simmons WK. Interoceptive predictions in the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 2015;16(7):419-429 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/nrn3950] [Medline: 26016744]
- 8. Biaggi A, Conroy S, Pawlby S, Pariante CM. Identifying the women at risk of antenatal anxiety and depression: a systematic review. J Affect Disord 2016;191:62-77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.014] [Medline: 26650969]
- 9. Noda M, Sato Y, Suetsugu Y, Morokuma S. Interoception is associated with anxiety and depression in pregnant women: a pilot study. PLoS One 2022;17(5):e0267507 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0267507] [Medline: 35522683]
- 10. McFarland RA. Heart rate perception and heart rate control. Psychophysiology 1975;12(4):402-405. [doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1975.tb00011.x] [Medline: 1162006]
- Katkin ES, Blascovich J, Goldband S. Empirical assessment of visceral self-perception: individual and sex differences in the acquisition of heartbeat discrimination. J Pers Soc Psychol 1981;40(6):1095-1101. [doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.40.6.1095] [Medline: 7264877]
- 12. Schandry R. Heart beat perception and emotional experience. Psychophysiology 1981;18(4):483-488. [doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1981.tb02486.x] [Medline: 7267933]
- 13. Faul F, Erdfelder E, Buchner A, Lang A. Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. Behav Res Methods 2009;41(4):1149-1160. [doi: 10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149] [Medline: 19897823]
- 14. Akkaya H, Büke B. A frequently asked question: is it normal not to feel my baby's movements yet? J Chin Med Assoc 2018;81(8):742-746 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jcma.2017.07.014] [Medline: 29079116]
- 15. Ross E. Gestating bodies: sensing foetal movement in first-time pregnancy. Sociol Health Illn 2019;41(1):95-111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1467-9566.12809] [Medline: 30171609]
- 16. Tuffnell DJ, Cartmill RS, Lilford RJ. Fetal movements; factors affecting their perception. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 1991;39(3):165-167. [doi: 10.1016/0028-2243(91)90052-m] [Medline: 2032586]
- 17. Nord CL, Garfinkel SN. Interoceptive pathways to understand and treat mental health conditions. Trends Cogn Sci 2022 Jun;26(6):499-513. [doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2022.03.004] [Medline: 35466044]

# Abbreviations

PMID:

ECG: electrocardiogram

Edited by H Ahn; submitted 25.02.24; peer-reviewed by M Mohammadnezhad, MF Kinci, P Dasari; comments to author 16.04.24; revised version received 11.05.24; accepted 15.05.24; published 26.06.24. <u>Please cite as:</u> Furusho M, Noda M, Sato Y, Suetsugu Y, Morokuma S Association Between Gestational Weeks, Initial Maternal Perception of Fetal Movement, and Individual Interoceptive Differences in Pregnant Women: Cross-Sectional Study Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e57128 URL: https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e57128 doi:10.2196/57128

©Miku Furusho, Minami Noda, Yoko Sato, Yoshiko Suetsugu, Seiichi Morokuma. Originally published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal (https://apinj.jmir.org), 26.06.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://apinj.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Ethical Dilemmas Among Oncology Nurses in China: Cross-Sectional Study

Eunjeong Ko<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Neda Shamsalizadeh<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Jaehoon Lee<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Ping Ni<sup>4</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>School of Social Work, San Diego State University, San Diego, CA, United States

<sup>2</sup>School of Nursing, San Diego State University (Imperial Valley Campus), San Diego, CA, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Educational Psychology, Leadership, & Counseling, Texas Tech University, Lubbock, TX, United States

<sup>4</sup>School of Nursing, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Number 13, Hangkong Road, Qiaokou District, Wuhan, China

# **Corresponding Author:**

# Ping Ni, PhD

School of Nursing, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Number 13, Hangkong Road, Qiaokou District, Wuhan, China

# Abstract

**Background:** Effective communication about cancer prognosis is imperative for enhancing the quality of end-of-life care and improving patient well-being. This practice is sensitive and is heavily influenced by cultural values, beliefs, and norms, which can lead to ethical dilemmas. Despite their significance, ethical challenges in nursing related to prognosis communication are understudied in China.

**Objective:** This study aimed to examine the ethical dilemmas relating to cancer prognosis communication and their associated factors.

**Methods:** A cross-sectional design was employed to survey 373 oncology nurses in mainland China. Data were collected on ethical dilemmas, attitudes, barriers, experiences with prognosis communication, sociodemographics, and practice-related information. Ordinary least squares regressions were used to identify factors contributing to ethical dilemmas.

**Results:** Participants reported a moderate level of ethical dilemmas in prognostic communication (mean 13.5, SD 3.42; range 5 - 20). Significant predictors of these dilemmas included perceived barriers (P<.001), experiences with prognosis communication (P<.001), and years of work experience (P=.002). Nurses who perceived greater communication barriers, had more negative experiences with prognosis communication, and had less work experience were more likely to encounter ethical dilemmas in prognosis-related communication.

**Conclusions:** Chinese oncology nurses frequently encounter ethical dilemmas, as well as barriers, in communicating cancer prognoses. This study's findings emphasize the importance of culturally tailored communication training. Collaborative interprofessional training, particularly through physician-nurse partnerships, can perhaps enhance the proficiency of cancer prognosis-related communication.

# (Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e63006) doi:10.2196/63006

# KEYWORDS

prognosis-related communication; ethical dilemmas; oncology; ethics; China; beliefs; nursing; cultural values; prognosis

# Introduction

# Background

Prognosis-related communication, also known as truth-telling or breaking bad news, is a continuous process that encompasses discussing life expectancy, symptom progression, and functional abilities with patients, their families, and health care professionals [1]. Effective discussion about a prognosis facilitates informed decisions for patients and enhances patient-reported outcomes [2]. Despite the expectation that prognosis communication should be a standard practice and a universal communication ideal in health care, health care

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e63006
```

professionals, including nurses, experience discomfort and concerns in breaking bad news. Health care professionals are concerned about providing prognostic information that could contribute to emotional distress in patients and families. This raises questions about their professional roles in alleviating suffering and concerns about the potential impact on relationships [3].

Insufficient training, unclear nursing roles, inadequate communication skills, time constraints, and concerns about diminishing the patient's hope [4-6] can impact prognosis communication. Interpersonal factors such as the patient's and family's lack of support, the family's request to withhold

Practices in prognosis disclosure vary by country and cultural groups, influenced by unique cultural beliefs and values [11-13]. In Western cultures, informing patients about their cancer diagnosis and prognosis is deemed vital for promoting patient autonomy and is routinely integrated into palliative care. However, in Eastern countries like China, individual autonomy is often considered secondary to family-centered decision-making [11,14]. Cultural values that prioritize family-centeredness lead health care professionals to defer disclosure of the prognosis to the family, who then decide whether to inform the patient [15]. It is common for families to withhold prognostic information to protect patients from emotional distress [15]. In addition, death and dying are taboo subjects, making it challenging for health care professionals to facilitate timely and effective prognosis-related communication due to concerns about potential adverse outcomes such as emotional distress, diminished hope, and acceleration of the dying process [12,16].

In countries where honest disclosure is not well recognized, health care professionals' challenges and conflicts are greater. Chinese nurses often experience a conflict between personal dimensions influenced by traditional cultural norms versus professional dimensions of adhering to nursing values and principles [12]. Withholding end-of-life (EOL) communication from patients and relying solely on family members for EOL decision-making raises concerns, as families may not fully understand the patient's prognosis or their EOL wishes [15,17]. Recent studies indicate that the majority of cancer patients in China want to be informed of their prognosis [8,18,19]. For example, a meta-analysis of studies in China revealed that 81.8% of patients with cancer, compared to 32.4% of the family, prefer being informed of the prognosis, but only 19.9% of patients are actually informed [8,15]. Although health care professionals aim to maintain hope through nondisclosure, they experience conflicts in balancing hope preservation with truth-telling [16]. The disparities between the professional duty to uphold patient autonomy and the cultural and traditional norms that define what is beneficial for patients give rise to ethical dilemmas and moral distress among health care professionals [17,20].

# Aim of the Study

In China, there were 4,546,400 new cancer cases and 2,992,600 cancer deaths in 2020, accounting for 25.1% and 30.2% of global incidences, respectively [21]. Despite the increasing rates of cancer diagnosis and mortality and the significant implications for nursing, there is limited knowledge about the ethical dilemmas and other factors related to prognostic communication among oncology nurses in China. Although several studies in China have examined the complexities of prognosis communication within a sociocultural context, most

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e63006
```

focus on the nurses' attitudes and preferences for diagnosis or prognostic disclosure [22-24]. Addressing ethical dilemmas in nursing practice is imperative for upholding patient advocacy, promoting patient-centered care, navigating complex moral issues, and maintaining professional integrity and accountability. This study aims to explore the ethical dilemmas in prognosis-related communication among Chinese oncology nurses and to identify their influencing factors.

# Methods

# **Study Design and Sample**

This study employed a cross-sectional design using a web-based survey conducted with oncology nurses. Convenience sampling was used to recruit participants from 4 hospitals in Wuhan City, Hubei Province, mainland China. The 4 hospitals were tertiary hospitals, which are designated based on a 3-tiered system (primary, secondary, and tertiary). A tertiary hospital has more than 500 beds, offers specialized health care services, and plays a significant role in medical education and research. The inclusion criteria were registered nurses currently practicing in oncology units and working with patients with advanced cancer. The exclusion criteria included nurses with less than 1 year of practice in oncology, intern nurses, rotating nurses, and those working in pediatric oncology.

# **Data Collection and Procedure**

Our research team contacted nursing directors at 4 hospitals with oncology units in Wuhan and explained the purpose and procedures of the study. The nursing directors and the head nurse distributed the web-based survey to the oncology department's WeChat (Tencent) group, inviting all oncology nurses to participate. The survey was administered from September 17, 2018, to October 24, 2019. A total of 410 eligible nurses enrolled in the study, but 37 did not fully complete the survey, resulting in a final sample of 373 participants.

# **Ethical Considerations**

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, IEC(S198), and all procedures followed ethics standards. Before taking the survey, nurses were informed about the study's purpose, risks and benefits, and their right to withdraw, and then they provided consent to participate the study. Surveys were anonymous and the data were kept confidential. No compensation was given to the study participants.

# Measures

# **Overview** of Measures

We developed measures by adapting items from a questionnaire used in previous studies [25,26]. The questionnaire was translated from English to Chinese and back translated to English by different postdoctoral staff independently to avoid bias. Some wordings and phrases were modified to enhance clarity in translation. Discrepancies were resolved with the help of a bilingual nursing faculty member. The content of the survey was validated by an expert panel consisting of 2 administrators with nursing backgrounds, 2 head nurses from an oncology

XSL•FO

department, and 2 oncologists with extensive knowledge and clinical experience in the study topic. These experts evaluated the clarity and relevance of the survey's components for the study population and verified the translation of the survey. Their feedback was integrated to refine the items and translation. The translated questionnaire was pilot-tested with 25 oncology nurses to make further improvements. Item responses were summed to calculate 4 composite (scale) scores: dilemmas, communication experiences, attitudes, and barriers.

# Dilemmas in Prognosis-Related Communication

This scale (4 items) assessed experiences with dilemmas in prognosis-related communication such as discomfort with discussions and social and cultural conflicts. Responses were rated on a 5-point Likert scale (1=never/almost never; 5=always/almost always). The total scores for ethical dilemmas ranged from 4 to 20, with higher scores indicating more dilemmas. The Cronbach  $\alpha$  for this scale was 0.82.

# **Prognosis-Related Communication Experiences**

This scale (3 items) measured experiences involving (1) patients not wanting their family members to be informed of their diagnosis, (2) family members or relatives requesting that patients not be told bad news, and (3) nurses not being encouraged to participate in prognosis-related communication. Responses were rated on a 5-point scale (1=never; 5=always/almost always). The total scores ranged from 3 to 15, with higher scores indicating more negative experiences in prognosis-related communication. The Cronbach  $\alpha$  for this scale was 0.70.

# Attitudes Toward Prognosis-Related Communication

This scale (6 items) measured attitudes toward engaging in prognosis communication using a 4-point scale (1=strongly disagree; 4=strongly agree). Sample items were "patients can make timely decisions about their treatment if they understand their prognosis" and "answering questions about prognosis-related information is within the scope of nursing practice." The total scores ranged from 6 to 24, with higher scores indicating more positive attitudes. The Cronbach  $\alpha$  for attitudes was 0.87.

# Barriers to Prognosis-Related Communication

This scale (4 items) assessed perceived barriers to engage in prognosis communication, such as role uncertainty, lack of time, and fear of diminishing hope. Responses were rated on a 4-point

scale (1=strongly disagree; 4=strongly agree), with higher scores indicating greater barriers. The total scores ranged from 4 to 16. Higher scores indicate greater levels of barriers in communicating prognosis. The Cronbach  $\alpha$  for barriers was 0.80.

Prognosis-related practice questions included: (1) preference for disclosing prognosis (yes/no), (2) the person responsible for disclosing prognosis (physician, family, nurse, or other), and (3) the extent of previous prognostic information disclosure to patients and family (fully, partially, or avoid of disclosure). Lastly, sociodemographic and practice-related questions included age, sex, marital status, education level, years of oncology nursing experience, and formal training on prognosis communication (1=none/almost none; 4=a lot).

# **Data Analysis**

Descriptive statistics were used to demonstrate the distributions of participants' sociodemographic characteristics and other study variables. For continuous variables, mean and SD were calculated, while for categorical variables, the count and frequency were reported. To identify factors associated with increased or decreased dilemmas when engaging in prognosis communication (outcome variable), an ordinary least squares regression was performed. Predictors included attitudes, barriers, and experiences in prognosis-related communication. This analysis controlled for several covariates, including participants' age, sex, marital status, and education level to ensure an unbiased assessment of each predictor's independent impact on the dependent variable—dilemmas in prognosis communication. All analyses were conducted using SPSS 23.0 (IBM Corp), and statistical significance was determined at an  $\alpha$  level of .05.

# Results

# Sociodemographic and Practice-Related Characteristics

Table 1 presents the sociodemographic information about the study sample. The median age of the participants was 30 (IQR 28 - 33) years. The majority were female (352/373, 94.4%), married (274/373, 73.5%), and had a bachelor's degree (219/373, 58.7%). The median years of working as an oncology nurse was 5 (IQR 3 - 8) years, with 65.6% (238/373) reporting that they had received little or no formal training in prognosis communication.



Table . Participant demographic and practice-related data.

Characteristics	Participants (n=373)
Age (years), median (IQR)	30 (28 - 33)
Sex, n (%)	
Female	352 (94.4)
Male	21 (5.6)
Education, n (%)	
Secondary specialized school of nursing	50 (13.4)
Junior college nursing degree	97 (26)
Bachelor's degree	219 (58.7)
Master's/PhD <sup>a</sup> degree	7 (1.9)
Marital status, n (%)	
Married	274 (73.5)
Separated/divorced	19 (5.1)
Widowed	4 (1.1)
Never married	76 (20.4)
Years working as an oncology nurse, median (IQR)	5 (3 - 8)
Formal training for prognosis-related communication, n (%) <sup>b</sup>	
None/almost none	77 (21.2)
Little bit	161 (44.4)
Moderate	90 (24.8)
A lot	35 (9.6)

<sup>a</sup>PhD: doctoral degree in nursing.

<sup>b</sup>n (%) is based on 363 respondents due to missing values.

Regarding prognosis-related practice, 51.1% (228/373) of the participants believed that physicians should be responsible for delivering prognostic information, compared to 10.2% (38/373) who believed nurses should take on this role (see Table 2). Approximately 86.9% (324/373) of the participants engaged in prognosis communication, providing either full or partial

disclosure to patients or their families. Only 20.1% (75/373) of the participants reported providing full disclosure to patients, 50.1% (187/373) provided partial disclosure, and 29.8% (111/373) avoided disclosure. In contrast, 43.7% (163/373) of the participants reported providing full disclosure to patients' families, while 37.3% (139/373) provided partial disclosure.



Table . Prognosis-related practice.

Variables	Participants (n=373)		
When patients have a poor prognosis, should this be disclosed to the patient? n (%)			
Yes	254 (68.1)		
No	119 (31.9)		
Who should inform about the prognosis? n (%)			
Physician in charge	228 (51.1)		
Family member	90 (24.1)		
Nurse in charge	38 (10.2)		
Other	17 (4.6)		
Prognosis communication to patients, n (%)			
Fully informed patients	75 (20.1)		
Provided only partial information	187 (50.1)		
Avoided informing prognosis/never disclosed prognosis to patients	111 (29.8)		
Prognosis communication to families, n (%)			
Fully informed families	163 (43.7)		
Provided only partial information	139 (37.3)		
Avoided informing prognosis/never discussed prognosis to the families	71 (19)		

# Ethical Dilemmas, Experiences, Attitudes, and Barriers Toward Prognosis-Related Communication

Table 3 presents study measures and response distributions regarding dilemmas and experiences with prognosis-related communication. In regard to ethical dilemmas, the most frequently reported items included participants reporting that they always or often felt pressure not to provide information due to a concern of contradicting what doctors said (180/373, 48.3%) and that social custom and cultural barriers prevent them from sharing prognostic information (167/373, 44.8%).

Oncology nurses in our study reported that they experienced a relatively moderate level of ethical dilemmas in prognosis communication (mean 13.5, SD 3.43; range 5 - 20). For prognosis-related communication experiences, 71% (265/373) of the participants reported that families always or often requested withholding communication from patients, and 53.4% (199/373) indicated that nurses were always or often not encouraged to participate in prognosis communication. The mean score of prognosis-related communication experiences was 10.64 (SD 2.49).



Ko et al

Table. Study measures (dilemmas and experiences with prognosis-related communication) and response distributions (n=373).

Items	Never/ almost never	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Always/almost always
Dilemmas in prognosis-	related communication, r	ı (%)			
Feel pressure to not provide information about prognosis to pa- tients to avoid contra- dicting what the doc- tors have said	16 (4.3)	49 (13.1)	128 (34.3)	110 (29.5)	70 (18.8)
Avoid talking with pa- tients about prognosis- related information due to the discomfort in giving bad news	19 (5.1)	49 (13.1)	149 (39.9)	95 (25.5)	61 (16.4)
Social customs/cultural barriers prevent you from sharing progno- sis-related information	17 (4.6)	50 (13.4)	139 (37.3)	105 (28.2)	62 (16.6)
Ethically conflicted when patients or family ask about prognosis-re- lated communication	19 (5.1)	59 (15.8)	148 (39.7)	85 (22.8)	62 (16.6)
Prognosis-related comm	unication experiences, n	(%)			
Patients do not want their family members to be told of their prog- nosis	22 (5.9)	72 (19.3)	118 (31.6)	106 (28.4)	55 (14.7)
Families/relatives re- quest that the patient is not told bad news	8 (2.1)	26 (7.0)	74 (19.8)	171 (45.8)	94 (25.2)
Nurses are not encour- aged to be involved in breaking bad news in my area	27 (7.2)	57 (15.3)	90 (24.1)	130 (34.9)	69 (18.5)

Table 4 presents study measures and response distributions regarding attitudes toward and barriers to prognosis-related communication. In terms of attitudes, the majority of participants were positive toward prognosis-related communication. For example, the majority agreed or strongly agreed that oncology nurses were responsible for helping patients prepare for their EOL care (330/373, 88.5%) and that prognosis communication can help patients make a timely decision about their treatments

(328/373, 87.9%). The mean score for attitudes toward prognosis-related communication was 18.84 (SD 3.65). In regard to barriers for prognosis-related communication, the items that the participants mostly agreed or strongly agreed with included worries about taking away patients' hope (317/373, 85%), followed by feeling uncertain about their roles (309/373, 82.8%). The overall mean barrier score was 12.0 (SD 2.50).



Ko et al

Table. Study measures (attitudes toward and barriers to prognosis-related communication) and response distributions (n=373).

Items	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
Attitudes toward prognosis-r	elated communication, n (%)			
Patients can make timely decisions about their treat- ments if they understand their prognosis.	10 (2.7)	35 (9.4)	158 (42.4)	170 (45.6)
Patients can make timely decisions about hospice en- rollment if they understand their prognosis.	24 (6.4)	24 (6.4)	159 (42.6)	166 (44.5)
I feel it is my responsibility to initiate a discussion with physicians about a patient's prognosis if the patient has questions about his or her prognosis.	13 (3.5)	43 (11.5)	213 (57.1)	104 (27.9)
I feel that oncology nurses have a responsibility to help patients prepare for their end of life.	21 (5.6)	22 (5.9)	154 (41.3)	176 (47.2)
I am willing to initiate a dis- cussion with patients regard- ing prognosis-related infor- mation.	22 (5.9)	57 (15.3)	193 (51.7)	101 (27.1)
I feel that answering ques- tions about prognosis-related information is within the scope of nursing practice.	25 (6.6)	77 (20.6)	187 (50.1)	84 (22.5)
Barriers to prognosis-related	communication, n (%)			
Uncertainty about my role in communicating progno- sis-related information is a major barrier to helping pa- tients and families under- stand their prognosis	22 (5.9)	42 (11.3)	219 (58.7)	90 (24.1)
Lack of time is a major bar- rier to discussing prognosis- related information with pa- tients and families.	17 (4.6)	72 (19.3)	173 (46.4)	111 (29.8)
Fear of taking away pa- tients' hope is a major barri- er to discussing prognosis- related information with pa- tients and families.	15 (4)	41 (11)	199 (53.4)	118 (31.6)
Physician discomfort with giving bad news is a major barrier to helping patients and families understand their prognosis.	18 (4.8)	102 (27.3)	174 (46.6)	79 (21.2)

# Factors Impacting Ethical Dilemmas in Prognosis-Related Communication

Table 5 summarizes the results of the ordinary least squares regression analysis. Previous experience with prognosis communication ( $\beta$ =0.46; *P*<.001), perceived barriers ( $\beta$ =0.40; *P*<.001), and years of work experience ( $\beta$ =-0.14; *P*=.002) were significant predictors of experiencing ethical dilemmas when engaging in prognosis-related communication. These findings

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e63006

XSL•FO RenderX suggest that participants who had more negative experiences or perceived more barriers to prognosis communication encountered more dilemmas. Participants with fewer years of experience as oncology nurses were more likely to experience a dilemma. All other variables, including attitudes, formal training, and demographic covariates did not significantly predict dilemmas in prognosis-related communication. This model explained a substantial portion of the variance in ethical

					<b>'</b>	,	,		
4.4.4	•	•			$\mathbf{D}$	11 . 1		- 1 0	<b>D</b> 004)
de la mana a a		10 10 0 10 0 0 1 0	a a management a a sta a m	$D_1 D_1 D_1$	$D^2 = (1 \leq 2)$ .	o danata d U	$-0 4 1 \cdot L$		$D > 1 \times 1 \times 1 \times 1$
memmas		mmonnere	("ATTTTTTTTTTT", ATTAIL	1R = 11/9	$\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{U} \mathbf{n} \mathbf{Z}$	$annsen \kappa$			$P < 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1$
ununnus	111		communication	(I - 0.7)	n = 0.02	aurusiou n	-0.01.102	52-05.15.	1 \.0017.
		F - 0		(	,		7 7)	.).)	

 Table . Predictors for dilemmas in prognosis-related communication (N=373).

Predictor	b <sup>a</sup>	SE	β <sup>b</sup> (95% CI)	P value
Barriers	0.55	0.07	0.40 (0.41-0.69)	<.001
Experiences with prog- nosis communication	0.62	0.06	0.46 (0.50-0.73)	<.001
Attitudes	-0.02	0.05	-0.02 (-0.12 to 0.07)	.66
Marital status	-0.10	0.07	-0.05 (-0.25 to 0.05)	.18
Age	0.04	0.03	0.05 (-0.03 to 0.10)	.23
Sex	-0.80	0.50	-0.05 (-1.80 to 0.19)	.11
Level of education	-0.27	0.17	-0.06 (-0.60 to 0.06)	.10
Years of working as an oncology nurse	-0.11	0.03	-0.14 (-0.18 to -0.04)	.002
Formal training	-0.20	0.13	-0.05 (-0.45 to 0.06)	.13

<sup>a</sup>Regression coefficient.

<sup>b</sup>Standardized regression coefficient.

# Discussion

#### **Prognosis-Related Practice**

Our study suggests that prognosis disclosure is not a simple dichotomy of telling versus not telling, but rather it varies by the degree of information provided. In this study, about 89% (332/373) of the participants reported either fully or partially engaging in prognosis communication with patients or their families, which is higher than a previous study in Taiwan where about 71% of nurses reported doing so [27], but it is lower than another study in China where 97.2% of oncology nurses engaged in truth-telling [28]. However, consistent with a previous study [8], our study revealed that full disclosure of a prognosis was more frequently given to families (163/373, 43.7%) rather than to patients (75/373, 20.1%). Disclosure of a patient's prognosis to the family before the patient may be intended to protect the patient from the potential harm associated with receiving negative news [29]. Although the frequency of full prognosis disclosure to families was twice the frequency of disclosure to patients, only 43.7% (163/373) of participants fully informed the family about the patient's prognosis. Further analysis revealed that 21.5% (80/373) of the participants provided only partial information to both patients and family members, while 11% (41/373) avoided engaging in prognostic discussions with either group. This hesitation may stem from various factors, including personal discomfort, lack of training, and institutional policies or protocols that affect information delivery [30]. Future studies exploring the reasons behind the varying degrees of prognosis disclosure would be valuable.

# Ethical Dilemmas in Prognosis-Related Communication

Oncology nurses in our study experienced a relatively moderate level of ethical dilemmas in cancer prognosis-related communication. Ethical dilemmas in health care arise from various factors, including the influence of sociocultural values and traditions on professional practice, as well as personal

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e63006
```

attitudes [12,31]. In China, it is traditional for physicians to take primary responsibility for informing patients and their families of the diagnosis and prognosis, which may cause nurses to hesitate when it comes to challenging authority or stepping beyond their professional roles. Nurses may also fear providing inaccurate information without a complete understanding of the patient's prognosis. Furthermore, sociocultural values rooted in Confucianism, which emphasize protecting patients, prioritizing maintaining family harmony, and family-centeredness, can create conflicts for health care professionals in promoting patient-informed decision-making [16,17]. This may lead to situations where patient autonomy is compromised to honor cultural and social traditions and expectations.

# Predictors of Ethical Dilemmas in Prognosis-Related Communication

One significant predictor for ethical dilemmas about prognostic communication was the perceived barriers to communication. Nurses who perceived a greater level of barriers were more likely to experience dilemmas. This finding aligns with previous studies indicating that health care professionals' discomfort and the burden of breaking bad news stem from their concerns about patients' inability to cope and relational distress [3]. Our study participants' uncertainty about their role might stem from the hierarchy in the health care system in China, where physicians are traditionally expected to lead discussions about prognosis [15,27]. Nevertheless, conflicting informed consent laws and regulations in China, which emphasize a patient's right to know but discourage health care professionals from truth-telling if it could cause adverse events, create fear of lawsuits and conflict with the family [16]. Consequently, the discomfort and lack of engagement among health care professionals in communicating a prognosis may impose additional burdens and challenges on nurses when patients or family members seek information.

Another significant predictor of dilemmas surrounding prognosis-related communication was the nurses' experience

XSL•FO RenderX

with prognosis communication. Negative experiences, such as families requesting that the prognosis be withheld from patients, were positively associated with experiencing dilemmas. Previous studies also supported that family requests to withhold prognosis information hinder health care professionals' disclosure of this information to patients [8,14,20]. However, deciding whether to disclose a prognosis is complex, requiring a balance between the patient's wishes and family's concerns. Family members' preferences might not align with the patient's preferences, creating conflicts with health care professionals. Health care professionals' assessment of both patients' and families' prognostic information preference is important to reduce conflicts associated with their discordant views [32]. Regardless, family is an important source of support and patients value positive relationships with their family members. Hence, integrating family into palliative and EOL care is important [14].

In addition, engaging the entire health care team in the communication process and decision-making serves as a collective approach to address ethical dilemmas [10]. Physicians are primarily tasked with delivering unfavorable news yet often evade this duty due to personal discomfort, concerns regarding patients' psychological well-being, time constraints, and inadequate communication training [17,28]. This perhaps compels nurses to feel responsible for filling the informational voids. A recent study with oncology nurses in China highlighted the benefits of an interdisciplinary approach, especially collaborations between physicians and nurses, such as sharing patient information [28]. An interprofessional approach to prognosis communication can effectively empower nurses to communicate truthfully and foster enhanced collaboration with physicians.

The number of years of employment as an oncology nurse was another significant factor associated with experiencing dilemmas surrounding prognosis-related communication. Previous studies have shown that years of nursing experience has a significant association with communication [33] and confidence in palliative and EOL care [34]. Oncology nurses with limited experience encountered uncertainty when addressing prognosis-related inquiries, which engendered apprehension about inadvertently imparting inaccurate information to the patients [35]. Conversely, oncology nurses with extensive experience are likely to have developed advanced communication skills, attributed to their heightened exposure to patients with advanced cancer. Therefore, involving experienced nurses in communication training might be beneficial. Previous studies with Chinese nurses indicated a lack of education in death, dying, and palliative and EOL care [12,30]. Although formal communication training increases health care professionals' engagement in disclosing a diagnosis and prognosis [36], it was not statistically significant in our study. This may be due to the lack of an established formal curriculum on prognosis communication, particularly culturally tailored and adapted skill training in which health care professionals, regardless of receiving formal training, may still be unsure about how to facilitate such challenging communications. In addition, the relatively young age of the study participants suggests that they may switch to other types

XSL•FO

of nursing units over the course of their careers. Therefore, providing recurring training opportunities led by experienced nurses could help improve communication skills and better equip them to address dilemmas related to challenging topics like prognosis communication.

Nurse communication training is still relatively new, and few training programs provide comprehensive skill training for palliative care. One example is the COMFORT (Connect, Options, Making Meaning, Family Caregivers, Openings, Relating, Team) framework, which outlines communication pathways for palliative care [37,38]. COMFORT incorporates communication theory into clinical research, providing a solid framework for palliative nursing communication with patients and families. Its "train-the-trainer" model has been found to improve nurses' attitudes, comfort levels, perceived self-efficacy, and confidence in engaging in challenging topics with family caregivers [37]. Despite its promising approach, it is crucial to culturally tailor its components for successful adoption. Health care organizations should adapt the curriculum to meet the unique needs and expectations of oncology nurses while accounting for Chinese cultural nuances.

#### **Limitations and Future Studies**

This study has several limitations that need to be acknowledged. This study included only 4 hospitals in Wuhan, China, which may limit the generalizability of the findings to oncology nurses in other provinces. Different provinces may have varying regulations and protocols regarding prognosis-related communication. In addition, the 4 hospitals where participants were recruited were tertiary hospitals, which may lead to different experiences for nurses compared to those working in primary or secondary hospitals or smaller regional hospitals. Future studies expanding study sites to include hospitals of different levels can broaden our understanding of this topic. Additionally, the psychometric properties of the measures used in this study were not empirically confirmed. Hence, future research is needed to develop reliable and valid measures.

#### Conclusion

Communicating a cancer prognosis is a complex process, and ethical dilemmas that nurses encounter need to be understood within their social and cultural contexts. Strategies to address ethical dilemmas require ongoing training and interdisciplinary collaboration. Communication training tailored to specific cultural contexts is indispensable within health care settings. Without uniform or unified policies, gaps and dilemmas in practice inevitably arise, potentially compromising patient care. Given the diverse preferences of patients and their families, communication about prognosis must be individualized and sensitive to their unique needs and backgrounds. Effective communication about cancer prognosis requires a collaborative effort centered around the patient. By harnessing their expertise and using tools that guide the understanding of patient preferences, health care professionals can ensure that discussions are informative, respectful, and supportive. Ultimately, emphasizing teamwork and ethical awareness enhances the quality of prognosis discussions and promotes the well-being of both patients and providers.

# Acknowledgments

We appreciate all study participants for this study, and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (project grant 71904056) for its funding.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- Miller EM, Porter JE, Barbagallo MS. The experiences of health professionals, patients, and families with truth disclosure when breaking bad news in palliative care: a qualitative meta-synthesis. Palliat Support Care 2022 Jun;20(3):433-444. [doi: 10.1017/S1478951521001243] [Medline: 35713348]
- 2. Selim S, Kunkel E, Wegier P, et al. A systematic review of interventions aiming to improve communication of prognosis to adult patients. Pat Educ Couns 2020 Aug;103(8):1467-1497. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2020.02.029] [Medline: 32284167]
- 3. Francis L, Robertson N. Healthcare practitioners' experiences of breaking bad news: a critical interpretative meta synthesis. Pat Educ Couns 2023 Feb;107:107574. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2022.107574] [Medline: 36459829]
- 4. Kerr D, Milnes S, Ammentorp J, et al. Challenges for nurses when communicating with people who have life-limiting illness and their families: a focus group study. J Clin Nurs 2020 Feb;29(3-4):416-428. [doi: 10.1111/jocn.15099] [Medline: 31715040]
- Cavanagh CE, Rosman L, Spatz ES, et al. Dying to know: prognosis communication in heart failure. ESC Heart Fail 2020 Dec;7(6):3452-3463. [doi: 10.1002/ehf2.12941] [Medline: 32969195]
- Wahyuni S, Gautama MSN, Simamora TY. A literature review of nurses challenges and barriers in assisting patients and families facing breaking bad news. Ind J Palliat Care 2023;29(3):243-249. [doi: <u>10.25259/IJPC 128 2023</u>] [Medline: <u>37700890</u>]
- Testoni I, Wieser MA, Kapelis D, Pompele S, Bonaventura M, Crupi R. Lack of truth-telling in palliative care and its effects among nurses and nursing students. Behav Sci (Basel) 2020 May 11;10(5):88. [doi: <u>10.3390/bs10050088</u>] [Medline: <u>32403378</u>]
- 8. Chen C, Cheng G, Chen X, Yu L. Information disclosure to cancer patients in mainland China: a meta-analysis. Psychooncol 2023 Mar;32(3):342-355. [doi: 10.1002/pon.6085] [Medline: 36582008]
- 9. Geng S, Zhang L, Zhang Q, Wu Y. Ethical dilemmas for palliative care nurses: systematic review. BMJ Supp Palliat Care 2024 Mar 27:spcare-2023-004742. [doi: 10.1136/spcare-2023-004742] [Medline: <u>38538036</u>]
- 10. Liu Y, Wang X, Wang Z, Zhang Y, Jin J. Ethical conflict in nursing: a concept analysis. J Clin Nurs 2023 Aug;32(15-16):4408-4418. [doi: 10.1111/jocn.16563] [Medline: 36320123]
- 11. Zhang Z, Min X. The ethical dilemma of truth-telling in healthcare in China. J Bioeth Inq 2020 Sep;17(3):337-344. [doi: 10.1007/s11673-020-09979-6] [Medline: 32394322]
- Tu J, Shen M, Li Z. When cultural values meets professional values: a qualitative study of chinese nurses' attitudes and experiences concerning death. BMC Palliat Care 2022 Oct 14;21(1):181. [doi: <u>10.1186/s12904-022-01067-3</u>] [Medline: <u>36242029</u>]
- 13. Mori M, Lin CP, Cheng SY, et al. Communication in cancer care in Asia: a narrative review. JCO Glob Oncol 2023 Jun;9:e2200266. [doi: 10.1200/GO.22.00266] [Medline: 37364221]
- 14. Pun J, Chow JCH, Fok L, Cheung KM. Role of patients' family members in end-of-life communication: an integrative review. BMJ Open 2023 Feb 21;13(2):e067304. [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-067304] [Medline: 36810181]
- 15. Zheng X, Tang Y. Who breaks bad news: doctors, family caregivers or cancer patients? A qualitative study in Southern China. Death Stud 2021 Nov 8:1-9. [doi: 10.1080/07481187.2021.1995532] [Medline: 34747684]
- Hahne J, Liang T, Khoshnood K, Wang X, Li X. Breaking bad news about cancer in China: concerns and conflicts faced by doctors deciding whether to inform patients. Pat Educ Couns 2020 Feb;103(2):286-291. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2019.08.022</u>] [Medline: <u>31455567</u>]
- 17. Turnbull M, Yu C, Wu XI. Practitioner accounts of end-of-life communication in Hong Kong, mainland China and Taiwan: a systematic review. Pat Educ Couns 2023 Jan;106:31-41. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2022.10.007] [Medline: 36273978]
- Cheng Q, Duan Y, Zheng H, et al. Knowledge, attitudes and preferences of palliative and end-of-life care among patients with cancer in mainland China: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open 2021 Sep 28;11(9):e051735. [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-051735] [Medline: 34588259]
- Stocklassa S, Zhang S, Mason S, Elsner F. Cultural implications for disclosure of diagnosis and prognosis toward terminally ill cancer patients in China: a literature review. Palliat Support Care 2022 Apr;20(2):283-289. [doi: <u>10.1017/S1478951521000535</u>] [Medline: <u>33947500</u>]

RenderX

- 20. Hahne J, Wang X, Liu R, et al. Chinese physicians' perceptions of palliative care integration for advanced cancer patients: a qualitative analysis at a tertiary hospital in Changsha, China. BMC Med Ethics 2022 Mar 4;23(1):17. [doi: 10.1186/s12910-022-00750-7] [Medline: 35246107]
- He S, Xia C, Li H, et al. Cancer profiles in China and comparisons with the USA: a comprehensive analysis in the incidence, mortality, survival, staging, and attribution to risk factors. Sci China Life Sci 2024 Jan;67(1):122-131. [doi: 10.1007/s11427-023-2423-1] [Medline: 37755589]
- Liu Y, Yang J, Song L, Yang X, Yin Y, Yan L. Nurses' experiences and attitudes toward diagnosis disclosure for cancer patients in China: a qualitative study. Psychooncol 2019 Dec;28(12):2415-2421. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.5273</u>] [Medline: <u>31702852</u>]
- Liu M, Zhang T, Chen L, et al. Intensive care unit nurses' attitudes toward truth-telling, life-sustaining treatment, and decision-making intention for end-of-life patients. J Hosp Palliat Nurs 2024 Apr 1;26(2):E46-E54. [doi: 10.1097/NJH.0000000000989] [Medline: <u>37976393</u>]
- 24. Wu J, Wang Y, Jiao X, Wang J, Ye X, Wang B. Differences in practice and preferences associated with truth-telling to cancer patients. Nurs Ethics 2021 Mar;28(2):272-281. [doi: <u>10.1177/0969733020945754</u>] [Medline: <u>32959721</u>]
- 25. Cherny NI, Palliative Care Working Group of the European Society for Medical Oncology. Factors influencing the attitudes and behaviors of oncologists regarding the truthful disclosure of information to patients with advanced and incurable cancer. Psychooncol 2011 Dec;20(12):1269-1284. [doi: 10.1002/pon.1853] [Medline: 20878723]
- Helft PR, Chamness A, Terry C, Uhrich M. Oncology nurses' attitudes toward prognosis-related communication: a pilot mailed survey of oncology nursing society members. Oncol Nurs Forum 2011 Jul;38(4):468-474. [doi: 10.1188/11.ONF.468-474] [Medline: 21708537]
- 27. Huang SH, Tang FI, Liu CY, Chen MB, Liang TH, Sheu SJ. Truth-telling to patients' terminal illness: what makes oncology nurses act individually? Eur J Oncol Nurs 2014 Oct;18(5):492-498. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2014.04.010] [Medline: 24907230]
- 28. Cheng Q, Duan Y, Wang Y, Zhang Q, Chen Y. The physician-nurse collaboration in truth disclosure: from nurses' perspective. BMC Nurs 2021 Mar 6;20(1):38. [doi: 10.1186/s12912-021-00557-8] [Medline: <u>33676508</u>]
- 29. He X, Liang J, Liang H, Yue P, Zeng D, Gong N. Informing or concealing dynamics of telling disease-related bad news among family members of older cancer patients: a qualitative study. Int J Nurs Stud 2024 Nov;159:104871. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2024.104871] [Medline: 39197307]
- 30. Wang Y, Huang Y, Zheng R, Yue X, Dong F. Intern nursing students' perceived barriers to providing end-of-life care for dying cancer patients in a death taboo cultural context: a qualitative study. Asia Pac J Oncol Nurs 2023 Apr;10(4):100210. [doi: 10.1016/j.apjon.2023.100210] [Medline: 37159608]
- 31. Fu C, Glasdam S. The "good death" in mainland China a scoping review. Int J Nurs Stud Adv 2022 Dec;4:100069. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnsa.2022.100069] [Medline: 38745620]
- van der Velden NCA, Smets EMA, Hagedoorn M, et al. Patient-caregiver dyads' prognostic information preferences and perceptions in advanced cancer. J Pain Symptom Manage 2023 May;65(5):442-455. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2023.01.012</u>] [Medline: <u>36731806</u>]
- Toh SW, Hollen VT, Ang E, Lee YM, Devi MK. Nurses' communication difficulties when providing end-of-life care in the oncology setting: a cross-sectional study. Supp Care Cancer 2021 May;29(5):2787-2794. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-020-05787-1] [Medline: 32997186]
- 34. Parajuli J, Hupcey JE, Kitko L, Birriel B. Palliative care: oncology nurses' confidence in provision to patients with cancer. Clin J Oncol Nurs 2021 Aug 1;25(4):449-455. [doi: <u>10.1188/21.CJON.449-455</u>] [Medline: <u>34269349</u>]
- 35. McLennon SM, Lasiter S, Miller WR, Amlin K, Chamness AR, Helft PR. Oncology nurses' experiences with prognosis-related communication with patients who have advanced cancer. Nurs Outlook 2013;61(6):427-436. [doi: 10.1016/j.outlook.2012.12.001] [Medline: 23402782]
- Alshami A, Douedi S, Avila-Ariyoshi A, et al. Breaking bad news, a pertinent yet still an overlooked skill: an international survey study. Healthc (Basel) 2020 Nov 20;8(4):501. [doi: <u>10.3390/healthcare8040501</u>] [Medline: <u>33233556</u>]
- 37. Goldsmith JV, Wittenberg E. The COMFORT model: moving the initiative outside of the academy. Health Commun 2024 Mar 7:1-6. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2024.2326255] [Medline: 38450611]
- Wittenberg E, Goldsmith JV, Chen CK, Prince-Paul M. A conceptual model of the nurse's role as primary palliative care provider in goals of care communication. PEC Innov 2024 Dec;4:100254. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pecinn.2024.100254</u>] [Medline: <u>38298557</u>]

# Abbreviations

**COMFORT:** Connect, Options, Making meaning, Family caregivers, Openings, Relating, Team **EOL:** end-of-life



Edited by H Ahn; submitted 07.06.24; peer-reviewed by KT Bui, R Kumar, R Zheng; revised version received 03.09.24; accepted 05.11.24; published 13.12.24. <u>Please cite as:</u>

Ko E, Shamsalizadeh N, Lee J, Ni P Ethical Dilemmas Among Oncology Nurses in China: Cross-Sectional Study Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e63006 URL: https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e63006 doi:10.2196/63006

© Eunjeong Ko, Neda Shamsalizadeh, Jaehoon Lee, Ping Ni. Originally published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal (https://apinj.jmir.org), 13.12.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://apinj.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Exploring Nursing Research Culture in Clinical Practice: Qualitative Ethnographic Study

Hyeyoung Hwang<sup>1,2</sup>, RN, MSN, MBE; Jennie C De Gagne<sup>3</sup>, RN, DNP, PhD, NPD-BC, CNE; Leeho Yoo<sup>1</sup>, RN, MSN; Miji Lee<sup>1</sup>, RN, MSN; Hye Kyung Jo<sup>1,4</sup>, RN, MSN; Ju-eun Kim<sup>1,5</sup>, RN, MSN

<sup>1</sup>College of Nursing, Ewha Womans University, Seoul, Republic of Korea

<sup>2</sup>Adventist HealthCare Shady Grove Medical Center, Rockville, MD, United States

<sup>3</sup>School of Nursing, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States

<sup>4</sup>Jeonbuk National University Hospital, Jeonju, Republic of Korea

<sup>5</sup>Health Insurance Review & Assessment Service, Wonju, Republic of Korea

# **Corresponding Author:**

Ju-eun Kim, RN, MSN College of Nursing Ewha Womans University 52, Ewhayeodae-gil, Seodaemun-gu Seoul, 03760 Republic of Korea Phone: 82 10 7259 9699 Email: jueun.kimmm@gmail.com

# Abstract

**Background:** Cultivating a positive research culture is considered the key to facilitating the utilization of research findings. In the realm of clinical nursing research, nurses conducting research may find the utilization of findings challenging due to the lack of a positive research culture.

**Objective:** This study aims to identify and describe the sociocultural context of nursing research in a clinical setting at a Korean tertiary hospital.

**Methods:** We included participant observation and ethnographic interviews with 6 registered nurses working in a medical-surgical unit in a Korean tertiary hospital who had experience conducting nursing research in clinical settings in this qualitative ethnographic study. The study was conducted from April 2022 to May 2022. Data analysis was conducted using Spradley's ethnographic approach, which includes domain analysis, taxonomic analysis, componential analysis, and theme analysis, and occurred concurrently with data collection.

**Results:** The overarching theme identified for nursing research culture in clinical practice was the development of a driving force for growth within the clinical environment. This theme encompasses (1) balancing positive and negative influences in the research process, (2) fostering transformational change for both nurses and patients, and (3) promoting complementary communication among nurses.

**Conclusions:** Clinical research plays a vital role in nursing practice that requires a balance of supportive elements, such as patient-driven research questions and hospital research support, with practical challenges such as shift work and high work intensity. This study found that a positive clinical nursing research culture can serve as a unifying bridge, connecting researchers, patients, who serve as both the origin and ultimate beneficiaries of research, and hospitals that facilitate research endeavors. Future research should explore whether the themes derived from this study fully reflect a clinical nursing research culture comprising patients, nurses, and the hospital environment and determine what requirements are needed to establish such a nursing research culture.

(Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e50703) doi:10.2196/50703

# **KEYWORDS**

clinical nursing research; ethnography; evidence-based nursing; nursing research; qualitative research

# Introduction

# Overview

Nurses are increasingly expected to understand and actively participate in research endeavors and to use emerging research evidence as a foundation for their professional practice [1]. This expectation is highlighted by the International Code of Ethics for Nurses, a widely esteemed code of ethics in the nursing profession that explicitly stipulates that nurses should engage in research as an integral aspect of their profession, cultivate research-driven professional acumen, and implement evidence-based findings into their practice [2]. Similarly, the Korean Code of Ethics for Nurses underscores the responsibility of professional nurses to contribute to the development of nursing standards and the advancement of nursing research [3].

Nursing research is defined as a systematic inquiry designed to develop evidence-based information about issues important to the nursing profession, including nursing practice, education, administration, and informatics [1]. Clinical nursing research is a subset of nursing research that focuses specifically on nursing practice to promote and support patients' health, well-being, and quality of life [1,4]. Because nurses constitute the largest group of frontline providers of health care, clinical nursing research has increasingly gained recognition as a vital path to implementing practical, efficient, and economically viable strategies that reduce hospital errors, minimize unnecessary expenditures, and enhance patient outcomes [5].

Research utilization, also referred to as knowledge translation, is a pivotal component of the clinical nursing research process; it involves the generation, distribution, and integration of research findings into clinical practice [4]. Research utilization entails not only the implementation of evidence into practice but also the continuous monitoring and evaluation of changes in practice [6]. Given their role as frontline caregivers in clinical settings, nurses are crucially responsible for translating research findings into clinical nursing practice [7]. Nurses must be motivated and prepared to synthesize the results of existing studies, apply them to clinical practice, and formulate research questions directly within the clinical setting to generate new evidence, yet nurses may remain unengaged in research activities due to a lack of capacity or support to implement research findings into their daily clinical practice [4,8].

The effective utilization of research findings relies on three essential factors: (1) fostering a positive research culture, (2) garnering interest from individuals capable of applying these findings in practice, and (3) securing comprehensive support from governmental bodies, managers, and peers [9]. This study posits that fostering a positive research culture inherently encompasses the other 2 factors because a thriving research culture naturally generates interest and encourages support to translate research findings into practice. We posit, therefore, that a positive research culture is foundational to enhancing individual research interests and garnering organizational support.

Cultivating a positive research culture is essential because research utilization can prove challenging for clinical nurses

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e50703
```

due to a lack of time, knowledge, research supervision, and support [8]. This study seeks to explore the culture of clinical nursing research in Korea to provide substantive insights for cultivating a positive research culture.

#### Background

Defining culture poses a formidable challenge due to its inherent complexity; however, adopting a cultural perspective enables an understanding of why certain phenomena may occur in specific ways [10]. Consequently, to understand the essence of any phenomenon, it is necessary to explore the specific culture to which it belongs. A comprehensive understanding of clinical nursing research requires a deep familiarity with the culture of nursing research within specific clinical settings.

In the United Kingdom, because nursing functions within the National Health Service framework, government-led health care changes have seldom been research-based, and few studies have investigated the nature of clinical nursing research culture [9]. The United Kingdom has two distinct nursing subcultures: one for nurses and another for researchers, each characterized by differing values and language use [9]. Despite efforts to bridge these cultural differences, an explicit definition of a nursing research culture in clinical practice in the United Kingdom remains elusive [9]. The United Kingdom has encountered challenges in fostering a nursing research culture due to such factors as a shortage of adequately qualified research-active personnel, underdevelopment of research funding, and recurring competing demands on nurse academics [11].

A recent study in Denmark explored nurse researchers' experiences in clinical roles and their perceptions of the nursing research culture in clinical practice [12]. In their case study of nurse researchers' experiences of the presence of a nursing research culture in clinical practice, Berthelsen and Hølge-Hazelton [12] described nursing research culture as "caught between a rock and a hard place," reflecting the dual pressures arising from a limited academic tradition among nurses and a lack of recognition from physicians. In Australia, the authors of a survey of interdisciplinary researchers concluded that an enabling research culture should comprise research productivity, positive collegial relationships, inclusivity, noncompetitiveness, and effective research processes and training [13], but notably, all participants in this study were researchers rather than clinical nurses. Given that clinical nurses are increasingly tasked with involvement in clinical nursing research [14,15], relying solely on nursing researchers to depict the entirety of the clinical nursing research culture presents inherent limitations.

In South Korea, nursing research has been active since the 1980s [16], with clinical nursing research primarily conducted at the tertiary hospital level [14,17-19]. Studies conducted in Korea have explored facilitators and barriers to nursing research in clinical practice, including clinical nurses' knowledge and skills, acknowledgment of the importance of nursing research, organizational support, resource and facility constraints, time limitations, lack of leadership interest, challenges in statistical analysis, and the generalization of research results [14,20-22]. Although these studies have identified factors influencing the

research performance of clinical nurses, the specific nature of the clinical nursing research culture in Korea remains largely unexplored.

To gain a nuanced understanding of the sociocultural context surrounding nursing research in clinical settings, it is essential to explore the culture of the nursing research environment from both observer (etic) and insider (emic) perspectives. Our theoretical framework emphasizes the central role of research utilization in clinical nursing research and has guided each step of our inquiry. In alignment with this framework, our research questions were designed to explore the interplay between the prevailing research culture and the practical utilization of research findings within clinical settings. The selection of participants, the structure of the interviews, and the focal points of our observations were carefully aligned with our framework's emphasis on discerning the sociocultural nuances inherent to nursing research.

# Purpose

This study aims to identify and describe the sociocultural context of clinical nursing research within a Korean tertiary hospital. The guiding research questions are the following: (1) what is the sociocultural context of clinical nursing research in a Korean tertiary hospital, and how does it impact clinical nurses' research activities? (2) How do clinical nurses perceive the research environment's culture, and what shared values and beliefs do they hold regarding nursing research in this context? (3) What are the facilitating and hindering factors impacting clinical

Figure 1. An overview of research methods.

nurses' research activities? Through participant observation and ethnographic interviews, we sought to uncover shared values and beliefs inherent in the visible phenomenon of the research environment culture of clinical nurses.

# Methods

# Overview

Ethnography facilitates the understanding of cultural phenomena, enabling in-depth comprehension of the subject culture from the vantage point of its native participants [23,24]. Therefore, Spradley's [23,24] ethnographic method is aptly suited for this study as it focuses on conducting in-depth interviews with clinical nurses and gaining understanding of the context from both internal and external perspectives.

Our analytical approach, deeply rooted in the emphasized theoretical framework, enabled us to interpret our findings in the broader context of research utilization in clinical nursing. This harmonious amalgamation of theory and method allowed us to unearth insights deeply rooted in the lived experiences of clinical nurses, illuminating the multifaceted nature of research engagement in clinical practice. By detailing the application and influence of our theoretical framework explicitly at each research stage, we aimed to provide a clearer and more comprehensive picture of how theoretical underpinnings shaped this study, addressing any potential concerns regarding the role and application of the theoretical framework in our research. An overview of the method is presented in Figure 1.



# Design

Initially, social situations were identified based on Spradley's [23] participant observation, analyzing places, actors, and activities. Participant observation and ethnographic interviews explored and described the research environment and culture

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e50703
```

according to the Standard for Reporting Qualitative Research (SRQR) [25]. The result of SRQR is presented in Multimedia Appendix 1.

of clinical nurses. This study adhered to and was reported

#### Setting

In a tertiary hospital in South Korea, nurses submit clinical questions annually, and those whose questions are deemed valuable are given opportunities for advancement in clinical nursing research. In a participating medical-surgical unit of this hospital, clinical nursing research is underway that explores the following clinical question: "Is high-dose bowel preparation necessary before colonoscopy?" The research study compares bowel cleanliness, patient compliance, and side effects arising from different bowel preparations for patients undergoing colonoscopy.

Participant observation occurred both within the hospital's actual clinical environment and in cyberspace. Spradley's [23] definition of participant observation entails observing people's activities, the physical attributes of the social context, and experiencing the scene as a participant. This term was chosen as 1 author actively participated in the entire research process, while the remaining 4 authors observed solely in cyberspace, utilizing the mobile messenger app Kakao Talk (Kakao Games) and the video communication platform Zoom (Zoom Video Communications). Consequently, the use of the term adequately aligned with Spradley's approach.

# **Participants**

The selection of research participants and social situations followed the ethnographic research methodology [23,24] to accurately describe clinical nurses' research environment and culture. Participants were purposefully selected based on factors that potentially influence research cultures, including position, research experience, education, and clinical experience. To attain a representation that resonates with the research culture of clinical nurses, recruitment focused on nurses with research experience, particularly those who had completed nursing research-related courses at a university hospital. Furthermore, as the research meetings were primarily conducted through Kakao Talk and Zoom, the inclusion criterion was the ability to use cell phones and computers.

Ethnography acknowledges that the required number of research participants varies depending on the cultural context [23].

Hwang et al

Drawing from previous qualitative research [22] that focused on similar research topics and participants, a blend of purposive and snowball sampling strategies was used to recruit nurses engaged in nursing research in a hospital. The sample comprised 5 staff nurses and 1 nurse unit manager affiliated with the medical-surgical unit of a Korean tertiary hospital. One participant (who is a member of the hospital nursing research team and a contributing author to this ethnographic study) was actively involved in both participant observation and the ethnographic interview; this dual role allowed for close and continuous observation of the progress of unit-based nursing research from an actual internal perspective, enriching the study with insight from active engagement in research subjects.

# **Data Collection**

Data collection for this study was executed from April to May 2022, involving several methods, namely participant observation and ethnographic interviews. These diverse methodologies enabled researchers to garner rich data, obtain a deeper understanding of the cultural context, and address the study's queries effectively.

# Participant Observation

Participant observation encompassed interactions both within the actual clinical environment of the hospital and in web-based spaces during video research conferences. One of the authors, who was also a participant in the research, conducted in-depth observations, involving monitoring of the research process in the clinical setting and active involvement as a member of the hospital's nursing research team. The remaining 4 authors observed remotely through video meetings on Kakao Talk and Zoom to oversee the research process.

The focus of both forms of participant observation was on noting participants' activities and cultural and environmental characteristics, as well as identifying various aspects such as space, actors, activities, objects, behaviors, events, time, purpose, and emotions. The relationships between research participants, as identified through participant observation, are illustrated in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Interaction of the research participants.



# Ethnographic Interviews

Ethnographic interviews were conducted as one-on-one web-based sessions through Zoom in adherence to COVID-19 regulations. These interviews were facilitated by a single, experienced qualitative research interviewer who was not a part of the hospital nursing team. The interviews involved a mix of open-ended and semistructured questions, commencing with the following initial question designed to engage participants with the research topic: "What is the topic of your current hospital research?" Subsequent questions were aimed at eliciting in-depth, voluntary explanations from participants.

The structure and content of the interview questions and guidelines were informed by previous research on clinical nursing research in Korea [14,21,22,26] and were aligned with Spradley's [24] ethnographic interview approach. Following the outlined interview guide (Multimedia Appendix 2), the interviews were conducted individually and typically lasted between 35 and 50 minutes, with the average duration being 40 minutes.

#### **Data Analysis**

In this study, 5 authors acted independently as data coders, each coding the collected data. Discrepancies in the coding results were discussed in research meetings and subjected to a consensus process until an agreement was reached. Word (Microsoft Corp) and Excel (Microsoft Corp) were used for data analysis. Initial transcripts of reported activities were compiled in Word, and meaningful data related to the topic were identified and listed in Excel, with each sentence recorded in a separate row. Subsequently, related sentences were grouped to derive themes.

Data analysis was conducted iteratively alongside data collection, using Spradley's [24] 4-step method consisting of domain analysis, taxonomic analysis, componential analysis, and theme analysis. In the domain analysis, we reviewed

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e50703
```

ethnographic interviews and transcripts of reported activities to identify meaningful domains related to the culture of clinical nursing research. These domains were categorized into six areas of clinical nursing research culture: (1) clinical application of nursing research, (2) research role assignment, (3) shift work, (4) hospital research resources, (5) interaction between researchers, and (6) purpose of nursing research.

Taxonomic analysis led to the construction of meaningful terms within the identified domains, resulting in 37 subcategories. Componential analysis distinguished the characteristics of terms used by participants in each classification, leading to the derivation of 12 categories. All authors revised and integrated these categorizations through meticulous review. Subsequent to the categorization and integration, we performed a theme analysis and selected the final meaningful data to provide insight into the culture of clinical nursing research. Contents with similar meanings were classified and categorized, revealing 6 subthemes related to the culture of the nursing research environment among clinical nurses. These subthemes were then synthesized into 3 overarching themes that offered a comprehensive and integrated understanding of the culture of nursing research in the clinical setting.

#### Rigor

The rigor of this study was bolstered by using a variety of strategies recommended by Lincoln and Guba [27]. To ensure the accuracy of the interview content and methodology, the trained interviewer engaged in discussions with the other authors. All authors maintained transparency through critical reflection on their own beliefs, documented self-critical memos, and participation in deliberative discussions. Dependability was assured by integrating data collection and analysis in a simultaneous, cyclic approach. Additionally, a nursing professor well-versed in qualitative research continuously reviewed the processes of data collection and analysis to maintain the integrity of the study. Lastly, to assess their transferability, the findings

XSL•FO RenderX

were presented to other clinical nurses to gauge their applicability in varied settings.

# **Ethical Considerations**

This study received approval from the institutional review board of Ewha Womans University (202204-0002-01) and adhered to ethical guidelines. Potential participants were adequately informed about the study's purpose, methods, and incentives, and voluntary participation was emphasized. Sufficient time was provided for potential participants to consider their involvement. Interested participants provided written informed consent and were assured of their right to withdraw from the study at any time. Participants were informed that the collected data would be used only for research purposes and that they could discontinue participation at any time during the study. Access to the collected data was restricted to the authors of the study. To maintain confidentiality, any identifying information

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of the participants.

and files that could link data to individual participants were securely discarded upon the completion of the study.

# Results

# **Participant Characteristics**

This study included 6 participants, all female, comprising 5 staff nurses and 1 unit manager from a ward. The participants were aged between 26 and 53 years and had clinical experience ranging from 2 to 30 years. The number of research experiences among the participants varied from 1 to 7 instances. Additional details on the participants' characteristics are provided in Table 1.

The findings of the study are subsequently presented, supplemented by excerpts from the observations and interviews conducted with the participants.

NumberPositionNumber of research experiencesEducationAge (years)Clinical experiences1Staff nurse6Doctoral student3462Staff nurse2Master's student3043Staff nurse2BSN <sup>a</sup> 2624Staff nurse1BSN <sup>a</sup> 2835Staff nurse1BSN <sup>a</sup> 2736Unit manager7MSN <sup>b</sup> 5330		8 1				
1Staff nurse6Doctoral student3462Staff nurse2Master's student3043Staff nurse2 $BSN^a$ 2624Staff nurse1 $BSN^a$ 2835Staff nurse1 $BSN^a$ 2736Unit manager7 $MSN^b$ 5330	Number	Position	Number of research experiences	Education	Age (years)	Clinical experience (years)
2Staff nurse2Master's student3043Staff nurse2 $BSN^a$ 2624Staff nurse1 $BSN^a$ 2835Staff nurse1 $BSN^a$ 2736Unit manager7 $MSN^b$ 5330	1	Staff nurse	6	Doctoral student	34	6
3Staff nurse2 $BSN^a$ 2624Staff nurse1 $BSN^a$ 2835Staff nurse1 $BSN^a$ 2736Unit manager7 $MSN^b$ 5330	2	Staff nurse	2	Master's student	30	4
4Staff nurse1BSNa2835Staff nurse1BSNa2736Unit manager7MSNb5330	3	Staff nurse	2	BSN <sup>a</sup>	26	2
5Staff nurse1BSN <sup>a</sup> 2736Unit manager7MSN <sup>b</sup> 5330	4	Staff nurse	1	BSN <sup>a</sup>	28	3
6 Unit manager 7 $MSN^b$ 53 30	5	Staff nurse	1	BSN <sup>a</sup>	27	3
	6	Unit manager	7	MSN <sup>b</sup>	53	30

<sup>a</sup>BSN: Bachelor of Science in Nursing.

<sup>b</sup>MSN: Master of Science in Nursing.

# **Balancing Positive and Negative Influences in the Research Process**

# Shift Work and High Workload Negatively Impacting Research Progress

Nurses working in shifts and experiencing high workloads expressed feeling too exhausted to balance their work and research responsibilities. Most participants viewed research as a separate entity from their clinical roles and expressed that they found the research process arduous and challenging to juggle alongside their work duties. Nurses' varying schedules resulting from shift work made finding a suitable meeting time challenging. Participants in this study used web-based meetings as a solution that allowed maximal participation, and they provided recordings for those who could not attend due to scheduling conflicts. Nonetheless, some participants found it difficult to discuss and share progress updates due to shifting work schedules and reported feeling too drained to attend research-related training sessions given their substantial workload. Consequently, the demands of high workloads and shift work often resulted in deprioritization and postponement of research activities.

The process of moving forward seems very arduous. Balancing work and research is challenging, and *maintaining focus is difficult.* [Participant 2, observation]

Due to shift work, only a few nurses discuss and are informed about the progress of the research. This sometimes leaves others struggling to understand and keep up with the research's progress, which can be embarrassing. [Participant 3, interview]

Sometimes, I feel so tired and overwhelmed by the high workload that I cannot afford to participate in research-related training. [Participant 4, interview]

# Positive Utilization of Hospital's Research Support Resources

The research support resources provided by the hospital positively impacted the progress of the research. Nurses shared that they were able to submit clinical questions about which they were curious through a hospital program, leading to the formation of a research team and the initiation of research. The hospital provided various research support resources, such as research-related education and academic services, support for educational expenses, and dedicated human resources to assist with research. During meetings, participants referenced books provided by the hospital that contained essential information for advancing research. The accessibility of these resources cultivated a supportive environment that enabled participants

to conduct more efficient and effective research, which could be translated into positive outcomes.

Every year, our hospital holds an event encouraging nurses to formulate research questions stemming from their clinical curiosities. I found myself jotting down sporadic thoughts, and these activities naturally evolved into nursing research. [Participant 4, interview]

The Nursing Education Department collaborates with our research team leader, offering support including statistical consulting. [Participant 2, interview]

Detailed information useful for assessing the "Risk of Bias" of the selected literature can be found on page 62 of the book provided by the hospital. [Participant 1, observation]

# Fostering Transformational Change for Both Nurses and Patients

# Selection of Research Topics Derived From Clinical Settings

Participants acknowledged the need for change to enhance the working environment for nurses and create a safer hospital environment for patients. They engaged with questions emerging from their daily practices and evolved these inquiries into research topics. They perceived that addressing these topics could trigger significant changes that would benefit both nurses and patients. This approach seemed to deepen their understanding of the prevalent issues and elevate the relevance of the research to clinical practice.

This research topic came about because nurses noticed issues while doing their jobs. They were thinking about other possible solutions since patients were having a hard time taking a lot of laxatives, causing them discomfort and making nursing tasks take longer. [Participant 6, interview]

The issue we chose as our research topic was something I often pondered over during work. It was a mutual concern among all nurses and patients in our unit, and it's intriguing to see it evolve into a research question. [Participant 4, interview]

I firmly believe the clinical setting is the optimal environment for nursing research. Numerous topics are inherently connected to nursing practices and patient care, highlighting the immense value of conducting research in such settings. Given the chance, I aspire to continue pursuing research in clinical environments. [Participant 1, interview]

# Meaningful Outcomes Obtained Through the Research Progress

All participants regarded the knowledge obtained through research as a common, meaningful outcome, signifying that the acquisition of new knowledge was a significant and shared benefit experienced by the entire group. In addition to the shared benefit of knowledge, participants anticipated obtaining various individual benefits from their research process, including the

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e50703
```

development of leadership and followership skills, expertise in their field, tangible rewards, increased satisfaction, improved confidence, reinforced trust within the team, and a sense of group unity. The participants expressed that they enjoyed the research process and that the array of rewards it offered led to positive experiences for all involved.

Even if the results of our research don't align with our hopes, I think our nurses have already grown personally during the process and can act as positive influences for our younger colleagues. [Participant 6, interview]

I studied article search and analysis techniques in nursing school, but doing research in a clinical environment has allowed me to realize the importance of these skills firsthand, enhancing my learning confidence. I'm also thinking about attending graduate school, and I feel that my current research experience will be beneficial then. [Participant 5, interview]

If our research is published in a scholarly journal, it would be a personal achievement, so I'm even more motivated to work harder. [Participant 2, interview]

# Promoting Complementary Communication Among Nurses

# Varied Research Participation Based on Research Competency

The level of involvement of nurses in the research varied, influenced by their previous research and postgraduate course experiences. This involvement was also correlated with the relationships among participants, as depicted in Figure 2. In essence, team members who were actively engaged in the research demonstrated more active relationships within the team, while those who were less active exhibited more passive relationships. Participants with research experience actively shared their opinions; however, as the research progressed, they felt the burden of the uneven distribution of tasks. Conversely, those without previous research experience performed only the roles assigned to them by their more experienced peers and felt apologetic toward other participants.

Having engaged in similar research during my master's program, I find the current research less challenging. However, colleagues lacking research experience may find it somewhat hard to keep pace with the progress of the research. [Participant 2, interview]

As the research becomes more complex, the team is finding it difficult, increasing my workload. I feel that if I don't keep at it, the research might halt, so I'm pushing through. Honestly, it's somewhat overwhelming. [Participant 1, interview]

My team leader assigns tasks to members. Since I lacked knowledge about research, my participation has been more passive. So, these days, when I observe some team members struggling with the research, I feel a profound sense of guilt. It's challenging for me

to decide what to do initially. [Participant 5, interview]

# Differences in Researcher Roles Depending on Research Participation

Participants' roles in the research process were diversified, reflecting individual research capabilities and experience, which correlated with the level of their involvement in research. Those actively involved, particularly individuals with previous research experience or a master's degree, autonomously delineated their roles, aligning them with the team members' strengths and competencies. This strategy fostered a cooperative environment and optimized the unique skills of each member. Conversely, participants engaged more passively, typically those lacking research or a relevant educational background, conformed to the leaders' opinions, and concentrated solely on assigned tasks, expressing that they found this approach to be less burdensome. To mitigate the disparities in research capabilities and experiences, participants maintained consistent meetings and endorsed reciprocal, complementary communication. Participants expressed that this emphasis on open dialogue and collaboration imbued them with a sense of preparedness to tackle challenges arising during the research process.

I believe that fostering learning and robust teamwork can simplify the research process. I often contemplate the optimal distribution of types and volumes of work, respecting individual researchers' competencies and workload. [Participant 1, interview] I appreciate our task assignment approach. Given our shared workspace, we understand each other's strengths, which, coupled with my professional and research commitments, makes focusing on my strengths less burdensome. [Participant 3, interview]

Maintaining regular communication is pivotal. The nature of our shift work complicates assembling everyone for research meetings, but I am confident that persistent communication can deepen our understanding of individual roles in research and enable us to offset each other's limitations. [Participant 5, interview]

# Discussion

# Overview

The findings of this qualitative study offer insights into the culture of nursing research in clinical settings, showcasing its potential to empower nurses to bring about positive transformations in patient care and their professional practice while bolstering collaborative efforts. The 3 identified themes are balancing positive and negative influences in the research process, fostering transformational change for both nurses and patients, and promoting complementary communication among nurses with different research competencies and roles. Figure 3 provides a visual representation of these themes. These findings underscore the crucial ability of nursing research to enhance nurses' working environments, foster a safer atmosphere for patients, and facilitate overall progress and development in the clinical context.

Figure 3. Essential themes of nursing research culture in clinical practice.



# Principal Findings and Comparison With Previous Work

The first emergent theme was the balance between positive and negative influences in the research process. The clinical environment may serve as both a facilitator and a barrier for nurses conducting research. The availability of diverse research support resources plays a crucial role as a facilitator in enhancing clinical nurses' research progress. A variety of research support resources can have a positive impact on clinical nursing research, including both material resources (eg, research-related education, academic services, and educational expense support) and human resources (eg, designated departments and personnel to assist with research progress) [28]. In Korea, clinical nurses have exhibited low research competency, a factor significantly correlated with the amount of organizational support [28]. Previous studies have indicated that organizational support and a strong belief in the value of clinical research enable research activity by fostering a culture that encourages the crucial exploration and application of research evidence in everyday practice [29]. Cultivating an organizational culture supportive of research at the institutional level is, therefore, essential to facilitating the clinical utilization of research findings.

Moreover, research participation by clinical nurses was observed to involve navigating between work and research commitments. Shift work creates challenges for scheduling regular research meetings on fixed dates and coordinating times when all research team members can gather. For example, a study in 2017 to describe the infrastructure supporting research in Magnet hospitals found that nearly half (44%) of the 249 hospitals responding required clinical nurses to conduct research activities during their regular clinical hours, and 40% reported nurses conducting research in their personal time; consequently, research activities often take a backseat to patient care priorities, making it challenging to allocate time for nurses away from direct patient care [30]. To encourage research by clinical nurses, dedicated time for research activities should be provided, and enhancements to the nursing working environment are imperative. Hospitals should acknowledge and account for the time invested in clinical nursing research within regular working hours.

The second theme underscored the transformative potential of clinical nursing research for both nurses and patients. Such research serves as a catalyst, allowing nurses to realize personal goals, such as enhancing their research capacity, while simultaneously fostering improved and safer environments for patients and health care providers. Consequently, deriving research questions from the clinical field and applying the research results to actual clinical practice is at the core of clinical nursing research [4].

In this study, participating nurses formulated research questions from their experiences caring for patients who had difficulty taking high-dose bowel cleansing solutions. Because clinical nursing research directly affects nurses' work, specifically patient care, all our participants empathized deeply with the need for this research, and the practical applicability of the research results encouraged their active participation. The

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e50703
```

predominant themes identified in a previous study conducted with 64 perioperative nurses in a hospital in Korea (ie, learning how to solve problems in practice, facilitating team activities through motivation, barriers to large participation, and rewarded efforts and inflated expectations) [31] were congruent with the insights gained in this study, suggesting that to bolster clinical nursing research, it is essential to create opportunities for field-based question formulation and foster a belief in the capability to induce change. However, the urgency to partake in clinical nursing research should not overshadow the importance of undertaking thorough literature reviews on existing research findings related to clinical issues. Clinical nursing research should be pursued only when there is a paucity of evidence, and it must always adhere to ethical standards. Motivating nurses to engage in research, allowing for continual identification of pertinent research questions, and promoting thorough reviews of relevant existing literature can yield benefits for both nurses and patients and pave the way for research in previously unexplored areas.

The final theme revolves around complementary communication, accommodating the diverse competencies of nurses. The research team in this study encompassed nurses with varied research-related experiences. Differences in research competency among team members, attributable to varying levels of research experience, led them to adopt distinct approaches to research. Participants with extensive research experience had a better understanding of the research progress, which allowed them to take charge compared with those with less experience. Conversely, those with limited research exposure struggled with the unfamiliar content discussed in meetings and were uncertain about participation modalities. These findings are consistent with a previous study indicating that individuals lacking research experience or knowledge exhibit reluctance toward research participation [31]; therefore, research competency, inclusive of experience and knowledge, emerges as a pivotal facilitator in research implementation.

Despite the associated challenges, participants maintained complementary communication through regular web-based meetings to fulfill their research objectives. Successful complementary communication is straightforward, reciprocally advantageous, and reinforces continuous interaction and relationship development [32]. Given the evident benefits of such communication, we posit that fostering it within teams can significantly enhance nursing research in clinical settings. The diversity in research competency and roles among nurses highlighted in this study accentuates the necessity of nurturing complementary communication within research teams, thus ensuring equitable and balanced interactions and contributions among team members. In the research team examined in this study, the team leader allocated tasks, and nurses with less research experience assumed a more passive stance, fulfilling only the minimal tasks assigned. Communication was then leveraged to mitigate any arising discrepancies. We therefore suggest that championing complementary communication to address variances among research nurses while leveraging the individual strengths of nurses not only sustains clinical nursing research but also cultivates a positive research culture in clinical nursing.

XSL•FO RenderX

# Limitations

This ethnographic study explored the nursing research culture in clinical nursing practice by examining the experiences of 6 nurses working at a tertiary hospital in Korea. The small sample size and the single-site setting may affect the transferability of the study's findings, as they may not represent the broader population of clinical nurses. To mitigate this possibility, we amassed data until saturation was reached, with no additional information emerging. To bolster the study's rigor, we shared the findings with nurses from various units and hospitals to assess transferability.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, participant meetings were held through Zoom, with scenes recorded for repeated review during analysis. This format hampered direct observation, however, limiting field notes to within-frame elements and omitting potentially significant out-of-frame expressions and movements. The shift to web-based methods challenges the traditional notion of "placeness of ethnography" [33], and some might argue that without physical immersion in the research area, there is no true fieldwork. However, digital platforms are enabling research in spaces where people are active, allowing a re-evaluation of the necessity of physical presence in traditional ethnographic fieldwork [34]. The paradigm that field research mandates physical colocation with participants [35] is undergoing reconsideration, especially given the COVID-19 pandemic, as technological advances redefine the concept of the research field [36].

# Conclusions

Clinical nursing research is pivotal in fostering nurse development and refining nursing practices by juxtaposing challenges such as intensive shifts and heightened workloads with facilitators such as patient-centric research questions and institutional research support. The clinical environment may serve dual roles as a facilitator by providing the requisite infrastructure for research and as a barrier when intensive shifts persist and research time is not allocated. Institutionalizing infrastructure for nursing research and earmarking time for such activities is crucial in clinical settings to facilitate continual knowledge circulation, thereby allowing nurses to generate and apply well-substantiated knowledge effectively. Adequate clinical nursing research enhances both professional development and patient care; therefore, nursing education programs should emphasize the importance of pinpointing apt research topics, reviewing existing research, and executing clinical nursing research. Subsequent research should probe whether the themes uncovered in this study accurately represent the nursing research culture in clinical settings and should identify the prerequisites for establishing an exemplary nursing research culture.

# Acknowledgments

The authors would like to express their sincere gratitude for the insight and shared lived experiences of all the nurses in this study.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Standard for Reporting Qualitative Research (SRQR) checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 130 KB - apinj v8i1e50703 app1.pdf ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Interview Guide. [DOCX File, 24 KB - apinj\_v8i1e50703\_app2.docx ]

# References

- 1. Polit DF, Beck CT. Nursing Research: Generating and Assessing Evidence for Nursing Practice. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2008.
- 2. The ICN code of ethics for nurses: revised 2021. International Council of Nurses. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.icn.ch/sites/</u> <u>default/files/2023-06/ICN\_Code-of-Ethics\_EN\_Web.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-09-14]
- 3. The code of ethics for Korean nurses. Korean Nursing Association. 2023. URL: <u>http://www.koreanurse.or.kr/about\_KNA/</u> <u>ethics.php</u> [accessed 2023-09-14]
- Curtis K, Fry M, Shaban RZ, Considine J. Translating research findings to clinical nursing practice. J Clin Nurs 2017;26(5-6):862-872 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jocn.13586] [Medline: 27649522]
- Enhancing nursing and midwifery capacity to contribute to the prevention, treatment and management of noncommunicable diseases. World Health Organization. 2012. URL: <u>https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/health-workforce/ hrh-observer/hrh-observer-12.pdf?sfvrsn=4a1975d3\_1</u> [accessed 2023-09-14]
- 6. Jones J. Performance improvement through clinical research utilization: the linkage model. J Nurs Care Qual 2000;15(1):49-54. [doi: 10.1097/00001786-200010000-00007] [Medline: 11008439]

RenderX

- 7. McClelland M, Albert NM. Creating a vision for nursing research by understanding benefits. In: Albert NM, editor. Building and Sustaining a Hospital-Based Nursing Research Program. New York: Springer Publishing Company, LLC; 2016:1-11.
- 8. Jabonete FGV, Roxas REO. Barriers to research utilization in nursing: a systematic review (2002-2021). SAGE Open Nurs 2022;8:1-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/23779608221091073] [Medline: 35600005]
- 9. Closs SJ, Cheater FM. Utilization of nursing research: culture, interest and support. J Adv Nurs 1994;19(4):762-773. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.1994.tb01149.x] [Medline: 8021399]
- 10. Berthelsen CB, Hølge-Hazelton B. 'Nursing research culture' in the context of clinical nursing practice: addressing a conceptual problem. J Adv Nurs 2017;73(5):1066-1074. [doi: 10.1111/jan.13229] [Medline: 27906467]
- 11. Gill P. Difficulties in developing a nursing research culture in the UK. Br J Nurs 2004;13(14):876-879. [doi: 10.12968/bjon.2004.13.14.14319] [Medline: 15284653]
- 12. Berthelsen CB, Hølge-Hazelton B. Caught between a rock and a hard place: an intrinsic single case study of nurse researchers' experiences of the presence of a nursing research culture in clinical practice. J Clin Nurs 2018;27(7-8):1572-1580. [doi: 10.1111/jocn.14209] [Medline: 29194828]
- 13. Wilkes L, Jackson D. Enabling research cultures in nursing: insights from a multidisciplinary group of experienced researchers. Nurse Res 2013;20(4):28-34. [doi: 10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.28.e310] [Medline: 23520710]
- 14. Kwon J, Jeong J, Kim K, Kim S, Kim S, Kim E. Current status of evidence-based nursing at department of nursing among acute care hospitals in Korea. Evid Nurs 2016;4(1):4-11. [doi: 10.54003/kebn.2016.4.1.4]
- 15. Powers J. Increasing capacity for nursing research in magnet-designated organizations to promote nursing research. Appl Nurs Res 2020;55:151286. [doi: 10.1016/j.apnr.2020.151286] [Medline: 32507663]
- 16. Oh K, Sin HS, Kim HS. Nursing research issues and trends: views from Korea. Taehan Kanho 1992;31(3):76-87. [Medline: 1491534]
- 17. Nursing research/EBP. Samsung Medical Center. 2018. URL: <u>http://www.samsunghospital.com/dept/main/index.</u> <u>do?DP\_CODE=NSD&MENU\_ID=003020</u> [accessed 2023-09-14]
- 18. Clinical nursing research. Seoul National University Hospital. 2022. URL: <u>https://dept.snuh.org/dept/NU/bbs/bbsList.</u> <u>do?menuId=004035&&pageIndex=1</u> [accessed 2023-09-14]
- 19. Choe MA, Bang KS, Park YH, Kang HJ. Current status and direction for future development of evidence-based nursing in Korea. Perspect Nurs Sci 2011;8(2):129-138 [FREE Full text]
- Kang H. Geriatric hospital nurses' perceived barriers to research utilization and empowerment. Asian Nurs Res (Korean Soc Nurs Sci) 2015;9(1):65-72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.anr.2014.11.005] [Medline: 25829213]
- 21. Oh EG, Oh HJ, Lee YJ. Nurses' research activities and barriers of research utilization. J Korean Acad Nurs 2004;34(5):838-848 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4040/jkan.2004.34.5.838] [Medline: 15502449]
- 22. Park KH, Jeong JS, Kim JH, Kwon JS, Kim KS, Hong EY. Current status for evidence-based nursing in the hospitals and roles of the Korean society of evidence-based nursing. Evid Nurs 2018;6(1):11-21. [doi: 10.54003/kebn.2018.6.1.11]
- 23. Spradley JP. Participant Observation. Long Grove, IL: Waveland Press, Inc; 2016.
- 24. Spradley JP. The Ethnographic Interview. Long Grove, IL: Waveland Press, Inc; 2016.
- O'Brien BC, Harris IB, Beckman TJ, Reed DA, Cook DA. Standards for reporting qualitative research: a synthesis of recommendations. Acad Med 2014;89(9):1245-1251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000000388] [Medline: 24979285]
- 26. Kang Y, Yang IS. Clinical nurses' perception on barriers to research utilization. J Korean Acad Fundam Nurs 2015;22(2):198-206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7739/jkafn.2015.22.2.198]
- 27. Lincoln YS, Guba EG. Naturalistic Inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications; 1985.
- Ryu S, Kim YS, Kim YH. Factors influencing of evidence based practice competency and evidence based practice readiness in general hospital nurses. J Korean Acad Nurs Adm 2016;22(5):448-460 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.11111/jkana.2016.22.5.448]
- 29. Cho MS, Song MR, Cha SK. Nurses' perceptions regarding evidence-based practice facilitators in a tertiary hospital. J Korean Acad Fundam Nurs 2011;18(3):300-309 [FREE Full text]
- Johantgen M, Weiss M, Lundmark V, Newhouse R, Haller K, Unruh L, et al. Building research infrastructure in Magnet® hospitals: current status and future directions. J Nurs Adm 2017;47(4):198-204 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NNA.0000000000465] [Medline: 28333787]
- Jang KS, Kim H, Kim EA, Kim YM, Moon JE, Park H, et al. A journey to action research in a clinical nursing context. J Korean Acad Nurs Adm 2013;19(1):95-107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.11111/jkana.2013.19.1.95]
- 32. Ord J. Thinking the unthinkable: youth work without voluntary participation? Youth Policy 2009(103):39-48 [FREE Full text]
- 33. Haverinen A. Internet ethnography: the past, the present and the future. Ethnol Fenn 2015;42:79-90 [FREE Full text]
- 34. Kapiszewski D, MacLean LM, Read BL. Field Research in Political Science: Practices and Principles. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press; 2015.
- 35. Postill J. Remote ethnography: studying culture from afar. In: Galloway A, Bell G, Horst H, Hjorth L, editors. The Routledge Companion to Digital Ethnography. New York: Routledge; 2017:61-69.

RenderX

36. Howlett M. Looking at the 'field' through a zoom lens: methodological reflections on conducting online research during a global pandemic. Qual Res 2022;22(3):387-402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1468794120985691] [Medline: 35663097]

# Abbreviations

SRQR: Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research

Edited by H Ahn; submitted 11.07.23; peer-reviewed by D Arnold, C Laranjeira; comments to author 09.08.23; revised version received 05.10.23; accepted 13.12.23; published 09.01.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Hwang H, De Gagne JC, Yoo L, Lee M, Jo HK, Kim JE Exploring Nursing Research Culture in Clinical Practice: Qualitative Ethnographic Study Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e50703 URL: <u>https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e50703</u> doi:<u>10.2196/50703</u> PMID:<u>38194262</u>

©Hyeyoung Hwang, Jennie C De Gagne, Leeho Yoo, Miji Lee, Hye Kyung Jo, Ju-eun Kim. Originally published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal (https://apinj.jmir.org), 09.01.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://apinj.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Emotional Touch Nursing Competencies Model of the Fourth Industrial Revolution: Instrument Validation Study

Sun-Young Jung<sup>1</sup>, RN, PhD; Ji-Hyeon Lee<sup>2</sup>, RN, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Research Institute of Nursing Science, College of Nursing, Daegu Catholic University, Daegu, Republic of Korea
<sup>2</sup>College of Nursing, Daegu University, Daegu, Republic of Korea

**Corresponding Author:** Ji-Hyeon Lee, RN, PhD College of Nursing Daegu University Seongdang-ro 50-gil 33 Nam-gu Daegu, 42601 Republic of Korea Phone: 82 536508016 Fax: 82 536508399 Email: jihyeonnlee@naver.com

# Abstract

**Background:** The Fourth Industrial Revolution is transforming the health care sector through advanced technologies such as artificial intelligence, the Internet of Things, and big data, leading to new expectations for rapid and accurate treatment. While the integration of technology in nursing tasks is on the rise, there remains a critical need to balance technological efficiency with empathy and emotional connection. This study aims to develop and validate a competency model for emotional touch nursing that responds to the evolving demands of the changing health care environment.

**Objective:** The aims of our study are to develop an emotional touch nursing competencies model and to verify its reliability and validity.

**Methods:** A conceptual framework and construct factors were developed based on an extensive literature review and in-depth interviews with nurses. The potential competencies were confirmed by 20 experts, and preliminary questions were prepared. The final version of the scale was verified through exploratory factor analysis (n=255) and confirmatory factor analysis (n=256) to assess its validity and reliability.

**Results:** From the exploratory analysis, 8 factors and 38 items (client-centered collaborative practice, learning agility for nursing, nursing professional commitment, positive self-worth, compliance with ethics and roles, nursing practice competence, nurse-client relationship, and nursing sensitivity) were extracted. These items were verified through convergent and discriminant validity testing. The internal consistency reliability was acceptable (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =0.95).

**Conclusions:** The findings from this study confirmed that this scale has sufficient validity and reliability to measure emotional touch nursing competencies. It is expected to be used to build a knowledge and educational system for emotional touch nursing.

(Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e67928) doi:10.2196/67928

# **KEYWORDS**

nurse; therapeutic touch; clinical competence; factor analysis; statistical; reliability; scale; tool; nursing; industrial revolution; competencies; health care; emotional; interview; collaborative practice; learning agility; professional commitment; positive self-worth; compliance; ethics; practice ability; relationship ability; nursing sensitivity

# Introduction

The Fourth Industrial Revolution, characterized by the technological convergence of existing and new data through the blurring of physical and digital boundaries, is driving

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e67928
```

RenderX

exponential changes across various sectors at an unprecedented pace [1]. Anticipated transformations and revolutions in the economic, social, and cultural domains are enabled by the convergence of advanced technologies such as artificial intelligence (AI), the Internet of Things, cloud computing, and

big data [2]. At the core of these changes lie the health care sector, big data, information and communications technologies, and IT devices, facilitating precision diagnosis, telemedicine, and remote monitoring in medical settings [3].

With the advancement of scientific technology, health care recipients now expect rapid and accurate treatment through precise evidence-based medicine, as well as continuous disease management and health maintenance using IT technologies [3,4]. The medical field has evolved beyond uHealth, with diagnostics and certain support for the execution of nursing tasks increasingly being replaced by AI. Additionally, nursing models that use virtual reality for drug administration, as well as nursing robots that assist with tasks like meal delivery and medication, have been developed, leading to improved nursing quality [5]. Moreover, nurses are expected to analyze big data, provide diagnostic interventions tailored to individual needs according to algorithms, and deliver optimal nursing services with the assistance of AI [6]. Thus, the nursing field as a whole anticipates that the use of new technologies will enhance the efficiency of nursing tasks, alleviate work burdens, and pioneer independent activity areas [4].

However, alongside the rapid technological advancements, there is a growing emphasis on the humanistic and emotional aspects of nursing care, highlighting the importance of balancing the scientific and technological aspects of medicine. As nursing service recipients experience dehumanization in the face of digital transformation [4], there is a demand for more humanistic and delicate care. The increasing need for high-tech solutions like big data, AI, and robots underscores the importance of empathy and human touch-areas where nursing uniquely excels in understanding and connecting emotionally with patients [4,7]. In this context, emotional touch nursing can be described as a professional nursing activity that delivers integrated care through direct physical contact and nonverbal communication, using various resources and collaborating with other health care professionals to sensitively address the health problems of nursing recipients [7].

In recent years, there has been a growing consensus on the importance of adapting nursing to the Fourth Industrial Revolution era, with continuous research being conducted on emotional intelligence, person-centered care, and therapeutic touch [8-11]. Emotional intelligence, widely used in Korean nursing, was originally developed for business students and later adapted to South Korea to reflect the sociocultural characteristics of the country. Although its validity and reliability were verified, it was adapted for nursing students, not nurses, and consists of only 4 factors with 4 items each, making it insufficient in terms of the number of items for each subdomain. Furthermore, it was found to be influenced by personal traits such as personality characteristics [8]. Person-centered care tools include the Person-Centered Care Assessment Tool (P-CAT), developed overseas and translated into Korean [9], and tools developed to emphasize specific aspects such as intensive care unit nursing practice, family involvement, and end-of-life care [10], which pose challenges in measuring emotional touch nursing that moves recipients in the domestic, social, and cultural contexts [7]. Therefore, it is necessary to prioritize the development of tools that reflect the

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e67928

XSL•FO

concept of emotional touch competency, suitable for the rapidly changing nursing environment in the Fourth Industrial Revolution era.

Competency modeling can be used as a method for constructing a model of nurses' emotional touch nursing competencies. This approach involves developing a competency model that includes complex elements, such as knowledge, skills, personality, attitudes, problem-solving abilities, and interpersonal skills, and visually represents the relationships between these competencies as a multidimensional concept map [12]. The development of competency models through competency modeling can be effectively used in the development of educational programs as it provides specific skills or behaviors that can be developed through education [13]. Competency-based approaches have been reported to be more effective than other approaches in terms of positive psychology and reinforcement [14], with effectiveness verified in competency-based educational programs across various fields [15-18]. In particular, previous studies on nurse competencies emphasize the use of competency models to develop competent and skilled nursing personnel [19], highlighting the need for further research to identify and analyze nurses' competencies from diverse and in-depth perspectives in clinical settings [20]. Therefore, this study aims to construct a model of emotional touch nursing competencies in response to diverse nursing needs in the rapidly changing Fourth Industrial Revolution era, using a shortened competency modeling method based on expert panels commonly used among expert groups [21]. The specific objectives are mentioned in the next sections.

# Methods

# **Study Design**

This methodological study used a competency modeling approach to create a model of emotional touch nursing competencies within the context of the Fourth Industrial Revolution.

# **Competency Model Construction Process**

### Phase 1: Construction of Potential Competency Model

# Emotional Touch Nursing Competencies From a Conceptual Framework

To develop an emotional touch nursing competencies model through competency modeling for nurses, the components of the scale were identified based on a literature review and prior studies on the concept analysis of emotional touch through interviews with nurses and nursing recipients [7]. The identified competencies for emotional touch nursing include a total of 12 competencies: professional nursing skills, nursing sensitivity, interpersonal skills, leadership, educational competency, spirituality, resilience, judgment, learning sensitivity, IT use skills, collaboration with other health care professionals, ethical sensitivity, and humanistic recalibration.

# **Delphi Survey Using Expert Panel**

A Delphi survey was conducted with the same expert group on the 12 emotional touch nursing competencies identified from prior studies [7]. A shortened competency modeling method

[21] was used, which requires securing more than 20 experts in the field. The expert group consisted of 20 members-5 clinical nurses, 5 clinicians, 8 nurse educators, and 2 professors of medical humanities and bioethics. The survey period was from February 1, 2021, to April 30, 2021. In the first Delphi round, experts were asked to provide opinions on additional or deleted items using an open-ended questionnaire based on the competencies identified in the prior study. The first round results indicated the need to expand the conceptual scope to include "patient-centered care" as a new competency. Consequently, "patient-centered care" was added, bringing the total to 13 competencies for the second Delphi round, where experts were asked to evaluate the appropriateness of the definitions and names of the competencies using an open-ended questionnaire. The second round results confirmed that the 13 competencies were evenly distributed among the attributes of knowledge, skills, self-concept, and traits. In the third Delphi round, the appropriateness of the competencies was confirmed using a 5-point Likert scale, with all competencies scoring 4 or above, ensuring expert validity. Thus, a potential competency model was constructed consisting of patient-centered care, professional nursing skills, nursing sensitivity, interpersonal skills, leadership, educational competency, spirituality, resilience, judgment, learning sensitivity, IT use skills, collaboration with other health care professionals, ethical sensitivity, and humanistic recalibration.

# *Phase 2: Validation and Finalization of the Competency Model*

#### **Development of Preliminary Items**

Based on the potential competency model construction process, 13 competencies were finalized, and the first set of preliminary items was developed to measure emotional touch nursing competencies. The preliminary items included 11 items on patient-centered care, 15 on professional nursing skills, 12 on nursing sensitivity, 13 on interpersonal skills, 14 on leadership, 15 on educational competency, 17 on spirituality, 22 on resilience, 11 on judgment, 11 on learning sensitivity, 12 on IT use skills, 7 on collaboration with other health care professionals, and 16 on ethical sensitivity and humanistic recalibration, totaling 176 items. The scale was a 5-point Likert scale, with higher scores indicating higher emotional touch nursing competencies.

#### **Content Validity Testing**

The initial set of preliminary items underwent content validity testing by the expert group of 20 members for competency modeling. The content validity of the preliminary items and the appropriateness of each competency attribute were assessed using a 4-point Likert scale, where 1 indicated "not at all appropriate" and 4 indicated "very appropriate." Open-ended questionnaires were also used to collect opinions on any necessary revisions, additions, or deletions of items. The content validity testing results, with an Item-Content Validity Index (I-CVI) criterion of 0.78 or higher, led to the identification of 51 items. The second set of preliminary items was structured as a questionnaire, with 2 researchers cross-examining the appropriateness of the items' meaning, language, duplication, or ambiguity, and their relevance to the subfactors of the

```
https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e67928
```

XSI•FC

conceptual framework. A Korean language expert and an education expert reviewed the items, refining the preliminary scale to a final selection of 51 items.

# **Participants**

The study participants were nurses with more than 3 months of experience working in secondary or tertiary hospitals located in the Seoul, Daegu, and Gyeongbuk regions who understood the aim of the study and voluntarily agreed to participate. Considering that the sample size for factor analysis should be 4 to 5 times the number of items developed, and the ideal sample size for item analysis is 2 to 10 times the number of questions [22], in this study, 546 nurses were targeted, accounting for the number of items and potential dropouts. A total of 511 valid responses were obtained after excluding 25 insufficient responses and 10 nonresponses, with 255 used for exploratory factor analysis (EFA) and 256 for confirmatory factor analysis (CFA).

# **Research Tools**

To verify the criterion validity of the preliminary scale, the P-CAT was used. This tool consists of 25 items across 5 factors (7 items for relationship, 4 for totality, 5 for respect, 5 for individualization, and 4 for empowerment) measured on a 5-point Likert scale, with higher scores indicating a higher level of person-centered care. The reliability at the time of development was Cronbach  $\alpha$ =0.94, and in this study, the reliability was Cronbach  $\alpha$ =0.97.

# **Ethical Considerations**

Data collection was conducted from May 1 to May 31, 2021, after obtaining approval from the Daegu Catholic University Institutional Review Board (CUIRB-2020-0011). The aims of the study, data collection methods, confidentiality of the data, and participants' rights to withdraw from the study were explained to the participants. Participants were provided with a written consent form, which they could read thoroughly before voluntarily agreeing to participate in the study. Data were stored on a password-protected computer, accessible only to the researchers, and the data will be kept for 3 years after the study's conclusion before being destroyed. Participants were given a small gift of 5000 KRW (equivalent to US \$4.42) as a token of appreciation for their participation.

# **Data Analysis**

Collected data were analyzed using SPSS Statistics (version 23.0; IBM Corp) and AMOS (version 24.0; IBM Corp) programs. First, the general characteristics of the study participants were analyzed using descriptive statistics, including frequency, percentage, mean, and SD. Second, construct validity was assessed through item analysis, EFA, CFA, and convergent and discriminant validity analysis. Item analysis involved checking the mean, SD, skewness, and kurtosis of each item to confirm normal distribution, as well as calculating item-total correlation and the reliability coefficient when removing specific items. Factor analysis suitability was tested using the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) and Bartlett test of sphericity. EFA used principal component analysis with varimax rotation to extract factors, while CFA evaluated the model fit using indices such as chi-square, chi-square/df, root mean square error of

approximation (RMSEA), squared root mean-squared residual (SRMR), the goodness of fit index (GFI), and comparative fit index (CFI). Convergent validity was confirmed by examining standardized regression coefficients, construct reliability, and average variance extracted (AVE). Discriminant validity was verified by ensuring that the square of the correlation coefficients was smaller than the AVE. Third, criterion validity was measured by calculating Pearson correlation coefficients using person-centered care as the criterion variable. Fourth, reliability was assessed using the Cronbach  $\alpha$  coefficient to determine internal consistency.

# Results

# **General Characteristics**

The average age of the participants was 34.4 years, with 287 (56.2%) out of 511 participants being unmarried. The majority had a bachelor's degree in nursing, accounting for 384 (75.1%) participants. The average total clinical experience was 9.27 years. Regarding income, 211 (41.3%) participants earned between 2.5 million and 3 million KRW (US 1=1130.50 KRW, effective as of May 31, 2021) per month. Most participants worked in general wards (n=285, 55.8%), and the majority held the position of nurse (n=426, 83.4%; Table 1).

 Table 1. General characteristics of participants (n=511).

Characteristics and categories	Values
Age (years), mean (SD)	34.4 (9.90)
Marital status, n (%)	
Single	287 (56.2)
Married	221 (43.2)
Others	3 (0.6)
Education, n (%)	
Diploma	73 (14.3)
Bachelor's degree	384 (75.1)
Master's degree	53 (10.4)
Doctoral degree	1 (0.2)
Total clinical career (year), mean (SD)	9.27 (7.53)
Income (KRW <sup>a</sup> ), n (%)	
<1,500,000	4 (0.8)
1,500,000 to >2,000,000	7 (1.4)
2,000,000 to >2,500,000	85 (16.6)
2,500,000 to >3,000,000	211 (41.2)
3,000,000 to >3,500,000	96 (18.8)
3,500,000 to >4,000,000	55 (10.8)
≥4,000,000	53 (10.4)
Working unit, n (%)	
General unit	285 (55.8)
Special unit	199 (38.9)
Outpatient clinic	27 (5.3)
Current position, n (%)	
Staff nurse	426 (83.3)
Charge nurse	56 (11.0)
Head nurse (unit manager)	23 (4.5)
Nursing team leader or more	6 (1.2)

<sup>a</sup>US \$1=1130.50 KRW, effective as of May 31, 2021.

RenderX

# **Item Analysis**

In the item analysis conducted for the EFA of the preliminary items, the corrected item-total correlation for each item and the total set of items was examined. The correlation coefficient for item 6, "I believe that most events happen for a reason," was found to be below 0.30. Items with a correlation coefficient above 0.80 may indicate redundancy with other items, while those below 0.30 are considered to contribute less to the tool [22]. Therefore, item 6 was deleted. The correlation coefficients of the remaining 50 items ranged from 0.44 to 0.67, and the Cronbach  $\alpha$  value after item removal was 0.96.

# **Exploratory Factor Analysis**

# **Overview**

To determine whether the 50 preliminary items identified in the item analysis were suitable for factor analysis, the KMO test

was performed, resulting in a score of 0.93. The Bartlett test of sphericity yielded a value of 7304.34 (degrees of freedom=1176; P < .001), confirming that the data were appropriate for factor analysis. The factor analysis extracted 8 factors with eigenvalues greater than 1.0. The scree plot also showed a horizontal change in eigenvalues after the ninth factor, with the cumulative variance explained being 60.4%. Using varimax rotation, items with a factor loading of 0.40 or higher were considered significant, while those with a loading of 0.50 or higher were deemed highly significant [22]. As a result, 11 items with factor loadings below 0.40 and 1 item deemed to have a different attribute by 2 researchers were excluded, leaving 38 items. The communalities of each item ranged from 0.40 to 0.78, meeting the criteria. The factor loadings for the 38 items across 8 factors ranged from 0.45 to 0.82. The factors were composed of 3 to 11 items each, satisfying the basic assumption that each factor should include at least 3 items [22] (Table 2).



Table 2. Result of exploratory factor analysis.

Factors (nun	nber of items) and items	Factor loading	Eigenvalues	Accumulative variance, %
F1 <sup>a</sup> (11)			17.79	12.1
24. I car	n lead the patient and family toward active participation in nursing.	0.72		
23. I car centered	n apply nonverbal communication (therapeutic touch, positive face, eye gaze, etc) for client I nursing depending on the individual characteristics.	0.62		
25. I car odor, ad	n provide an emotionally comfortable and cozy environment (noise pollution, eliminate justing lighting brightness, etc) to the client.	0.60		
35. I can between	a determine priorities for educational needs, goals, and schedules through mutual discussions a the nurse and the client.	0.59		
26. I car nursing.	n discuss with the patient, family, and colleagues about methods to provide client centered	0.57		
37. I car complet	n provide constructive feedback by rechecking educational content after client education is ed.	0.55		
32. I car characte	n provide an individual nursing education depending on the client's needs, symptoms, pristics, learning types (learning preferences or method), and self-care level.	0.52		
34. I car others th	n help the client build a positive relationship with other patients, medical personnel, and nrough appropriate communication.	0.47		
33. I car adapt to	n provide client with education on available materials and human resources to help them the hospital environment.	0.46		
45. I car ethical i	n discuss with colleagues and expertise groups (hospital ethics committee, etc) about the ssues that could arise when providing best nursing.	0.45		
28. I car	a communicate with client to help them honest express emotions, thoughts, and opinions.	0.45		
F2 <sup>b</sup> (4)			2.55	20.5
49. I car papers,	n search and evaluate reliable internet-based material (clinical nursing guidelines, related etc) to provide evidence-based practice.	0.81		
48. I car whateve	n use application programs (Excel, Power Point, Hangul, Zoom, YouTube, etc) to carry out er work I want to do.	0.80		
50. I car educatio	n use information and communication technologies (health care applications and patient on related videos, etc) to educate clients on effective health management.	0.73		
36. I car evate the	n educate the client's using various methods such as videos, pamphlets, and role-play to el- e effectiveness of education.	0.55		
<b>F3<sup>c</sup></b> (4)			2.12	28.2
13. I fee	el self-esteem and a sense of vocation within the job.	0.82		
12. I ser	nse self-realization and value of life when I provide nursing to the client.	0.79		
11. I bel	lieve nursing has a profound meaning in my life.	0.77		
9. I feel	pleased when I am learning or self-development in relation to my job.	0.54		
F4 <sup>d</sup> (5)			1.83	35.3
1. I can the futur	overcome new challenges and adversities well, based on my past experiences and hope for re.	0.72		
3. I am a	a person who is needed and important to others.	0.69		
4. I can	set my life goals and grow for my own happiness.	0.68		
2. I can	make efforts to resolve any issues to achieve my goals.	0.65		
5. Wher process	there is a challenging problem, I am able to find positive aspects that could arise in the of resolving the problem.	0.52		
F5 <sup>e</sup> (5)			1.50	42.2
43. I bel	lieve the act of caring for the client should be prioritized under any circumstances.	0.71		

XSL•FO RenderX

#### Jung & Lee

Factors (num	ber of items) and items	Factor loading	Eigenvalues	Accumulative variance, %
47. I beli for provi	eve it takes efforts and time to effectively use the hospital information system necessary ding clinical or nursing services to the client.	0.62		
44. I beli unethical	eve medical personnel should feel responsible if they or other colleagues are committing medical practices, and take further action accordingly.	0.62		
46. I beli rights of	eve good nursing involves equally respecting the human rights and self-determination all individual clients.	0.54		
31. I belie to new n	eve it is the responsibility of a nurse who performs a professional role to sensitively respond ursing knowledge and skills or techniques.	0.52		
F6 <sup>f</sup> (3)			1.45	48.6
21. I can record gu	record the treatment and nursing intervention applied to the client pursuant to the nursing idelines.	0.80		
22. I can the patient	use necessary emergency medications, medical devices, equipment, and so forth for nursing nt and manage facilities.	0.79		
20. I can blood tra	provide expert nursing skills (core nursing skills including nutrition, elimination, medication, nsfusion, etc) depending on the characteristics of the patient.	0.76		
$F7^{f}(3)$			1.22	55.1
16. When edge such	h the client expresses negative or positive thoughts and feelings toward me, I can acknowl- h thoughts and feelings.	0.75		
15. When feelings	n there is a discord between me and the client, I can constructively communicate and convey and thoughts of either party.	0.70		
17. I can	exhibit a friendly attitude and maintain good relationships with patients.	0.63		
F8 <sup>g</sup> (3)			1.15	60.4
27. I beli sible sco	eve it is important to determine the treatment method preferred by the client within a pospe.	0.65		
30. I beli of the pa	eve desirable nursing involves promptly responding to the vulnerable situations and needs tient.	0.59		
29. I full	y understand what impacts specific behavior of the nurse has on the client.	0.58		

<sup>a</sup>F1: client-centered collaborative practice.

<sup>b</sup>F2: learning agility for nursing.

<sup>c</sup>F3: nursing professional commitment.

<sup>d</sup>F4: positive self-worth.

<sup>e</sup>F5: compliance with ethics and roles.

<sup>f</sup>F6: nursing practice competence.

<sup>g</sup>F7: nurse-client relationship.

<sup>h</sup>F8: nursing sensitivity.

# Factor 1

Named "Client-Centered Collaborative Practice," this factor included 11 items. The eigenvalue was 17.79, explaining 12.1% of the variance, with factor loadings ranging from 0.45 to 0.72.

# Factor 2

Named "Learning Agility for Nursing," this factor included 4 items. The eigenvalue was 2.55, explaining 20.5% of the variance, with factor loadings ranging from 0.54 to 0.81.

# Factor 3

RenderX

Named "Nursing Professional Commitment," this factor included 4 items. The eigenvalue was 2.12, explaining 28.2% of the variance, with factor loadings ranging from 0.54 to 0.82.

#### https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e67928

# Factor 4

Named "Positive Self-Worth," this factor included 5 items. The eigenvalue was 1.83, explaining 35.3% of the variance, with factor loadings ranging from 0.52 to 0.72.

# Factor 5

Named "Compliance with Ethics and Roles," this factor included 5 items. The eigenvalue was 1.50, explaining 42.2% of the variance, with factor loadings ranging from 0.52 to 0.71.

#### Factor 6

Named "Nursing Practice Competence," this factor included 3 items. The eigenvalue was 1.45, explaining 48.6% of the variance, with factor loadings ranging from 0.76 to 0.80.

# Factor 7

Named "Nurse-Client Relationship," this factor included 3 items. The eigenvalue was 1.22, explaining 55.1% of the variance, with factor loadings ranging from 0.63 to 0.75.

# Factor 8

Named "Nursing Sensitivity," this factor included 3 items. The eigenvalue was 1.15, explaining 60.4% of the variance, with factor loadings ranging from 0.58 to 0.65.

 Table 3. Result of confirmatory factor analysis.

### **Confirmatory Factor Analysis**

To validate the model structure of the eightfold 8 factors and 38 items derived from the EFA, CFA was conducted using data from 256 participants who were not included in the exploratory analysis. The model fit indices were  $\chi^2/df=2.48$  (less than 3), RMSEA=0.07 (less than 0.10), SRMR=0.04 (less than 0.08), GFI=0.92 (greater than 0.90), and CFI=0.92 (greater than 0.90), all of which indicated an acceptable fit (Table 3).

	$\chi^2 (df)$	P value	$\chi^2/df$	RMSEA <sup>a</sup>	SRMR <sup>b</sup>	GFI <sup>c</sup>	CFI <sup>d</sup>	β	CR <sup>e</sup>	AVE <sup>f</sup>
ETNCM <sup>g</sup>	573.3 (198)	<.001	2.5	0.07	0.04	0.92	0.92	.6085	0.82-0.94	0.62-0.78
Criteria	h	>.05	≤3	≤0.10	≤0.05	≥0.90	≥0.90	≥0.50	≥0.50	≥0.50

<sup>a</sup>RMSEA: root mean square error of approximation.

<sup>b</sup>SRMR: squared root mean-squared residual.

<sup>c</sup>GFI: goodness of fit index.

<sup>d</sup>CFI: comparative fit index.

<sup>e</sup>CR: construct reliability.

<sup>f</sup>AVE: average variance extracted.

<sup>g</sup>ETNCM: Emotional Touch Nursing Competencies Model.

<sup>h</sup>Not applicable.

# **Convergent Validity**

The convergent validity was confirmed, with standardized regression coefficients ranging from 0.60 to 0.85, all exceeding 0.50 (P<.05). The construct reliability ranged from 0.82 to 0.94, all exceeding 0.50, and the AVE ranged from 0.62 to 0.78, all exceeding 0.50. The discriminant validity of the factor structure was confirmed by verifying that the squared values of the correlations between latent variables were smaller than the AVE values in all areas (Table 3).

# **Criterion Validity Verification**

To verify the criterion validity of the developed emotional touch nursing competencies model, the Human-Centered Nursing Tool [23] was used. The correlation between Human-Centered Nursing and emotional touch nursing competencies was positively significant (r=0.78; P<.001). The correlations between subfactors of emotional touch nursing competencies and Human-Centered Nursing were also significant—client-centered collaborative practice (r=0.76; P<.001), nursing learning agility (r=0.48; P<.001), nursing professional commitment (r=0.49; P<.001), positive self-worth (r=0.58; P<.001), compliance with ethical and role (r=0.66; P<.001), nursing practice ability (r=0.46; P<.001), patient relationship ability (r=0.57; P<.001), and nursing sensitivity (r=0.55; P<.001), thereby confirming the criterion validity (Table 4).

Table 4. Correlation of the Emotional Touch Nursing Competencies Model (ETNCM) and Person-Centered Care Assessment Tool (P-CAT).

	F1 <sup>a</sup>	F2 <sup>b</sup>	F3 <sup>c</sup>	F4 <sup>d</sup>	F5 <sup>e</sup>	F6 <sup>f</sup>	F7 <sup>g</sup>	F8 <sup>h</sup>	ETNCM	
P-CAT										
r	0.76	0.48	0.49	0.58	0.66	0.46	0.57	0.55	0.78	
P value	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	

<sup>a</sup>F1: client-centered collaborative practice.

<sup>b</sup>F2: learning agility for nursing.

<sup>c</sup>F3: nursing professional commitment.

<sup>d</sup>F4: positive self-worth.

<sup>e</sup>F5: compliance with ethics and roles.

<sup>f</sup>F6: nursing practice competence.

<sup>g</sup>F7: nurse-client relationship.

<sup>h</sup>F8: nursing sensitivity.

# **Reliability Verification**

The internal consistency of the scale developed in this study was confirmed, with a Cronbach  $\alpha$  of 0.95 for the overall scale. The reliability for each subfactor was as follows: factor 1=0.90, factor 2=0.84, factor 3=0.85, factor 4=0.83, factor 5=0.76, factor 6=0.86, factor 7=0.75, and factor 8=0.75.

# Optimization of the Scale and Finalization of the Competency Model

This study constructed an emotional touch nursing competencies model and verified its validity and reliability, resulting in a self-reported questionnaire consisting of 38 items across 8 factors, measured on a 5-point Likert scale. The total score

Figure 1. The competency model for emotional touch nursing.

ranges from 38 to 190, with higher scores indicating higher emotional touch nursing competencies.

The construct validity of the competency model was confirmed using the emotional touch nursing competencies scale centered on the Fourth Industrial Revolution, as defined by the competency model. Knowledge and skill competencies were finalized as client-centered collaborative practice, nursing learning agility, nursing practice ability, and nurse-client relationship ability. Self-concept competencies included positive self-worth, nursing sensitivity, and compliance with ethics and roles. Motivation and trait competencies were consolidated under nursing professional commitment (Figure 1).



# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

This methodological study developed a scale for assessing emotional touch nursing competencies based on the concept and competency modeling of emotional touch nursing led by nurses in the Fourth Industrial Revolution. The developed scale consists of 38 items across 8 factors.

The competencies derived from this study include several key factors. The first factor, "Client-Centered Collaborative Practice," consists of 11 items that encompass providing nursing

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e67928

RenderX

care through collaboration in physical, psychological, environmental, and social aspects centered around the client. In light of the rapid advancements in advanced medical technologies and the increasingly complex and diverse competencies required of nurses to meet various client needs [24], this finding aligns with research by Seomun et al [25], which identified the integration of knowledge and nursing skills as essential core competencies for nurses. Additionally, client-centered care emphasizes the importance of client participation at all stages of health care [26]. Given these results, the factor of client-centered collaborative practice is deemed appropriate for providing diverse and nuanced nursing care,
#### ASIAN/PACIFIC ISLAND NURSING JOURNAL

fostering trust in health care professionals amidst the rapidly evolving medical landscape.

The second factor, "Learning Agility for Nursing," comprises 4 items related to the use of information and communication technologies and various data resources. This finding is consistent with the study by Kwak et al [27], which identified nursing informatics competency as a crucial skill related to nurses' job performance. Furthermore, research by Lee et al [28] highlighted that the area with the lowest performance in nursing informatics subcompetencies pertains to the application of software related to medical information systems. These results reflect the learning vulnerabilities among clinical nurses in using software tools for patient care. As clinical nurses operate in environments deeply intertwined with rapidly advancing technologies in the Fourth Industrial Revolution, the importance of nursing learning agility is underscored for providing systematic, evidence-based nursing care.

The third factor, "Nursing Professional Commitment," includes 4 items related to job pride and self-actualization. Job commitment, a concept similar to professional commitment, refers to the psychological pride, unity, and perceived importance one feels toward their current work [29]. Han and Koo's [30] study found that professional self-concept was the most significant influencing factor on nurses' job commitment, which aligns with our findings. The increase in job commitment stemming from a positive professional self-concept is anticipated to enhance the quality of nursing services, suggesting that when clinical nurses possess high pride, responsibility, and confidence in their profession, they can provide detailed and compassionate care to patients.

The fourth factor, "Positive Self-Worth," encompasses 5 items related to personal values, self-efficacy, and self-esteem. Previous studies have demonstrated a significant negative correlation between positive psychological competencies and burnout [31]. Furthermore, nurses' self-efficacy significantly influences patient safety management activities [32]. In this context, "positive self-worth" is seen as a critical concept for nurses in recognizing their positive value and establishing their self-concept, contributing to the growth of their emotional touch.

The fifth factor, "Compliance with Ethics and Roles," consists of 5 items related to nursing ethics, professional role responsibilities and duties, and respect for clients. This finding supports previous studies that emphasized the importance of ethical competency in general nursing competencies [33]. The Singapore Nursing Board has suggested ethical, professional, and legal nursing practices; care management; leadership; and professional development as competencies for nurses [34], aligning with the results of this study.

The sixth factor, "Nursing Practice Competence," includes 3 items related to various clinical nursing skills applicable to patients. This factor is comparable to clinical performance [35], clinical decision-making abilities [36], and job performance [27] identified in prior studies. However, unlike similar concepts in previous research, the nursing practice competency factor reflects the characteristics of the nursing profession while distinguishing itself through the provision of client-centered nursing care suitable for the Fourth Industrial Revolution.

https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e67928

XSL•FO

Delivering high-quality care based on nursing practice competency is an essential condition for nurses.

The seventh factor, "Nurse-Client Relationship," comprises 3 items related to relationships, communication, and attitudes toward clients. This aligns with findings from prior studies [37] investigating the professional competencies of nurses in various departments, highlighting the importance of behaviors that foster a close connection between nurses and clients. Furthermore, research analyzing recent data from domestic and international accreditation agencies identified communication competency as a priority for improvement [25], indicating that interpersonal issues among nurses significantly affect the quality of nursing services [38]. Thus, enhancing client relationship competency is crucial for improving patient satisfaction with nursing services.

The eighth factor, "Nursing Sensitivity," includes 3 items concerning respect for client treatment, empathy for vulnerable situations, and prompt responses. This finding is consistent with prior studies emphasizing the immediate provision of individualized patient care as a vital component of nurses' professional competencies [37]. Moreover, recent patient expectations for high-quality nursing care have expanded to include an empathetic understanding of their situations and emotions, reflecting the evolving scope of nursing in a professional context [39].

Based on a literature review, interviews with nurses and nursing clients, and 3 rounds of expert Delphi and content validity verification processes, 13 attributes and 51 items were ultimately derived, with 50 items undergoing factor analysis to confirm the 8 factors comprising 38 items. Additionally, these 8 factors accounted for 60.43% of the total variance. The reliability of the scale was found to be Cronbach  $\alpha$ =0.95, with subfactor reliabilities ranging from 0.75 to 0.90. Correlation analysis for criterion validity revealed a positive correlation between person-centered care [23] and emotional touch nursing competencies, with all subfactors also demonstrating positive correlations.

This study developed a scale to measure competencies defined based on the competency model to verify the construct validity of the competency model. Competency modeling for nursing integrates cognitive and noncognitive skills systematically and contextually based on internal structures [20]. Therefore, the results of this study approached from the integrated perspective of knowledge and skills, self-concept, motivation, and traits, provide valuable insights into the emotional touch nursing competencies of nurses.

This research is significant for attempting to build a model of emotional touch nursing competencies based on competency modeling, considering the rapidly changing nursing demands of clients in the Fourth Industrial Revolution and post–COVID-19 era. This scale can be used to assess and evaluate the degree of emotional touch competencies among nurses, providing a foundation and essential data for developing educational programs aimed at enhancing emotional touch nursing competencies.

#### ASIAN/PACIFIC ISLAND NURSING JOURNAL

### Conclusions

This study established a model of emotional touch nursing competencies for nurses in response to the Fourth Industrial Revolution through the modeling of the concept and competencies of emotional touch nursing. The model encompasses 8 factors—"Client-Centered Collaborative Practice," "Learning Agility for Nursing," "Nursing Practice Competence," and "Nurse-Client Relationship," which reflect knowledge and skills; "Positive Self-Worth," "Compliance with Ethics and Roles," and "Nursing Sensitivity," which represent self-concept; and "Nursing Professional Commitment," which pertains to motivation and traits. The scale developed for this study consists of a total of 38 items using a 5-point Likert scale, with a possible score range of 38 to 190, indicating that higher scores reflect higher emotional touch nursing competencies. This scale is expected to be useful for assessing nurses' emotional touch nursing competencies and, through the results, for developing and implementing educational programs aimed at enhancing nursing competencies, thereby facilitating the provision of positive emotional touch nursing to clients in the rapidly changing health care environment of the Fourth Industrial Revolution.

Based on the findings of this study, the following suggestions are made—first, as this study targeted clinical nurses in general hospitals or larger institutions, future research is recommended to explore the degree of emotional touch nursing competencies among nurses in hospitals of various sizes. Second, subsequent research is suggested to develop and apply educational programs aimed at enhancing nurses' emotional touch nursing competencies based on the model developed in this study.

# Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the Basic Science Research Program through the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF), funded by the Ministry of Education (2018R1C1B5086420). The funder had no role in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, or writing of this report.

# **Authors' Contributions**

SYJ developed the research questions. SYJ and JHL were responsible for the methodology design and leading the review process. The review process, including resolving discrepancies, screening and selecting studies, and extracting and coding data, was jointly conducted by SYJ and JHL. Descriptive analyses and the preparation of tables and figures for the paper were carried out by SYJ and JHL. All authors were involved in interpreting the findings. The initial drafting of the study was done by SYJ and JHL. The paper was revised and the final version approved by all authors.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- Gish D, Laaper S. The rise of the digital supply network: industry 4.0 enables the digital transformation of supply chains. Deloitte Insights. 2016. URL: <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/focus/industry-4-0/</u> <u>digital-transformation-in-supply-chain.html</u> [accessed 2024-10-15]
- 2. Ju KJ, Lee MH, Yang HJ, Ryu DJ. The 4th industrial revolution and artificial intelligence : an introductory review. JKORMS 2017;42(4):1-14. [doi: 10.7737/jkorms.2017.42.4.001]
- 3. Kwak J. Health care and fourth industrial revolution internet. Eugene Investment and Securities. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.eugenefn.com/common/files/amail//20170322\_B3510\_jhkwak\_948.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-10-15]
- 4. Kim KJ, Jang BY, Jung JY, Park OW. The coming of the 4th industrial revolution and the HRD issues for nurses-prospects and challenges. KJHRD 2018;21(3):137-159. [doi: 10.24991/kjhrd.2018.09.21.3.137]
- 5. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The fourth industrial revolution is here: are you ready? VOCEDplus. 2018. URL: <u>http://hdl.voced.edu.au/10707/448714</u> [accessed 2024-10-15]
- 6. Choi HS, Oh MA. The need and direction for data-driven health and welfare policies in the 4th industrial revolution. Health and Welfare Policy Forum 2017;250:15-28 [FREE Full text]
- 7. Jung SY, Lee HD. A concept analysis on emotional touch nursing of 4th industrial revolution. J Healthc Simul 2023;18(2):113-121. [doi: 10.15715/kjhcom.2023.18.2.113]
- 8. Tak YR, Woo HY, You SY, Kim JH. Validity and reliability of the person-centered care assessment tool in long-term care facilities in Korea. J Korean Acad Nurs 2015;45(3):412-419. [doi: <u>10.4040/jkan.2015.45.3.412</u>] [Medline: <u>26159142</u>]
- 9. Kang J, Cho YS, Jeong YJ, Kim SG, Yun S, Shim M. Development and validation of a measurement to assess person-centered critical care nursing. J Korean Acad Nurs 2018;48(3):323-334. [doi: <u>10.4040/jkan.2018.48.3.323</u>] [Medline: <u>29968688</u>]
- Jeong HR, Choi HJ, Park MS. The reliability and validity of Korean version of wong and law emotional intelligence scale (K-WLEIS). J Korean Acad Nurs 2020;50(4):611-620. [doi: <u>10.4040/jkan.20109</u>] [Medline: <u>32895346</u>]
- 11. Brown A. Will Covid-19 affect the delivery of compassionate nursing care. Nurs Times 2020;116(10):32-35 [FREE Full text]

RenderX

### ASIAN/PACIFIC ISLAND NURSING JOURNAL

- 12. Ko J, Chung MS, Choe M, Park YI, Bang K, Kim JA, et al. Modeling of nursing competencies for competency-based curriculum development. J Korean Acad Soc Nurs Educ 2013;19(1):87-96. [doi: <u>10.5977/jkasne.2013.19.1.87</u>]
- Calhoun JG, Dollett L, Sinioris ME, Wainio JA, Butler PW, Griffith JR, et al. Development of an interprofessional competency model for healthcare leadership. J Healthc Manag 2008;53(6):375-389. [doi: 10.1097/00115514-200811000-00006]
- 14. Richards JC, Rodgers TS. Approaches and Methods in Language Teaching. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press; 2001.
- 15. Graves G, Csiernik R, Foy J, Cesar J. An examination of Canadian social work program curriculum and the addiction core competencies. J Soc Work Pract Addict 2009;9(4):400-413. [doi: <u>10.1080/15332560903212595</u>]
- 16. Hagedorn WB. Curricular applications based on the sexual addiction counseling competencies. Sex Addict Compulsivity 2009;16(4):341-360. [doi: 10.1080/10720160903399855]
- 17. Lee KB. A study of the developmental solutions of youth activities programs in the development of youth capabilities. InForum Youth Culture 2009;20:172-212.
- 18. Lee DH. Study on the competency modeling and general competencies of a cabin attendant. Korea J Tourism Hospitality Res 2006:335-350 [FREE Full text]
- 19. Rosenfeld P, Pyc LS, Rosati RJ, Marren JM. Developing a competency tool for home health care nurse managers. Home Health Care Manag Pract 2012;24(1):5-12.
- 20. Kim JA, Ko JK. Modeling core competencies in the competency-based nursing curriculum. J Korea Acad Ind Cooperation Soc 2015;16(11):7635-7647. [doi: 10.5762/kais.2015.16.11.7635]
- 21. Spencer LM, Spencer SM. Competence at work. Seoul: PSI Consulting 2005.
- 22. Lee HS, Kim Y. Korean SPSS 10.0 Guide for the Beginner. Seoul, South Korea: Bubmoonsa; 2002.
- 23. Lee JJ. Development of Person Centred Nursing Assessment Tool (PCNAT) Dissertation. Daegu, South Korea: Daegu Catholic University; 2018:1-133.
- 24. Akamine I, Uza M, Shinjo M, Nakamori E. Development of competence scale for senior clinical nurses. Jpn J Nurs Sci 2013;10(1):55-67. [doi: 10.1111/j.1742-7924.2012.00210.x] [Medline: 23735090]
- 25. Seomun G, Bang K, Kim HS, Yoo CS, Kim WK, Park JK. The development of nurses' core competencies and the analysis of validity and importance-performance. J Korean Acad Soc Nurs Educ 2021;27(1):16-28. [doi: 10.5977/jkasne.2021.27.1.16]
- 26. Haydon G, Browne G, van der Riet P. Narrative inquiry as a research methodology exploring person centred care in nursing. Collegian 2018;25(1):125-129. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.colegn.2017.03.001</u>]
- Kwak SY, Kim YS, Lee KJ, Kim M. Influence of nursing informatics competencies and problem-solving ability on nursing performance ability among clinical nurses. J Korean Acad Soc Nurs Educ 2017;23(2):146-155. [doi: 10.5977/jkasne.2017.23.2.146]
- 28. Lee JM, Gang IS, Yu SJ. The influence of nursing informatics competency on job-satisfaction and nursing performance. KJ-HSM 2015;9(1):109-122. [doi: 10.12811/kshsm.2015.9.1.109]
- 29. Muchinsky PM. Psychology Applied to Work. 9th Ed. Summerfield, NC: Hypergraphic Press; 2009.
- 30. Han SJ, Koo HY. Influence of professional self-concept, job overload and perceived organizational support on job involvement in clinical nurses. J Korean Acad Soc Nurs Educ 2018;24(1):89-99. [doi: <u>10.5977/jkasne.2018.24.1.89</u>]
- 31. Ko JO, Park SK, Lee MH. Factors affecting burnout among clinical nurses according to positive psychological capital. J Korean Acad Nurs Adm 2013;19(2):304. [doi: 10.11111/jkana.2013.19.2.304]
- 32. Kown KY, Oh PJ. Effects of nursing workplace spirituality and self-efficacy on the patient safety management activities of nurses. J Korean Acad Nurs Adm 2019;25(2):106. [doi: 10.11111/jkana.2019.25.2.106]
- 33. Barkhordari-Sharifabad M, Ashktorab T, Atashzadeh-Shoorideh F. Ethical competency of nurse leaders: a qualitative study. Nurs Ethics 2018;25(1):20-36. [doi: 10.1177/0969733016652125] [Medline: 27301416]
- 34. Singapore Nursing Board. Core competencies of advanced practice nurse. Ministry of Health Singapore. URL: <u>https://www.healthprofessionals.gov.sg/docs/librariesprovider4/publications/core-competencies-and-generic-skills-of-rn\_2023.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-10-15]
- 35. Kim S, Park H. Effects of ego-resilience, nursing professionalism and empathy on clinical competency of general hospital nurses. J Korean Acad Soc Nurs Educ 2020;26(2):101-110. [doi: 10.5977/jkasne.2020.26.2.101]
- 36. Park MK, Kim S. Structural equation modeling on clinical decision making ability of nurses. J Korean Acad Nurs 2019;49(5):601. [doi: 10.4040/jkan.2019.49.5.601]
- Numminen O, Meretoja R, Isoaho H, Leino-Kilpi H. Professional competence of practising nurses. J Clin Nurs 2013;22(9-10):1411-1423. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2702.2012.04334.x</u>] [Medline: <u>23574296</u>]
- 38. Yeom EY, Seo K. Influences of interpersonal problems and character of nurses on quality of nursing service. J Korean Acad Nurs Adm 2018;24(5):445-454. [doi: 10.11111/jkana.2018.24.5.445]
- 39. Park SH, Park MJ. The effects of emotional intelligence, nursing work environment on nursing work performance in clinical nurses. J Digit Converg 2018;16(4):175-184. [doi: 10.14400/JDC.2018.16.4.175]

RenderX

#### Abbreviations

AI: artificial intelligence
AVE: average variance extracted
CFA: confirmatory factor analysis
CFI: comparative fit index
EFA: exploratory factor analysis
GFI: goodness of fit index
I-CVI: Item-Content Validity Index
KMO: Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin
P-CAT: Person-Centered Care Assessment Tool
RMSEA: root mean square error of approximation
SRMR: squared root mean-squared residual

Edited by H Ahn, G Eysenbach; submitted 24.10.24; peer-reviewed by SS Yilmaz; accepted 19.11.24; published 16.12.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Jung SY, Lee JH Emotional Touch Nursing Competencies Model of the Fourth Industrial Revolution: Instrument Validation Study Asian Pac Isl Nurs J 2024;8:e67928 URL: <u>https://apinj.jmir.org/2024/1/e67928</u> doi:<u>10.2196/67928</u> PMID:

©Sun-Young Jung, Ji-Hyeon Lee. Originally published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal (https://apinj.jmir.org), 16.12.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://apinj.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

